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L E T T E R TO S H A R E H O L D E R S

LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
Dear shareholders, employees and friends of our company,
Today, in the year of our tenth anniversary, we look back on another very successful year for the AURELIUS
Group in which we grew in a new dimension. Today, we are a well-known partner of major corporations in
the takeover of complex, pan-European corporate spin-offs. We have proven the success of our strategy
now for ten years. Major corporations as well as family businesses trust us. AURELIUS represents a safe
harbor for their operations and their employees and the outlook for a better future. Our success is based on
the consistent implementation of our corporate strategy and the excellent performance of our entire team.
Together, we will also work hard in the future to continue our successful track record.
For you as shareholders of AURELIUS, 2015 was once again a record year. We exceeded the results of 2014 in
all important key indicators. This development is also reflected in the valuation of your company. With a
year-end share price of EUR 48.12, the market capitalization rose to more than EUR 1.5 billion at the end of
the fiscal year. Growth of around 50 percent year-on-year illustrates the successful fiscal year 2015. We were
able to once again top the already very good year 2014 with an increase of around 30 percent in earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) and a reported total EBITDA of EUR 266 million. With a total of six new Group entities, AURELIUS has now reached the revenue threshold of EUR 3 billion on an annualized basis.
In addition to the acquisition of the European operations of Tavex SA , a producer of denim fabrics for prestigious jeans manufacturers, primarily in Southern and Western Europe, the solid board and graphic board
operations of the Smurfit Kappa Group (today: SOLIDUS Solutions) were also acquired in the first half of the
year with production sites in the Netherlands, Belgium, and the United Kingdom. Since July 2015, the
AURELIUS Group has also included the European crafts business of UK-based Coats plc (today: MEZ), a leading supplier of craft products all over Europe, and Regain Polymers, the UK’s leading recycler of hard plastic
waste. Transform Medical, the United Kingdom’s leading supplier of surgical and non-surgical cosmetic
procedures, was also acquired in July. At the beginning of December, we acquired Allied Healthcare, the
UK’s largest provider of home care services and a leading provider of outsourced healthcare services to
the emergency medical care sector. The AURELIUS Group is thus the “Good Home” for now 25 well-known
companies with solid growth opportunities.
The breadth of the positive development in our existing investment portfolio is also satisfying. The
majority of our subsidiaries increased their revenues and income in the fiscal year just ended. The performance of the compressor manufacturer SECOP, our IT subsidiaries, the Berentzen Group, and the hotel
chain GHOTEL Group is to be particularly emphasized.

L E T T E R TO S H A R E H O L D E R S

For you as shareholders, this specifically means another special dividend in the amount of EUR 0.55 per
share. Together with a base dividend EUR 0.90 after a EUR 0.10 increase, the total distribution for the fiscal
year is thus EUR 1.45 per share.
In addition, fiscal year 2015 was characterized by one other important event: AURELIUS successfully placed a
convertible bond in the amount of EUR 166 million on the capital market in the fourth quarter. We decided
upon this step to take advantage of the currently optimal conditions for raising capital in order to accelerate
our growth. This measure also enables us to permanently lower our costs. We will use some of the funds to
considerably reduce high-interest debt in the portfolio. In addition, in order to increase the value of your
shares in 2016, we intend to expand our share repurchase program with this capital – without having to
forgo lucrative takeover opportunities.
However, the end of the successful 2015 fiscal year is simultaneously the beginning of a new one. Therefore,
we would now also like to provide an estimate for the next 12 months. In our opinion, the signs are positive.
The bull run on the market for corporate transactions will continue in 2016. We are planning on five to eight
new acquisitions in the current year. And our existing subsidiaries are also attracting a great deal of interest on the market. In this context, we are currently in discussions with a number of potential buyers. When
a sale is the best solution for you as shareholders as well as for our subsidiary and its employees, we will
make a deal.
We would like to express our thanks to all of our employees for their high level of dedication and their successful actions in the past year. We would also like to thank our owners, business partners, and friends of the
AURELIUS Group. We are very pleased with the trust they have placed in us and look forward to continuing
our positive collaboration.
Sincerely,
The Executive Board of AURELIUS MANAGEMENT SE,
personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA
Munich, March 2016

Dr. Dirk Markus

Gert Purkert

Donatus Albrecht

Sales proceeds also had a positive impact. In 2015, AURELIUS’ sale of its hotel property portfolio, which we
had acquired five years ago in a special situation, was a success. In total, we realized a positive contribution
to earnings of well into the double digit millions for the 2015 fiscal year.
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TH E EXECUTIVE BOARD

THE EXECUTIVE BOARD
Dr. Dirk Markus
CEO

Dr. Dirk Markus studied business administration in St. Gallen, Switzerland, and Copenhagen, Denmark, and was
awarded a Ph.D by the University of St. Gallen and Harvard University, Boston, United States. Dr. Markus has been
involved with the restructuring and further development of companies for more than 15 years, starting as a
consultant with McKinsey & Company and then with an exchange-listed industrial holding company. During this
time, he has been responsible for more than 80 corporate transactions, including the acquisition and restructuring of Tesion Telekom, the baby carriage manufacturer teutonia, SKW Stahl-Metallurgie, the Berentzen Group, the
compressor manufacturer SECOP, the provider of private lessons for students of all grades Studienkreis, and Scholl
Footwear.

Gert Purkert
After studying physics in Leipzig and Lausanne, Gert Purkert worked for McKinsey & Company, where he gathered
experience in process improvements, cost reduction programs, and strategic restructuring programs. After that,
he co-founded equinet AG in Frankfurt, an investment bank advising mainly small to medium-sized enterprises.
As a member of the Executive Board of the Group’s portfolio company, he was responsible for conducting numerous M&A transactions and managing the portfolio companies.

Donatus Albrecht
Donatus Albrecht has been with AURELIUS since 2006; he is responsible for the Acquisition and Exit Division. He
has overseen a total of more than 60 acquisitions, sales and IPOs and has been member of the Executive Board
since 2008. After studying economics at Ludwig Maximilian University in Munich, Mr. Albrecht worked in the
Corporate Development Department of Deutsche Bahn AG, where he gathered experience in process improvements and strategic restructuring programs. After that, he moved to finance at Pricap Venture Partners AG
(Thomas Matzen Group), a venture capital and private equity firm, where he worked for six years as an investment manager vested with power of commercial representation under German law (Prokura); during this time,
Mr. Albrecht managed more than 20 transactions, from the initial investment to the IPO stage.

The Executive Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA
(from the left.: Donatus Albrecht, Dr. Dirk Markus,
Gert Purkert)
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
The actions of the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG until 1 October 2015 and the actions of the Supervisory
Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA from this date in fiscal year 2015 are reported below. The Supervisory Board
of Aurelius SE & Co. KGaA and AURELIUS AG discharged the duties for which it is responsible under the law
and in accordance with the Articles of Association in the reporting period.
The Executive Board of the personally liable shareholder AURELIUS MANAGEMENT SE and the Executive Board of
AURELIUS AG as well as the respective Supervisory Boards dealt intensively and highly cooperatively with the
development of the Company in fiscal year 2015. Both Supervisory Boards advised the Executive Board of the
personally liable shareholder and the Executive Board of AURELIUS AG in the management of the Company and
diligently monitored the management of the business as part of the responsibility as the Supervisory Board. The
Executive Board continually and promptly provided the Supervisory Board with extensive information on all
issues of relevance to the Company as well as on pending decisions of strategic importance or otherwise requiring
the approval of the Supervisory Board. The collaboration of the bodies was always carried out in an open and
constructive manner.
We gave careful scrutiny to the situation and outlook of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA and closely monitored the
 ompany‘s development. As an important part of our work, we examined business developments and results,
C
the liquidity situation and financial position (including the risk situation), and important transactions as well as
the business planning.
In the following report, the Supervisory Board outlines the main focal points of its activity in the past financial year.
Important topics addressed by the Supervisory Board in fiscal year 2015
AURELIUS acquired six corporate groups in the 2015 fiscal year and consolidated them for the first time:
Effective April 30, 2015, the Europe operations of Tavex SA were acquired. The corporate group produces denim
fabric for well-known jeans manufacturers primarily in Southern and Western Europe.
On April 30, 2015, the AURELIUS Group purchased the solid board and graphic board operations of the Smurfit
Kappa Group (today: SOLIDUS Solutions) with production sites in the Netherlands, Belgium, and the United
Kingdom. The transaction includes two graphic board mills and a complete solid board operation with two
mills and four converting sites.
The acquisition of the craft business of British Coats plc (today: MEZ) was carried out on July 28, 2015. MEZ is one
of the leading suppliers of craft products in Europe with a company history spanning more than 200 years. The
transaction includes the headquarters located in Germany, including the warehouse, as well as the production
plant in Hungary and distribution offices in 18 European countries.
Regain Polymers Holding Limited has been a subsidiary of AURELIUS since July 31, 2015. Regain is the leading
recycler of hard plastic waste in the United Kingdom. The seller was Chamonix Private Equity.
Transform Medical Group Limited was also acquired in July. Transform is the UK’s leading provider of surgical
and non-surgical cosmetic procedures.
Upon closing the transaction on December 1, 2015, AURELIUS acquired Allied Healthcare, the largest provider of
home care services in the United Kingdom and the leading provider of outsourced healthcare services in the
emergency medical care sector. The seller was British Saga plc.
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In June 2015, AURELIUS also acquired the remaining 21.9 percent interest in Getronics from the former Dutch
parent group Royal KPN.
On September 15, 2015, the AURELIUS subsidiary Studienkreis, one of the largest providers of private lessons
in Germany, purchased tutoria, the digital platform that promotes individual learning, as part of a so-called
add-on acquisition.
In fiscal year 2015, AURELIUS sold a total of four hotel properties in Munich’s Glockenbach district, in Hannover,
in Munich-Isarvorstadt, and in Munich-Nymphenburg. Ownership of the three properties in Munich was
transferred effective December 31, 2015, after the closing was completed in mid-December in Hannover
Supervisory Board meetings in financial year 2015
The Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG convened for three periodic meetings and the Supervisory Board of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA convened for one meeting in fiscal year 2015. All Supervisory Board members participated in
all of the meetings. The Supervisory Board adopted resolutions by way of written circulation between meetings in
certain circumstances. No committees were formed due to the small number of only three members. All current
matters of interest to the AURELIUS Group are jointly deliberated in the Supervisory Board by all members. All
Supervisory Board members possess the necessary knowledge and professional experience to perform their duties
in an appropriate manner.
A particularly important topic at the Supervisory Board meetings was the operational development of the AURELIUS
Group’s subsidiaries, i.e. the intended corporate policies and other basic questions of corporate planning, the
Company’s profitability, and the course of business, including its investments. The Executive Board regularly
reported on these things in the Supervisory Board meetings.
In the meeting held on March 25, 2015, the Supervisory Board dealt with the approval and adoption of the annual
financial statements and consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2014. Furthermore, the change in legal
form to a partnership limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, KGaA) was discussed in detail.
In the meeting held on June 15, 2015, the Supervisory Board reformed itself following the annual general meeting.
The meeting held on September 8, 2015, was the last meeting of the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG.
The meeting held on November 26, 2015, was the first meeting of the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA.
During this meeting, the Supervisory Board provided advice on the 2016 budget and approved it. Furthermore, the
Supervisory Board adopted a resolution stating that the goal for the share of women in the Supervisory Board was
a quota of 30 % within five years
Cooperation between the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board
All matters requiring the approval of the Supervisory Board were presented to the Supervisory Board promptly for
the adoption of a resolution. It granted its approval in all cases after reviewing the respective draft resolution as
well as after thorough consultation with the Executive Board of the personally liable shareholder.
The Supervisory Board was informed of all significant transactions between meetings. In certain circumstances,
it adopted resolutions by way of written circulation.
The reports presented to the Supervisory Board covered all issues of importance for AURELIUS’ business activities,
notably including the Company’s operating performance, the development of its business and liquidity situation,
relevant business events, and strategic decisions regarding the corporate policies, including the associated opportunities and risks. Between the Supervisory Board meetings, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board remained
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in regular in contact; as a result, the Supervisory Board was informed at all times of important current developments and was able to provide advisory support for the Executive Board.

approved the separate financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the 2015 financial year.

Current key indicators and the associated budgets as well as the comparative prior-year values that the Supervisory Board received as part of monthly reporting in writing formed the basis of the discussions. The Supervisory
Board examined important documents related to budget planning and financial statements and assured itself
that these documents were correct and appropriate. The body carefully and thoroughly reviewed and discussed
all reports and documents presented to it. As a result, there was subsequently no reason to complain about the
Executive Board.

A total dividend of EUR 62,800 thousand was paid to the shareholders in fiscal year 2015 from AURELIUS AG’s
distributable profit for fiscal year 2014 in the amount of EUR 133,046 thousand in accordance with a resolution
adopted by the annual general meeting held on June 15, 2015. This corresponds to a dividend of EUR 2.00 per
share of common stock.

The Supervisory Board intensively discussed the ongoing corporate planning and strategy. The focus was placed
in particular on the income and risk situation of individual Group entities. Basic questions of corporate planning
were also regularly discussed by the Supervisory Board. These included in particular the financial, investment, and
human resources planning, questions related to risks and opportunities as well as risk management. The body
assured itself on an ongoing basis that the Executive Board was handling the Company’s business in an appropriate manner and was taking all necessary measures in a timely and effective manner, including appropriate measures related to risk provisions and compliance. The Supervisory Board assured itself that the Executive Board had
taken all suitable measures according to Section 91 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG),
and that the risk monitoring system prescribed by that law functions correctly.

Under the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the amount of the dividend that can be paid to the shareholders
is determined on the basis of the distributable profit presented in the separate financial statements of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA prepared in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles. The personally liable shareholder’s profit utilization proposal specifies a dividend of EUR 1.45 per share to be paid from the
distributable profit of EUR 125,881 thousand presented in the separate financial statements for 2015 prepared in
accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles. This corresponds to a total distribution of EUR
45,936 thousand. It is proposed that an amount of EUR 79,945 thousand be carried forward to new account. If the
Company holds treasury shares on the date of the annual general meeting, which do not qualify for dividends in
accordance with Section 71b AktG, the amounts attributable to such shares will be carried forward to new account.

Corporate Governance
The Supervisory Board regularly reviews the efficiency of its activities. In the reporting period, the Supervisory
Board was not informed of any conflicts of interest.

Composition of the Supervisory Board
In fiscal year 2015, the step of transforming AURELIUS AG into AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA was completed. The change
in legal form took effect on October 1, 2015, with entry in the commercial register. The members of the Super
visory Board of AURELIUS AG became members of the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA, which comprises the same individuals.

Audit of the annual financial statements for financial year 2015
The separate financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the 2015 financial year prepared by the personally liable shareholder were audited by Warth & Klein
Grant Thornton AG, Munich, together with the accounting records and the Group management report. The annual financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA prepared by the personally liable shareholder in accordance
with German accounting standards, together with the bookkeeping system, were audited by Warth & Klein Grant
Thornton AG, Munich. Based on the audit, no objections were raised.

The term of office of all Supervisory Board members ended upon expiration of the annual general meeting held on
June 15, 2015, and the Supervisory Board was reelected by the annual general meeting in accordance with S
 ections
96 (1), 101 (1) AktG and Art. 7 (1) of the Articles of Association of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA . The election took place as
stipulated under the Articles of Association for the period ending upon expiration of the annual general meeting that
adopts a resolution approving the actions of the Supervisory Board for the first fiscal year after the term of office
commences, not including the fiscal year in which the election takes place. Finally, an alternate member for the
Supervisory Board members to be elected was elected to ensure the Supervisory Board’s capacity to act.

Therefore, an unqualified audit opinion was issued for the separate financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co.

The following members were newly elected as recommended by the Supervisory Board:
Dirk Roesing
Prof. Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel
Holger Schulze
Dr. Thomas Hoch (alternate member)

KGaA on December 31, 2015. The consolidated financial statements prepared voluntarily by the personally liable

shareholder in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the combined management report of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA and the Group for fiscal year 2015 were audited by Warth & Klein Grant
Thornton AG, Munich, together with the bookkeeping system. An audit opinion was issued for the consolidated
financial statements, with the single qualification that the information required under IFRS 3.59 ff and IFRS 8.23
was not disclosed on an itemized basis in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The annual financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA, the consolidated financial statements, and the
c ombined management report of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA and the Group as well as the auditor’s long-form audit
report and the personally liable shareholder’s proposal for utilization of the unappropriated net profit for the year
were presented to the Supervisory Board promptly for review. The Supervisory Board thoroughly reviewed the
documents submitted to it in accordance with Section 170 (1) and (2) AktG and the audit reports of the independent auditor.

In the constituent Supervisory Board session, Dirk Roesing was appointed Chairman of the Supervisory
Board and Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel as Vice Chairman. The appointments to these positions were also retained
for the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA .
Expression of gratitude
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Executive Board and all employees for their hard work and
commitment, day in day out.
Grünwald, March 24, 2016

The Supervisory Board concurred with the audit findings of Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG, Munich. As the final result of its own review, the Supervisory Board noted that it had no objections to raise. The Supervisory Board
concurred with the management report prepared by the personally liable shareholder. The Supervisory Board
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THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
Dirk Roesing
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
After earning a degree in business administration in 1986, Dirk Roesing began his career in the Internal Audit department of Daimler Benz AG. After two years, he made an internal move to assume management responsibility
for Group Treasury. From 1994 to 1996, he headed the Controlling and M&A Departments of VOBIS AG, a company
of the Metro Group. After that, he served as European Finance Director and German Managing Director of the
international Amer Sports Group (which includes the Atomic, Wilson, and Salomon brands). Following on from
this, he joined with his fellow board members at telegate AG to establish the directory assistance service in his
function as commercial director and supervised the company’s stock market listing. In 2003, he became Executive
Board Chairman of the listed SHS Viveon AG, where he has been Chairman of the Supervisory Board since the
fall of 2009. He then served as partner and member of the Executive Board of venture capital company b-to-v
Partners AG before becoming managing director of Scopus Capital GmbH in 2012.

Prof. Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel
After finishing his studies in business administration at the Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen-Nürnberg
and completing his MBA at the University of Georgia, Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel started his professional career as a
consultant at McKinsey & Company in 1998. He focused on corporate finance and growth studies in the high-tech,
chemical, and energy branches.
At the end of 1999, Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel founded 12snap AG, where he served as Chief Financial Officer until
2008. During this period he completed the Chartered Financial Analyst Program at the American CFA Institute. He
has also been nationally and internationally active as a lecturer and associate professor of various topics including
business finance, investment management, and entrepreneurship at TU Munchen and FOM München as well as
the State University of Economics and Finance in St. Petersburg since 2001. He was awarded a Ph.D in political
sciences (Dr. rer pol.) at TU München in 2012 with summa cum laude.
Since July 2013, Dr. Mühlfriedel has occupied a chair for General Business Administration, in particular Entrepreneurship, at the University of Applied Sciences in Landshut. In addition to his academic activities, Dr. Bernd
Mühlfriedel is co-founder and managing partner of Augustus Consulting GmbH, an investment company
focusing on value investments since 2008.

Holger Schulze
After studying business and industrial engineering at the Technical University of Darmstadt, Mr. Schulze began
his career as Senior Analyst, Global Internal Audit, at Procter & Gamble Services in Brussels, Belgium. Following
several other posts within the Procter & Gamble Group – in his last position he held global financial responsibility
for distribution logistics and customer service of the perfume business with responsibility over a budget of more
than EUR 100 million and a team of 12 staff members – he joined McKinsey & Company as a project manager,
where he led projects for clients in the consumer goods, pharmaceuticals and telecommunications industry in
Germany, Romania, Switzerland, the UK and the US.
Since the beginning of 2010, the turnaround specialist has been a Managing Director of CC CaloryCoach Holding
GmbH, which operates a franchise system involving more than 120 facilities in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland.
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THE AURELIUS SHARE

Development of the AURELIUS share in comparison to DAX
160%

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will once again propose an increase in the base dividend to EUR 0.90
per share (2015: EUR 0.80) at the annual general meeting to be held on June 9, 2016, as a result of the robust
business performance in 2015. In addition, a special dividend is to be paid out for 2015 in the amount of EUR 0.55
per share (2015: EUR 1.20) as a result of the successful sale of hotel properties. The planned distribution thus
amounts to EUR 45.9 million
Fear is driving the stock markets
The international capital markets proved to be highly volatile in 2015. Whereas the prices of shares and securities
increased significantly worldwide in the first half of the year, the mood turned clearly negative in the third quarter. In addition to the collapse of the Chinese stock markets, fear of a turnaround in interest rates in the U.S.A. was
also a crucial factor in this development. The German stock index DAX lost around 20 percent of its value within a
few days. Similar developments were observed in the U.S.A. and Asia. The attempt of a direct countermovement
failed. The indices in both America as well as in Asia ended the market year in the red. The German leading index
DAX realized a gain of just under 10 percent in 2015.
Shareholders profit from the repurchase of shares
In 2015, the first share repurchase program was successfully completed and a second one was started. In retrospect, the acquisition of treasury shares proved correct and increased the share value for AURELIUS and its shareholders. Already in 2014, the Company’s annual general meeting adopted a resolution granting approval for the
buy-back of shares of the Company. The first program was ended in the middle of 2015. The second program
started on July 1, 2015, and runs until June 30, 2016. In this period, the Company can repurchase up to 2,888,002
treasury shares or 9.1 percent of the share capital. In total, 344,498 shares valued at EUR 11.6 million were repurchased under the two repurchase programs by the reporting date December 31, 2015.
Convertible bond successfully placed
The convertible bond successfully placed in December with a total nominal amount of EUR 166.3 million was
well received by the capital market. The Company will use the issue proceeds to finance business acquisitions,
repurchase shares, and reduce its financing costs. The convertible bond matures at the end of 2020 and was
issued at full face value. The annual coupon payable amounts to 1 percent. The bond can be converted into 3.166
million shares or 9.994 percent of the Company’s current share capital with the disapplication of shareholders’
pre-emptive rights. The conversion price is EUR 52.53, the corresponding conversion premium is 30 percent.
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The good start in the year 2015 with very intensive transaction activity boosted the AURELIUS share in the first
quarter: It reached a value of EUR 40. Turbulence on the international capital markets at the middle of the year
then led to a sideways movement with average valuations of around EUR 40 per share. The business valuation
rose in the fourth quarter with the looming record result for fiscal year 2015; there was a strong rally at the end of
the year in particular in the second half of December. At this point, the annualized consolidated revenues reached
the threshold of EUR 3 billion for the first time. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) for the combined group climbed to a new record amount of EUR 120 million.

150%
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All-time high thanks to record operating results
The AURELIUS share recorded annualized growth of around 50 percent. The shares closed at a new record high of
EUR 48.12 after having begun the 2015 market year at EUR 31.76. The market capitalization of our Company has
thus reached a value of EUR 1.5 billion. This performance is particular satisfying in view of the only moderate
increase in the reference indices. This rally was driven by AURELIUS’ robust operating business in the fiscal year
and consistently positive corporate reports over the course of the year.

DAX

Capital market shows increasing interest in AURELIUS
The capital market’s interest in the AURELIUS share increased once again in the fiscal year just ended. In 2015,
financial analysts of the following banks and brokers regularly made comments and recommendations with
respect to the AURELIUS share: Baader/Helvea, Berenberg, Hauck & Aufhäuser Institutional Research, and
Oddo Seydler, whereby the assessment of share price performance is uniformly positive. The increased interest
is the result of an intensive investor relations effort and a transparent dialogue with the capital market. Both
the Executive Board as well as the contact person for continuous financial communication were available for
institutional investors, private investors, analysts, and representatives of the press for personal one-on-one or
group discussions. AURELIUS also presented itself at important capital market conferences in Germany and
abroad.
Annual general meeting and dividend
All the resolutions proposed by management were adopted with large majorities by the shareholders represented
at the annual general meeting of AURELIUS AG held in Munich on June 15, 2015. 72.18 percent of the share capital
was represented. As recommended by the management, the shareholder meeting resolved to distribute a dividend of EUR 2.00 per share for the 2014 fiscal year out of the distributable profit. This dividend comprised a base
dividend of EUR 0.80 and a special dividend of EUR 1.20. The distribution volume thus amounted to EUR 62.8 million. The shareholders also approved the transformation of the Company from an AG into an SE & Co. KGaA.

Key Data
WKN
ISIN

Ticker symbol
Stock exchanges
Market segments
Share capital
Number and type of shares
Initial listing

AOJ K2A
DE000A0JK2A8
AR4

Xetra, Frankfurt, Berlin-Bremen, Hamburg, Munich, Stuttgart
m:access (regulated unofficial market) of the Munich Stock Exchange
EUR 31,680,000
31,680,000 no-par bearer shares
June 26, 2006
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NET ASSET VALUE OF AURELIUS GROUP COMPANIES
Group entities/units

NAV as of 12/31/2015
(in EUR mn)

Secop

249.2

UK Chemicals

153.7

IT Services

166.7

German Education Business

67.9

GHOTEL Group

86.3

ISOCHEM Group

26.1

fidelis HR

60.5

Scholl Footwear

57.5

HanseYachts

24.4

SOLIDUS

28.9

Berentzen Group

36.9

LD Didactic

24.7

Publicitas

21.5

UK Healthcare

40.1

B+P Gerüstbau

29.4

UK Polymers

23.0

TAVEX Europe

14.0

MEZ
Other (incl. net funds)
Total

0.0
141.9
1,252.7

The valuation is carried out using a discounted cash flow model taking into account the budgets of the
Group companies for the next three years (2016 –2018). The growth rates assumed for this detailed planning
period have been set uniformly at a conservative 0.5 percent. The weighted average cost of capital (WACC)
used for the underlying discounting rates was calculated as of December 2015 on the basis of individual peer
groups, totaling between 4.2 and 9.3 percent. The exchange-listed subsidiaries Berentzen Group AG and
HanseYachts AG were valued on the basis of their proportional market capitalization as of the reporting date
of December 31, 2015.
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COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT AND GROUP MANAGEMENT
REPORT OF AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA AT DECEMBER 31, 2015

FUNDAMENTAL STRATEGY OF AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA AND THE GROUP
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA specializes in identifying, analyzing, creating and exploiting all the opportunities

afforded by the market when acquiring its portfolio companies. Consequently, AURELIUS does not focus
on any particular economic sector. Accordingly, the Group’s operating companies are active in a wide range
of industries and apply different business models. The step to change the legal form of AURELIUS AG
to AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA was taken in financial year 2015. This change took effect upon registration on
October 1, 2015.

BUSINESS MODEL
AURELIUS specializes in acquiring companies with potential for development and makes a long-term commit-

ment to its portfolio companies. AURELIUS has many years of investment and management experience in various
industries and sectors required to realize the potential inherent in its portfolio companies. AURELIUS employs its
management capacity and the necessary financial resources in order to enhance the strategy and operations of
its portfolio companies.
With offices in Munich, London, Stockholm and Madrid, and subsidiaries in countries like Germany, the United
Kingdom, Spain, France, Italy, Poland, Switzerland, Austria, Slovakia, Hungary, Belgium, the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Denmark, Finland, Sweden and Norway as well as the United States, Argentina, Chile, Brazil, China,
Malaysia, India, Thailand, Singapore, South Korea and Australia, AURELIUS operates throughout the world.

G R O U P M A N A G E M E N T R E P O RT

AURELIUS acquires medium-sized enterprises or corporate spin-offs with annual revenues of between EUR 40

million and around EUR 750 million and an EBITDA margin that is positive, but could also be negative in exceptional cases. It is important for the company in question to have a market environment and core b
 usiness that
is stable and to exhibit the potential for its value to be increased by means of operational measures. As a rule,
AURELIUS acquires majority interests and preferably 100 percent of the company’s e
 quity.
Acquisition strategy
For the purpose of identifying suitable acquisition targets, AURELIUS makes use of a broad network of decision-
makers in industrial corporations as well as M&A consultants and investment banks. In total, the company’s
acquisition specialists identify several hundred potential acquisition candidates every year, of which about
10 to 15 percent undergo a detailed assessment.
AURELIUS conducts this due diligence process with internal and external experts in the fields of mergers and

acquisitions, law and finance. This way, the company assures prompt and efficient due diligence at a consistently high level.
Managerial support as value driver
The portfolio companies are overseen by experienced AURELIUS employees who assist the management in the
operational and strategic further development of these companies. AURELIUS makes a long-term commitment
to its portfolio companies and considers itself a responsible owner that offers its subsidiaries a stable, good
home and a dependable environment even in times of change. To that end, AURELIUS relies upon a pool of experienced managers and function specialists in fields like finance, organization, production, IT, purchasing, contracts,
marketing and sales. These experts are deployed in the companies on a project-specific basis. AURELIUS applies an
integrated approach to the further development of its subsidiaries.
The various specialists are deployed to assist in the operational and strategic repositioning of the companies
as agreed with the management of the portfolio company in question. AURELIUS initiates comprehensive
measures in line with the specific circumstances of a given company to further develop its portfolio companies
immediately after the acquisition.

AURELIUS has gained transaction experience from roughly 80 company acquisitions and sales, which enables it to

carry out transactions professionally and quickly. Thanks to its financial strength, which does not depend on
banks, AURELIUS is in a position to pay fair purchase prices and actively help its portfolio companies develop their
potential. AURELIUS is also flexible in the structuring of such transactions. As part of the sales process, it can
accommodate special conditions such as a minimum holding period, job guarantees and the replacement of
corporate relationships or existing lenders. For that reason, AURELIUS can make the necessary decisions more
quickly, giving it a competitive advantage in both the screening of prospective target companies and the
operational further development of the portfolio companies.

Such measures may include:
■■ Analyzing existing and often introducing new, more modern IT systems;
■■ Devising new sales and marketing concepts;
■■ Negotiating with banks and creditors on debt restructuring;
■■ Establishing new supplier relationships and settling inherited liabilities;
■■ Concluding agreements with works councils and trade unions;
■■ Restructuring current assets;
■■ Reorganizing production processes; and/or

Investment focus
AURELIUS does not focus on particular industrial sectors when selecting potential target companies, although
it does concentrate primarily on the following segments at the present time: industrial enterprises, chemicals,
business services, consumer goods / food & beverage, and telecoms, media & technology (TMT). AURELIUS
acquires investments throughout Europe in medium-sized companies and corporate spin-offs, provided they
meet one or more of the following criteria:
■■ Potential for development that can be unlocked with close operational support;
■■ Below-average profitability or need for restructuring; and/or
■■ Synergies with existing platform investments in specific target sectors.
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■■ Streamlining the product portfolio.

The managing directors of the portfolio companies receive, to a large proportion, variable remuneration. The
amount of this variable remuneration is based on the performance of the company in question, thus aligning the
interests of the portfolio company with those of the parent company.
Organizational structure of the Group
The AURELIUS Group has a multi-level structure. The operating subsidiaries are held by intermediate companies
below the level of the parent company. This structure effectively contains the risks of the individual operating
companies.

AU RE L I U S A N N UA L RE PO RT

I 19

G R O U P M A N A G E M E N T R E P O RT

Sales markets and external factors
The subsidiaries of the AURELIUS Group operate in different sectors and industries. Therefore, please refer to the
reports on the portfolio companies for a description of sales markets and external factors.
Changes in the consolidation group
Because several companies are usually bought and sold within a financial year, the consolidation group of the
AURELIUS Group changes between financial year reporting dates.
In accordance with the rules of IFRS 5 applicable to the accounting treatment of non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations, companies sold during a financial year, which are classified as discontinued operations according to IFRS, are no longer included within the revenue numbers presented in the annual report for
that year. Instead, they are presented within the profit/loss from discontinued operations in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. The prior-year comparison figures are likewise adjusted in accordance
with these rules.
Management system
Directly following the acquisition of a new subsidiary, a comprehensive and reliable, uniform Groupwide information and controlling system is implemented locally. The purpose of this system is to deliver the critical information required to improve the cost and income situation in order to bring about the successful restructuring
of the respective portfolio company. The instruments employed for this purpose include a weekly liquidity
report and a monthly report analyzing variances from the annually prepared budget and from the forecast(s)
generated during the year. Furthermore, the respective managing directors regularly inform the Executive
Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA about the current situation of their portfolio companies, including any
disadvantageous developments, so that appropriate counter-measures can be initiated in a timely manner.
The value-driven management and control of the AURELIUS Group is based on a comprehensive reporting
and controlling system. The key planning and managerial indicators tracked for the purpose of managing the
Group and the subsidiaries are cash flow, EBITDA and EBIT. All the key indicators mentioned above are entered
into and monitored within the uniform Groupwide reporting system. As part of the internal reporting process,
the E
 xecutive Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA receives a weekly liquidity report and a monthly report analyzing the variances with the annually planned budget and the forecasts generated during the year. Any budget
variances are analyzed and counter-measures are adopted where appropriate. For information on the methods
employed for calculating the key indicators of cash flow, EBITDA and EBIT, please refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
No basic research is conducted within the AURELIUS Group. The Group’s total research and development
costs amounted to EUR 24.4 million in the reporting period (2014: EUR 20.0 million). The capitalized development costs amounted to EUR 9.3 million at December 31, 2015 (2014: EUR 0.9 million). As a general rule, R&D
activities are conducted exclusively in the subsidiaries (operating entities).
SECOP
After the headquarters of SECOP’s research and development function moved to the Fürstenfeld facility in
Austria in 2014, consolidation of the activities continued during the reporting period. This consolidation was
motivated by the desire to strengthen the research and development function by adding local skills and leveraging synergy effects from the long-term relationship with the University of Graz at the Fürstenfeld facility.
All in all, this made it possible to accelerate the speed at which the modifications to the product and new
developments within the existing product platforms can be brought to market.
The R&D function has been tasked with developing cutting-edge compressor platforms for the three market
segments served by SECOP: Household, Light Commercial, and DC-Powered. The predominant technology in
these markets is the reciprocating compressor, for which the development team is essentially divided into
three groups: mechanics (pump), motor, and electronics. The main parameters driving the development of new
compressors are the efficiency of the compressors and competitive product costs.
HanseYachts
The development work of HanseYachts focuses on the development of new sailing and motor yachts as well as
innovative technical components for yacht equipment addressed in cooperation with technology partners from
the supply industry. The adaptation of existing models to fulfill the newest state of the art and accommodate
current market trends is also included in the program. The knowledge gained through cooperation with universities, particularly in the area of manufacturing technology, is incorporated into the company’s development
work. The cooperation of the company’s Development department with internationally renowned design offices
and yacht designers ensures that technical innovation and design always meet the highest standards. The use
of the design software Catia V5 makes it possible to model the entire product development process, from the
initial design to the control of machine tools. The development work in the reporting period focused on the
development of new models for the Hanse, Dehler, Fjord, and Sealine brands. Besides refining the exterior and
interior layouts of existing models, the company is working to devise new designs and concepts, expand existing series and establish design and production standards, especially in the fast-growing motor yacht segment.
Research and development costs of EUR 2.9 million accrued in financial year 2015.
ISOCHEM Group
Numerous customer syntheses and new products were transferred from laboratory scale to production in the
reporting period. In particular, this enabled the UK-based subsidiary Wychem to refresh its product portfolio
and reduce its dependence upon a few traditional products. The ISOCHEM Group succeeded in expanding the
development partnership with an important American customer; among other things, this resulted in several
development projects paid for by customers. The research and development costs for financial year 2015
amount to well over EUR 2 million.
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LD Didactic
LD Didactic pressed ahead with development work on innovative products with strong customer benefits in

financial year 2015. The next development steps in the field of automotive engineering were addressed. Above all,
this included innovations in the field of e-mobility with the new automotive high-voltage trainer, which was well
received by the market. The integration of the ELWE-Technik brand and portfolios was completed. On the natural
sciences side, the new Mobile Cassy 2 generation of measuring equipment enjoyed tremendous success when
rolled out. Costs of EUR 1.2 million accrued for research and development in the reporting period.
Berentzen Group
In order to keep the product offering attractive to consumers and exploit consumption potential, the Group’s
own Research & Development department continuously worked on improving the quality and flavor of existing liquor products and on developing innovative new products in 2015, as in prior years. In total, the company
developed and evaluated 355 recipes for branded and trademarked products in financial year 2015.
In the Fresh Juice Systems segment, the Group’s research and development activities focus on developing
machine technology, including accessories. Besides developing new models of fruit presses, the Berentzen
Group is also engaged in the continuous innovation and improvement of existing models.
Berentzen Group’s direct research and development expenses and quality assurance costs amounted to EUR
2 .0 million in financial year 2015.
For the sixth year in a row, the Berentzen company Pabst & Richarz Vertriebs GmbH was awarded first prize by
Deutsche Landwirtschafts-Gesellschaft e.V. (DLG) for the highest quality German liquor products. As part of
the annual DLG Quality Test, 28 products bearing the company’s brand names, as well as its branded dealer and
private-label brands, were awarded gold medals, and 10 liquor products received silver medals. These awards
underscore the outstanding position of the Berentzen Group as an experienced supplier of quality products.
TAVEX Europe
TAVEX Europe develops, manufactures and distributes high quality, sustainably produced denim fabrics for all

leading fashion brands. In this context, particular importance is attached to the continuous improvement of
both the product range and the production processes in order to generate competitive advantages with
product innovations and expand the company’s positioning as a manufacturer of sustainable fabrics produced
to high environmental standards.
The research and development spending within TAVEX Europe is targeted at constant improvements in the
quality of the process engineering installed in the spinning, weaving and dyeing facilities and the technical
optimization of the facilities with a view to reducing both water and power consumption (including a
self-developed aquasave process) and the chemicals employed. Alongside the positive cost effects resulting
from the reduced consumption of resources, the market also greatly appreciates these products manufactured
along ecologically sustainable lines.
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ECONOMIC REPORT
General economic conditions
The development of the global economy weakened during the course of last year. In its latest forecast dated
January 2016, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) was predicting global growth of 3.1 percent in 2015; in July, it
had anticipated that global growth in 2015 would total 3.3 percent; the figure in the previous year was 3.4 percent.
Within this total, the performance varied across the most important countries and regions. The developed world
enjoyed a slight recovery compared with 2014, with the economy expanding by 1.9 percent after 1.8 percent in the
prior year. Economic growth in the emerging and developing markets fell for the fifth year in a row to reach
4.0 percent (2014: 4.6 %). The main reason for this was flagging output in a number of major emerging markets,
led by China. The collapse in commodity prices had a negative effect on economic performance, notably in the
oil-exporting countries. Growth in Asia as a whole slowed to 6.6 percent (2014: 6.8%). The eurozone economy
managed to expand by 1.5 percent in 2015 (2014: 0.9%), while the German economy slowed slightly, to 1.5 percent
after 1.6 percent in the prior year. The United States expanded by 2.5 percent (2014: 2.4%).
Development of the private equity market in 2015
According to the German Private Equity and Venture Capital Association (BVK), in 2015 the German private equity market failed to match the record year in 2014. Total funds of EUR 5.3 billion were invested in a good 1,200
companies, 25 percent down on the prior year. Although succession deals and buy-outs again accounted for
over 70 percent of the total of EUR 3.8 million, this was down 22 percent compared with 2014. In contrast, the
investments of EUR 0.78 billion made by venture capital companies were up a sharp 16 percent on the p
 rior-year
total. Growth financing amounted to EUR 0.68 billion, thus almost matching the prior-year volume. According
to the industry association, the detrimental tax and regulatory regimes in Germany by European standards
make it harder for private equity firms to raise capital. German private equity firms managed to raise just EUR
1.33 billion, less than half the total achieved as recently as 2014.
Business performance of the Group
The AURELIUS Group again performed very well in financial year 2015. Both consolidated revenues and earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) were well above the prior-year totals. Almost all
of the portfolio companies contributed to this. Much of the good consolidated profit can be attributed to the
transactions conducted in the past financial year. AURELIUS acquired and fully consolidated six corporate
groups for the first time in financial year 2015, while one add-on acquisition was also completed. Furthermore,
the sale of four hotel properties in the Glockenbachviertel, Isarvorstadt and Nymphenburg districts of Munich
and in Hanover also had a positive effect. The AURELIUS share saw its price increase by a good 50 percent in
financial year 2015, meaning it clearly outperformed the market as a whole.

In addition, wide-ranging development and testing processes are employed by the Research and Development
department to constantly develop and test new denim materials with various fabric mixtures in the rigid,
stretch and ultra-stretch segments for several collections, preparing them for market roll-out during the course
of the year by means of pre-production runs. These fabrics give customers new, extended possible uses for
denim products in both the denim couture, fashion, fitness & activity segment and the leisure & comfort segment. Strong research and development competence and large-scale research spending form the focal point of
TAVEX Europe, enabling it to stand out from the competition in the denim market and expand its market share.
The capitalized research and development costs amounted to around EUR 7.0 million in financial year 2015.
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Reports on the portfolio companies

Company transactions in financial year 2015
AURELIUS acquired and fully consolidated six corporate groups for the first time in financial year 2015.

The following comments reflect developments in the individual corporate groups (subsidiaries) that are fully
consolidated within the AURELIUS Group. At the reporting date of December 31, 2015, the AURELIUS Group
consisted of 23 operating groups classified as continuing operations:
Corporate Group

Sector

Segment Affiliation

Head Office

SECOP

Manufacturer of compressors

Industrial Production

Flensburg, Germany

HanseYachts

Manufacturer of sailing yachts

Industrial Production

Greifswald, Germany

ISOCHEM Group

Producer of fine chemicals

Industrial Production

Vert-le-Petit, France

CalaChem

Producer of fine chemicals

Industrial Production

Grangemouth, UK

Briar Chemicals

Producer of specialty chemicals

Industrial Production

Norwich, UK

ECOPlastics

Recycler of plastic bottles

Industrial Production

Hemswell, UK

Industrial Production

Bergara, Spain

TAVEX Europe
SOLIDUS
Regain Polymers

Producer of high quality
denim fabrics
Manufacturer and processor
of solid board
Compounder and recycler
of post-use, rigid plastics

Industrial Production

Bad Nieuweschans, Netherlands

Industrial Production

Allerton Bywater, UK

GHOTEL Group

Hotel chain

Services & Solutions

Bonn, Germany

LD Didactic

Provider of
technical teaching systems

Services & Solutions

Hürth, Germany

Getronics

ICT system integrator

Services & Solutions

Amsterdam, Netherlands

brightONE

IT services and
product engineering

Services & Solutions

Eschborn, Germany

Studienkreis Group

Provider of tutoring services

Services & Solutions

Bochum, Germany

fidelis HR

Software/outsourcing for
personnel departments

Services & Solutions

Würzburg, Germany

AKAD University

Distance learning establishment

Services & Solutions

Stuttgart, Germany

Publicitas

Advertising marketer

Services & Solutions

Zurich, Switzerland

Services & Solutions

Berlin, Germany

Services & Solutions

Manchester, UK

Services & Solutions

Hatfield, UK

Retail & Consumer
Products

Haselünne, Germany

B+P Gerüstbau

Transform
Allied Healthcare
Berentzen Group
Scholl Footwear
MEZ

Scaffold building and
construction site services
Operator of
special cosmetic clinics
Provider of
domiciliary care services

Liquor producer
Supplier of
orthopedic and comfort shoes
Vendor of hand-crafted products

Retail & Consumer Products Milan, Italy
Retail & Consumer Products Kenzingen, Germany

The European activities of Tavex SA were acquired with effect from April 30, 2015. The corporate group produces
denim fabrics for prestigious jeans manufacturers.
As of April 24, 2015, the AURELIUS Group acquired the Solid Board and Printed Cardboard division of the Smurfit
Kappa Group (today: SOLIDUS Solutions), with production facilities in the Netherlands, Belgium, and the UK. The
transaction encompasses two facilities for printed cardboard, a complete solid board production facility with two
factories, and four processing plants.
The European handcraft business of the UK-based Coats plc (today: MEZ) was acquired on July 31, 2015. MEZ is the
leading vendor of hand-crafted products in Europe with a history dating back over two hundred years. The acquisition includes the head office and storage facilities based in Germany together with the production plant in
Hungary.
Regain Polymers has been an AURELIUS subsidiary since July 10, 2015. Regain Polymers is the leading compounder
and recycler of post-use, rigid plastics in the UK. The seller was Chamonix Private Equity.
Transform Medical Group Limited was similarly acquired in July 2015. Transform is the UK’s leading provider of
surgical and non-surgical cosmetic procedures.
When the transaction was closed on December 1, 2015, AURELIUS purchased Allied Healthcare, the biggest
 rovider of homecare services in the UK and a leading provider of outsourced emergency healthcare services.
p
The seller was the UK-based Saga plc.
Furthermore, AURELIUS acquired the remaining 21.9 percent interest in Getronics from its former Dutch parent
company Royal KPN in June 2015.
On September 15, 2015, the AURELIUS portfolio company Studienkreis Group, one of the biggest providers of
tutoring services in Germany, acquired tutoria, a digital platform for personal tuition, as an add-on acquisition.
AURELIUS sold a total of four hotel properties in the Glockenbachviertel, Isarvorstadt and Nymphenburg districts

of Munich and in Hanover in financial year 2015. Ownership of the three Munich properties was transferred with
effect from December 31, 2015, after the closing for the transaction in Hanover had already been completed in
mid-December.
In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 8, individual companies have been assigned to the Industrial
Production, Services & Solutions, and Retail & Consumer Products segments for purposes of segment
reporting (see also Section 22 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements).

The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA comprise 417 subsidiaries. Immaterial
i nvestments and associated companies are accounted for as financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39.
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INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION SEGMENT (IP)
The Industrial Production segment generated revenues from continuing operations of EUR 910.0 million in financial year 2015 (2014: EUR 616.0 million). The revenue increase resulted mainly from the new acquisitions of TAVEX
Europe, SOLIDUS and Regain Polymers together with the inclusion of the total revenues of ECOPlastics for the first
time. Segment earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to EUR 214.9
million (2014: EUR 48.1 million). Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to EUR 157.2 million
(2014: EUR 3.6 million). This sharp increase arises primarily in connection with the negative goodwill generated by
the new acquisitions (bargain purchases). The operating performance in the Industrial Production segment was
largely healthy in financial year 2015. The cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 53.3 million at December 31,
2015 after EUR 45.2 million at year-end 2014. Here, too, the increase essentially results from the changes in the
consolidation group in the reporting period.

SECOP

With its headquarters in Flensburg (Germany), SECOP is a leading manufacturer of hermetic compressors for
refrigerators and freezers, light commercial applications and 12-24-48-volt DC compressors for mobile applications. The company maintains production facilities in Europe and China and has been part of the AURELIUS
Group since 2010.
Current developments
Visible progress was achieved in financial year 2015 on the integration of Secop Austria GmbH in Fürstenfeld,
which began at the start of 2014 and has been continually pursued. The European manufacturing organization
was further optimized during the reporting period by consolidating shared functions and management areas in
order to exploit synergies and strengthen the European activities.
SECOP turned in a very strong performance during the reporting period, with the company recording healthy
growth rates in all regions. In addition, SECOP achieved significant year-on-year growth in all three of its divisions.
The Household Applications division managed to reverse its poor revenue performance in 2015. The positive
trend benefited notably from the products of the Variable Speed division. The market also continued to
show t remendous interest in the pioneering new product developments. The competitiveness of the newly
developed products Kappa 5 and Delta helped the Fixed Speed division to gain market share.

The Light Commercial and DC-Powered divisions similarly repeated the growth they enjoyed in 2014 in 2015.
Both divisions hold out excellent prospects for growth at SECOP. The increasing conversion to the environmentally friendly refrigerant hydrocarbon promises considerable potential for the Light Commercial division. Far
stricter regulations in the United States call for an end to the use of greenhouse gases, giving this trend extra
impetus. SECOP again forged ahead with the geographical expansion of its sales network.
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HANSEYACHTS

Greifswald-based HanseYachts AG is one of the world’s three biggest manufacturers of ocean-going sailing and
motor yachts with a hull length of around 29 to 67 feet (or around 10 to 21 meters). The firm has been an
AURELIUS portfolio company since 2011. Its products are innovative and well-established on the market, and
have a long history. HanseYachts produces under five different brand names: Hanse, Dehler, Moody, Fjord, and
Sealine. The full product portfolio encompasses a total of 32 different models.
The company has ultra-modern production facilities Germany and Poland and is represented by sales companies and distribution partners in 95 countries around the world. The company exports more than 80 percent of
its output and holds a market share of over 30 percent in the key countries of Northern Europe and Australia.
The HanseYachts AG share is listed in the General Standard section of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (ISIN:
DE-000A0KF6M8). The corporate bond placed in June 2014 (ISIN: DE000A11QHZ0) is listed in the Entry Standard
section for bonds.
Current developments
Due to their high purchase cost and their reputation as a product for the leisure water sports market, yachts are
considered to be luxury goods. This market is very sensitive to the state of the global economy. The financial crisis
in 2008 and 2009 led to a significant drop in demand for yachts worldwide. A recovery in the boat-building industry to pre-crisis levels has not happened since and is not anticipated for the coming financial year either.
Nonetheless, the maritime market environment for HanseYachts is stable to slightly growing in global terms.
Revenue growth is being driven mainly by North America and Asia. Despite the geopolitical crises in Ukraine, the
Middle East and West Africa, the sales situation in Europe is stable. There has also been a slight recovery in the
water sports markets in Italy and Spain.
HanseYachts is satisfying the market with a modern, constantly updated product range that meets the demands
of customers for individualism and variety. A shipyard cannot operate successfully and sustainably on the market
without the kind of close-to-series production and modular design that can accommodate broad variety.
HanseYachts again invested heavily in the product portfolio during the last financial year. Further new developments and facelifts are in the pipeline for the current financial year and are already now meeting with very positive feedback. The market activities conducted by HanseYachts notably include a regular presence at trade fairs.
In setting up the production and sale of motor boats under the Sealine brand under a long-term license,
HanseYachts is entering a new product segment that already pointed toward strong revenue growth in financial
year 2014/2015. Start-up costs for including Sealine motor boats in close-to-series production served to depress
the operating result. The company believes that the successfully established close-to-series production of the
Sealine motor boats will release learning curve effects, thus laying the foundation for strong earnings growth in
the coming financial year.

All in all, the company achieved the targets that had been set and believes that it will be able to continue the
positive trend through 2016.
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ISOCHEM GROUP

The ISOCHEM Group was acquired by AURELIUS at the beginning of 2010. It is a leading supplier of specialty
chemicals with production facilities and research and development centers in France and the UK. From its base
in Vert-le-Petit (France), the company offers its customers wide-ranging expertise in the development of complex, multi-level syntheses, from laboratory scale through to industrial production. In particular, the company
serves customers from the pharmaceutical and specialty chemicals industries.
Current developments
The strategy of refocusing on the pharmaceuticals business with a specialization in customer-specific syntheses
has been fully implemented by the ISOCHEM Group. Following the reorientation initiated in 2011, the company
has enjoyed strong growth and fast-rising productivity. The core CGMP business with pharmaceuticals customers
expanded by more than 30 percent in 2015, enabling revenues to reach a volume in excess of EUR 60 million for
the first time. This led to both a positive EBITDA and a net profit being recorded in 2015.
The main growth driver is the growing demand for the company’s customer-specific synthesis products. The
corporate group operating out of France and the UK also exports far more and succeeded in gaining market share
and new customers in North America in particular.
The company expects to put in a positive business performance in the long run on the back of numerous new
products and a well-filled development pipeline. The ISOCHEM Group anticipates further revenue growth in 2016
and a positive EBITDA in the core business. A further restructuring step at the Pont-de-Claix facility is planned in
the non-core agrochemicals activity in 2016, which will lead this unit to record permanently lower costs and also
break even.
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CalaChem seized the opportunity during the course of last year to optimize its cost structure and reorganize its
resources, meaning that the second half of the year was dominated by various restructuring activities.
The waste water treatment business in the Industrial Services business unit performed extremely well in 2015,
generating record revenues. The company also successfully concluded the latest upgrade to its two primary water
treatment tanks during the course of the year, which served to greatly improve the performance and capacity of
the plant. CalaChem aims to support the targeted growth of the Industrial Services business unit with this investment. Another strategically important project is the redesign of energy generation. Good progress has already
been made on the project by reaching the preplanning phase and issuing the public tender.
CalaChem expects to record a satisfactory result in 2016 on the back of the improved cost structure. The number
of new projects is expected to rise in line with the enduring positive market conditions.

BRIAR CHEMICALS

Briar Chemicals based in Norwich (UK) is an independent contract manufacturer and producer of agrochemicals
and fine chemicals. The company, which has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2012, currently produces
mainly chemical agents and intermediates for herbicides. These serve to protect both cereals and farm animals
from disease and also to boost yields. Briar Chemicals products are also key inputs in the leather, fabrics and
plastics industries.

CALACHEM

Current developments
Briar Chemicals achieved very strong results overall in 2015, even though the trading volume in the chemicals
business declined on the back of an industry-wide trend to reduce inventories. The success can be attributed to
ongoing strict cost controls and further austerity measures. The production volumes for some agrochemical
products were lower than forecast in the second half of 2015 as the stores of the buyers and their customers were
full. This was caused by constantly weaker demand as a result of lower cereal prices, meaning that 2015 was a
challenging year for many major agrochemicals producers.

CalaChem based in Grangemouth, Scotland, is a producer of fine chemicals focusing on the agrochemicals and
specialty chemicals segments. Besides producing fine chemicals, the company also operates an Industrial Services
business unit. This unit provides a wide range of services for the adjacent Earls Gate industrial estate, including
the treatment of industrial waste water, the provision of process steam and the supply of electricity. The
company has belonged to AURELIUS since 2010.

One of Briar Chemicals’ greatest strengths is the generally high technical standard of its production facilities and
technologies. Briar Chemicals again invested heavily in 2015, completing the installation of a drying plant, commissioning new, energy-efficient refrigeration systems, and setting up new storage facilities. These investments
form part of the program to continually cut costs and go on operating as profitably as possible in a challenging
market environment.

Current developments
CalaChem achieved good results last year, even though the trading volume in the chemicals business declined on
the back of an industry-wide trend to reduce inventories. The production volumes in the Fine Chemicals business
unit were lower than forecast for 2015, as the stores of the buyers and their customers were full. This trend is
projected to continue in the current year, as the stocks will need to be run down before new purchases are made.
In the medium to long term, however, the industry expects to enjoy strong growth, as reflected in the number of
new project inquiries.

Briar Chemicals expects to record a satisfactory result in 2016. This year, the company will turn its attention to
expanding its customer base while continuing its cost-cutting programs in order to remain the first choice for its
regular customers going forward.
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TAVEX EUROPE

TAVEX Europe, which has been a member of the AURELIUS Group since the end of April 2015, develops, manufacECOPlastics is one of the leading plastic bottle recycling companies in Europe. The company operates one of the

world’s biggest and most advanced plastic recycling plants in Hemswell, UK. The plant has an annual capacity of
approx. 150,000 tons of PET bottles, representing about 35 percent of the total plastic bottles recycled in the UK
every year. Since it was founded in 2000, ECOPlastics has occupied a leading position in the British market, mainly
due to the development of new rPET products. Part of the AURELIUS Group since the end of December 2014,
 COPlastics works with large companies, local authorities and waste-disposal firms.
E
Current developments
Consolidation in the recycling market progressed further over the past year and the number of competitors fell
again. The at-times massive fluctuations on the international commodity markets only had an indirect effect
on the company, which means they were manageable. In order to enhance its competitiveness, ECOPlastics
improved quality and efficiency in its production function and reduced its non-payroll costs, which served to
cut its costs overall. The demand for ECOPlastics products was good, allowing the company to push through its
first price rises. ECOPlastics found new suppliers, and stabilized and expanded existing customer relationships.
Shipments to new customers have commenced, especially in the high-margin business involving food applications. Collaboration with Regain Polymers, one of the leading compounders and recyclers of post-use,
hard plastics in the UK that was acquired by AURELIUS in July 2015, has already yielded initial synergy effects
in indirect administration functions and purchasing in particular.
After a year of consolidation on the recycling market, the management will continue to focus primarily on sales
and product development. ECOPlastics aims to establish itself as a supplier of input materials to manufacturers
of PET bottles and food packaging films. AURELIUS would need to cover a potential funding gap of up to
EUR 500 thousand in financial year 2016, as otherwise the continued existence of the company as a going
concern could be at risk.

tures and distributes high-quality, sustainably produced denim fabrics for all relevant fashion brands in southern,
central and northern Europe.
The European business with its historical headquarters in Bergara, northern Spain, also maintains a state-of-
the-art logistics center in the Valencia region and has central management and finance functions located in the
financial hub of Madrid. Nearshore production takes place at the Settat facility located around 50km southeast of
Casablanca, Morocco.
TAVEX Europe is positioned close to its European core markets and customers with “Fashion innovations devel-

oped in Spain & Sustainable lifestyle denim products made in Morocco.” This enables it to respond quickly to any
and all customer requests and also implement new fashion trends. The geographical proximity of production in
Morocco to the core markets and customers in southern and central Europe in the top-end denim segment provides an excellent springboard for gaining significant market share with appropriate quality, product innovations
and response times.
Current developments
Whereas work in the first months of AURELIUS Group membership focused exclusively on optimizing the
cost base and expanding the liquidity position, the refinement of the product strategy and strategic customer
development came increasingly to the fore as of the fourth quarter of 2015.
The first step involved a restructuring of the operational and structural organization in line with process costs and
a streamlining of the management structures, flanked by a wide-reaching optimization of the sourcing and
logistics chain coupled with the renegotiation of terms with all major suppliers. This was followed by a second
step entailing a clear refocusing of the product portfolio and a revision of product prices based on the new
production costs. Starting in 2016, this wide-ranging package of measures is expected to yield lasting cost
savings in the single-digit millions each year.
There was a sharp reduction in inventories and a sustained improvement in the liquidity situation. This resulted
from the changeover from the type of push production preferred in the past to pull production, which primarily
involves production planning based on the forecast of new orders and the introduction of an integrated, quarterly rolling sales/production/inventory plan, together with the accelerated sell-off of slow movers from existing
stocks.
The massive improvement in the cost base coupled with the lasting improvement in liquidity has regained the
confidence of both the Moroccan and Spanish banks, allowing them to offer an expansion of the credit lines to
help fund the planned growth.
Alongside the already very good, broad positioning in the fashionwear and activewear segment, the TAVEX Europe
growth strategy calls for an expansion in the comfortwear segment in 2016, coupled with a sharp increase of the
product share in the higher priced ladies fashion segment. Initial discussions and joint development proposals
with key accounts and cooperation partners in this regard can be described as highly promising.
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SOLIDUS

REGAIN POLYMERS

Part of the AURELIUS Group since late April 2015, SOLIDUS headquartered in Bad Nieuweschans, the Netherlands,
is a leading manufacturer and processor of solid board products. The origins of the company, which emerged
from the Smurfit Kappa Group as a carve-out, date back to the year 1888. The company has 830 employees at
eight locations in the Netherlands, Belgium, the United Kingdom, France and Norway. The core business of
 OLIDUS is the production of solid board (sheets) and rolls for various industrial packaging applications. About
S
45 percent of the solid board produced by the company is converted into boxes and related products in the company’s own converters and distributed to end customers. Typical uses for the company’s products are paperboard
for book spines, folders, luxury packaging, and foil-laminated paperboard for the food industry. The main products of the converters are water-resistant trays for the transportation and resale of food products and flowers, as
well as customer-specific packaging applications.

Regain Polymers is the UK’s leading bespoke compounder of post-use, hard plastics. Founded in 1991, it has its
headquarters and state-of-the-art recycling plant in Allerton Bywater, Yorkshire. Regain Polymer was acquired by
AURELIUS in July 2015. The company has a strong track record in the extrusion of recycled hard plastics tailored to
the exact specifications of its customers, which include operators in the automotive, environmental, horticultural, packaging and construction markets. The company’s broad product portfolio spans polymers like high-
density polyethylene (HDPE), polypropylene (PP), talc-filled polypropylene (PPT) and polystyrene (PS). Its current
extrusion capacity across seven extrusion lines totals around 46,000 tons per annum. The company currently
operates two wash plants and a material preparation facility with a capacity of 28,000 tons per annum, allowing
it to remove contaminants like paper, metal and dirt prior to reprocessing.

Current developments
The expectations regarding the performance of SOLIDUS were positively confirmed in the past financial year.
Increasing business volumes led to the market-leading position enjoyed by the vendor of solid board being
extended. The planned expansion of operations to include 100 percent recyclable cardboard for food packaging
(mainly for the packaging of fish and meat products) and the related substitution of environmentally unfriendly
polystyrene packaging gained further momentum from the successful roll-out with key customers. Positive
feedback was also received for new green products like tomato-stamp boxes that contain an amount of tomato
fiber alongside recycled paper, products like the trash compactor for which further airlines could be acquired as
customers, and what has been called the BioBoxx.

Current developments
Initial restructuring measures were implemented following the acquisition by AURELIUS in July 2015. The company
achieved a stable performance in the second half of the year. The commenced restructuring measures will be
continued in 2016. New business opportunities have already been identified and should yield growth as soon as
the first quarter of 2016. A new, five-year cooperation agreement should make it possible for Regain Polymers to
increase utilization levels of its production equipment throughout the year. The relevant contract is expected to
be signed in March/April 2016.
A new sourcing strategy is currently being introduced at Regain Polymers. Its goal is to ensure a more stable and
more profitable supply of all the necessary inputs. At the same time, the improvement in production efficiency
already achieved in the second half of 2015 will help to boost capacity in the current financial year. For 2016, the
management expects revenues to rise and earnings to improve sharply.

The Graphic Board division also performed well, benefiting from the decision to restart production at the second
board mill at the Bad Nieuweschans facility and the related ability to deliver reels.
As had already become apparent by mid-2015, the positive business performance was affected by fast-rising
prices for raw materials (recycling paper), which were largely offset by falling gas prices together primarily with
the profitability projects initiated by SOLIDUS when it was first acquired. The three-year program comprises over
40 individual projects in all key areas of activity, including top-line growth, cost-cutting and supply chain optimization, together with a wide-ranging investment program in the individual locations to boost productivity.
Key elements of the carve-out from the Smurfit Kappa Group were addressed in 2015. These included setting up
an independent IT infrastructure, creating the company’s own branding and withdrawing from the Smurfit
corporate pension fund.
Work in 2016 will focus primarily on the expansion of the European and international market presence, the
organizational integration of the individual locations, and the completion of the carve-out by implementing a
separate ERP system and related business applications.
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SERVICES & SOLUTIONS SEGMENT (S &S)
The Services & Solutions segment generated revenues from continuing operations of EUR 830.7 million in
 nancial year 2015 after EUR 756.6 million in 2014. Most of the revenue increase can be attributed to the new
fi
acquisitions of Transform and Allied Healthcare together with organic growth at Getronics. Segment earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to EUR 54.9 million (2014: EUR 57.0
million). Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to EUR 22.0 million (2014: EUR 34.1 million).
Cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 174.6 million at December 31, 2015 after EUR 118.5 million at year-
end 2014. The increase essentially results from the changes in the consolidation group in the reporting period.

GHOTEL-GRUPPE

The GHOTEL Group operates 11 hotels and apartment blocks in central locations of seven major German cities,
including Hamburg, Hanover and Munich. The company offers attractive facilities, well-equipped conference
rooms and contemporary living solutions in its modern business and leisure hotels. The corporate group is primarily aimed at travelers who want good value for their money in the mid-range price segment, along with good
quality service. The GHOTEL Group has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since 2006.

G R O U P M A N A G E M E N T R E P O RT

LD DIDACTIC

An AURELIUS Group company since 2009, Hürth-based LD Didactic is a leading provider of technical teaching
systems for schools, universities, commerce and industry. The Group offers complete solutions for general science
education and continuing education in engineering.
Current developments
The German market for general education materials deteriorated during the course of 2015. This made itself
especially apparent in slower contracting by the public sector and delays to projects. The project pipeline and
inquiry patterns do, however, point toward an improvement in 2016. The domestic market for professional
training also slowed in the final quarter of 2015; nonetheless, LD Didactic managed to expand its operations in
this segment. LD Didactic’s export activities were well behind budget in the first half of the year due to political
disturbances and the weak oil price, although a number of major projects in the second half of the year helped
to close the gap on the successful prior year.
After completing the post-merger integrations of the FEEDBACK Group and ELWE Technik in the last financial year,
LD Didactic is currently focusing on optimizing the production costs of the original Leybold portfolio and the

acquired portfolio. Efforts are also being made to reduce complexity in the product portfolio.
Current developments
GHOTEL hotel & living can look back on an eventful year with plenty of positives. The chain succeeded in increasing its revenues again in 2015. The room rate could also be raised by 1.5 percent, in line with the trend in
major German cities according to industry newspaper Allgemeine Hotel- und Gastronomie-Zeitung (AHGZ).
Capacity utilization in the hotels was more than satisfactory. Across all the premises, occupancy remained
constant at an average of around 75 percent.
Renovation work was carried out in some of the chain’s hotels with a view to maintaining this upward trend
through 2016 and ensuring guest satisfaction. In the Munich City location, for instance, seven new double rooms
and a new breakfast room were added, while Hanover received a completely new kitchen.

The company again presented numerous product innovations in financial year 2015, such as the new Mobile
Cassy 2, which was very well received on the market. LD Didactic has responded to the growing importance of
e-mobility by developing an automotive high voltage trainer.
LD Didactic anticipates that greater market penetration and coverage will enable it to boost its market share,
 lbeit against the backdrop of a contracting domestic and international market. The company is also still intera
ested in growing its business through external acquisitions if and when suitable opportunities present themselves in the international market for teaching aids.

A further project aimed at boosting customer satisfaction and reach is the relaunch of the company website.
The new GHOTEL Group homepage is scheduled to appear with a revamped, fresher design before the end of
February. Additional categories are intended to ensure optimum service; the careers section has been expanded,
for instance, with a view to making the Group even more attractive as an employer for potential applicants.
One of the hotels in Munich ceased operations at the end of the year and will now be run as an apartment house
for a year. The new GHOTEL hotel & living in Essen is scheduled for opening in 2017.
Alongside the website, the GHOTEL app rolled out in 2015 is also to be given an update to make it even more
user-friendly. These two now essential tools are intended to make the mobile booking process as convenient
and simple as possible.
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GETRONICS

Getronics is an ICT system integrator with a history that dates back more than 125 years. In the fields of workspace management services, connectivity, data centers, applications and consulting, Getronics is ideally
equipped to serve nationally and internationally active corporations and public-sector organizations throughout the world. With a global portfolio of offerings, the company ensures that it can offer consistent services
worldwide, in cooperation with its partners in the Getronics Workspace Alliance. Acquired by the AURELIUS
Group in May 2012, the corporate group employs a total of 4,900 or so people in Europe, South America and
Southeast Asia. AURELIUS acquired the outstanding 21.9 percent of Getronics from Royal KPN at the end of
June 2015.
Current developments
Getronics operates in a market environment characterized by ongoing consolidation and lively takeover activity
on the supplier side. ICT expenditures fortunately remained roughly the same on aggregate across all target
markets last year. Particularly in the workspace and UCC environment, however, demand shifted toward cloudbased solutions. Customers on the outsourcing side in particular are increasingly interested in obtaining all services from a single source. All-in-one service providers are growing faster than the other players on the market
accordingly.
In summer 2015, Getronics in Germany was merged with Individual Desktop Solutions GmbH (IDS) that had been
acquired from T-Systems in 2014, leading to a tangible strengthening of the domestic business. The complete
operational integration of Telvent and Connectis Consulting in Spain helped to expand activities in southern
Europe and the strategic Application segment. The relaunch of the Global Workspace Alliance (GWA) at the end of
the year provided impetus in terms of the internationalization strategy and global reach, enabling international
revenues to increase by around one-third year-on-year.
Getronics succeeded in boosting customer satisfaction during the reporting period. In last year’s customer
satisfaction study by Whitelane Research, Getronics was awarded third place in the overall ranking, while the
company improved from 23rd to 6th in Belgium. Numerous new customers especially in the International segment and the future-looking segments like Cloud, Datacenter, UCC, and Applications provided for a moderate
increase in aggregate revenues and a big improvement in earnings.
In 2016, Getronics is set to focus mainly on the (organic and inorganic) expansion of its strategic segments. In
addition, the company plans to complete the takeover of Colt’s cloud activity and integrate it into Getronics’
structures. In line with latest developments in terms of acquiring new customers and planned projects,
Getronics expects its revenues to grow faster than the industry average in 2016.
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BRIGHTONE

With some 600 employees in Germany, the Netherlands and Poland, brightONE provides future-looking technology development and benefits-oriented consulting services in the field of information and communications
technology. In doing so, the company develops customer-specific applications and solutions in the ICT sector by
applying the interdisciplinary expertise it has built up in the following sectors: banking and insurance, energy
and utilities, automotive and hi-tech/manufacturing, and telecommunications/network operation and IT
services. The corporate group, which has been part of the AURELIUS Group since 2013, has many years of
experience in the fields of IT/ICT consulting and customized system integration, and now also boasts a broad
range of ICT platform solutions and products developed in-house.
Current developments
In the past year, brightONE succeeded in expanding its activities with new and existing customers across all
segments in Germany on the back of its specific industry solutions. In the Communication & Testing Services
segment, operations involving telecom operators were constantly expanded and the posi¬tioning as R&D partner to Alcatel-Lucent permanently enhanced.
By cooperating with the market-leading partners Interactive Intelligence and Genesys, brightONE managed to
gain a greater share of the market. Furthermore, Live-Person and MTEL proved to be important new partners in
the fast-growing cloud services and digitization operations. In this context, the first proprietary products, notably
including SocialCOM®, were integrated into the sales platforms of the established partners, enabling the group to
profit their global sales activities going forward.
The brightONE company in the Netherlands again proved to be an innovator and trendsetter for its customers
in the Benelux region in 2015, while systematically and successful diversifying its portfolio of offerings and
customers.
The demand for software-development and system-integration service solutions from the brightONE development centers in Poland rose sharply last year, with staff numbers climbing strongly. Furthermore, the Polish
company succeeded in acquiring prestigious customers in the aerospace segment, among others, thus enabling
it to enter the fast-expanding Polish ICT market directly as planned.
Building on the successfully advanced development of proprietary products, closer cooperation with leading platform providers and the expansion of the customer base including in new industry and services sectors, brightONE
takes an optimistic view of the future market and customer development.
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STUDIENKREIS GROUP

Current developments
Fidelis HR enjoyed a very strong financial year in 2015, benefiting from the measures previously implemented to
boost efficiency. These notably included relocations, product revisions, staffing measures and non-payroll cost
optimization. The resulting impact on earnings made a major contribution to what was an extremely successful year in economic terms for fidelis HR.

The Bochum-based Studienkreis Group, which has belonged to AURELIUS since the beginning of 2013, is one of
Europe’s largest private-sector education specialists. The company offers professional tutoring services, from
elementary school to high school, at about 1,000 locations throughout Germany. Since being founded more than
40 years ago, the Studienkreis Group has assisted well more than one million secondary school students to date,
making it one of the leading providers in the fast-growing field of private tutoring services.

Customer satisfaction increased greatly in the reporting period on the back of better service and product
quality. This was reflected in a good performance with existing customers while simultaneously forming the
foundation for successful new customer acquisition.

Current developments
The market for professional tutoring services promises potential for stable growth both now and into the
future. According to as-yet unpublished statistics from the German Institute for Economic Research (DIW Berlin),
almost half of all students are tutored at least once during their school careers.
Opening its locations during the summer vacation to provide an attractive program of holiday courses gave the
Studienkreis Group a very strong foundation for an extremely successful second half of 2015. All in all, the
company recorded much higher registration figures every month after the vacations and generated far more
contracts than in 2014 as a result.
An important organizational step was taken by tangibly increasing staffing levels in the sales function, which
led to much shorter spans of control and paralleled a restructuring of the sales activity. During the summer, the
Studienkreis Group acquired and integrated the tutoria.de e-learning platform from the Holtzbrinck Group.
With some 35 new locations opened, constantly strong growth in online tutoring and twelve newly concluded
franchise agreements in the second half of 2015, the Studienkreis Group remains firmly on course for growth.

During an HR conference staged by fidelis HR in Würzburg with some 400 participants, strategic updates were
made to the fidelis.Personal software program and important partnerships concluded, which will lead to a
significant functional expansion in 2016. The agreement of a partnership with the AKAD distance-learning
institution enables fidelis HR to round out its range of proprietary offerings in the field of training and education
as well as leveraging synergies within the AURELIUS Group. Moreover, the first customer with locations outside
of the German-speaking region was acquired during 2015. Fidelis HR is to provide business process outsourcing
services for this customer in 14 European countries. A partnership concluded in this setting will enable fidelis HR
to provide services in over 100 countries moving forward and contains plenty of sales potential.
Sales with both existing and new customers ran at high levels during the reporting period. Many long-running,
large-volume contracts with existing customers were renewed, with the scope of services to be provided
expanded. In addition, fidelis HR gained its biggest new customer since its acquisition by AURELIUS.
The successful financial year it enjoyed in 2015 has given fidelis HR a very strong foundation to continue its
strong economic performance and realize growth in 2016.

AKAD UNIVERSITY

In summer 2015, the Studienkreis Group was named service champion among tutoring providers for the third
time in a row in Germany’s biggest service ranking. This is a strong indication of a high level of customer
satisfaction. The refinement and optimization of the Studienkreis website has created the springboard for
more contacts with potential customers and hence more registrations at the locations.

FIDELIS HR

Würzburg-based fidelis HR offers customers in the countries of Germany, Austria and Switzerland 360-degree
HR outsourcing services, including payroll processing, personnel administration, digital personnel files, applicant management, application management (SAP, P&I LOGA , fidelis.Personal), hosting, self-service & workflow
management, internal control systems (ICS), and even quality monitoring.

Stuttgart-based AKAD University is an innovative provider of distance learning programs leading to government-accredited degrees, as well as continuing education programs that facilitate flexible, individual and
efficient learning while still working. With more than 60,000 successful graduates since 1959, AKAD is one of
the pioneers in Germany’s private education sector. AKAD University offers over 60 bachelor’s degree, master’s
degree and certificate programs aimed primarily at working people, so they can lay the groundwork for successful
career development. As a leading provider in the market of private-sector distance schools, AKAD University
occupies a strong market position and enjoys an excellent reputation among employers. It has belonged to
AURELIUS since April 2014.

Over 6,000 companies in excess of a million employees put their faith in the market leader fidelis HR. They include
corporate groups, SMEs, public-sector entities and small firms. The company provides its services and customer
support from within the customer’s country and uses the highly secure data centers of Fujitsu TDS GmbH in
Neckarsulm and Neuenstadt (Baden-Württemberg) to operate its software solutions in Germany.
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Current developments
The German distance-learning market for academic qualifications and non-academic training is being influenced
by different social trends. First, many professions and careers require an academic qualification. In response,
AKAD University offers both bachelor’s programs as the first academic degree after a vocational training program
and master’s degrees for which prior academic study is a necessary prerequisite. In addition, the demand for experts and managers who think in interdisciplinary terms is rising. The distance-learning market is benefiting from
the resulting demand for lifelong learning. According to the distance-learning statistics published by the Forum
DistancE-Learning, an industry association, over 423,000 Germans made use of this option in 2014 This represents
a year-on-year increase of three percent.
With the sale of its Wissenschaftliche Hochschule Lahr (WHL) activity to European Education Group Deutschland
GmbH and European Education Group AG, AKAD University continued with its systematic policy of focusing on its
core business at the Stuttgart facility. The disposal of the property in Lahr makes it possible for the company to
press ahead with the development of its university activities and strategic growth initiatives planned for 2016.
The first of these notably targets an enhancement of the new study model and the continual optimization of
quality management. AKAD University’s strategic growth initiatives primarily consist of expanding cooperation
arrangements with firms – supplemented by partnerships, including in other German-speaking countries, to
scale the successful distance-learning model – together with reinforcing consulting sales activities and online
marketing. The marketing of non-academic education products will be stepped up by a separate AKAD institute
as of 2016.

PUBLICITAS

Publicitas is a leading media sales company headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland, and represented in more than
20 countries of the world. Because Publicitas offers a multi-media portfolio comprising more than 8,000 ad
spaces in Switzerland and internationally, advertisers and agencies working with Publicitas can place their ads
exactly where they will reach the intended target groups. Founded in 1855, the company has approximately
700 employees today, who work to place advertisements in the best-known daily newspapers, luxury magazines,
on billboards, in TV and radio, and on mobile, digital platforms in more than 100 countries of the world. Publicitas
has belonged to the AURELIUS Group since June 2014.
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B+P GERÜSTBAU

B+P Gerüstbau, which is headquartered in Wandlitz/Berlin, is the leading scaffold builder and construction site
services company in Berlin-Brandenburg. The company offers its customers a broad range of construction site
services, including scaffolding of all kinds, elevators and powered access solutions, winter heating systems,
logistics management and planning. Besides creating the conditions that make construction possible, the company’s services also make a crucial contribution to worker safety at construction sites. In addition to a variety
of smaller and medium-scale projects on residential and commercial buildings, B+P Gerüstbau focuses on
large-scale monument protection and infrastructure projects. AURELIUS Mittelstandskapital acquired a majority interest in B+P Gerüstbau effective September 30, 2014 as part of a long-term succession arrangement.
Current developments
Driven by the consistently strong economy, residential and commercial construction is currently performing well.
Construction of both residential and commercial properties is buoyant. The outlook for B+P Gerüst¬bau in 2016 is
very good, given the strong demand for new apartments in the Berlin/Brandenburg conurbation. At the same
time, the company continues to be involved in all the major public projects (Humboldt Forum/Berlin Palace, the
Pergamon Museum, and the State Opera House), which ensures a solid basis for the company’s progress over the
next few years.
B+P Gerüstbau invested heavily in scaffolding and equipment in financial year 2015, especially for the enclosure of
the Pergamon Museum that has now been completed. Scaffolders and service engineers were hired together
with seven new apprentices with a view to ensuring the usual service quality. The ongoing demand for skilled
staff is expected to continue into 2016. The shortage of skilled workers at present is the main factor making it
hard to generate more growth internally.
The performance and earnings targets for 2015 were largely achieved; the budget for 2016 is at a similar level to
2015, based on a strong order book in the core market.

Intensive activities to promote growth outside of the core region are to be continued by acquiring scaffolding
contractors as part of succession solutions. At the same time, the company is working on setting up its own
branch in a western German growth region, which is scheduled for the first half of 2016.

Current developments
The traditional print market remains a very challenging industry setting. The print runs of daily newspapers
and magazines are falling fast as print media are increasingly being supplanted by digital media in everyday
life. Publishing houses are grappling with sharp declines in revenues and profits in this segment every year.
Whereas revenues from ad placements like situations vacant and classifieds had been an important source of
earnings in the past, they have now all but dried up. Building on its outstanding position, Publicitas launched a
sales offensive and hired additional sales staff in the past year. This means that the publishers with exclusive
representation agreements will be even better placed toward advertising customers and enjoy a greater reach
in both Switzerland and elsewhere. A modern programmatic print marketing platform supplemented these
activities. In addition, Publicitas is continuing to prioritize the expansion of its digital activities. Alongside the
programmatic trading desks, the company invested in proprietary video and mobile technology during the reporting period and now sells the new InPageVideo format products and innovative mobile creative solutions
worldwide. The cinema business was sold.
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TRANSFORM

Transform is the UK’s leading provider of surgical and non-surgical cosmetic procedures. The company that has
belonged to the AURELIUS Group since the end of June 2015 comprises 27 clinics in England, Scotland, Wales, and
Northern Ireland as well as two dedicated cosmetic procedures hospitals in Manchester and London.
Current developments
Following its acquisition by AURELIUS, the company carried out a series of measures aimed to improving p
 atient
care before, during and after procedures. A performance analysis of all clinic facilities made clear that the operations needed to be restructured and their services enhanced. This resulted in a number of organizational and
operational changes. The existing structure with separate surgical and non-surgical divisions was consolidated
and the staff assigned to the relevant products and services in each clinic. In combination with a wide-ranging
cost-cutting program, this yielded an operating profit at year-end 2015.
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ALLIED HEALTHCARE

Allied Healthcare is the biggest provider of homecare services in the UK, enabling people in need of long-term
care to live at home for longer. In addition, Allied Healthcare is a leading provider of outsourced emergency
care services for the National Health Service and local authorities, and majority shareholder in one of the
biggest providers of homecare services in Ireland. With more than 100 branches in England, Scotland, Wales,
the Republic of Ireland and Northern Ireland, the company makes over 20 million home visits every year.
Current developments
The British government’s austerity plan exerted more pressure on local authorities last year, leading to budget
cuts in the healthcare sector. This trend is likely to continue in 2016. An additional challenge in this context will be
the introduction of a higher legal minimum wage in the UK scheduled for April.

The UK cosmetic-surgery market proved to be stable in 2015, while growth is anticipated for the coming
years. According to the Confidentiality Advisory Group (CAG), non-surgical procedures like treatments with
Botox or a laser, which account for 85 percent of revenues, can be expected to grow by seven percent. The
reason for this is the growing number of older people, who prefer less invasive cosmetic procedures.

Allied Healthcare undertook further steps last year to successfully restructure its business model in light of these
market conditions. The company also invested heavily in new technologies, which are intended to gradually yield
greater efficiency and secure the position of Allied Healthcare as the biggest provider on the market.

The planned investment in a modern IT system is expected to yield greater efficiency and transparency in
2016. Furthermore, Transform is set to completely revamp its website, which acts as the company’s most
important marketing and customer-acquisition tool.

Private providers in the healthcare sector will again be under financial pressure in 2016. Thanks to the investments it has made and the size of the company, Allied Healthcare believes it is in good shape to defend its market
position and keep operating on the market going forward.
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RETAIL & CONSUMER PRODUCTS SEGMENT (R&P)
The revenues from continuing operations of the Retail & Consumer Products segment amounted to EUR 267.7
million in financial year 2015 (2014: EUR 219.3 million). Segment earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA) amounted to EUR 57.4 million after EUR 21.2 million in 2014, while segment earnings before
interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to EUR 47.4 million (2014: EUR 11.2 million). This increase is mainly attributable
to the acquisition of the European handcrafts activities of Coats plc, today known as MEZ. Cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 91.3 million at December 31, 2015 after EUR 51.9 million at year-end 2014. Here, too, the rise
essentially results from the changes in the consolidated group during the reporting period.

BERENTZEN GROUP

G R O U P M A N A G E M E N T R E P O RT

The main focus in the traditional core business of the Berentzen Group with liquors was on further revitalizing the
domestic market and reducing the dependence on substitutable dealer-brand products.
The franchise business in the Non-alcoholic Beverages segment switched to the branded drinks of the Sinalco
Group.
Higher sales volumes were recorded for the strategic umbrella brands Berentzen and Puschkin in Germany,
while slight growth was also generated across the entire domestic business involving branded liquors on the
back of product innovations and intensified promotions.
Sales volumes in activities involving branded dealer and private-label products similarly continued to rise,
driven by an enhanced product range and a competitive cost structure.
In the international branded liquors business, on the other hand, some of the established foreign markets
failed to repeat the sales figures recorded in the prior year. Alongside the ongoing structural weaknesses in the
markets in the Czech Republic and the Benelux, the political crises in Eastern Europe and the Middle East had a
detrimental effect on both direct exports to the individual countries concerned and the duty free business.

The Berentzen Group is one of the leading beverage groups in Germany and, with a history dating back over 250
years, also one of the oldest producers of liquor. The company also operates in the Non-alcoholic Beverages and
Fresh Juice Systems segments. The shares of Berentzen-Gruppe AG are listed in the General Standard segment of
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (ISIN: DE0005201602).
The portfolio of liquor brands encompasses internationally own names like Berentzen and Puschkin together
with traditional German spirits like Strothmann, Doornkaat, Bommerlunder and Hansen Rum. With its inter
nationally viable spirits brands, the Berentzen Group is also represented in more than 60 countries. Distribution
has been entrusted to the company’s own subsidiaries and distributors.
Berentzen’s German subsidiary, Vivaris Getränke GmbH & Co. KG, has been operating successfully in the German
soft-drinks market for decades. Its product line includes regionally significant mineral water products, carbonated soft drinks and modern trend beverages. A second pillar in this segment is the franchise business that has
been conducted for over 50 years.

The business in the Non-alcoholic Beverages segment developed unevenly. Whereas the success product of
recent years, the internally devised Mio Mio Mate brand, again enjoyed very strong volume and revenue
growth, sales of regional mineral water products remained stable and own-brand carbonated soft drinks contracted. The new franchise business started at the beginning of January 2015 with the branded beverages of
the Sinalco Group failed to match expectations, however. That said, though, the new customer rate already
achieved and the good acceptance of the offer overall served to create a firm foundation from which to build
upward in 2016.
In the Fresh Juice Systems segment, the “Revolution” fruit press enjoyed a successful start following its launch
under the Citrocasa brand in the fourth quarter of 2015. This compact, new generation of fruit presses makes it
possible to tap the catering trade as a new distribution channel.

SCHOLL FOOTWEAR

TMP Technic-Marketing-Products GmbH (TMP) based in Linz, Austria, which was acquired by Berentzen-Gruppe

Aktiengesellschaft in financial year 2014, has been a successful vendor of fresh juice systems for more than a
decade. The system comprising high quality fruit presses under the “Citrocasa” brand, oranges untreated in the
final ripening process under the “frutas naturales” brand and special bottling systems has quickly become
well-established within the Group.
Current developments
The Berentzen Group is operating more actively in modern, health-oriented markets; this is giving it a better
strategic balance in the portfolio and simultaneously opening up further opportunities for growth.
The consolidation of the internationally expanding, new subsidiary TMP with its Citrocasa brand had a positive
effect, especially on the financial performance of the Berentzen Group. Not only did the fresh juice systems
marketed under the Citrocasa brand enjoy a sharp increase in sales volumes across system components, they
also made a significant contribution to the consolidated profit.
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Scholl Footwear is a long-established supplier of shoes offering a high level of comfort, which sells its products in
Europe, Asia, the Middle East and Australia. In Europe, the company’s shoes are distributed mainly in pharmacies
and medical supply stores. In Asia, the Middle East and Australia, its products are also sold in shoe stores. Scholl
Footwear enjoys very high brand recognition rates of up to 80 percent in its principal markets. Italy, France, Thailand and Malaysia are currently considered to be the most important markets for Scholl Footwear. The company
has positioned itself as the expert for comfortable shoes. Design work for Europe and the Middle East is performed in Italy; the portfolio companies in Australia and Asia perform their own development work.
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Current developments
Following its acquisition by AURELIUS in the late summer of 2014, Scholl Footwear’s year in 2015 was dominated
by the successful conclusion of the global carve-out of the shoe business from the seller’s structures (IT systems,
office locations, etc.). The expansion strategy in Europe started to bear fruit, with revenues rising sharply yearon-year in a highly competitive environment. This benefited from the strong performance in the core southern
European markets, growth in the field of e-commerce and the entry into markets like Germany that had not previously been actively targeted. Business activities in Asia varied in their development, with a healthy performance
in Thailand in particular set against declines in Malaysia caused by difficult political conditions.

G R O U P M A N A G E M E N T R E P O RT

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE, CASH FLOWS AND
FINANCIAL POSITION
Financial performance
in euro millions
Consolidated revenues

For 2016, pre-orders for the important summer season imply further strong growth in Europe. This can be
attributed to numerous new product roll-outs that have been very well received on the market together with
the marketing and advertising spending carried out in 2015. Assuming the underlying conditions remain constant, the activities in Asia should stabilize in 2016. Growth will be generated in this region through new license
partners in countries like Japan. Scholl Footwear will again invest more heavily in new products and promotional support in 2016 with a view to permanently underpinning the strategy of growth that has been initiated.

1, 2

Consolidated revenues (annualized) 2
EBITDA

1, 2

EBIT 1, 2
Consolidated profit attributable to shareholders
Earnings per share (basic), in EUR

1, 2

Earnings per share (diluted), in EUR

1, 2

1/1/ – 12/31/2015

1/1/ – 12/31/2014

Change

2,013.3

1,531.8

31 %

2,960.4

1,725.3

72 %

266.1

161.4

65 %

164.8

83.7

97 %

155.4

104.0

49 %

4.95

1.61

>100%

4.92

1.61

>100 %

1

 The prior-year Statement of Comprehensive Income has been adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff.

MEZ

2

From continuing operations.

The consolidated revenues from continuing operations of AURELIUS rose by 31 percent in financial year 2015 to EUR
2,013.3 million (2014: EUR 1,531.8 million).

MEZ is the leading vendor of hand-crafted products in Europe with a history going back over 200 years. The

former European handcrafting business acquired by AURELIUS from the UK-based Coats Group in July 2015
includes the head office and warehouse located in Kenzingen, Germany, a production facility in Hungary and
sales offices in 18 European countries. Among other things, the transaction enabled AURELIUS to pick up the
most important brands in Europe in the handcraft categories of knitting, crocheting, sewing and embroidery:
Schachenmayr, Regia, Rowan and Milward, Puppets, Corona, Self Casa, Tre Cerchi, and Royal Paris. Many further
brands and the content of the European website are marketed by AURELIUS under the terms of a licensing and
distribution agreement.
Current developments
The second half of 2015 was dominated by the very rapid and successful conclusion of the carve-out. Apart from
the administrative units, this mainly affected the IT infrastructure. The restructuring of the company started
immediately after its acquisition by AURELIUS. The measures that have been initiated are designed to focus the
product portfolio by reducing the range, discontinue unprofitable activities and reorganize the administrative
side. The marketing functions that are spread across several locations are to be centralized and streamlined, the
direct sales activity concentrated on key accounts, and the cooperation with wholesalers expanded. The closure
of non-profitable foreign sales companies and a reduction in inventories are also planned. Furthermore, MEZ
successfully rolled out a product innovation with Regia Pairfect shortly before the end of the year.
MEZ believes that the market environment is set to remain difficult. No new megatrend is on the horizon in the

handcrafts segment. Consequently, the prime objective for MEZ at this stage remains to successfully conclude the
restructuring plan and roll out a growth program.

This increase in consolidated revenues is mainly attributable to the portfolio companies already acquired in
financial year 2014, which were consolidated for the full 12 months for the first time in financial year 2015, and the
new portfolio companies acquired in financial year 2015.
The annualized (extrapolated to 12 full months) consolidated revenues of the AURELIUS Group rose by 72 percent
on the prior-year total to reach EUR 2,960.4 million in financial year 2015 (December 31, 2014: EUR 1,725.3 million).
Other operating income rose by 38 percent to EUR 306.9 million (2014: EUR 222.4 million). This item includes
income of EUR 176.8 million from the reversal of negative goodwill (bargain purchase) (2014: EUR 76.8 million),
income of EUR 22.7 million from deconsolidations (2014: EUR 65.5 million), income of EUR 32.9 million from the
disposal of non-current assets (2014: EUR 2.0 million), income of EUR 10.8 million from exchange rate changes
(2014: EUR 11.5 million), and income of EUR 8.9 million from costs charged on to third parties (2014: EUR 10.5 million).
The changes in the individual income statement items are usually due to changes in the consolidation group
( initial consolidations and deconsolidations of portfolio companies).
Purchased goods and services rose by 25 percent to EUR 963.7 million in financial year 2015 (2014: EUR 770.6 million), slightly slower than revenues. Accordingly, the ratio of purchased goods and services to revenues came to
48 percent (2014: 50 %). Personnel expenses similarly rose by 25 percent to EUR 687.3 million (2014: EUR 550.1 million). The ratio of personnel expenses to revenues came to 34 percent (2014: 36 %).
Other operating expenses rose by 38 percent to EUR 390.8 million (2014: EUR 284.0 million). This item consisted
mainly of expenses of EUR 74.5 million for buildings and machinery (primarily rents and maintenance costs) (2014:
EUR 52.8 million), administrative expenses of EUR 66.2 million (2014: EUR 50.2 million), marketing expenses and
commissions of EUR 57.8 million (2014: EUR 43.1 million), and consulting expenses of EUR 43.2 million (2014: EUR 34.5
million).
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) rose much faster than consolidated revenues, up by 65 percent to EUR 266.1 million after EUR 161.4 million in 2014. This increase resulted mainly from the
higher income from reversals of negative goodwill (bargain purchase).
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Amortization and depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment rose by 30 percent on
the prior year to EUR 101.3 million (2014: EUR 77.7 million). Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) increased by
97 percent accordingly to EUR 164.8 million in the financial year 2015 (2014: EUR 83.7 million).
There was a net financial loss of EUR 14.6 million after a loss of EUR 17.7 million in the equivalent period last year.
The result from discontinued operations amounted to EUR 0.01 million after EUR 52.9 million in 2014 as there were
no relevant IFRS 5 cases in the corporate group in 2015. The consolidated profit for financial year 2015 amounted to
EUR 154.9 million, up by 44 percent (2014: EUR 107.6 million).
The breakdown of revenues, EBITDA and EBIT by the individual Services & Solutions, Industrial Production, and
Retail & Consumer Products segments, as well as discontinued operations, is presented in the table below:

The total revenues of the Retail & Consumer Products segment amounted to EUR 267.7 million (2014: EUR 219.3
million). The European handcraft activities of the UK-based Coats plc were acquired in this segment (today:
MEZ). Segment earnings (EBIT) amounted to EUR 47.4 million (2014: EUR 11.2 million). The increase stems mainly
from the acquisition of MEZ. Please refer to the Segment Report in Note 22 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements for more information about the operating segments.
Cash flows
in euro millions

1/1/ – 12/31/2015

1/1/ – 12/31/2014 *

Cash flow from operating activities

138.0

109.9

26%

Cash flow from investing activities

15.6

45.7

-66 %

Cash flow from financing activities

Services & Solutions

830,649

-/-

830,649

756,558

64,071

Thereof from
continuing
operations

Thereof from
discontinued
operations

External
revenues

1/1/ – 12/31/2014
Thereof from
continuing
operations

Thereof from
discontinued
operations

1/1/ – 12/31/2015
External
revenues

in kEUR

692,487

Industrial Production

910,008

-/-

910,008

615,978

-/-

615,978

Retail & Consumer Products

267,663

-/-

267,663

219,276

-/-

219,276

Other
AURELIUS Group

4,938

-/-

4,938

4,036

-/-

4,036

2,013,258

-/-

2,013,258

1,595,848

64,071

1,531,777

in kEUR

EBITDA
1/1/–

1/1/ –

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

1/1/ –

1/1/ –

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

-55.2

>100 %

153.7

155.7

-1 %

Cash and cash equivalents at 12/31

548.9

333.3

65 %

* The prior-year Consolidated Cash Flow Statement has been adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff.

IThe cash flow from operating activities rose to EUR 138.0 million in financial year 2015 (2014: EUR 109.9 million),

which represents an increase of 26 percent. At EUR 15.6 million, the cash flow from investing activities in financial
year 2015 was below the year-ago total of EUR 45.7 million. The decline can be attributed primarily to lower payments of EUR 4.2 million for the purchase of shares in companies (2014: EUR 33.4 million), lower cash received of
EUR 22.4 million with newly acquired portfolio companies (2014: EUR 86.8 million), and lower proceeds of EUR 32.1
million on sales of portfolio companies (2014: EUR 58.3 million).

Change

Services & Solutions

54,859

56,960

-3.7 %

21,989

34,075

-35 %

Industrial Production

214,887

48,119

>100 %

157,244

3,581

>100  %

57,418

21,237

>100  %

47,358

11,208

>100  %

Other

-61,108

35,055

<-100  %

-61,801

34,815

<-100  %

AURELIUS Group

266,056

161,371

65  %

164,790

83,679

97  %

Retail & Consumer Products

61.4

Free cash flow

Groupwide capital expenditures in financial year 2015 were below the year-ago total of EUR 60.1 million. Capital
expenditures by segment are presented in the table below:

EBIT
Change

Capital expenditures
in kEUR

1/1/ – 12/12/2015

1/1/ – 12/31/2014

Change

Services & Solutions

11,442

9,942

15 %

Industrial Production

31,282

37,072

-16 %

7,695

12,388

-38 %

95

670

-86 %

50,514

60,072

-16 %

Retail & Consumer Products
Other
AURELIUS Group

The total revenues of the Services & Solutions segment amounted to EUR 830.6 million in financial year 2015
(2014: EUR 756.6 million). The following companies acquired in financial year 2015 are allocated to the Services &
Solutions segment: Transform, a provider of surgical and non-surgical cosmetic procedures in the United Kingdom; and Allied Healthcare, a provider of homecare services and outsourced emergency healthcare services in
the same country. Segment earnings (EBIT) amounted to EUR 22.0 million (2014: EUR 34.1 million); this figure was
positively influenced by the above-mentioned company transactions.
The total revenues of the Industrial Production segment amounted to EUR 910.0 million (2014: EUR 616.0 million).
TAVEX Europe, a producer of high quality denim fabrics, SOLIDUS, a manufacturer and processor of solid board,

and Regain Polymers, a compounder and recycler of post-use, hard plastics, were acquired in the reporting period
and are allocated to this segment. Segment earnings (EBIT) amounted to EUR 157.2 million (2014: EUR 3.6 million);
this figure was positively influenced by the company transactions.
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Change

The free cash flow of EUR 153.7 million was slightly below the figure of EUR 155.7 million for financial year 2014. The
cash inflow from financing activities amounted to EUR 61.4 million after an outflow of EUR 55.2 million in 2014. The
large change results mainly from payments of EUR 166.3 million arising from the issue of convertible bonds as
issued on December 1, 2015. It also contains the dividend payment of EUR 62.8 million made to the shareholders of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA (2014: EUR 33.3 million) as well as cash inflows of EUR 4.8 million from the borrowing of
current financial liabilities (2014: cash outflow of EUR 20.8 million for the repayment of current financial liabilities).
Non-current financial liabilities of EUR 45.0 million were repaid (2014: borrowing of EUR 2.1 million). EUR 7.0 million
was spent on the purchase of treasury shares (2014: EUR 4.6 million).
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At December 31, 2015, cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 548.9 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 333.3 million). Of this total, EUR 19.9 million was subject to restrictions on disposal at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014:
EUR 21.1 million). Consequently, freely disposable cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 529.0 million at the
end of the reporting period (2014: EUR 312.3 million).
The financing capacity of AURELIUS was not endangered at any time in financial year 2015 and the company was
always capable of meeting its financial obligations. No financing shortfalls can be discerned in the future.
Financial position
in euro millions
Total assets
Equity
Equity ratio
Liabilities
thereof financial liabilities

12/31/2015

12/31/2014 *

Change

1,921.4

1,462.4

31 %

537.1

387.3

39 %

28  %

26 %

6%

1,384.3

1,075.1

29 %

345.4

164.4

>100%

* The year-ago figures in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position have been adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff.

At EUR 1,921.4 million, the total assets of the AURELIUS Group as of December 31, 2015 were 31 percent higher than
the corresponding prior-year figure (December 31, 2014: EUR 1,462.4 million). The change in total assets and the
changes in most items of the statement of financial position resulted mainly from changes in the consolidation
group, and thus from initial consolidations and deconsolidations in financial year 2015.
Non-current assets rose by 36 percent to EUR 627.8 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 460.7 million), representing
33 percent (December 31, 2014: 32 %) of total assets. Within the category of non-current assets, intangible assets
rose by 2 percent to EUR 131.6 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 128.5 million). Property, plant and equipment
amounted to EUR 430.3 million at the reporting date, up 40 percent (December 31, 2014: EUR 308.0 million).
Financial assets increased by 189 percent to EUR 10.1 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 3.5 million).
Current assets rose by 29 percent to EUR 1,293.7 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 1,001.7 million), representing
67 percent of total assets (December 31, 2014: 68 %). The inventories included in this item increased by 43 percent
to EUR 210.0 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 146.8 million). Trade receivables amounted to EUR 368.1 million
(December 31, 2014: EUR 309.4 million), representing an increase of 19 percent. Other financial assets declined by
23 percent to EUR 50.7 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 65.5 million), while other assets increased by 12 percent to
EUR 55.9 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 49.7 million).
Cash and cash equivalents rose a strong 65 percent to EUR 548.9 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 333.3 million). The
total includes EUR 166.3 million accruing to AURELIUS from the issuance of a convertible bond in December 2015
together with the gains on disposal of the hotel property portfolio.
Consolidated equity rose by a sharp 39 percent to EUR 537.1 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 387.3 million). At 28
percent, the consolidated equity ratio was slightly higher than the prior-year level (December 31, 2014: 26 %). On
May 21, 2014, the company’s annual general meeting authorized the Executive Board to buy back company shares.
The first program was terminated in mid-2015. The second program commenced on July 1, 2015 and will run until
June 30, 2016. During this period, the company may buy back up to 2,888,002 treasury shares or 9.1 percent of the
share capital. All in all, 344,498 shares with a value of EUR 11.6 million were bought back under the two buy-back
programs up to the reporting date of December 31, 2015
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Non-current liabilities rose by 33 percent to EUR 570.8 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 427.9 million). The pension
obligations included in this item declined by 14 percent to EUR 106.1 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 123.8 million).
These relate primarily to Publicitas, Getronics, brightONE, and the Berentzen Group.
Non-current liabilities amounted to EUR 253.1 million at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: EUR 124.4 million), representing a sharp rise of 103 percent or EUR 128.7 million attributable primarily to the liabilities of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA to creditors of the convertible bond issued in December 2015. The item also includes the
non-current financial liabilities of EUR 49.6 million payable to third parties by the Berentzen Group (December 31,
2014: EUR 49.4 million) resulting from the 6.5 % corporate bond issued in October 2012 and maturing on October 17,
2017. This item also includes liabilities of EUR 27.7 million due to banks (December 31, 2014: EUR 53.5 million) relating
mainly to the subsidiaries SECOP, B+P Gerüstbau and ECOPlastics. A further amount of EUR 12.1 million relates to
the 8.0 % corporate bond of HanseYachts AG issued on June 3, 2014 and maturing on June 3, 2019. Deferred tax liabilities amounted to EUR 97.0 million at December 31, 2015, which was 34 percent higher than the prior-year total
(December 31, 2014: EUR 72.6 million).
Current liabilities rose by 26 percent to EUR 813.5 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 647.2 million). This item includes
trade payables of EUR 328.2 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 277.4 million), current financial liabilities of EUR 92.4
million (December 31, 2014: EUR 40.0 million), and liquor tax liabilities of EUR 44.3 million (December 31, 2014: EUR
23.4 million) which are incurred exclusively in the Berentzen Group. In addition, the current liabilities include other
financial liabilities of EUR 25.8 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 18.4 million) and other liabilities of EUR 224.4 million
(December 31, 2014: EUR 171.9 million).
Segment assets and liabilities are presented in the table below:
Assets
in kEUR
Services & Solutions

Liabilities

12/31/2015

12/31/2014*

Change

12/31/2015

12/31/2014*

Change

611,061

642,752

-5 %

461,642

506,830

-9 %

Industrial Production

707,575

443,124

60 %

289,507

196,002

48  %

Retail & Consumer Products

296,446

214,988

38 %

102,143

79,544

28  %

Other

243,325

123,066

98 %

27,344

22,695

20 %

* The year-ago figures in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position have been adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff.

General statement of the Executive Board on the performance and situation
The AURELIUS Group again performed very well in financial year 2015. Both consolidated revenues and earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) were well above the prior-year totals. Almost all
of the portfolio companies contributed to this. Much of the good consolidated profit can be attributed to the
transactions conducted in the past financial year. AURELIUS acquired and fully consolidated six corporate
groups for the first time in financial year 2015, while one add-on acquisition was also completed. The sale of
four hotel properties in the Glockenbachviertel, Isarvorstadt and Nymphenburg districts of Munich and in
Hanover also had a positive effect.
Employees
AURELIUS had an average of 15,278 employees in financial year 2015 (2014: 10,519). Of this total, 5,357 were wage

earners (2014: 2,968) and 9,921 were salaried employees (2014: 7,551). The total number of employees at December 31, 2015 was 22,898 (2014: 12,442).
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The development of the total workforce in the AURELIUS Group is mainly attributable to changes in the consolidation group. Personnel expenses rose by 25 percent in financial year 2015 to EUR 687.3 million (2014: EUR
550.1 million). Accordingly, the ratio of personnel expenses to revenues came to 34 percent (2014: 36 %).
Financial and non-financial performance indicators
The AURELIUS Group does not manage its operations on the basis of non-financial performance indicators. For
information on the financial performance indicators employed for this purpose, please refer to the comments on
the management system of the AURELIUS Group on page 20 of the Group Management Report.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE, CASH FLOWS AND 
FINANCIAL POSITION OF AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA
The annual financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA are prepared in accordance with the provisions set
forth in Section 264 ff. of the German Commercial Code (HGB) for medium-sized corporations and in compliance
with the German Stock Corporations Act (AktG). AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA is the parent company of the AURELIUS
Group. The business performance of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA is essentially subject to the same opportunities and
risks and as that of the AURELIUS Group.
Financial performance
The company generated revenues by advising both affiliated companies and third parties; the total increased by
35 percent in financial year 2015 to EUR 13.6 million (2014: EUR 10.1 million).
Other operating income amounted to EUR 0.8 million in financial year 2015 (2014: EUR 40.7 million). Much higher
income was generated in the prior year from an intragroup transaction. Per¬sonnel expenses of EUR 12.4 million
accrued after EUR 19.0 million in 2014. This amount includes the compensation paid to the members of the
Executive Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA and the company’s employees. AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA had an average of three employees in financial year 2015 (2014: 3). Other operating expenses increased to EUR 32.7 million
after EUR 22.1 million in the prior year. This 48 percent rise can be attributed notably to higher costs passed on
by the AURELIUS service holding companies and the costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the convertible bond.
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Cash flows and financial position
The total assets of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA amounted to EUR 422.1 million at December 31, 2015 (December 31,
2014: EUR 246.4 million). With equity of EUR 225.1 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 222.2 million), the equity ratio
at the reporting date was 53 percent (December 31, 2014: 90%). The sharp decline in the equity ratio is essentially attributable to the increase in liabilities. On November 24, 2015, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA issued an
unsubordinated, unsecured convertible bond with a total nominal amount of EUR 166.3 million and maturing
at the end of 2020, convertible into new and/or existing no-par bearer shares of the company (the “shares”).
The convertible bond is presented at a nominal amount of EUR 166.3 million in the separate financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA prepared in accordance with commercial law.
Non-current assets of EUR 71.2 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 42.6 million) essentially comprise financial assets
of EUR 71.2 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 42.6 million). These represent shares in AURELIUS Group holding
companies and/or operating companies and long-term loans to affiliated companies.
Current assets rose sharply over the prior year-end total to reach EUR 340.7 million (December 31, 2014: EUR
203.8 million). The total comprises receivables and other assets of EUR 122.0 million (December 31, 2014: EUR
100.5 million) and cash and cash equivalents of EUR 218.7 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 103.3 million). The
sharp rise results from the issuance of the convertible bond at the end of November 2015 as described above.

Under the German Stock Corporations Act, the amount of dividend that can be paid to shareholders is determined
on the basis of the distributable profit presented in the separate financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA,
which are prepared in accordance with the accounting regulations of the German Commercial Code. The profit
utilization proposal of the personally liable partner states that the company will pay a dividend of EUR 1.45 per
share from the distributable profit of EUR 125,881 thousand presented in the separate financial statements for
2015 prepared under commercial law. That corresponds to a total dividend payout of EUR 45,936 thousand.
Under the profit utilization proposal, an amount of EUR 79,945 thousand will be carried forward to new account.
If the company holds treasury shares, which do not qualify for dividends pursuant to Section 71b AktG, on the
day of the annual general meeting, the dividend attributable to such treasury shares will be carried forward to
new account.

Income from investments amounted to EUR 93.2 million (2014: EUR 79.9 million); the total includes profit
distributions from affiliated companies and investment income in connection with the reorganization of the
CalaChem Group under company law.
Other interest and similar income includes interest income of EUR 3.8 from loans to affiliated companies (2014:
EUR 2.2 million). Interest and similar expenses includes interest expenses of EUR 0.4 million payable to affiliated
companies (2014: EUR 0.03 million).
All in all, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA recorded a net profit of EUR 62.5 million in financial year 2015 (2014: EUR 89.1
million). Taking into account the profit of EUR 70.2 million brought forward from the prior year (2014: EUR 48.3
million) and the purchase price paid for treasury shares in excess of the nominal value, the distributable profit
for financial year 2015 amounts to EUR 125.9 million (2014: EUR 133.0 million).
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REPORT ON SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
With effect from January 1, 2016, AURELIUS concluded the acquisition of Valora Trade that had been announced
in November 2015. The company was renamed Conaxess at the end of February 2016. An exclusive distributor of
fast moving consumer goods to large-scale retail organizations, Conaxess counts some 300 prestigious manufacturers of branded food and non-food goods among its customers. The seller was Valora Holding AG, an independent trading firm operating throughout Europe from its head office in Muttenz near Basel, Switzerland.
Conaxess is a long-term partner providing regional market access for fast moving consumer goods for its customers and business partners and also offering comprehensive, tailor-made services across the entire value
chain – from market intelligence and key account management to trade marketing and category management
all the way through to purchasing, logistics, warehousing and point-of-sale services.
The Reuss-Seifert & Hammerl Group was similarly acquired as of January 1, 2016. The corporate group is one of
the leading European manufacturers of spacers made of plastic, steel and concrete, construction films, and
other consumables for the concrete construction trade. Reuss-Seifert has its head office in Sprockhövel, North
Rhine-Westphalia, and Hammerl in Gemmrigheim near Stuttgart. The group has a total of six production
facilities (five in Germany and one in Poland) together with two further locations in Germany and the Czech
Republic. Most of the revenues are generated with customers in Germany, the Benelux states, Scandinavia,
France, Austria and Switzerland.
On March 2, 2016, AURELIUS successfully sold a tranche of the shares it held in the Berentzen Group to institutional investors under a private placement; following the transaction, it still holds around 29.17 percent of the
shares. The Berentzen Group will continue to be fully consolidated in 2016 as the conditions for control under
the IFRS rules are still met. The Berentzen Group became an AURELIUS portfolio company in 2008, since when
it has been turned from a restructuring candidate into a profitable, broad-based beverages producer. This
success is a result of the consistent application of the classic AURELIUS strategy.
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FORECAST REPORT
Slight expansion in the global economy forecast for 2016
In its forecast dated January 2016, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) expresses its belief that global economic
growth will total 3.4 percent in the current year. This represents a slight increase over the prior year (2015: 3.1 %). In
their forecast, the IMF experts assume that oil prices will remain low, which would presumably have a positive
impact on the economies of oil-importing countries and a negative impact on the economies of oil exporters.
Nonetheless, the IMF believes that it is again hard to properly assess the risks to economic performance in many
parts of the world in 2016, emerging from the generally falling commodity prices together with the anticipated
further slowing and reorientation of the Chinese economy and ongoing geopolitical tensions in many regions.
The IMF is predicting growth of 1.7 percent (2015: 1.5 %) for the eurozone and an increase of 1.7 percent for Germany
(2015: 1.5 %). According to the IMF, the US economy will expand more rapidly than last year, to grow by 2.6 percent
(2015: 2 .5 %). In contrast, the pace of growth in Asia is expected to decelerate, with the region’s markets only
expanding by 6.3 percent (2015: 6.6 %). The slowdown in economic growth in China is projected to be even greater,
falling from 6.9 percent in 2015 to 6.3 percent this year.
Outlook for the private equity market in 2016
Based on the persistently low interest rates and favorable financing terms, private equity firms expect demand
for private equity to remain strong and are optimistic in their assessments of 2016, according to a survey conducted by the German Private Equity and Venture Capital Association (BVK). The private equity firms surveyed are
also optimistic about the prospects for selling companies, due to the favorable development of the multipliers on
which company valuations are based. Low interest rates tend to raise valuation multiples.

Effective March 14, 2016, AURELIUS sold its holding in fidelis HR to SD Worx, a leading provider of human resource
services in Europe headquartered in Antwerp, Belgium. The parties have agreed not to disclose the purchase
price. Fidelis HR offers a comprehensive range of business process outsourcing (BPO) services together with its
proprietary software solutions for HR departments. It is a leading provider within the lucrative market for payroll accounting in German-speaking countries. Through the acquisition, the Belgium-based SD Worx Group will
extend its activities in the German-speaking market and continue its Europe-wide expansion strategy.
AURELIUS had acquired fidelis HR from Neckarsulm-based TDS Informationstechnologie AG, a subsidiary of the
Fujitsu Group, in 2013, since when AURELIUS had systematically restructured the company’s operations. This
included streamlining the product and customer portfolio and optimizing the location structure of the BPO
centers and associated costs. Numerous new customers were also acquired under long-term agreements. Furthermore, fidelis HR expanded its international activities outside of the German-speaking region, enabling the
company to significantly expand its revenues, earnings and workforce over the last few years. With 630 employees at 13 locations in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland, the company generated revenues of EUR 55.3 million and a double-digit EBIDTA margin in 2015.
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Outlook for the company
The following portfolio companies recorded a strong performance in financial year 2015: SECOP, the manufacturer
of compressors; CalaChem and Briar Chemicals, the two specialty chemicals companies; Studienkreis Group,
the provider of tutoring services; fidelis HR, the outsourcing service provider for HR departments; SOLIDUS, the
manufacturer of solid board and cardboard; and the Berentzen Group. AURELIUS expects these portfolio companies to perform well again in the current financial year, 2016.
With regard to the individual segments, AURELIUS expects to see a further improvement in revenues and
earnings (EBITDA and EBIT) in the Industrial Production segment in financial year 2016. A slight improvement in
revenues and earnings (EBITDA and EBIT) is anticipated for the Services & Solutions segment, while the Retail &
Consumer Products segment is forecast to be at around the same level as in the prior year in terms of revenues
and earnings (EBITDA and EBIT).
The revenue and profit forecasts for the individual segments that were expressed in last year’s annual report
were attained as follows. In the Industrial Production segment, revenues and earnings proved much stronger
than expected. On the revenue side, this stems mainly from the new acquisitions in this segment together with
SECOP and the two specialty chemicals firms CalaChem and Briar Chemicals. Earnings also benefited from the
negative goodwill accruing with the new acquisitions (bargain purchase). The revenues in the Services & Solutions segment turned out as planned overall. Within this segment, fidelis HR, the Studienkreis Group and the
GHOTEL Group performed particularly well, while ECOPlastics failed to match expectations. The revenue
growth in the Services & Solutions segment can be attributed primarily to the acquisition of Transform and
Allied Healthcare together with the organic growth at Getronics. Segment earnings remained slightly less than
budgeted. The Retail & Consumer Products segment performed somewhat better than expected in terms of
both revenues and earnings; this is mainly attributable to the acquisition of the European handcrafts activity
of Coats plc, today known as MEZ.
The 31 percent increase in consolidated revenues was far better than forecast (increase in the single-digit percentage range). Operating earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization increased by 65 percent,
which is similarly much stronger than originally envisaged.
General statement on the anticipated development of the AURELIUS Group
For the current financial year 2016, the Executive Board of AURELIUS anticipates a further increase in consolidated
revenues from continuing operations in the high single-digit range and a moderate improvement in the operating
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), which will be weighed down primarily by
restructuring expenses for the portfolio companies acquired in 2015 and at January 1, 2016. In light of the current
project pipeline, the Executive Board again expects to make numerous acquisitions and sell several portfolio companies in financial year 2016.
Given the nature of the AURELIUS business model, however, an exact forecast would not be appropriate, because
the Group’s results will be influenced by various unplannable effects, including the earnings effects associated
with the acquisition of new equity investments (so-called “bargain purchases”), as well as the non-recurring and
often extraordinary restructuring expenses and complex deconsolidation effects. Because several companies are
generally bought and sold within a given financial year, the consolidation group of the AURELIUS Group usually
changes between reporting dates.
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REPORT ON RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES
Risk management plays a key role in the AURELIUS business model, helping to identify deviations from the defined
targets at an early stage and enable appropriate counter-measures to be taken promptly. These deviations may be
both positive (opportunities) and negative (risks).

Opportunities and risks of the AURELIUS business model
Investment focus
The specific investment focus of AURELIUS of acquiring companies in situations of transition or distress, without
a secure succession plan, with poor profitability or a need for restructuring, contains a large amount of potential
for increasing value. If AURELIUS proves successful in developing the acquired companies, the value of these
portfolio companies may increase greatly. To this end, the portfolio companies’ strengths and weaknesses are
analyzed in their market environment as part of the strategy for each company. The opportunities and potential for optimization which this process reveals are made available for the portfolio company to exploit.
Acquisition process
The acquisition of companies in situations of transition or distress regularly includes a not inconsiderable
business risk. Consequently, AURELIUS has experienced experts from the Finance, Legal Affairs, Mergers &
Acquisitions and Taxes departments perform detailed due diligence checks on potential subsidiaries. In some
cases, they are supported by external advisors. Nevertheless, it is conceivable in this context that risks in the
target companies will not be recognized or be wrongly assessed. Risk notably consists of an incorrect evaluation
of a given company’s future prospects or ability to be restructured, or in failing to ascertain or identify the subsidiary’s liabilities, obligations and other commitments at the time of acquisition despite careful checks. If the
achievable market position, earnings potential, profitability, growth options or other key success factors are
wrongly assessed, this has consequences for the operational development of the company and hence for the
return on investment. At the same time, the profitability of the corporate group could be depressed by impairment losses in subsequent financial years.
Restructuring of portfolio companies
The fundamental goal of AURELIUS is to restructure a portfolio company for profitability as fast as possible in order to keep the liquidity requirements and operating losses to a minimum after the acquisition and to increase
the value of the acquired company in the medium term and realize earnings on dividends and gains on disposal. It
is possible, however, that the measures initiated will not prove successful and the breakeven point will not be
reached for any number of reasons. This could result in subsidiaries having to be sold again for less than their acquisition price or, in the worst case, being forced to file for bankruptcy as a last resort. In this instance, AURELIUS
would suffer the complete loss of the capital employed, meaning that all funds that the corporate group had
employed to acquire, support and possibly also finance the subsidiary. At the present time, this scenario has a low
probability with regard to nearly all the corporate groups of the AURELIUS Group. AURELIUS generally does not
enter into profit-and-loss-transfer agreements or cash-pooling agreements with its subsidiaries. This policy serves
to limit the effects should the restructuring of a given subsidiary fail.
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PRESENTATION OF RISKS
(by maximum loss potential)

PRESENTATION OF RISKS
(by counter-measures)

1

Sale of portfolio companies
AURELIUS can generate earnings by selling portfolio companies to private, institutional or strategic investors, or
arranging an IPO. AURELIUS can, however, not give any guarantees regarding the timing of a possible sale or that
the disposal of a portfolio company will be possible at all or with a given return. Notably the economic and
industry-specific environment, the condition of the capital markets and also other unforeseeable factors have a
decisive influence on the amount of possible proceeds upon disposal. In the event of a negative economic and/or
industry environment and/or weak financial markets, disposals may not be possible or may only be possible with
high price discounts. Even if the portfolio companies perform well, there is the risk that it will not be possible
to realize a suitable price upon disposal due to a negative economic, industry and/or capital market environment.
At the same time, a strong economic performance can have a positive impact on the earnings of the portfolio
companies and hence on the purchase price that can be realized in the future.
Risk management
The AURELIUS Group has a systematic, multi-level risk management system in place to avoid, mitigate and manage significant risks arising from the business activities of the corporate group to best effect. It is used to identify,
track and subsequently evaluate existing and potential risks. The risk management system is designed to provide
a comprehensive overview of the risk position of the corporate group. Events with significant negative financial
effects on the corporate group must be identified promptly so that measures can be defined and taken to
mitigate, avoid and manage such risks. The cash flow is the central planning and control metric in the AURELIUS
Group in this context.

DEFINITION OF PARAMETERS:

IMPORTANCE OF RISKS 1 – 8:

1) Size of risk field:

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

2) Classification of probabilty of occurrence:
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■■ Low:

less than 10 %

■■ Improbable:

10 % – 25 %

■■ Possible:

25 % – 50 %

■■ Probable:

50 % – 90 %

■■ High:

higher than 90 %
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–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Legal disputes
Financial risks
Sales risks
Production risks
Procurement risks
IT risks
Personnel risks
External risks

The risk management system is geared above all to identifying at an early stage developments that could endanger the continued existence of the company as a going concern. The system is required to ensure tracking
of the risks and changes therein that could endanger the continued existence of the company as a going concern
in its respective situation. Since the goal is to identify such risks at an early stage, the risk early warning system
must be capable of tracking the risks promptly and forwarding the relevant information to the responsible decision-makers in such a way that these people can respond in a suitable manner. At the same time, the Executive
Board of AURELIUS must be informed about risks which, alone or in conjunction with other risks, could endanger
the continued existence of the company as a going concern. In order to guarantee this, the company has set up a
reporting system which reports to AURELIUS on a quarterly basis within the framework of interim reporting.
There are uniform guidelines in place for tracking, documenting and evaluating risk across the entire AURELIUS
Group. The Corporate Audit department is responsible for monitoring risk reporting. This department constantly
reviews, evaluates and optimizes the effectiveness of the internal control systems together with the management and monitoring processes. Compliance with the internal guidelines is also monitored on the premises of the
respective subsidiaries and concrete implementation steps are drawn up with the support of the subsidiary management. The individual subsidiaries are required to list the risks present in their respective area of influence,
specifying them in a uniform, Group-wide risk matrix in detail as well as regularly reviewing and updating them.
Potential risks are classified by the eight risk fields of legal disputes, financial risks, sales risks, production risks,
procurement risks, IT risks, personnel risks and external risks.
The maximum loss potential in euros and the probability of occurrence are determined for every risk on the level
of the portfolio companies and the holding company. The aggregation of the maximum Groupwide potential
losses in every risk field yields the size of the respective risk field and thus the maximum potential loss of each risk
field throughout the Group.
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For each risk field, the average probability of occurrence, divided into the five classes of low (<10 %), improbable
(10 – 25 %), possible (25 – 50 %), probable (50 – 90 %) and high (>90 %) is assessed. This classification determines the
position of the respective risk field in the graph.
In addition, counter-measures and their effectiveness in the event of occurrence should be defined for all risks
and, where appropriate, the level of implementation of the counter-measure in question specified. Where early
warning indicators exist to permit the prompt identification of risk, these are also to be listed. The maximum
loss potential per risk field is presented in a breakdown by counter-measures in the second graph.
The risk fields are reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis at the least. New risks or the occurrence of existing risks are each reported immediately to the Corporate Audit department and the Executive Board. The risk
management system is supplemented by the Group-wide controlling function. The Executive Board receives a
detailed evaluation of the indicators regarding the current situation of all the subsidiaries based on weekly and
monthly reports submitted by all the subsidiaries.
Internal control and risk management system
The AURELIUS Group has set up an internal control system which defines rules and regulations for managing
the company activities (internal control system) and for monitoring compliance with these rules and regulations (internal monitoring system). The parts of the internal control system geared to the company’s business
activities are designed to ensure their effectiveness and efficiency and to protect the company’s assets. It is
also the task of the internal control system to ensure the orderliness and reliability of the internal and external
reporting and ensure compliance with the regulations and laws applicable to the portfolio company.
In this context, the management teams of the subsidiaries are responsible for designing, setting up, monitoring, modifying and refining their respective internal control systems. The size, legal form, organization and
type of business activity of the company in question are taken into account in the design and practical application of the internal control system. Companies are exposed to a wide range of risks that could endanger
achievement of the company’s objectives in accordance with the business strategy defined by company
management. Such business risks include financial, legal, performance and strategic risks. Consequently, the
internal control system of the AURELIUS Group encompasses the components described below.
The control environment represents the framework within which the principles, procedures and measures
of the internal control system are introduced and applied. It has a major influence on the awareness of staff
for control issues. Risk assessments are performed to identify and analyze such risks. Thorough risk assessments form the basis for decisions made by company management locally regarding how to deal with the
risks arising from business activity. They help to ensure that measures required to counter business risk are
adopted, and must be documented appropriately.
Control activities are principles and procedures that are intended to ensure that the decisions taken by company management locally are observed. They help to ensure that measures required to counter business risk
are adopted. Control activities are to be documented appropriately. Information and communication serve
to obtain and collate the information required by company management to take business decisions in a suitable and timely manner and to forward such information to the responsible offices in the company locally.
This also includes the information required for the risk assessments and the information given to employees
regarding the tasks and responsibilities within the framework of the internal control system.
Company management and the integrated control officers assigned to the processes and workflows are responsible for monitoring the internal control system. Organizational safeguards for the portfolio companies
have been set up within the framework of subsidiary documentation in the AURELIUS Group in the form of
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 y-laws, payment guidelines and requirements for subsidiary documentation (offices, branches, outlets, etc.).
b
The documentation and conduct of business activities must comply with the requirements arising from the
company’s legal form, articles of incorporation, by-laws and organizational charts. The documentation of business activities in this context follows the main commercial and administrative processes and workflows, and
contains instructions and guidelines based on the respective operational performance process (such as sales,
purchasing, production, logistics, internal and external reporting, corporate reporting, HR , administration,
research and development, and so on).
Furthermore, additional monitoring measures have been introduced such as comprehensive contract and insurance management, instructions regarding retention periods under commercial and tax law, and authorization and competence arrangements. Compliance rules and regulations have been defined in the subsidiaries to
ensure compliance with data protection and foreign trade laws, among other things.
The internal control and risk management system regarding the corporate reporting process ensures that reporting is uniform and in compliance with the statutory provisions and generally accepted accounting principles
as well as the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Information relevant for reporting is to be
provided promptly and in full. To this end, an accounting manual has been drawn up for corporate reporting,
defining the accounting rules for all AURELIUS Group companies. The goal is to employ various control and
monitoring mechanisms to ensure that correct, rule-compliant consolidated financial statements are prepared.
The reporting, controlling and accounting systems of the subsidiaries are examined during regular visits by
corporate controllers. The Corporate Audit department carries out the regular monitoring of the portfolio companies that is independent of the business process.
All information from the portfolio companies is collated and analyzed by the Subsidiary Controlling, Financial
Accounting and Reporting, Risk Control and Cash Management departments in the Finance division of
AURELIUS. The accounting data are audited regularly to ensure they are complete, orderly and correct. The
independent auditors and other audit bodies such as the Internal Audit department with process-neutral
audit activities are integrated in the control environment of the AURELIUS Group. The Supervisory Board is
similarly involved in the internal monitoring system of AURELIUS with process-neutral audit activities.
A standardized, professional consolidation and reporting system forms the basis for the planning and reporting
process in the AURELIUS Group. The relevant data are entered into this system either manually or via automated interfaces. A qualitative analysis and monitoring function is ensured at all times by means of internal
reports.
Risk management in the individual elements of the business model
Risk management has been established at all levels of the AURELIUS business model. AURELIUS already begins
to identify business risk at the start of the acquisition process. Once attractive acquisition targets have been
selected, potential risks arising from a possible purchase are analyzed in a detailed due diligence process. A team
of internal specialists filters out individual risks from all areas of operational activity of the acquisition target and
calculates the maximum aggregate risk of the underlying transaction in accordance with specified steps. AURELIUS
uses the calculated aggregate risk to determine a maximum purchase price as the basis for submitting an offer
to the seller. This already contains an adequate risk premium. In order to further limit the maximum extent of
specific risks, AURELIUS makes use of a holding structure in which the operating risk of each individual subsidiary
is ring-fenced in a legally independent intermediate company. This approach ensures that the aggregate total
of any risks that arise cannot exceed the maximum risk calculated previously. This generally corresponds to the
purchase price paid plus further financing measures less reimbursements from the operating activity of the
company received during the course of the holding period.
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The level of Vice President was added to the management hierarchy in financial year 2008. This intermediate
hierarchy level between the Executive Board and middle management makes it possible to respond even
faster to changing market conditions. The newly introduced level maintains even closer contact with the
subsidiary managers and identified emerging risk potential even faster as a result. The Vice Presidents report
on the current situation of the subsidiaries and provide concrete decision proposals in regular meetings with
the Executive Board of Aurelius SE & Co. KGaA.
Description of significant individual risks
Major risk fields and individual risks can be derived from the aggregate risks identified as part of the risk management process, as described below.
Legal disputes
With respect to the two companies Old BCA Ltd. and Book Club Trading Ltd., AURELIUS is exposed to the risk of
continuing liability for pension obligations, based on implementation mistakes that were made in the implementation of the pension fund in the 1990s. The amount varies and could possibly reach an amount in the
middle single-digit millions. The companies are currently conducting a rectification procedure before an
English court, through which the mistakes made at that time are to be corrected. AURELIUS considers the
prospects for success to be good.
Claims for damages were asserted against SECOP based on cartel law violations from the time when the company
belonged to AURELIUS. These legal disputes were settled under the terms of a compromise solution.
Please refer to Note 69 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements for a detailed description of
c ontingent liabilities, financial commitments and legal disputes.
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Changes in foreign exchange rates
Currency and exchange rate risk can arise when, for instance, subsidiaries are acquired from foreign companies and paid for in foreign currency, or when the portfolio companies conduct business with international
ramifications, or when the portfolio companies have foreign subsidiaries. The Corporate Finance department identifies and analyzes financial risks in cooperation with the Group’s operating units. A large part of
the revenues, earnings and expenses of AURELIUS are still generated and incurred in the eurozone. Consequently, the Group is relatively independent of changes in exchange rates with respect to these amounts.
Where appropriate, derivative financial instruments are used to hedge exchange rate risk arising on trans
actions that are denominated in foreign currency.
Convertible bond issued by AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA
On November 24, 2015, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA issued an unsubordinated, unsecured convertible bond with a
total nominal amount of EUR 166.3 million and maturing at the end of 2020, convertible into new and/or existing no-par bearer shares of the company (the “shares”). The convertible bond was exclusively offered for sale to
and placed with institutional investors outside of the United States, Canada, Australia, South Africa, New
Zealand and Japan, or any other jurisdiction where sales are not permitted under the applicable law, by way of
an accelerated bookbuilding process. The company intends to use the issue proceeds to fund company purchases in accordance with the AURELIUS business model, for share buy-backs under the company’s current
share buy-back scheme, and for general business purposes. The AURELIUS Executive Board is convinced that
this funding will sustainably underpin the successful growth path, open up new strategic acquisition opportunities, and hence add value for the shareholders. The convertible bond falls due for repayment on December 1,
2020; the Executive Board currently believes that it will be possible to provide the necessary refinancing.
Tax risks
AURELIUS is currently not aware of any tax risks in the AURELIUS Group that would have a significant influence on

Financial risks
Loss of receivables
It has been observed in the past that commercial credit insurers may be inclined to withdraw from current
commitments in full or in part, or subject them to intensive audits or adjust the insurance terms to the detriment of the insured. Depending on the circumstances, such behavior could potentially lead to heightened
liquidity needs on the part of individual portfolio companies. It would also increase the risk of heightened
losses on receivables if commercial credits would prove to be uninsurable. AURELIUS attempts to counter these
risks by conducting receivables management in a manner appropriate for the given market situation. In addition, most portfolio companies work with commercial credit insurers that cover most of the potential loss on
receivables. If it would not be possible to obtain adequate insurance for the given business partner, AURELIUS
would have the option of demanding payment in advance.
Changes in market interest rates
In the ordinary course of business, AURELIUS invests surplus funds in the capital markets. Changes in the level of
interest rates could impair the value of the Group’s financial investments, which would have a negative effect on
its financial performance. Furthermore, the level and development of interest rates could also influence AURELIUS’
funding costs. The extent of this risk depends on the general funding need that must be covered with borrowed
funds, on the current level of interest rates, and on the fixed interest periods of borrowed loans or credits. Moreover, rising interest rates increase the funding costs of the portfolio companies, which could have a lasting negative effect on the restructuring, dividend-paying capacity and even the sale prospects of the portfolio companies.
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the financial position, cash flows and financial performance of the Group.
Liabilities on the level of the portfolio companies
Because the portfolio companies of AURELIUS are usually in a state of transition, the financial position ratios
agreed with the banks (covenants) could be missed, which would entitle the respective lenders to terminate
the loan. If the portfolio company would fail to attain its budget targets, moreover, it could be impossible to
repay liabilities, or such repayment could be delayed. To minimize this risk and promptly counter it where necessary, AURELIUS continually reviews the business plans of each portfolio company, in close consultation with
the respective management team, and regularly analyzes budget variances.
Risks from the use of financial instruments
In addition to the risks of using financial instruments described above, additional qualitative and quantitative
information on individual risks is provided in Note 57 ff. of the notes to the consolidated financial statements of
AURELIUS.
Sales risks
The introduction of new brands or product innovations is an important aspect of the restructuring of the
individual portfolio companies of the AURELIUS Group. Such product launches harbor the risk that the funds
invested in product launches are not recouped by the planned cash flows and budgeted profit contributions
are not attained. To reduce this risk, products are developed with due care and various tests are conducted.
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The loss of key customers or the postponement of primarily larger orders could lead to negative effects on
the financial performance, cash flows and financial position of individual AURELIUS portfolio companies. The
company counters this risk by actively cultivating customer relationships and conducting systematic sales
and marketing work. AURELIUS strives to enter into long-term agreements particularly with customers that
make up a large percentage of the revenues of the respective AURELIUS portfolio company, as a means of
enhancing planning security.
In addition, periodic analyses are conducted, particularly in those companies that operate in the consumer
goods and services segment, for the purpose of enhancing the effectiveness of marketing and customer
retention programs.
Production risks
The individual portfolio companies of the AURELIUS Group are exposed to various production risks, including the
risk that the production optimization and production cost reduction measures conducted after the acquisition by
AURELIUS do not yield the intended effects, or only after a delay, and cost savings in production cannot be realized, or only after a delay. Quality problems and delays in the introduction of new products and developments
could lead to a loss of orders and customers for the respective company. This could adversely affect the financial
performance, cash flows and financial position of the respective company.
AURELIUS counters these risks by deploying its own, experienced functional specialists and by closely monitoring

production processes.

Procurement risks
With regard to procurement, the AURELIUS portfolio companies are exposed to risks such as the loss of suppliers,
late deliveries or quality-deficient deliveries, and price fluctuations particularly of raw materials. AURELIUS counters these risks by engaging in professional procurement management and by closely monitoring the respective
suppliers. Price fluctuations are neutralized by hedging transactions whenever possible.
IT risks
The business and production processes, as well as the internal and external communications of the AURELIUS
Group and its portfolio companies, are increasingly based on information technologies. A serious disturbance or
even failure of these systems could result in data losses and impair the portfolio company’s business and production processes. IT documentation and continuous monitoring are integral aspects of the internal control and risk
management system of the AURELIUS Group. Other measures include compliance with security guidelines, access
control and data back-up concepts, and documentation of licenses and internally developed software.
Personnel risks
The extensive experience of the management is crucial to the future success of AURELIUS. However, the planned
growth of AURELIUS is also dependent on having a sufficiently large number of staff available to handle the
acquisition, restructuring and operational management of the portfolio companies in the future. Particularly
the restructuring of companies in challenging situations places the highest demands on the management. The
availability of qualified personnel, whether internal or external, with industry-relevant practical experience
and considerable managerial talent is critical to the success of the Group’s business model. On the other hand,
AURELIUS’ good reputation, experience and convincing business concept increases the chances of being able to
attract and retain the best workers available in the market.
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External risks
Economic changes
The commercial success of the portfolio companies is influenced by the general economic situation and the
cyclical development of the markets in which the subsidiary in question operates. A positive economic environment has a positive effect on the financial position, cash flows and financial performance, and hence on the
company value, of the portfolio companies, which in the final analysis also has a positive impact on the financial
position, cash flows and financial performance of the AURELIUS Group. Economic downturns, on the other
hand, generally also have a negative impact on the operational development and restructuring of the individual portfolio companies. With regard to the acquisition activities of AURELIUS, it should be noted that more
companies or divisions are put for sale during periods of weak economic growth. Given fewer potential buyers
at the same time, this can sometimes result in lower purchase prices. However, recessionary tendencies are
also reflected in significant discounts on the selling prices that can be realized on account of lower valuation
levels.
Industry-specific changes
AURELIUS does not focus on any specific industries when identifying suitable acquisition targets. Instead, the

ability to be restructured and the future prospects are the main criteria when selecting companies. Despite a
careful selection process, there is a risk for every subsidiary that the restructuring efforts will fail, which could
result in the bankruptcy of the subsidiary in extreme cases. AURELIUS does, however, make every effort to minimize the risk arising from the economic development of individual companies, industries or regions within the
portfolio of subsidiaries by means of diversification.
Changes in the competitive situation
Building on its long-standing network of contacts with M&A consultants, corporate groups and other potential
sellers, AURELIUS is regularly involved in disposal processes and on occasion even benefits in the form of lower
purchase prices. Greater interest in companies in situations of transition or distress could lead to stronger competition for the companies that are for sale and an increase in the average purchase prices to be paid. This would
reduce the return prospects on the investment in question and increase the financial risk for AURELIUS. However,
the positive development that AURELIUS has demonstrated in the past from the restructuring of companies,
coupled with the many years of experience boasted by management with companies in situations of transition or
distress, give AURELIUS a decisive competitive advantage.
Overall assessment of the opportunity and risk situation of the AURELIUS Group
The AURELIUS business model continues to stand to benefit from the trend for corporate groups to concentrate
on their core business and dispose of non-core operations as a result. As these peripheral activities were often
neglected in the past, this yields above-average potential for AURELIUS to boost profitability and hence also the
value of these companies. In addition, there will be a considerable number of company disposals going forward
on account of unclear succession arrangements.
To exploit these opportunities, AURELIUS employs in-house specialists in the Mergers & Acquisitions department who constantly monitor the market for company acquisitions and disposals to identify appropriate
opportunities.
During their restructuring, the portfolio companies benefit from the operational deployment of AURELIUS
functional specialists. Active operational and financial support help to secure the future and jobs at the port
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folio companies, improve their market position and hence boost the profitability and company value in the
long run. Given the present circumstances, the overall risk situation of the AURELIUS Group is limited in scope
and manageable. Based on the information that is currently available, no risks can be identified which, individually or in combination, could endanger the continued existence of the AURELIUS Group as a going concern.
However, it is possible that, as a result of the still uncertain outlook for the global economy in particular, future
results could deviate from the current expectations of the AURELIUS Executive Board. There is no single risk
that could threaten the survival of the AURELIUS Group as a whole.
Declaration by the Executive Board regarding corporate governance
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA and the personally liable partner, AURELIUS Management SE, are subject to the German

dual board system. In particular, this requires a strict separation between the Executive Board and the personally
liable partner as the management and executive body on the one hand and the members of the Supervisory
Board as the monitoring and oversight body on the other hand, each with their own respective functions and
powers. The Executive Board of the personally liable partner is responsible for managing and running the
company. It manages the company under its own responsibility in the interests of the company with a view
to creating lasting value. The Executive Board sets the strategic direction of the company and the corporate
policy, agrees them with the members of the Supervisory Board and initiates their implementation. Another
important corporate governance matter, and a topic of interest of the Executive Board, is the deployment of
women at all hierarchy levels across the company; implementation is scheduled for the medium term. The
Supervisory Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA has adopted a resolution stating a target of 30 percent for the
minimum number of seats to be held by women on the Supervisory Board.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2015

continued

in kEUR

Notes

1/1 - 12/31/2015

1/1 - 12/31/2014*

Continuing operations
Revenues

in kEUR
Share of period profit/loss attributable to:

13

Change in inventories of finished and semi-finished goods

2,013,258

1,531,777

-12,257

11,912

Shareholders of the parent company

Other Income

14

306,870

222,382

15

-963,658

-770,609

Personnel expenses

16

-687,319

-550,104

Shareholders of the parent company

Other Expenses

17

-390,838

-283,987

Non-controlling interests

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA)

266,056

161,371

Amortization and depreciation of intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment

-101,266

-77,692

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

164,790

83,679

4,833

1,481

-19,473

-19,224

-14,640

-17,743

150,150

65,936

4,785

-11,293

154,935

54,643

-11

52,948

154,924

107,591

9,396

-82

-200

1,486

-/-

-571

Revaluation, IAS 19

33,814

-43,578

Other comprehensive income/loss

43,010

-42,745

197,934

64,846

Interest and similar expenses
Net financial income/expenses 18

18

Earnings before taxes (EBT) from ordinary activities
Income taxes

23

Profit/loss after taxes from continuing operations

Share of comprehensive income/loss attributable to

Earnings per share

1/1 - 12/31/2015

1/1 - 12/31/2014*

155,353

104,039

-429

3,552

198,363

62,800

-429

2,046

4.95

1.61

19

Non-controlling interests

Purchased goods and services

Other interest and similar income

Notes

19

21

Basic in EUR
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Total from continuing and discontinued operations

-/-

1.67

4.95

3.28

4.92

1.61

Diluted in EUR
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Total from continuing and discontinued operations

-/-

1.67

4.92

3.28

* The prior-year Statement of Comprehensive Income was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with the provisions of
IFRS 3.45 ff. (see also Note 12).

Discontinued operations
Profit/loss from discontinued operations
Consolidated profit/loss

20

Sonstiges Ergebnis (künftig aufwands- oder ertragswirksam)
Currency translation differences
Cash flow hedges
Securities, available for sale
Other comprehensive income/loss
(not to be recognized in profit or loss in the future)

Comprehensive income/loss
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA as of December 31, 2015

continued
LIABILITIES

ASSETS
in kEUR

12/31/2014*

24/25

131,612

128,473

Subscribed capital

37

31,336

31,520

Additional paid-in capital

38

61,350

52,093

Other reserves

40

6,947

-38,307

Retained earnings

39

404,929

308,388

504,562

353,694

32,538

33,617

537,100

387,311

106,138

123,848

Equity
26

430,324

308,177

Financial assets

27

10,058

3,477

23

Total non-current assets

55,767

20,562

627,761

460,689

Share of equity attributable to shareholders of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA
Non-controlling interests

Current assets
Inventories

28

210,014

146,828

Trade receivables

29

368,057

309,442

Income tax assets

30

7,150

5,862

Derivative financial instruments

31

4

38

Other financial assets

32

50,694

65,462

Other assets

33

55,880

49,715

Asset-side accruals/deferrals

34

52,825

79,012

Cash and cash equivalents

35

548,943

333,344

Non-current assets held fo sale

12/31/2015

12/31/2014*

Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Notes

12/31/2015

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

in kEUR

Notes

36

100

12,021

Total current assets

1,293,667

1,001,723

Total assets

1,921,428

1,462,412

41

Total equity
for sale
Pension obligations

56

Provisions

45

38,027

33,574

Financial liabilities

46

253,065

124,395

Liabilities under finance leases

50

17,083

14,497

Other financial liabilities

52

56,152

55,690

Derivative financial instruments

49

3,356

3,362

Deferred tax liabilities

23

97,028

72,561

570,849

427,927

724

718

Total noncurrent liabilities
Current liabilities
Pension obligations

56

Provisions

45

25,713

26,318

Financial liabilities

46

92,351

39,992

Liabilities under finance leases

50

3,431

2,101

Trade payables

47

328,182

277,448
6,766

Income tax liabilities

48

13,264

Derivative financial instruments

49

363

180

Liquor tax liabilities

51

44,258

23,425

Other financial liabilities

52

25,752

18,442

Liabilities-side accruals/deferrals

54

55,082

79,823

Other liabilities

53

224,353

171,894

Non-current liabilities held for sale

36

6

67

813,479

647,174

1,921,428

1,462,412

Total current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

* The comparison figures from the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2014 were adjusted in accordance with
IFRS 3.45 ff. (see also Note 12).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2015

-/-

104,039

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

104,039

3,552

107,591

Cash flow hedges, net after taxes

-/-/-

-/-/-

-/-/-

1,486
-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,486

-/-

1,486

-571

-/-

-/-

-571

-/-

-571

Revaluation IAS 19, net after taxes

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-42,072

-42,072

-1,506

-43,578

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-82

-/-

-82

-/-

-82

Comprehensive income/loss

-/-

-/-

104,039

1,486

-571

-82

-42,072

62,800

2,046

64,846

Currency changes

-/-

-/-

-2,237

-/-

-/-

-/-

-1,543

-3,780

-/-

-3,780

Dividend

-/-

-/-

-33,264

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-33,264

-3,925

-37,189

Treasury shares
Non-controlling interests through
company acquisitions
December 31, 2014*

308,388

-/-

-/-

54

-38,361

353,694

33,617

387,311

-/-

-/-

104,039

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

104,039

3,552

107,591

Cash flow hedges, net after taxes

-/-

-/-

-/-

-200

-/-

-/-

-/-

-200

-/-

-200

Fair value measurement,
net after taxes

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Consolidated profit/loss

Revaluation IAS 19, net after taxes

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

33,814

33,814

-/-

33,814

Currency translation differences

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

9,396

-/-

9,396

-/-

9,396

Comprehensive income/loss

-/-

-/-

155,353

-200

-/-

9,396

33,814

198,363

-429

197,934

Currency changes

-/-

-/-

2,754

-/-

-/-

-/-

676

3,430

467

3,897

Dividend

-/-

-/-

-62,800

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-62,800

-100

-62,900

-2,349

Changes in shareholdings in
subsidiaries that did not lead
to a loss of control

-/-

-/-

1,234

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,568

2,802

-1,234

1,568

Changes in shareholdings in
subsidiaries that led to a loss
of control

-/-

16,101

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

16,101

-/-

16,101

-184

-6,844

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-7,028

-/-

-7,028

Equity transactions with shareholders

Changes in shareholdings in
subsidiaries that led to a loss
of control

52,093

Other comprehensive income/loss

Currency translation differences

Changes in shareholdings in
subsidiaries that did not lead
to a loss of control

31,520

January 1, 2015
Comprehensive income/loss

Other comprehensive income/loss
Fair value measurement,
net after taxes

Consolidated equity

Consolidated profit/loss

Non-controlling
interests

-/-

Comprehensive income/loss

Share of equity
attributable to share
holders of AURELIUS

367,316

Revaluations, IAS 19

27,548

Currency changes

339,768

Securities,
available for sale

1,043

Cash flow hedges

Consolidated equity

136

Retained earnings

Non-controlling
interests

571

Additional paid-in capital

Share of equity
attributable to share
holders of AURELIUS

-1,486

Other reserves

Subscribed capital

Revaluations, IAS 19

251,332

Currency changes

56,492

Securities,
available for sale

31,680

Cash flow hedges

Retained earnings

in kEUR

Additional paid-in capital

January 1, 2014

Other reserves

Subscribed capital

in kEUR

Equity transactions with shareholders

-/-

-/-

-4,922

-/-

-/-

-/-

-2,349

-7,271

4,922

-/-

-/-

-6,560

-/-

-/-

-/-

6,560

-/-

-/-

-/-

-160

-4,399

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-4,559

-/-

-4,559

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

3,026

3,026

31,520

52,093

308,388

-/-

-/-

54

-38,361

353,694

33,617

387,311

Treasury shares
Non-controlling interests through
company acquisitions
December 31, 2015

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

217

217

31,336

61,350

404,429

-200

-/-

9,450

-2,303

504,562

32,538

537,100

* The comparison figures from the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity at December 31, 2014 were adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.45 ff. (see also Note 12).
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA for the period from January 1 to December 31, 2015

continued

in kEUR
Period earnings before taxes (EBT)
Profit/loss from discontinued operations
Reversal of negative goodwill arising on initial consolidation
Gains (-) / losses (+) on deconsolidations
Amortization and depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment

1/1 - 12/31/2015

1/1 - 12/31/2014*

150,150

65,936

-11

52,948

-176,834

-76,817

-16,765

-65,470
77,692

-/-

1,901

Increase (+)/ decrease (-) in pension provisions and other provisions

-48,773

27,266

Gains (-) / losses (+) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

-26,609

-552

194

176

Gains (-) / losses (+) on disposal of non-current financial assets
Gains (-) / losses (+) on currency translation
Net financial income/expenses

Purchase prices paid for shares in companies

2,631

2,921

14,640

17,743

1/1 - 12/31/2015

1/1 - 12/31/2014*

-4,192

-33,370

Cash and cash equivalents received upon the purchase of shares

22,376

86,828

Proceeds from sales of subsidiaries

32,076

58,282

Cash and cash equivalents paid upon the sale of shares

-948

-13,720

22,308

7,778

Payments for investments in non-current assets

-55,994

-60,072

Cash flow from investing activities

15,626

45,726

153,662

155,675

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) / cash outflows for the repayment (-)
of current financial liabilities

4,835

-20,767

Proceeds from sales of non-current assets
101,264

Impairments of financial assets

in kEUR

Free cash flow

2,117

1,876

Interest paid

-12,182

-10,882

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) / cash outflows for the repayment (-)
of non-current financial liabilities

-44,988

2,135

Income taxes paid

-13,948

-19,127

Payments received from the issue of convertible bonds

166,301

-/-

Gross cash flow

-24,126

75,611

Cash inflows from the borrowing (+) / cash outflows for the repayment (-)
liabilities under finance leases

3,915

12,220

-7,028

-4,559

Interest received

Sale (+) / purchase (-) of treasury shares

Change in working capital
ZIncrease (-) / decrease (+) in inventories

12,689

29,115

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in trade receivables and other liabilities

186,779

127,373

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities

-81,034

-70,726

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other items of the Statement of Financial Position
Cash flow from operating activities (net cash flow)

43,727

-51,424

138,036

109,949

Payments to non-controlling interests
Decrease (+)/ increase (-) in restricted cash

-100

-3,925

1,218

-7,046

Dividend of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA

-62,800

-33,264

Cash flow from financing activities

61,353

-55,206

Effects of currency fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

1,802

1,948

312,267

209,850

Change in cash and cash equivalents

203,562

100,469

Cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations, end of period

529,084

312,267

Cash and cash equivalents subject to restrictions on disposal
Cash and cash equivalents as per Statement of Financial Position

19,859

21,077

548,943

333,344

* The prior-year Consolidated Cash Flow Statement was adjusted for comparison purposes in accordance with the provisions of
IFRS 3.45 ff. (see also Note 12).
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KEY TO ABBREVIATIONS
A

AED
AfS
AG
AktG
ARS
AUD

United Arab Emirates dirham (currency)
Financial assets available for sale
Aktiengesellschaft (stock corporation under German law)
Aktiengesetz (German Stock Corporation Act)
Argentine peso (currency)
Australian dollar (currency)

B

BCA
Book Club Associates
BGN
Bulgarian lev (currency)
BRL
Brazilian real (currency)
BV	Besloten vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid
(limited liability company under Dutch law)

C

CAD
CEO
CGU
CHF
CIO
CLP
CNY
Co.
Co. Ltd.
COO
CZK

D

d.o.o.
DBO
DCF
DCGK
DKK
Dr.

E

e.V.
EBIT
EBITDA
EBT
EDP
ERP
etc.
EU
EUR

F

FA-FV
ff.
FLAC
FL-FV

G

Canadian dollar (currency)
Chief Executive Officer
Cash Generating Unit
Swiss franc (currency)
Chief Investment Officer
Chilean peso (currency)
Chinese yen (currency)
Compagnie
Jusik Hoesa (stock corporation under South Korean law)
Chief Operating Officer
Czech koruna (currency)

H

HGB
HKD
HRB
HUF

I

ICT
Inc.
IAS
IASB
IFRIC
IFRS
IFRS IC
INR
IP
IT

J

JPY

K

kEUR
Kft.
KGaA
KRW
KStG

L
Druzba z omejeno odgovornostjo (limited liability company under Slovenian law)
Defined benefit obligation (type of pension obligation)
Discounted cash flow
German Corporate Governance Code
Danish krone (currency)
Doctor
Eingetragener Verein (registered association under German law)
Earnings Before Interest and Taxes
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Amortisation and Depreciation
Earnings Before Taxes
Electronic data processing
Enterprise Resource Planning
Et cetera
European Union
Euro (currency)
Financial assets measured at fair value
and following
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Financial liabilities measured at fair value

LaR
Lda.
LLC
Ltd.
Ltda.

M

MAD
mbH
MYR

N

NAV
NOK
N.V.

P

PCL
PLN
Pte Ltd.
Pty Ltd.

R

RCP
RON

Handelsgesetzbuch (German Commercial Code)
Hong Kong dollar (currency)
Handelsregister, Abteilung B (Commercial Register, Section B)
Hungarian forint (currency)
Information and communication technology
Incorporated Company (stock corporation under U.S. law)
International Accounting Standards
International Accounting Standard Board
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
International Financial Reporting Standards
IFRS Interpretation Committee
Indian rupee (currency)
Industrial Products (Segment)
Information technology
Japanese yen (currency)
Euro thousands
Korlátolt Felelösségü Társaság (limited liability company under Hungarian law)
Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien (partnership limited by shares)
South Korean won (currency)
Körperschaftsteuergesetz (German Corporation Tax Act)
Loans and receivables
Limitada (limited liability company under Portuguese law)
Limited liability company under U.S. law
Limited (limited liability company under British law)
Limitada (limited liability company under Brazilian law)
Moroccan dirham (currency)
Mit beschränkter Haftung (with limited liability)
Malaysian ringgit (currency)
Net Asset Value
Norwegian krone (currency)
Naamloze vennootschap (stock corporation under Dutch law)
Public Company Limited (stock corporation under Thai law)
Polish zloty (currency)
Private Limited (limited liability company under Singapore law)
Proprietary Limited (limited liability company under Australian law)
Retail and Consumer Products (Segment)
Romanian new leu (currency)

GBP
British pound (currency)
GewStG
Gewerbesteuergesetz (German Trade Tax Act)
GmbH
Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung (limited liability company under German law)
GmbH & Co. KG	Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung & Compagnie Kommanditgesellschaft (limited partnership
under German law, in which the general partner is typically a limited liability company)
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S

S&S
Services & Solutions (Segment)
S.A.U.
Sociedad (stock corporation with only one shareholder under Spanish law)
S.L.
Sociedad Limitada (limited liability company under Spanish law)
S.L.U.	Sociedad Limitdad Unipersonal (limited liability company with only one shareholder
under Spanish law)
s.r.o.
Společnostś Ručením Omezeným (limited liability company under Czech law)
s.r.o.
Spoločnostś Ručením Obmedzeným (limited liability company under Slovakian law)
SA
Société Anonyme (stock corporation under French law)
S.A.	Sociedad Anonima (stock corporation organized under the laws of
Chile, Argentina, Spain, Portugal, and Brazil)
SARL
Société à Responsabilité Limitée (limited liability company under French law)
SAS
Société par Actions Simplifiée (simplified stock corporation under French law)
SE
Societas Europaea
SEK
Swedish krone (currency)
Sdn. Bhd.
Sendirian Berhad (limited liability company under Malaysian law)
SEStEG	Gesetz über steuerliche Begleitmaßnahmen zur Einführung der Europäischen Gesellschaft
und zur Änderung weiterer steuerrechtlicher Vorschriften
(German Act on Accompanying Tax Measures for the Introduction of the European Company
and on the Amendment of Further Tax Regulations)
SGD
Singapore dollar (currency)
SIC
Standard Interpretations Committee
SpA
Società per azioni (stock corporation under Italian law)
Spol. s.r.o.
Spoločnostś Ručením Obmedzeným (limited liability company under Slovakian law)
Spolka z.o.o.
Spółka z Ograniczona Odpowiedzialnoscia (limited liability company under Polish law)
Srl/S.r.l.
Societa a responsabilita limitata (corporation under Italian law)

T

THB
TRY
TWD

U

UK
US
USD

W

WKN
WpHG

Thai baht (currency)
Turkish lira (currency)
Taiwanese dollar (currency)
United Kingdom
United States
US dollar (currency)
Wertpapierkennnummer (Security ID No.)
Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (German Securities Trading Act)

Z

Zrt.	Zártkörüen müködö résvénytársaság (limited liability company under Hungarian law)
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BASIC PRINCIPLES APPLIED IN PREPARING THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Reporting company
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA (formerly AURELIUS AG), Grünwald (“AURELIUS SE” or the “company”) is a German partner-

ship limited by shares that was originally formed in Munich on March 20, 2006 as AURELIUS AG. After entry into
the Commercial Register on October 1, 2015, the reorganization of AURELIUS AG from a stock corporation (Aktien
gesellschaft – AG) into a partnership limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien – KGaA) was completed. The company’s registered head office is located at Ludwig-Ganghofer-Strasse 6 in 82031 Grünwald. The
company is registered with the Munich Registry Court (record HRB 221100).
AURELIUS SE today is a holding company with a long-term investment horizon, which specializes in acquiring

companies with development potential. By providing operational and financial support, the company offers its
subsidiaries a “good home” for innovation, long-term growth and a secure future. Sustainable business concepts
and responsible actions provide a stable environment for the subsidiaries, in the interest of all stakeholders.
Although AURELIUS SE does not limit its acquisitions to a certain industry sector, it has placed an emphasis on
the following sectors: industrial enterprises, chemicals, business services, consumer goods/food & beverage,
and telecommunications, media & technology (TMT).
The current portfolio companies of AURELIUS SE operate mainly in the sectors of IT services, food and beverage,
and chemicals.
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS SE for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2015,
were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as applicable in the European
Union and the German commercial regulations to be applied additionally in accordance with Section 315a (1) of
the German Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction with Section 315a (3) HGB. They were prepared by the Executive Board on March 17, 2016 and submitted to the Supervisory Board for review and approval. The consolidated
financial statements cover the company and its subsidiaries (referred to collectively as “AURELIUS” or the “Group”
and individually as a “portfolio company” or “Group company”), as well as the Group’s investments in associated
companies and jointly managed companies.

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

2. Accounting principles
Since the enactment of the Directive of the European Parliament and Council of Ministers of the European Union
on the Application of International Financial Reporting Standards of June 6, 2002, all capital market-oriented
companies are obligated to prepare their consolidated financial statements for financial years that begin
after December 31, 2004 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
In the period from June 26, 2006, to April 9, 2012, the shares of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA were traded in the Open
Market section of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Effective April 10, 2012, the shares of the company have been
traded in the small and medium-sized enterprises segment m:access (open market) of the Munich Stock
Exchange, which is not an “organized market” within the meaning of Section 2 (5) WpHG. Thus, AURELIUS KGaA
is not a capital market-oriented company within the meaning of this law.
The present consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS for financial year 2015 were voluntarily prepared pursuant to Section 315a (3) HGB in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and International
Accounting Standards (IAS), as published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in London
through December 31, 2015, in the manner in which they have been interpreted by the Standard Interpretations
Committee (SIC) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). All IFRS and IFRIC
that had been adopted by the European Union (EU) as of December 31, 2015 and are applicable to the company
were observed. A Group Management Report and the obligatory disclosures to be made under German commercial law pursuant to Section 315a (1) HGB were prepared in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the statement of financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
For the sake of improving the clarity and usefulness of the financial statements, individual items of the statement
of financial position and statement of comprehensive income have been combined and explained separately in
the notes.

The consolidated financial statements and Group Management Report are available through the electronic
Federal Gazette and on our website, www.aureliusinvest.de.
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3. Functional and presentation currency
The present consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, as the functional currency of AURELIUS.
All financial information presented in euros is rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise specified.

4. Use of discretionary judgments and estimates
The preparation of financial statements according to IFRS requires that the management make certain
assumptions and estimates that have an effect on the amounts presented in the financial statements and the
related disclosures in the notes. Estimates and discretionary judgments are made primarily in connection with
the assessment of the actual value of goodwill, other intangible assets and trade receivables, the adoption of
uniform Groupwide useful lives for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, and the recognition
and measurement of provisions.

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

The companies of the AURELIUS Group are obligated to pay income taxes. Assumptions need to be made for the
purpose of measuring tax provisions. The final taxation of certain transactions and calculations cannot be conclusively determined in the normal course of business. Provisions for the costs of anticipated tax payments are
measured on the basis of estimates concerning whether and in what amount additional taxes will be owed. If
the final taxation of such transactions differs from the initially assumed taxation, that difference will have an
effect on current and deferred taxes in the period when the final taxation is conclusively determined.
At the time of preparing the present consolidated financial statements, no significant changes in the under
lying assumptions and estimates are to be expected, so that, from the current perspective, there is no reason
to expect that significant adjustments will be made to the assets and liabilities presented in the statement of
financial position in financial year 2016.

The assumptions underlying such discretionary judgments and estimates are based on the information available at the time of preparing the financial statements, particularly with regard to the expected future business
performance and the circumstances prevailing at the time when the consolidated financial statements are
prepared. Assumptions must also be made regarding realistic expectations of future market conditions. If
actual conditions in the future would differ from the assumptions made, or if future developments would
differ from the underlying assumptions and are beyond the control of the management, the resulting amounts
may differ from the originally estimated amounts. Estimates are made on the basis of experience values and
other assumptions that are deemed to be accurate given the prevailing circumstances. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis. Revisions of estimates are recorded prospectively.
Also in connection with company acquisitions, estimates are generally made for the purpose of measuring the
fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Land and buildings are usually measured on the
basis of standard land values or appraisals conducted by independent experts; such appraisals are used also for
measuring the value of technical equipment, plant and machinery. Marketable securities are measured at their
respective market values. In case of intangible assets, depending on the nature of the asset in question and the
difficulty of measuring the value of such an asset, an independent external expert is consulted or the fair value
of an intangible asset is determined internally using a suitable valuation method, usually based on a forecast of
future cash flows. Depending on the nature of the asset and the availability of information, different valuation
techniques are applied. Such techniques are based either on cost, market prices or future cash flows.
AURELIUS considers the estimates made with regard to the expected useful lives of certain assets and the

 ssumptions made with regard to the future macroeconomic conditions and developments in the industries in
a
which AURELIUS operates, as well as the estimates made with respect to the present value of future cash flows,
to be appropriate. Nonetheless, changes in assumptions or changed circumstances may necessitate corrections, which could lead to additional impairment losses or even reversals of impairment losses in the future, if
the developments anticipated by AURELIUS would reverse.
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STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

A material adjustment of the investment share in the past financial year only occurred with Getronics. This
change results from the remaining non-controlling interests, which were acquired by the former shareholder,
the Dutch company KPN, in the reporting year.

5. List of Portfolio Companies

All material companies in which AURELIUS can indirectly or directly exercise governance or control are included
in the consolidated financial statements, in addition to AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA as the parent company.

The portfolio companies of the Group are listed below
Group of companies

SECOP

Country of
Primary Activity

Germany

Primary Business

Manufacture of compressors

Share of

Share of

Equity 2015

Equity 2014

100.00%

100.00%

HanseYachts

Germany

Manufacturer of sailing yachts

74.60%

74.10%

ISOCH EM Group

France

Producer of fine chemicals

100.00%

100.00%

CalaChem

United Kingdom

Producer of fine chemicals

100.00%

100.00%

Briar Chemicals

United Kingdom

Manufacturer of special chemicals

100.00%

100.00%

ECOPlastics

United Kingdom

Recycler of plastic bottles

100.00%

100.00%

TAVEX Europe

Spain

Producer of
high-quality denim fabrics

100.00%

-/-

SOLIDUS

Netherlands

Manufacturer and processor
of solid cardboard

100.00%

-/-

Regain Polymers

United Kingdom

Reprocessor and recycler
of hard plastic waste

100.00%

-/-

By way of exception, only the general partner companies and the so-called label companies of the Berentzen
Group, which do not engage in business operations of their own, all of which, individually and together, are
immaterial for the financial position, cash flows and financial performance of AURELIUS, are not included in the
consolidated financial statements. Because there is no active market for these companies and it is not possible
to determine fair values reliably at a reasonable cost, they are presented in the consolidated financial statements at the respective acquisition costs, minus any impairment losses.
In accordance with IFRS 10.27, a parent company must determine whether it is an investment entity on the basis
of the following criteria, which must be complied with cumulatively. If this is the case, the presentation of
financial position, cash flows and financial performance must conform to the rules applicable to such companies. An investment entity is an entity that
■■ Collects funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investor(s) with investment

management services (IFRS 10.27 (a)),
■■ Commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital

GHOTEL Group

Germany

Hotel chain

100.00%

100.00%

LD Didactic

Germany

Provider of
technical teaching systems

100.00%

100.00%

Getronics

Netherlands

ICT system integrator

100.00%

78.10%

brightONE

Germany

IT services and product engineering

100.00%

100.00%

Studienkreis Group

Germany

Provider of after-school tutoring

100.00%

100.00%

fidelis HR

Germany

Software/outsourcing for human
resources departments

100.00%

100.00%

AKAD University

Germany

Distance-learning college

100.00%

100.00%

Publicitas

Switzerland

Media sales company

100.00%

100.00%

B+P Gerüstbau

Germany

Scaffold building and services
in the area of building site facilities

100.00%

100.00%

Berentzen Group

Germany

Manufacturer of spirits

51.59%

59.10%

Scholl Footwear

Italy

Provider of orthopedic and
comfort shoes

100.00%

100.00%

MEZ

Germany

Provider of handicraft products

100.00%

-/-

Transform

United Kingdom

Operator of special cosmetic clinics

100.00%

-/-

Allied Healthcare

United Kingdom

Provider of
home health care services

100.00%

-/-

appreciation and/or investment income (IFRS 10.27 (b)),
■■ Measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair-value basis

(IFRS 10.27 (c)).
The condition set out in IFRS 10.27 (a) initially pertains to typical private-equity or venture-capital companies
because such companies usually raise funds off market from both institutional and private capital providers for
the purpose of investing in companies. Some of AURELIUS’ investors fit this description, but it cannot be said that
funds are collected in this case, and no investment funds are created with such funds. The stock exchange listing
in the over-the-counter market can be regarded as the collection of funds, but it contradicts both the wording and
the underlying concept of the IASB. Considering the fact that AURELIUS has only conducted two capital increases
since it was founded, it cannot be said that the company regularly collects funds; moreover, no funds were ever
requested directly in connection with the acquisition of companies. Furthermore, AURELIUS does not provide
investment management services. AURELIUS SE actively influences the subsidiary’s operational activities from the
first day onward, and this is its primary focus. Therefore, the criterion of IFRS 10.27 (a) is not met.
At first glance, it could be said that AURELIUS SE meets the criterion of IFRS 10.27(b). Thus, the company’s business
object and purpose comprises the acquisition, subsequent restructuring, and afterwards the possible sale of
companies or parts of companies. Furthermore, the collection of dividends from subsidiaries is an important
element of AURELIUS’ business model. However, there is neither a fixed exit time, nor a clearly defined exit plan.
In this regard, the question arises again as to what active role AURELIUS AG plays in relation to the companies it
acquires. In most cases, the top management level of the purchased company is replaced and staffed with
employees of the AURELIUS Group.

The portfolio companies listed without a 2014 comparison were newly acquired in financial year 2015.
Furthermore, the active role played by AURELIUS is also evidenced by the development of innovations among
many of its Group portfolio companies. Therefore, it can be concluded that AURELIUS is not a passive investor
by reason of the very close operational support provided to the purchased companies, and therefore the
criterion of IFRS 10.27 (b) is not met.
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Finally, the third criterion stating that the performance of investments is measured on a fair-value basis is not
met in the case of AURELIUS, and moreover the company never even contemplated such a practice in the past.
Company values (NAVs, calculated by application of a DCF model according to IDW S1) have been published
since the first half of 2014 at the request of foreign investors, in order to ensure even greater transparency
beyond the consolidated financial statements according to IFRS. AURELIUS would now like to accommodate
this request by regularly publishing current NAVs for every sub-group. AURELIUS does not manage the portfolio
companies and does not devise potential exit strategies on the basis of NAVs, and also does not intend to do so
in the future. The NAVs only serve to assist the analysts of institutional investors who are accustomed to this
fair-value approach in appraising private-equity and venture-capital companies.
Based on the foregoing, AURELIUS is indeed subject to the rules of IFRS 10, but the provisions applicable to investment entities in IFRS 10.27-33 and IFRS 10.B85A-W are not relevant to AURELIUS.

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Germany

115

103

Abroad

288

119

10

10

2

2

Number of fully consolidated companies
(subsidiaries) in

Number of companies (subsidiaries) not consolidated for
materiality reasons in
Abroad
Number of companies (associated companies)
accounted for at equity in
Germany

-/-

-/-

Abroad

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Number of companies (associated companies) not accounted
for at equity for materiality reasons in
Germany
Abroad
Total number of companies

The following subsidiaries of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA in the legal form of partnerships have fulfilled the conditions
of Section 264b HGB by virtue of being included in the consolidated financial statements and exercise the simplification options allowed with respect to the preparation, auditing and publication of separate financial statements:
Hanse (Deutschland) Vertriebs GmbH & Co. KG
Vivaris Getränke GmbH & Co. KG

6. Acquisition of Subsidiaries

The composition of the Group in financial year 2015 and the prior year is presented in the table below:

Germany

The List of Shareholdings of AURELIUS pursuant to Section 313 (2) (1) to (4) HGB is presented in Note 75 of the
present notes to the consolidated financial statements and is a component thereof.

2

3

417

237

Compared to the prior year, 203 companies were included in the consolidation group for the first time, and
23 companies were deconsolidated or sold, liquidated or merged.

The companies acquired in reporting years 2015 and 2014 are summarized in the following pursuant to IFRS 3.
B65. In financial year 2015, AURELIUS acquired the solid board and printed cardboard business units of the
Smurfit Kappa Group with production locations in the Netherlands, Belgium, and the UK, effective April 24. The
company is now operating under the name SOLIDUS. TAVEX Europe, a producer of high-quality denim fabrics,
was acquired from the Tavex Group in Brazil at April 30, 2015. Transform, a leading provider of cosmetic operations headquartered in the UK was acquired effective June 30, 2015. On July 10, 2015, the Group acquired Regain
Polymers, a reprocessor and recycler of hard plastic waste in the UK. MEZ, the European handicrafts line of
business of the Coats Group, was acquired effective July 31, 2015. On December 1, 2015, Allied Healthcare, the
UK’s largest provider of home health care services, was acquired.
With the exception of Transform and some companies of the MEZ Group and SOLIDUS, all companies or groups
were acquired by way of share deals. The cited acquisition dates are the dates of transfer of control.
The purchase prices for the acquired companies totaled EUR 26,818 thousand (PY: EUR 50,750 thousand). The
amount of purchase prices to be settled in cash amounted to EUR 4,192 thousand (PY: EUR 33,370 thousand).
Contingent consideration in the sense of purchase price adjustment clauses deemed to be probable did not
occur in the past financial year 2015 (PY: EUR 1,950 thousand). The corresponding cash flows and the amount of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed gave rise to negative goodwill in the amount of EUR 176,834 thousand
(PY: EUR 76,817 thousand), which was recognized as other operating income in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Positive goodwill was recognized in the amount of EUR 1,499 thousand (PY: EUR 11,041
thousand).
No equity shares or replacement of share-based payment awards were used in these acquisitions.

With the exception of the HanseYachts sub-group, Getronics Thailand Ltd., PDM Media (India) Private Ltd.,
Mediascope Publicitas (India) Private Ltd., Publicitas OOH Media Private Ltd., Transform Property (Pines) Ltd.,
and MEZ GmbH, the reporting date of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements is
the same as the reporting date of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA . The aforementioned companies likewise prepared
IFRS financial statements at the reporting date of December 31, 2015, which was the basis for inclusion in the
present consolidated financial statements.
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The purchase price allocation for Allied Healthcare was not finally concluded at December 31, 2015, so that it is
preliminary within the meaning of IFRS 3.45 ff. The reasons for this are that the acquisition occurred shortly
before the end of the year as well as the complexity of the acquisition, since more than 100 companies belong
to this portfolio company and AURELIUS therefore has not yet received all of the relevant information for the
purchase price allocation in its final version at the current time.
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The aggregate result of the acquired companies in the time from the date of initial consolidation to December 31, 2015 was EUR -17,954 thousand (PY: EUR -11,249 thousand). This figure contains start-up and acquisition
losses, as well as restructuring losses. This figure does not contain income from the reversal of negative
goodwill arising on capital consolidation. The respective results and revenues for the period from January 1,
2015 to the acquisition date were not calculated because AURELIUS does not have all the necessary information to do this. The cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations and outstanding adjustment payments acquired in connection with company acquisitions amounted to EUR 22,376 thousand (PY: EUR 86,828
thousand), leading to an overall cash inflow of EUR 18,184 thousand (PY: EUR 53,458 thousand).

The valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of the acquired material assets were as follows:
Assets

Measurement method

Property, plant and
equipment

Market comparison method and cost method: The measurement model takes listed market
prices for similar objects into account if they are available, and amortized replacement cost
if necessary. Amortized replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical deterioration as
well as functional reconditioning and economic obsolescence.

Intangible assets

Relief-from-royalty and net realizable-value method: The relief-from-royalty method takes
into account the discounted estimated payments of usage fees that are expected to be saved
because the assets are owned by the company. The net realizable-value method takes into
account the present value of the expected net cash flows that the intangible assets generate,
with the exception of all cash flows that are linked to supporting assets.

Inventories

Market comparison method: The fair value is calculated based on the estimated sales price
in the ordinary course of business less estimated completion and selling costs as well as a
reasonable profit margin that are based on the necessary efforts for completion and sale of
the inventories.

The amounts recorded for the acquired assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition are summarized
below:

in kEUR

Carrying

Carrying

Amounts

Amounts

Fair value

Fair value

1/1-12/31/20151 1/1-12/31/20141 1/1-12/31/20151 1/1-12/31/20141
Intangible assets

10,559

6,214

10,559

25,742

Land

27,057

1,707

27,169

1,707

Buildings

44,953

4,306

45,842

7,604

Technical equipment, plant and machinery

82,178

28,369

82,178

30,534

Other non-current assets

13,465

6,650

13,465

6,650

Deferred tax assets

6,211

1,394

6,840

2,723

Non-current assets

184,423

48,640

186,053

74,960

75,748

14,917

75,875

15,317

116,270

184,941

116,270

184,941

Other assets

68,077

54,620

68,077

72,460

Cash and cash equivalents

22,376

86,828

22,376

86,828

282,471

341,306

282,598

359,546

24,917

46,801

24,917

46,801

Trade payables

99,891

145,517

99,891

146,135

Other liabilities

127,181

101,870

126,570

105,247

Inventories
Trade receivables

Current assets
Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

13,240

7,231

14,903

19,794

Liabilities

265,229

301,419

266,281

317,977

Net assets

201,665

88,527

202,370

116,529

217

12,012

217

17,673

thereof attributable to non-controlling interests
1
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If new information becomes known within one year after the acquisition date about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date and would have led to corrections to the existing amounts or to additional
provisions, then the accounting for the company acquisition is adjusted retroactively.

7. Sale of Subsidiaries
In contrast to 2014, there were no companies or groups of companies that met the definition of discontinued
operations according to IFRS 5 and were removed from the consolidation group of AURELIUS in financial year
2015.
However, AURELIUS did conclude the sale of the four hotel properties of the GHOTEL Group effective December 31, 2015. AURELIUS acquired the four properties from the Deutsche Annington Group at the beginning of
2011. The restructuring and sale of the hotel property portfolio has thus been successfully concluded, leading
to a positive contribution to earnings well into the double-digit millions in financial year 2015.

Carrying amounts and fair values as of the respective acquisition dates.
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8. Non-controlling interests

9. Acquisition of non-controlling interests

The following tables break down information on each group of companies in the Group with material
non-controlling interests:

The reduction in non-controlling interests between financial years 2015 and 2014 is due primarily to the
acquisition of the remaining 21.9 percent of the shares in Getronics in financial year 2015. These shares were
acquired by the former shareholder, the Dutch company KPN, on June 5, 2015. Compared to December 31,
2014, the investment share thus is equal to 100 percent and the non-controlling interest in equity declined by
EUR 1,234 thousand.

Percentage of non-controlling interests

The percentage change in shares in the Berentzen Group in financial year 2015 results from the sale of shares
in this portfolio company.

Haselünne

Berentzen-Group,

Greifswald

in kEUR

HanseYachts,

12/31/2015

25.40%

48.41%

3,313

25,890

-1,116

1,084

-/-

744

Total current assets

33,582

120,136

Total non-current assets

36,083

62,726

Total current liabilities

42,664

66,735

Total non-current liabilities

17,388

3,313

Profit or loss

-4,393

2,239

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests
Profit or loss of non-controlling interests
Share of dividends allocated to non-controlling interests

Percentage of non-controlling interests

Haselünne

Berentzen-Group,
25.90%

40.90%

3,652

21,426

-1,594

1,719

-/-

393

Total current assets

34,209

100,831

Total non-current assets

37,054

65,192

Total current liabilities

42,220

53,951

Total non-current liabilities

18,024

67,157

Profit or loss

-6,153

4,204

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests
Profit or loss of non-controlling interests
Share of dividends allocated to non-controlling interests
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Greifswald

in kEUR

HanseYachts,

12/31/.2014
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
10.

11.

ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

ALLIED HEALTHCARE I STAFFORD I UNITED KINGDOM

Basic principles applied in preparing the financial statements
10.1

New Standards and Interpretations that have effects on the consolidated financial statements for 2015

10.2

New Standards and Interpretations that have no effects on the consolidated financial statements for 2015

10.3

New Standards and Interpretations that were applied early to the consolidated financial statements for 2015

10.4

New Standards and Interpretations that have not yet been applied

Material recognition and measurement methods
11.1

Consolidation

11.1.1

Acquisition of Subsidiaries

11.1.2

Subsidiaries

11.1.3

Change in the investment share of existing subsidiaries

11.1.4

Associated companies and joint ventures

11.1.5

Joint operations

11.2

Revenue recognition

11.2.1

Sale of goods

11.2.2

Provision of services

11.2.3

Usage fees

11.2.4

Dividends and interest income

11.2.5

Construction contracts

11.3

Income taxes

11.3.1

Current taxes

11.3.2

Deferred taxes

11.4

Foreign currency

11.5

Earnings per share

11.6

Research and development costs

11.7

Leases

11.8

Borrowing costs

11.9

Intangible assets

11.9.1

Goodwill

11.9.2

Intangible assets acquired in connection with a business combination

11.9.3

Other separately acquired intangible assets

11.9.4

Internally generated intangible assets

11.9.5

Impairments of intangible assets

11.9.6

Write-off of intangible assets

11.10

Property, plant and equipment

11.10.1

Impairments of property, plant and equipment

11.10.2

Write-off of property, plant and equipment
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11.11

Government grants

11.12

Financial assets

11.12.1

Classification and measurement

11.12.1.1

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

11.12.1.1

Financial assets held to maturity

11.12.1.3 Financial assets available for sale
11.12.1.4 Loans and receivables
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11.12.2

Impairment of financial assets

11.12.3

Write-off of financial assets

11.13

Factoring

11.14

Inventories

11.15

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

11.16

Derivative financial instruments

11.17

Recognition of hedging relationships

11.17.1

Fair-value hedge

11.17.2

Cash flow hedge

11.17.3

Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

11.18

Cash and cash equivalents

11.19

Equity

11.20

Employee benefits

11.21

Share-based compensation

11.22

Other provisions

11.23

Financial liabilities

11.23.1

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

11.23.2

Other financial liabilities

11.23.3

Write-off of financial liabilities

11.24

Financial guarantee contracts

11.25

Composite financial instruments

11.26

Contingent liabilities resulting from a business combination

11.27

Estimation uncertainties and discretionary judgments

11.28

Segment information

11.29

Prior-year information

11.30

Legal disputes, claims for damages, and liability risks
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
10. Basic principles applied in preparing the financial statements
The presentation of the consolidated financial statements is conformant with the provisions of IAS 1. The cost
summary method is applied for the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. In accordance with IFRS 3,
income from negative goodwill arising on consolidation is presented within the item of other income and is
therefore contained in the earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA).
In accordance with IAS 1.60 ff., items presented in the consolidated statement of financial position are presented
separately on the basis of maturity. Accordingly, current assets are assets which are recoverable within one year,
or are intended for sale or use in the normal course of business, or are held for trading or consist of cash or cash
equivalents. Conversely, all assets that will remain within the Group for longer than one year are classified as
non-current assets. In accordance with IAS 1.68, inventories and trade receivables are always presented as current
assets. Deferred tax assets, by contrast, are always presented as non-current assets. In accordance with IAS 1.69,
liabilities are classified as current when they are due and payable within twelve months or in the normal course of
business, or when they are held for trading. By way of exception to this rule, trade payables are always judged, like
trade receivables, on the basis of their settlement in the normal course of business, not by the twelve-month rule,
and so they are always presented as current liabilities. Deferred tax liabilities are always classified as non-current
liabilities. Non-controlling interests are presented as a separate component of equity (non-controlling interests).
The consolidated financial statements are prepared based on historical cost, with the exception of some specific
financial instruments that were recognized at fair value on the reporting date of December 31, 2015. Historical
costs are generally based on the fair value of the consideration paid in exchange for the asset. The fair value is the
price that would be received in orderly transactions between market participants on the measurement date for
the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of liabilities. This applies regardless of whether the price can be directly
observed or is estimated using a measurement method.
When determining the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account certain features such as
the condition and location of the asset or restrictions on its sale or use if market participants would likewise take
these features into account when specifying the price to acquire the respective asset or to transfer the liability on
the measurement date. In the present AURELIUS consolidated financial statements, the fair value for measurement and/or reporting obligations is fundamentally calculated on this basis. Leases that fall within the scope of
IAS 17 as well as measurement standards that are similar to the fair value but do not correspond to it, such as the
net realizable value of inventories under IAS 2 or the value in use under IAS 36, are excluded.
The fair value is not always available as a market price. It must frequently be calculated based on various
measurement parameters. The fair value is assigned to levels 1, 2, or 3 depending on the availability of observable parameters and the significance of these parameters for calculating the fair value as a whole.
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The classification is done according to the following rules:
■■ Input parameters for Level 1 are listed prices (unadjusted) on active markets for identical assets or

liabilities that the company can access on the measurement date.
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adopting IFRS, namely one that is currently effective and another for which application is mandatory in the future,
but can be applied voluntarily ahead of time, first-time adopters of IFRS have the option of applying either one of
these two versions. However, the chosen version of the Standard must then be applied to all periods covered in
the financial statements, subject to contrary rules in IFRS 1.

■■ Input parameters for Level 2 are other parameters than the listed prices included in Level 1 that can be

directly observed for the asset or liability or can be derived indirectly from other prices.
■■ Input parameters for Level 3 are parameters that cannot be observed for the asset or liability.
In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, continuing operations are presented separately from discontinued
operations and from assets and liabilities held for sale (disposal groups). Individual items of the consolidated
financial statements are presented separately on this basis (see also Notes 20 and 36 of the present notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the assumption of a going concern.

10.1 New Standards and Interpretations that have effects on the
consolidated financial statements for 2015
No Standards that would have had effects on the 2015 consolidated financial statements were to be applied for
the first time or in amended form in the reporting year.

10.2 New Standards and Interpretations that have no effects on the
consolidated financial statements for 2015
The following Standards and Interpretations were to be applied by the Group for the first time or in amended
form in the reporting year. However, they had no effects on the present consolidated financial statements.
At the current time, however, it is not possible to make statements regarding their effects on future transactions or agreements.
IFRIC Interpretation 21 “Levies”: This interpretation covers the accounting treatment of levies imposed on the

reporting entity by governments (including government agencies and similar bodies) in accordance with laws
and/or regulations. However, it does not cover taxes, fines and other penalties, liabilities arising from emissions
trading schemes, and outflows within the scope of other Standards. IFRIC 21 does not deal with how to account
for costs arising from the recognition of a liability to pay a levy, but rather with the question of when an obligation to pay the levy covered by the scope of the Interpretation must be recognized as a liability. Other Standards
are applied to determine whether the recognition of a liability gives rise to an asset or expense. IFRIC 21 must be
applied in annual periods beginning on or after June 17, 2014. Initial application is in accordance with the requirements of IAS 8, i.e., the requirements are to be applied on a retrospective basis. This Interpretation was recognized
within the EU by means of the endorsement process of June 13, 2014.
The following Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 13 and IAS 40, which have been published by the IASB but are
likewise not yet mandatory, are part of the Improvements to IFRSs 2011 – 2013 Cycle. These Amendments were
adopted into EU law on December 18, 2014, and must be applied prospectively in annual periods beginning on or
after December 31, 2015.

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Scope exeptions for joint ventures”: These amendments reformulate the existing IFRS 3
scope exemption for joint ventures. The new version clarifies that the exemption is available to all joint arrangements according to the meaning of IFRS 11 and that the exemption only applies to the financial statements of the
joint venture or joint operations, and not to the financial statements of the parties participating in the joint operations.
Amendments to IFRS 13 “Scope of paragraph 52 – portfolio exception”: IFRS 13.48 permits an entity that manages a
group of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of its net market risk to measure the fair value of this
group in the same way that market participants would measure the net risk position at the measurement date
(portfolio exception). The proposed amendment clarifies that this fair value measurement exception applies to all
contracts within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9, even if they do not meet the definition of a financial asset or financial
liability set out in IAS 32 (such as, for example, certain contracts for the purchase and sale of non-financial items
that can be settled for cash or other financial instruments). These amendments are to be applied prospectively
from the start of the financial year in which IFRS 13 was applied for the first time. Earlier, voluntary application is
permitted.
Amendments to IAS 40 “Clarifying the interrelationship of IFRS 3 and IAS 40 when classifying property as investment property or owner-occupied property”: These amendments clarify that the scope of IAS 40 and the scope of
IFRS 3 are independent of each other, meaning that they do not mutually exclude each other in any case. Therefore, every acquisition of real estate classified as investment property on the basis of the criteria of IFRS 3 must be
examined to determine whether it involves the acquisition of an individual asset, group of assets or business
within the scope of IFRS 3. In addition, the criteria of IAS 40.7 ff. must be applied to determine whether the property in question is an investment property or an owner-occupied property. As a general rule, these amendments
are to be applied prospectively to all investment property acquired from the beginning of the first period in which
the amendments are first applied, so that it will not be necessary to adjust prior-year figures. These amendments
may be applied voluntarily to individual acquisitions made in prior periods, provided that the necessary information is available.

10.3 New Standards and Interpretations that were applied early to the
consolidated financial statements for 2015
AURELIUS did not apply ahead of time any IFRS that had already been published and adopted by the IASB and

recognized by the EU, the application of which was not required as of December 31, 2015.

10.4 Neue Standards und Interpretationen, die noch nicht angewendet wurden
AURELIUS will apply amended or newly issued Standards and Interpretations as of the respectively required dates,

provided that they will have been transposed into European Union law by such times. The full effects on the
Group have not yet been analyzed and therefore it is not possible at the present time to state the exact effects
they will have. However, it can be assumed that the newly issued Standards and Interpretations will lead to an

Amendments to IFRS 1 “Meaning of Effective IFRSs”: An amendment of the “Basis for Conclusions” clarifies the
meaning of “effective date” in connection with IFRS 1. If two published versions of a Standard exist at the time of
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increased need for statements in the Notes. However, changes or effects resulting from the first-time application
of IFRS can be ruled out, since AURELIUS is not a first-time adopter of IFRS.
Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 “Investment Entities – Applying the Consolidation Exception”: This
Standard serves to clarify three issues with regard to applying the exception from the duty to consolidate under IFRS 10 if the parent company satisfies the definition of an investment company: (1) Companies are also
exempt from the duty of consolidation when the superior parent company recognizes its subsidiaries at fair
value under IFRS 10; (2) When a subsidiary itself satisfies the definition of an investment company and provides
services that relate to the parent company’s investment activities, it must not be consolidated; (3) If an investor
who does not satisfy the definition of an investment company applies the equity method to an affiliated
company or a joint venture, then this entity can retain the measurement at fair value that the investee company applies to its investments in subsidiaries. In addition, the IASB has included the statement in the
amended Standard that an investment company that measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value must make
the statements regarding investment companies prescribed by IFRS 12 . The amendments must be applied in
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, assuming that they are adopted into EU law. Early application is permitted.
Amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”: These amendments have the goal of improving information
about the change in indebtedness of the company. According to the amendments, a company must make
statements as to the changes in those financial liabilities whose inpayments and outpayments are shown in
the cash flow statement under cash flow from financing activities. Related financial assets must likewise be
included in the statements (for example, assets from hedging transactions). The following must be stated: (1)
Changes affecting cash flow, (2) Changes due to exchange rates, (3) Changes in fair values, and (4) Other. The
IASB suggests presenting the statements in the form of a reconciliation from the opening balance in the statement of financial position to the closing balance in the statement of financial position, but also permits other
presentations. These amendments must be applied in annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.
Early application is permitted. In the year of first-time adoption, prior-year comparison statements are not
required.
Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes”: With the amendment to IAS 12, the IASB clarifies that devaluations of debt
instruments that are measured at fair value to a lower market value resulting from a change in market interest
rate levels will lead to deductible temporary differences. The IASB confirms that a temporary difference arises in
these cases. The IASB expressly refers to the case that the loss is not realized and will be reversed in the future if
held until final maturity, since the debt instrument will be repaid at nominal value. This applies regardless of
whether the holder expects to hold the debt instrument until final maturity and thus to receive the full amount
of the nominal value. The IASB further clarifies that in principle an assessment must be made collectively for all
deductible temporary differences as to whether sufficient taxable income can be expected to be received in the
future in order to use these differences and thus to be able to recognize them. A separate assessment is only to be
carried out insofar as and to the extent that tax law differentiates among various types of taxable profits. In
addition, IAS 12 is supplemented with rules and examples that clarify how the future taxable income must be
calculated in order to recognize deferred tax assets. These amendments must be applied retrospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.
IFRS 16 “Leases”: IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 “Leases” as well as the accompanying Interpretations (IFRIC 4, SIC-15, and
SIC-27). For lessees, the new Standard requires a completely new approach to presenting leases on the statement
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of financial position. While the transfer of material opportunities and risks of the leased property was the decisive
factor for recognition of a lease on the lessee’s statement of financial position under IAS 17, in the future every
lease is fundamentally required to be presented on the lessee’s statement of financial position as a financing
transaction. For lessors, on the other hand, the recognition regulations have remained largely unchanged, particularly with regard to the classification of leases, which remains required. The new Standard must be applied
in annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier, voluntary application is possible – subject to an
endorsement still to be issued – insofar as IFRS 15 is also already being applied at this time.
IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts”: The new Standard allows an entity adopting IFRS for the first time to
continue, with a few limited restrictions, to recognize the regulatory deferral accounts that were established in
accordance with the previously applied accounting policies. This applies to both the first IFRS financial statements and subsequent financial statements. Regulatory deferral accounts and changes in such accounts must
be presented separately in the statement of cash flows and in the income statement or in other comprehensive income. Furthermore, certain disclosures are required. The objective of IFRS 14 is to specify the financial
reporting requirements for regulatory deferral account balances that arise when an entity provides goods and
services at a rate that is subject to rate regulation. The Standard is designed as limited-scope Standard to
provide an interim, short-term solution for rate-regulated entities that have not yet adopted IFRS. Its stated
purpose is to allow rate-regulated entities adopting IFRS for the first time to avoid changes in recognition and
measurement methods in respect of regulatory deferral accounts until such time as the IASB can complete its
comprehensive project on rate-regulated activities. IFRS 14 was published in January 2014. On October 30, 2015,
the EFRAG announced that the European Commission will not recommend inclusion of the interim standard
IFRS 14, “Regulatory Accrual Items”, in EU law.

Amendments to IAS 19 “Defined Benefit Plans – Employee Contribution”: These amendments allow an elective
option for the accounting treatment of defined benefit pension plans to which employees (or third parties) make
obligatory contributions. IAS 19 (2011) now provides that employee contributions set out in the formal terms of a
defined benefit plan and linked to service should be attributed to the service periods as negative benefits. This
rule is basically in line with the projected unit credit method, under which benefits (in this case, negative benefits)
are projected and pro-rated to periods of service. Whereas prior to the effective date of IAS 19 (2011), the practice
was to deduct employee contributions from the benefit obligation when they are paid, the application of these
new rules could possibly necessitate complex calculations. Employee contributions that are linked to service
rendered and not to the number of years of service must still be recognized in the period in which the corresponding service was rendered, without applying the above-mentioned calculation and allocation method
based on the projected unit credit method. Such contributions particularly include contributions that represent a fixed percentage of the current-year salary, fixed amounts during the entire service period of the employees, and contributions determined solely on the basis of the employee’s age. These amendments must be
applied retrospectively for the first time in annual periods beginning on or after February 1, 2015. Earlier application is permitted. The amendment was adopted into EU law on December 17, 2014.
IFRS 15 “Revenues from Contracts with Customer”: The objective of IFRS 15 is to establish the principles to be
applied to report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenues and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. IFRS 15 applies to all contracts
with customers, except for the following: (1) leases within the scope of IAS 17, (2) financial instruments and
other contractual rights and obligations within the scope of IFRS 9, IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IAS 27 or IAS 28 (2011), (3) insurance contracts within the scope of IFRS 4, and (4) non-monetary exchanges between entities in the same
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line of business to facilitate sales to customers or potential customers. IFRS 15 is applicable when no other
Standard provides guidance on how to separate and/or initially measure one or more parts of the contract.
Application of this Standard is mandatory in annual reporting periods that begin on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is permitted.
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”: The IASB published the final version of the Standard on July 24, 2014 after com-

pleting the various phases of its comprehensive project on financial instruments. Consequently, the accounting
treatment of financial instruments that was previously prescribed by IAS 39 has now been completely replaced
by the accounting treatment prescribed by IFRS 9. The now published version of IFRS 9 supersedes all previous
versions. The new Standard introduced revised rules on the classification and measurement of financial assets,
including impairment rules, and supplements the hedge accounting rules published in 2013. It must be applied
for the first time for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Amendments to IAS 1 “Disclosure Initiative”: The amendments basically consist of the following points: (1) Clarification that disclosures in the notes are only required when the information is not immaterial. This rule applies
explicitly also when a Standard specifies a list of minimum disclosures. (2) Clarifications regarding the aggregation and disaggregation of items in the statement of financial position and in the statement of comprehensive
income, (3) Clarification as to how the entity’s share of the other comprehensive income of equity-accounted
associates is to be presented in the statement of comprehensive income, (4) Elimination of the model structure
of the notes to the financial statements, so that entities can structure the notes in a way that is relevant to their
specific circumstances. These amendments must be applied in annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2016. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments were adopted into EU law as of December 18, 2015.
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture”: These amendments address a known inconsistency between the rules of IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (2011)
regarding the sale or contribution of assets to an associated company or joint venture. In the future, the full gain
or loss on such a transaction may be recognized in full only when the sold or contributed assets constitute a
business as defined in IFRS 3 regardless of whether the transaction is structured as a share deal or an asset deal.
If on the other hand the assets do not constitute a business, only a partial gain or loss may be recognized. The
original plan was for the clarification to apply for the first time to annual periods starting after December 31,
2015. The IASB is now recommending postponing this first application date for an indefinite time. However, the
possibility of early application is supposed to remain.
Amendments to IAS 27 “Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements”: These amendments reinstate the option of applying the equity method to measure the value of shares in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated
companies in the separate financial statements of an investor. The existing option to measure such investments
at cost or in accordance with IAS 39/IFRS 9 was retained. Since 2005, application of the equity method to measure
the value of shares in separate financial statements (of the parent company) in accordance with IAS 27 was no
longer permitted. IASB made these amendments to IAS 27 in response to complaints by users regarding the high
cost of fair value measurement at every reporting date, especially in the case of non-exchange-listed associated
companies. The amendments are to be applied in annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Early
application is permitted. The amendment was adopted into EU law on December 18, 2015.
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Amendments to IAS 41 and IAS 16 “Bearer Plants”: Prior to these amendments, all fruit-bearing biological assets
were to be measured at fair value less estimated selling costs, with changes recognized in profit or loss. The same
rule applies to fruit-bearing plants like grape vines, rubber trees and oil palms that serve the purpose of harvesting biological assets over several reporting periods, without being sold themselves as agricultural products. Following the adoption of these amendments, bearer plants are to be accounted for in the future as property, plant
and equipment according to IAS 16 because the use of these assets is similar. On the other hand, the products of
such bearer plants must still be accounted for in accordance with IAS 41. These amendments must be applied for
the first time retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The disclosures prescribed
by IAS 8.28(f ) need not be made for the current period. Earlier and voluntary application of the new rule is permitted. These amendments were adopted into EU law on November 23, 2015.
Amendments to IAS 16 und IAS 38 “Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation”: The
amendments provide additional guidelines on the acceptable methods of depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and amortization of intangible assets. They are to be applied in annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2016. Early application is permitted. The amendments were adopted into EU law as of December 2, 2015.
Amendments to IFRS 11 “Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations”: These amendments clarify
the accounting treatment of acquisitions of interests in joint operations that constitute a business. The amendments are to be applied in annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Early application is permitted. The
amendments were integrated into EU law on November 24, 2015.
The following Standards of the IASB (Amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 16, IAS 38 and IAS 24) are part
of the “Improvements to IFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle.” These rules must be applied for the first time in annual periods
beginning on or after February 1, 2015. The amendments were adopted into EU law on December 17, 2014.
Amendments to IFRS 2 “Definition of vesting conditions”: These amendments clarify the definition of vesting
conditions by introducing separate definitions for performance conditions and service conditions in Annex A
of the Standard. A performance condition is a vesting condition that requires both the completion of a certain
service period and the attainment of certain success targets within this service period. The success targets to be
attained should be defined with reference to the activities of the reporting entity or the value of its equity
instruments (including shares and options). They can refer both to the company’s overall performance and to the
performance of certain divisions or individual employees. In contrast to a performance condition, a service
condition only requires the completion of a certain service period, with no reference to success targets. If the
employee leaves the company before completion of this service period, the service condition is not fulfilled. Furthermore, the definition of market conditions was clarified by means of the specification that they are not only
performance conditions that depend on the market price or value of the company’s equity instruments, but also
performance conditions that depend on the market price or value of the equity instruments of another company
of the same group.
Amendments to IFRS 3 “Accounting for contingent consideration in a business combination”: IFRS 3.40 specifies that
“an acquirer … must classify an obligation to pay contingent consideration as a liability or an equity instrument
based on the definitions of an equity instrument and a financial liability in paragraph 11 of IAS 32 or other applicable
IFRSs.” Because the question as to the classification of contingent consideration as an equity instrument or financial liability arose only with respect to contingent consideration that fulfills the definition of a financial instrument,
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and it was unclear when or even if “other applicable IFRSs” should be applied to such a classification, the wording
of IFRS 3.40 was changed so that it only refers to contingent consideration arising in connection with a business
combination and meeting the definition of a financial instrument, and the reference to “other applicable IFRSs”
was eliminated. Furthermore, the IFRS 3.58 rule applicable to the measurement in subsequent periods of contingent consideration was ambiguous insofar as it prescribed fair value measurement of contingent consideration
not classified as equity, while also making reference to IFRS 9 (or IAS 39), IAS 37 and other IFRSs that do not require
fair value measurement in all cases. The amendments made to this paragraph and the subsequent amendments
to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IAS 37 now prescribe fair value measurement in subsequent periods, with all resulting effects
to be recognized in profit or loss, for all contingent consideration not classified as equity.
Amendments to IFRS 8 “Reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets”: These
amendments to IFRS 8 clarify two points: (1) The reporting entity must disclose the judgments made by the
Management for the purpose of aggregating operating segments into reportable segments (brief description of
the aggregated operating segments and the economic factors considered for the purpose of determining the
“similar economic characteristics” according to the meaning of IFRS 8.12), and (2) A reconciliation of segment
assets with the corresponding amounts in the statement of financial position is only required when the information concerning segment assets is also part of the financial information that is regularly reported to the chief
operating decision maker.
Amendments to IFRS 13 “Short-term receivables and payables”: An amendment to the “Basis for Conclusions” of
IFRS 13 clarifies that the IASB did not intend for the changes to IFRS 9 und IAS 39 that resulted from IFRS 13 to
eliminate the option of not discounting short-term receivables and payables to present value if the discounting
effect is immaterial.
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 “Revaluation method – proportionate restatement of accumulated depreciation”:
These amendments clarify the method for calculating accumulated depreciation when applying the revaluation
model according to IAS 16.35 or IAS 38.80. Among other things, the new wording of IAS 16.35(a) takes into consideration the fact that both the gross carrying amount (historical acquisition/ production costs) and the amortized
carrying amount can be changed on the basis of available market data in connection with a revaluation. This
cannot lead to a proportionate change of accumulated depreciation. However, the change in depreciation is determined solely as the difference between the two revalued amounts. Furthermore, a non-proportionate change
of depreciation can result if impairment losses were recognized in prior periods. Revaluation of the gross carrying
amount and the amortized carrying amount, with due regard to impairments, does not lead to a proportionate
change in depreciation.
Amendments to IAS 24 “Key management personnel”: These amendments extend the definition of “related entities
and persons” to include companies that provide key management personnel services, either themselves or
through one of their Group companies, to the reporting entity, even in the absence of a related-party relationship
between the two companies according to the meaning of IAS 24 (“management entities”). The newly inserted
paragraph 18A requires separate presentation of the expenses recognized by the reporting entity in respect of
the services provided by the management entity. Notwithstanding IAS 24.17, however, the reporting entity is not
required to disclose the compensation paid or payable by the management entity to the management entity’s
employees that perform key management tasks for the reporting entity.
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The following Amendments to IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IAS 34, which have been published by the IASB but are not
yet mandatory, are part of the Improvements to the IFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle, and have already been incorporated
into EU law. It seems reasonable at this time to characterize the effects of these amendments on the company as
minor. These amendments take effect in reporting periods that begin on or after January 1, 2016. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments were integrated into EU law as of December15, 2015.
Amendments to IFRS 5 “Changes in methods of disposal”: These amendments govern the incorporation of special
guidelines into IFRS 5 in cases in which an entity reclassifies an asset from the held-for-sale category to the
held-for-distribution category, or vice versa. These amendments also incorporate special guidelines for cases in
which the classification of an asset as held-for-distribution is discontinued. These amendments are to be applied
prospectively.
Amendments to IFRS 7 “Servicing Contracts”: These amendments provide additional guidelines to clarify whether
a management contract represents a continuing involvement in a transferred asset (for purposes of determining
the required disclosures).
Amendments to IFRS 7 “Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial statements”:
These amendments clarify the applicability of the offsetting-related amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim
financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 19 “Regional market issue”: These amendments clarify that high-grade corporate bonds used
to calculate the discount factor for post-termination benefits should be denominated in the same currency as the
benefits to be paid. (Therefore, the market depth for high-grade bonds should be assessed on the currency level).
Amendments to IAS 34 “Disclosure of information elsewhere in the interim financial report”: Clarification of what
is meant by “elsewhere in the interim financial report” and incorporation of a rule requiring to include a reference
to “elsewhere in the interim financial report”, if “elsewhere” is not within the interim financial report’s main section.

11. Material recognition and measurement methods
The separate financial statements of the affiliated companies included in consolidation were consolidated on
the uniform basis of the recognition and measurement methods applied at AURELIUS. The recognition and
measurement methods, as well as the explanations and notes to the consolidated financial statements according to IFRS for financial year 2015, are generally based on the same recognition and measurement methods that
were applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements for 2014. The methods described were applied
continuously to the presented reporting periods unless otherwise indicated, with the exception of the new
or revised International Financial Reporting Standards that must be applied in the EU, as a binding rule, as of
January 1, 2015.
The principal recognition and measurement methods of AURELIUS that were applied in the present financial
statements or are significant to understanding the financial statements are described in the following. A
recognition and measurement method can be material due to the type of entrepreneurial activity, even if
the amounts are not material in the current period or earlier periods. When making the decision whether a
particular method must be disclosed, the management must consider whether such a statement makes it
easier for the reader to understand how the transactions as well as other events and conditions are reflected
in the company’s financial position, cash flows and financial performance. AURELIUS’s management considers it useful for the reader of the statement of financial position particularly when a method is selected from
a number of methods permitted by a Standard or an Interpretation.
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11.1 Consolidation
11.1.1 Acquisition of Subsidiaries
The capital consolidation of subsidiaries is effected by application of the acquisition method according to
IFRS 3, in conjunction with IFRS 10, by netting the acquisition cost with the fair value of the acquired assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities at the acquisition date. The acquisition cost of a purchase is equal to the
fair value of the assets transferred, the equity instruments issued and the liabilities incurred or assumed at
the acquisition date. The fair values of assets and liabilities under contingent consideration agreements,
known as earn-outs, are likewise included, in exchange for control of the acquired company.
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In the case of step acquisitions, the shares already held at the time when the company attains control are
revalued at the new acquisition date. Any gain or loss arising from the restatement is recognized in profit or
loss. Changes in the value of the equity shares previously held in the acquired company recorded in other comprehensive income before the acquisition date are reclassified in the statement of comprehensive income if
AURELIUS acquires control of the acquired company.

The acquired identifiable assets and assumed liabilities are measured at fair value. The following exceptions
apply in this context:

If the initial recognition of a business combination under IFRS 3 has not been finally concluded at the end of the
financial year, AURELIUS indicates preliminary amounts for those items with such recognition. If new information becomes known within the measurement period that illuminates the circumstances at the acquisition
date, the amounts recognized on a preliminary basis are corrected or additional assets or liabilities are recognized if necessary.

■■ Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities and assets or liabilities in conjunction with agreements

11.1.2 Subsidiaries

for employee benefits are recognized and measured according to IAS 12 and IAS 19.
■■ Liabilities and equity instruments that relate to share-based payment or substitution for share-based
payment by the Group are measured at the acquisition date according to IFRS 2.
■■ Assets or disposal groups that are classified as assets held for sale or discontinued operations are
measured according to this IFRS Standard.

As a general rule, all domestic and foreign companies that are controlled by AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA are included
in the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2015, in addition to AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA. According to
IFRS 10.7, the investor controls an investee if and only if the following criteria are met:
■■ The investor has power over investee,
■■ The investor is exposed to risk in the form of, inter alia, variable returns from its involvement with the

Any excess of net assets measured at fair value over the acquisition cost (positive goodwill) is recognized as
goodwill. If the acquisition costs are less than the proportional share of the acquired subsidiary’s net assets
measured at fair value (negative goodwill), the matter is first reviewed again and any remaining difference is
recognized directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (bargain purchase).
The non-controlling interests that grant current ownership rights and grant the holder the right in case of
liquidation to receive a proportional share of the net assets of AURELIUS are disclosed in equity upon acquisition at fair value or at the corresponding share of the recognized assets and liabilities. This option can be
exercised anew at each business combination. If other components of non-controlling interests exists, they
are measured at fair value or using the measures of value derived from other Standards.
If the transferred consideration includes contingent consideration, it is measured at the fair value existing at
the acquisition date. Changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration within the measurement period
are corrected retroactively and posted accordingly against goodwill or the bargain purchase. Corrections during
the measurement period are adjustments in order to reflect additional information on facts and circumstances
that already existed at the acquisition date. However, the measurement period is not permitted to exceed one
year after the acquisition date. Recognition of changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not represent corrections during the measurement period is done depending on how the contingent consideration is to be classified. If it is equity, subsequent measurement does not occur on successive reporting
dates because performance is recognized within equity. If the contingent capital is an asset or a liability, then
measurement occurs on successive reporting dates pursuant to IAS 37 or IAS 39 and any resulting profit or less
is recognized in the Group’s statement of comprehensive income.
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investee,
■■ The investor uses its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

AURELIUS carries out a new assessment of whether an investee is or is not controlled when facts and circumstances indicate that one or more of the three control criteria listed above have changed.

If the company would nothold a majority of voting rights, then an investee is nevertheless controlled if the company has the practical possibility of unilaterally determining the primary activities of the Group company using
its voting rights. When assessing whether its voting rights are sufficient for the decision-making power, AURELIUS
takes all facts and circumstances into account, including:
■■ The scope of the voting rights in the company’s possession in relation to the scope and distribution of

the voting rights of other holders of voting rights,
■■ Potential voting rights of the company, other shareholders, other holders of voting rights, and other

parties,
■■ Rights from other contractual relationships, and
■■ Additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the company does or does not have the present
possibility of determining the primary activities at those dates on which decisions must be made, taking
into account the voting behavior at earlier shareholder or general meetings.
As a general rule, subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements by way of full consolidation
from the time when the Group obtained control over or the ability to control the subsidiary. They are deconsolidated as of the date when the Group no longer has control or the ability to control, meaning that the Group
derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, as well as any shares of other shareholders and other
elements of the subsidiary’s equity, as of this date. The profit or loss and every component of other comprehensive income must be assigned to the shareholders of AURELIUS SE and the non-controlling interests. This
also applies if the non-controlling interests show a negative balance.
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All revenues, other operating income and expenses, receivables, liabilities and provisions between fully consolidated companies, as well as intermediate profits on internal transactions within the Group that are not
generated on sales to third parties, are eliminated in full in the context of consolidation. The results of
companies that are fully consolidated or deconsolidated for the first time in the past financial year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as of the date when the power to control
the respective companies is obtained or lost.
The shares of consolidated equity and the share of the period profit or loss and comprehensive income that
are attributable to non-controlling interests are presented separately from the shares attributable to shareholders of AURELIUS SE.
The separate financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared by application of uniform recognition and
measurement methods, as are the separate financial statements of the parent company.

11.1.3 Change in the investment share of existing subsidiaries
Changes in the investment ratios of the Group in portfolio companies that do not lead to a loss of control over
such a company are recognized as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the shares held by the Group
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted in such a way that they reflect the changes in the proportional
shares existing at the subsidiaries. Every difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is immediately recognized in equity
and assigned to the shareholders of Aurelius SE.
When AURELIUS SE loses control over a portfolio company, the remaining equity share is revalued at fair value
and the resulting difference is recognized as deconsolidation profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive
income. The deconsolidation result is calculated from the difference between:
■■ The total amount of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of the retained shares,

and
■■ The carrying amount of the assets including any possible goodwill, the liabilities of the subsidiary, and all

non-controlling interests.
In addition, all amounts presented within the item of other comprehensive income in relation to the respective
company are accounted for in the manner that would be required if the parent company had directly sold the
corresponding assets and liabilities. As a result, any profit or loss that had formerly been recognized in other
comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss for the period.
If AURELIUS would retain shares in the former portfolio company, they would be recognized at the fair value
determined at the date of loss of control. This value represents the acquisition costs of the shares, which are
measured according to IAS 39 or the regulations for associated or joint venture companies depending on the
degree of control in subsequent periods.
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11.1.4 Associated companies and joint ventures
Companies over which AURELIUS can exert significant control (associated companies), but which it cannot
control, and companies over which AURELIUS shares control, directly or indirectly, with another company
( joint ventures), are accounted for by application of the equity method, in accordance with IAS 28 (2011).
Significant influence is the possibility of cooperating in making the financial and business policy decisions of
the company in which the investment exists. In this case, neither control nor joint management of the decision-making processes exists. A joint venture is a joint agreement in which the parties that jointly exercise
control have rights to the net assets of the agreement. Joint management is the contractually established,
jointly exercised management of an agreement. This only exists when decisions on the primary activities
require unanimous consent of the parties participating in the joint management.
In such cases, AURELIUS generally holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Upon initial recognition, such companies are measured at acquisition cost; in subsequent periods, the carrying amount is increased or decreased by the share of the associated company’s or joint venture’s profit or loss attributable to
AURELIUS, less dividends paid to AURELIUS and any impairment losses. The regulations of IAS 39 are consulted
to determine whether indicators exist that the shares in associated companies or joint ventures have been
impaired. If an impairment test must be carried out, the net carrying amount including any goodwill is tested
for impairment according to the regulations of IAS 36. For this purpose, the recoverable amount, that is, the
higher of the value in use or the fair value less costs to sell of the investment are compared with the net carrying amount. The calculated need for impairments is offset against the net carrying amount. An apportionment of the impairment loss over the carrying amount of the assets contained in the share including goodwill
is not applied. If the recoverable amount should increase again in subsequent periods, then a recovery of value
is applied in conformity with IAS 36.
Differences between the acquisition cost of an investment and the proportional share of the net assets of the
associated company or joint venture company measured at fair value at the acquisition date are recognized in
the same manner as under the acquisition method. There is no listed market price in an active market for the
companies accounted for at equity in the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS. As a general rule, the
recognition and measurement methods of associated companies are adjusted to reflect the uniform, Groupwide recognition and measurement methods of AURELIUS, so as to ensure uniform Group-wide accounting.
If the investment in an associated company becomes an investment in a joint venture, or vice versa, AURELIUS
continues to apply the equity method and does not apply any revaluation to fair value due to the change in the
nature of the investment. Insofar as the investment ratio of the Group in an associated company or joint venture company changes, but the Group continues to apply the equity method, the share of the profit or loss
previously recognized in other comprehensive income that is allocated to the reduction in the investment ratio
is reclassified with an effect on expenses or income if this profit or loss would have to be reclassified with an
effect on profit or loss in case of sale of the related assets and liabilities.
Profits and losses on transactions between Group companies and associated companies or joint venture companies are eliminated in the amount of the proportional share of equity held in the joint venture. Unrealized losses
are likewise eliminated, unless the transaction is indicative of an impairment of the transferred asset.
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11.1.5 Joint operations
A joint operation is a joint agreement in which the parties that exercise joint management possess rights to
the assets and have obligations for the liabilities of the agreement. Joint management is the contractually
established, jointly exercised management of an agreement. This only exists in those cases in which decisions
on the primary activities require unanimous consent of the parties participating in the joint management.
Insofar as a Group company carries out activities in the context of a joint operation, AURELIUS recognizes the
following items as a jointly active party in connection with its share in the operation:
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The degree of completion is determined as follows:
■■ Set-up fees for software are recognized based on the ratio of the time that has passed at the reporting

date to the entire period expected for the installation.
■■ Service fees that are included in the price of the products sold are recognized based on their ratio to the

overall service of the product sold.
■■ Income from contracts settled on a time and materials basis are recognized at the contractually stipulated
rates for working hours and directly incurred costs.

■■ Its assets, including the share of jointly held assets,
■■ Its liabilities, including its share of jointly incurred liabilities,

11.2.3 Usage fees

■■ Its proceeds from the sale of its share in the products or services of the joint operation,

Income from usage fees (licenses) are recognized on a period accrual basis, in accordance with the provisions
of the underlying contract if the usage fees are based on production, sales, or other measures. Otherwise,
the income from usage fees is recognized on an annual basis in conformity with the economic substance of
the relevant agreement. This requires that it is probable that the economic benefit will accrue to the Group
and the revenues can be reliably determined.

■■ Its share in the proceeds from the sale of the products or services of the joint operation, and
■■ Its expenses, including its share of jointly incurred expenses.

The Group recognizes the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in connection with its share in the joint
operation in conformity with the IFRS regulations applicable to these assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

11.2.4 Dividends and interest income
In case of transactions such as the sale of assets by a Group company, profits and losses are only recognized to
the extent of the Group share in the joint operation upon resale of the assets to third parties.

11.2 Revenue recognition
Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or to be received, after deduction of discounts, customer returns, sales tax and liquor tax and other taxes related to the sale. However, the sales tax or
other kinds of tax are deducted from revenues only when AURELIUS is not the economic tax debtor, as in the case
of pass-through taxes. Revenues between Group companies are eliminated.

11.2.1 Sale of goods
Revenues generated on the sale of goods are recognized when (1) the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred by the Group to the buyer, (2) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, (3) it is sufficiently probable that the economic benefits associated with the sale will flow to the Group, (4) the costs incurred
or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably, and (5) the selling company retains neither a right
of disposition to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold.
There are no revenues in the Group from sales within the scope of multi-component contracts.

11.2.2 Provision of services
Revenues generated on the sale of services are recognized with reference to the date when the services were
rendered (proportion of value-added), provided that it is sufficiently probable that economic benefits will flow
to the company and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. A reliable estimate is always possible
when the revenues and the related expenses incurred or still to be incurred for the transaction and the degree
of completion can be reliably determined.
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Interest income and expenses are recognized in the corresponding period, with due consideration given to the
outstanding loan amount and the interest rate to be applied in accordance with the effective interest method as
set forth in IAS 39. The interest rate to be applied upon initial recognition is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying
amount of the asset.
Dividend income is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive the dividend has been legally established,
as by way of a dividend resolution, for example. This requires that it is probable for the economic benefit will
accrue to the Group and the revenues can be reliably determined.

11.2.5 Construction contracts
If the outcome and the percentage of completion of a construction contract can be measured reliably and if the
future receipt of revenues is sufficiently certain, the income and expenses are recognized in proportion to the
percentage of completion at the reporting date, in accordance with IAS 11. The method applied by AURELIUS to
determine the percentage of completion is the so-called cost-to-cost method. The percentage of completion is
calculated as the ratio of contract costs incurred up to the reporting date to the total estimated contract costs.
This method is only one of the methods allowed for determining the percentage of completion. Other methods
such as, for example, efforts expected, contract milestones or units produced or delivered are not applied.
Contract revenue also includes revenues generated on alterations in the original contract work, plus claims and
incentive payments in the agreed amount. For all ongoing construction contracts, the gross amount due from
customers is recognized as an asset, provided that the costs incurred, including the profits recognized to date, are
higher than the sum of partial invoices plus the sum of losses recognized to date. If, on the other hand, a gross
amount is due to the customer under an ongoing construction contract, a liability is recognized. Amounts received
prior to performance of construction work are recognized in the statement of financial position as liabilities under
Advance payments received. Amounts billed for work already performed that have not yet been paid by the
customer are presented under Other financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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If the outcome of a construction contract cannot be measured reliably, the contract revenues are recognized only
in the amount of contract costs incurred that are probably recoverable, based on the zero-profit method. Furthermore, contract costs are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. If it is probable that the
total contract costs will exceed the total contract revenues, the anticipated loss is recognized immediately as an
expense.

11.3 Income taxes
Total income tax expenses are calculated as the sum of current tax expenses and deferred taxes. Both types of
tax expenses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, unless they are imposed on items that
are recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income, in which case the corresponding taxes are
also recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. When current or deferred taxes arise from
the initial recognition of a business combination, the tax effects are included in the accounting treatment of
the business combination.

11.3.1 Current taxes
For the purpose of measuring current German taxes, a uniform corporate income tax rate of 15 percent is
applied to distributed and retained earnings and a solidarity surtax rate of 5.5 percent is applied to that
amount. That yields a tax rate of 15.83 percent. In addition, the German trade tax is imposed on profits earned
in Germany. The trade tax is based on the assessment rates of the various municipalities and the basic federal
rate, which is a flat rate of 3.5 percent according to the business tax reform of 2008 in Section 11 (2) GewStG.
The trade tax varies, depending on the different assessment rates of the municipalities, but a flat rate of
14.49 percent is applied in the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed every year at the reporting date and adjustments are
made when necessary. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates that apply or are expected to
apply when the liability is settled or the asset is recovered, based on tax laws that have been enacted as of the
reporting date. The measured value of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences of the
manner in which AURELIUS expects as of the reporting date to settle the liability or recover the asset. As a general
rule, deferred taxes are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, except in the case of items that
are recognized directly in equity.

11.4 Foreign currency
The items presented in the present consolidated financial statements are measured on the basis of the currency of the primary economic environment, also known as the “functional currency.” It is the currency in
which the respective company operates. By reason of the financial, economic and organizational autonomy
of the foreign subsidiaries, the functional currency is identical to the national currency in all cases.
By contrast, the consolidated financial statements are denominated in euros, as the functional currency of
AURELIUS SE. Unless otherwise stated, all figures are presented in euro thousands.
The items presented in the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of all
Group companies that have a different functional currency than the Group’s reporting currency are translated
to the reporting currency as follows:
■■ Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate on the respective reporting date, while equity is

translated at historical exchange rates.
The profits earned by the non-German Group companies are calculated on the basis of the national tax laws
applicable in each country and taxed at the tax rates in effect in those countries. The country-specific tax
rates range from 10 to 40 percent. The Group tax rate is 30.3 percent, unchanged from the prior year. Current
tax expenses are calculated on the basis of the taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from
the net profit presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as a result of the expenses
and income that will be taxable or tax-exempt in later years, or never. The Group’s liability for current taxes
is calculated on the basis of the tax rates currently in effect or to be in effect in the near future.

11.3.2 Deferred taxes
Deferred tax liabilities in respect of temporary differences related to the Group’s investments in subsidiaries and
associates are recognized in the consolidated financial statements, unless the Group is able to control the timing
of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, based on the control exerted by the Group. Deferred taxes represent the tax liabilities or
assets expected to result from differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements according to IFRS and the tax bases of those assets and liabilities. The liability method, which is
oriented to the statement of financial position, is applied for that purpose. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized in respect of all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available in the future. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should be
netted when the conditions of IAS 12 are met, that is, when the reporting entity has a legal right to settle on a
net basis and when the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities refer to income taxes that are levied by
the same taxing authority on the same entity or on different entities that intend to recover the asset and settle
the liability at the same time.
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■■ The income and expenses presented in the statement of comprehensive income are translated at the

average exchange rate.
■■ Currency translation differences are recognized in equity, in a separate sub-item within the other reserves.

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate on the transaction date. The profits and losses
arising on such transactions and on currency translation at the reporting date of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, unless they are to
be recognized in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges.
Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the translation of cash and cash equivalents and financial
liabilities are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within the item of net financial income/
expenses, affecting net income. All other foreign currency gains and losses are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income within the item of other income or other expenses.
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The exchange rates applied for currency translation are presented in the table below (equivalent to 1 euro).
Where no prior-year exchange rates are presented, the corresponding currencies were necessary to the Group
for the last time in the prior year and for the first time in the current year:
2015
1 Euro

Currency
code

Argentina
Australia

2014

Exchange rate at
the reporting date

Average
exchange rate

Exchange rate at
the reporting date

Average
exchange rate

ARS

14.1243

10.2145

10.3769

10.4287

AUD

1.4945

1.4756

1.4903

1.4723

Brazil

BRL

4.3234

3.6483

3.2669

3.1230

Bulgaria

BGN

1.9662

1.9600

-/-

-/-

Chile

CLP

769.2308

714.2857

714.2857

769.2308

Denmark

DKK

7.4627

7.4571

-/-

-/-

United Kingdom

GBP

0.7369

0.7262

0.7827

0.8062

Hong Kong

HKD

8.4531

8.6059

9.4340

10.2987

India

INR

72.4638

71.4286

77.5194

81.3008

Japan

JPY

131.5789

135.1351

144.9275

140.8451

Canada

CAD

1.5131

1.4174

1.4136

1.4661

Malaysia

MYR

4.6992

4.3159

4.2589

4.3440

Morocco

MAD

10.8932

10.8932

-/-

-/-

Norway

NOK

9.6154

8.9445

-/-

-/-

Poland

PLN

4.2662

4.1859

4.3066

4.1876

Romania

RON

4.5331

4.4504

-/-

-/-

Sweden

SEK

9.1912

9.3633

-/-

-/-

Switzerland

CHF

1.0828

1.0675

1.2029

1.2148

Singapore

SGD

1.5434

1.5256

1.6090

1.6824

South Korea

KRW

1,250.0000

1,250.0000

1,428.5714

1,428.5714

Taiwan

TWD

35.9712

35.3357

-/-

-/-

Thailand

THB

39.3701

38.0228

40.0000

43.1034

Turkey

TRY

3.1857

3.0111

2.8247

2.9044

Czech Republic

CZK

27.0270

27.3224

27.7008

27.5482

Hungary

HUF

312.5000

312.5000

312.5000

312.5000

USA

USD

1.0908

1.1096

1.2157

1.3271

United Arab Emirates

AED

4.0064

4.0766

4.4587

4.4587

People’s Republic of China

CNY

7.0822

6.9204

7.4794

8.1566

None of the currencies used within the Group are the currencies of hyperinflationary economies within the
meaning of IAS 29.

11.5 Earnings per share
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 33, basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the consolidated
profit after taxes to which the shareholders of the parent company are entitled by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings per share are presented when the
Group has issued equity instruments that could lead to a higher number of shares in the future, in addition to
the common and preferred shares outstanding at the given reporting date. Calculation of the diluted earnings
per share is carried out using the assumption that all potentially diluting securities and share-based compensation plans are converted or exercised.
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11.6 Research and development costs
Costs incurred in connection with the attainment of new technical and/or scientific knowledge (research
activities) are always recognized as expenses in the full amount. On the other hand, costs of development
activities, meaning activities by means of which research results are implemented in the form of a plan and/
or a prototype for the production of new or substantially improved products or processes, must be capitalized. The necessary preconditions for recognizing an internally generated intangible asset resulting from the
development activity or from the development phase of an internal project are the following: (1) The costs
attributable to the development of the intangible asset can be measured reliably; (2) The research phase can
be distinguished from the development phase; (3) The technical and commercial feasibility has been established, so that the asset can be made ready for use or sale; (4) The reporting entity is able and has the intention to use or sell the asset; (5) Sufficient technical, financial and other resources are available to complete
the development phase; and (6) The inflow of future economic benefits is probable.
Capitalizable costs include all directly allocable costs required to create, produce and prepare the asset for
its intended use. As a general rule, that includes material costs, manufacturing wages and directly allocable
overhead costs. All other development costs are recognized as expenses.
The amount at which an internally generated intangible asset is measured upon initial recognition represents
the sum of costs incurred from the date on which the intangible asset fulfills the above-mentioned conditions for the first time. If an internally generated intangible asset cannot be capitalized, or if there is no
intangible asset, the development costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.
Capitalized development costs are presented in the Statement of Changes in Non-current Assets within the
item of “Other intangible assets;” they are measured at historical production cost, less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairments from subsequent periods.

11.7 Leases
Leases are classified either as finance leases or operating leases. They are classified as finance leases when,
by virtue of the lease’s contractual terms and conditions, substantially all the risks and awards incident to
ownership of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. The primary criteria to be examined for the purpose of classifying finance leases are the contractual clauses applicable to the transfer of ownership, the
existence of a favorable purchase option, the ratio of the lease term to the useful life of the leased asset, the
present value of minimum lease payments and/or the degree of specialization of the leased assets. Leases
that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership are operating leases.
In the case of finance leases, the company recognizes both an asset and a liability of equal amount, at the
beginning of the lease term. This amount is measured as either the fair value of the leased assets or the
discounted present value of the minimum lease payments, whichever is lower, plus any incidental costs assumed by the lessee. The corresponding liability due to the lessor is presented as an obligation under finance
leases in the consolidated statement of financial position. The lease payments are apportioned between the
interest expenses and repayment of the lease obligation in such a way as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Interest expenses are recognized directly in the statement
of comprehensive income, unless they can be clearly attributed to a qualifying asset. In this case, interest
expenses are capitalized as borrowing costs in accordance with the Group’s internal guidelines. Contingent
lease payments are recognized as expenses in the period in which they occur.
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11.9.2 Intangible assets acquired in connection with a business combination

The depreciation methods and useful lives applied to leased assets under finance leases are the same as those
applied to similar purchased assets. If at the inception of the lease it is not sufficiently certain that ownership will
be transferred to the lessee, the asset should be depreciated in full over the shorter of the lease term or the useful
life of the leased asset.

Intangible assets acquired in the context of a business combination under IFRS 3 are recognized separately from
goodwill and measured at fair value at the acquisition date. This may include, inter alia: Customer relationships
and base, orders on hand, technologies, brand rights, etc.

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized as expenses (rent payments) over the term of the lease.
Lease payments are generally recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefit to the Group. Contingent rent
payments are recognized as expenses in the period in which they occur.

They are recognized as an intangible asset according to IAS 38, measured at fair values and amortized over their
expected useful lives. So-called “umbrella brands” representing a family of brands have indefinite useful lives.
Consequently, they are not amortized, but are subjected to an annual impairment test and written down to their
recoverable amount when necessary.

11.8 Borrowing costs

When so-called “triggering events,” meaning indications of a possible impairment, occur during the year, an
impairment test is conducted already at that time and the goodwill is written down to the recoverable amount, if
necessary.

Borrowing costs are added to the acquisition cost only in the case of certain assets known as qualifying assets.
According to IAS 23.8 ff., borrowing costs should be capitalized in full or proportionately when they can be
attributed directly or indirectly to the funds borrowed for the purpose of financing the acquisition or production
of the asset. Qualifying assets are those assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale. Such assets may include factory equipment and land or buildings held as investment property. If, however, the assets are manufactured on a repetitive basis or over a short period of time, they may not
be classified as qualifying assets.
Income earned from interim investment of debt accepted for special purposes until it is spent for qualified assets
is subtracted from the borrowing costs that can be capitalized. All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit
or loss in the period in which they occur.

11.9 Intangible assets
11.9.1 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of acquisition costs of a business combination over the
Group’s proportionate share of the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities
of a subsidiary at the acquisition date (net assets). Upon initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost; in
subsequent periods, it is measured at cost minus accumulated impairments. In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not subjected to systematic amortization; instead, it is subjected to an annual impairment test according
to IAS 36.
For purposes of the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units (CGUs) or groups of
cash-generating units based on identified operating segments that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the business combination on which the goodwill arose. When necessary, the CGUs must be written down to their
recoverable amounts and the corresponding impairments must be recognized in profit or loss (“impairment-
only approach”). Any impairment loss in excess of the full impairment of goodwill is allocated proportionately
to the other assets on the basis of the carrying amounts of each asset in proportion to the total carrying
amount of the assets within the cash-generating unit. When so-called “triggering events,” meaning indications
of a possible impairment, occur during the year, an impairment test is conducted already at that time and the
goodwill is written down to the recoverable amount, if necessary. This means that it may be necessary to carry
out impairment tests more frequently during the year. For that purpose, the recoverable amount is the higher
of the fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be generated from the
continued use of the asset in question. A subsequent reversal of impairment losses recognized in goodwill is
not permitted. When a subsidiary or joint venture is sold, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on the sale.
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11.9.3 Other separately acquired intangible assets
Purchased patents, licenses and trademarks that are not acquired in connection with business combinations,
as well as other intangible assets, are measured at their historical acquisition or production costs. They have
determinable useful lives. They are measured at their acquisition or production costs, minus accumulated
amortization and impairments. The amortizations are expensed on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life. The expected useful lives and the amortization method applied are reviewed at the every reporting
date and all changes in estimates are taken into consideration prospectively.

11.9.4 Internally generated intangible assets
In the case of internally generated intangible assets, IAS 38 makes a distinction between the research phase and
the development phase. Costs incurred during the research phase may not be capitalized, but must be charged to
expense. On the other hand, costs incurred during the development phase must be capitalized, provided that the
reporting entity demonstrably fulfills all six objectification criteria set out in IAS 38.57 ff. (See also Note 11.6 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.)

11.9.5 Impairments of intangible assets
Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Amortization begins from the time when the intangible asset is ready for use. The useful lives
are as follows:
■■ Customer base, customer relationships: 5 - 8 years,
■■ Brands, brand rights: 5 - 10 years (some with indefinite useful lives)
■■ Technologies: 3 - 7 years,
■■ Orders on hand: 1 - 2 years,
■■ Software and licenses: 1 - 10 years,
■■ Patents, utility designs, trademarks, publishing rights, copyrights and performance rights: 3 - 5 years,
■■ ERP software and Internet domain names: 5 - 15 years,
■■ Copyrighted software: 3 - 10 years.
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Depending on the type of intangible asset, the expected useful lives of customer bases or customer relationships
are determined on the basis of the extrapolated average cancellation rate and the average term of the individual
user agreements.
The expected useful lives and the amortization method applied are reviewed at the end of every financial year
and all changes in estimates are taken into consideration prospectively. If there are signs of impairment, depreciable intangible assets are subjected to an impairment test and, if appropriate, written down to the recoverable
amount within the meaning of IAS 36.
For intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or those that are not yet available for use, an impairment test is
carried out at least annually and always when there is an indication of an impairment.

11.9.6 Write-off of intangible assets
Intangible assets must be written off at disposal or when no further economic use is expected from their use
or their disposal. The profit or loss from the write-off of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net realizable value and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognized in the statement of comprehensive
income at the time the asset is written off. Recognition occurs in other income or other expenses.

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

11.10.1 Impairments of property, plant and equipment
While land is not subjected to systematic depreciation, all other items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated in a manner that reflects their loss of economic value. Buildings are deemed to have useful lives of
between ten and 50 years. Under normal usage conditions, operational devices, operational equipment and
office equipment are deemed to have useful lives of between three and ten years. Machinery and technical
plant and equipment are depreciated over useful lives of two to 15 years.
The depreciation occurs in such a way that the acquisition and production costs less their residual values are
generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. The residual values and economic lives are
reviewed every year on the reporting date and adjusted as necessary. All necessary changes in estimates are
taken into consideration prospectively. If the carrying amount of a tangible asset exceeds the recoverable
amount, an impairment loss is recognized, in addition to systematic depreciation, in order to lower the carrying
amount to the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell (net
selling price) and the present value of the net cash flows expected to result from the continued use of the
asset. Whenever possible, the net selling price is derived from the most recently observed market transactions.
Profits and losses from disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between
the proceeds of sale and the carrying amounts of the property, plant and equipment and recognized in the
item of Other income or Other expenses in the profit or loss for the period.

11.10 Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition or production cost, minus accumulated
straight-line depreciation and accumulated impairments. Production cost comprises all costs that are directly
allocable to the production process. That also includes appropriate proportions of production-related overhead
costs; on the other hand, borrowing costs are usually not capitalized. Borrowing costs are added to the acquisition
cost only in the case of certain assets known as qualifying assets. According to IAS 23.8 ff., borrowing costs should
be capitalized in full or proportionately when they can be attributed directly or indirectly to the funds borrowed
for the purpose of financing the acquisition or production of the asset. Qualifying assets are those assets that
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. Such assets may include factory
equipment and land or buildings held as investment property. If, however, the assets are manufactured on a
repetitive basis or over a short period of time, they may not be classified as qualifying assets.
Subsequent acquisition or production costs are added to the acquisition or production cost of a tangible asset
only when it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group as a result and when the costs can be
measured reliably. Maintenance costs, i.e., expenses for repairs and maintenance that do not represent any
material replacement investment (day-to-day servicing) are recognized as expenses in the reporting period,
whereas the costs of measures that expand the capacity or improve the use of a tangible asset are capitalized,
as a general rule.
Assets of property, plant and equipment under construction are assigned to an appropriate category within
property, plant and equipment upon completion and achieving operational status. Depreciation of these
assets begins on an identical basis to other assets upon achieving operational status.

If it is not possible to estimate the expected future cash flows for an individual asset, the expected future cash
flows for the next-higher group of assets is estimated and discounted to present value by application of a
risk-adjusted discount factor, and then the recoverable amount is allocated proportionately to the carrying
amounts of the individual assets.

11.10.2 Write-off of property, plant and equipment
A tangible asset is written off upon disposal or when no future economic use is expected from the continued use
of the asset. The profit or loss from the sale or decommissioning of an asset of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. It is recognized in
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income.

11.11 Government grants
Government grants are forms of assistance that can be granted to an enterprise in the form of financial resources and serve as compensation for the past or future fulfillment of certain conditions related to the operating activities of the enterprise. Other forms of government assistance that cannot be measured reliably or
business dealings with government entities that cannot be distinguished from the company’s normal activities
are not covered by the definition of government grants. By contrast, other forms of government assistance are
defined as measures that serve the purpose of granting an economic advantage to one or more companies,
subject to the fulfillment of certain criteria, as opposed to advantages created indirectly through measures
that influence general economic conditions.
The recipient of government grants should recognize them as consideration for the past or future fulfillment of
certain conditions attached to the grant only when the company in question has fulfilled those conditions and
the grant is received. According to IAS 20, it must be reasonably assured that both conditions will be met.

12 0 I

AU RE L I U S A N N UA L R E P O RT

AU RE L I U S A N N UA L RE PO RT

I 1 21

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

According to IAS 20, any contingent liabilities or contingent assets arising in connection with government
grants that have already been recognized must be accounted for in accordance with IAS 37. Applying the income
approach, government grants are properly recognized as income on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognizes the corresponding expenses that the grants are intended to compensate. The
AURELIUS Group does not exercise the option set forth in IAS 20 of recognition in equity (the capital approach)
with no effect on income. Government grants that are paid as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for immediate financial support without future related expenses are recognized in the statement
of comprehensive income in the period in which the corresponding claim arises.
With regard to the presentation of an asset in the statement of financial position, the AURELIUS Group recognizes the grant as deferred income. The AURELIUS Group does not exercise the option of deducting the grant
from the carrying amount of the asset; thus, any asset acquired with the aid of government grants is always
measured at the full purchase price and the amount of the government grant is recognized as deferred income.
In addition, government grants are presented as other income and not reduced by the amount of costs related
to the grant.
Any repayment of government grants, due to non-fulfillment of contractual conditions, for example, must be
accounted for as a change in estimates according to IAS 8. Furthermore, any such repayment must be deducted
from the deferred income that has not yet been reversed and recognized in profit or loss; if the repayment
amount exceeds the amount of deferred income, the latter is charged to expense.
The benefit of a government loan at an interest rate below the market interest rate is treated as a government
grant and measured as the difference between the payments received and the fair value of a loan at the
market interest rate.

11.12 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognized when a Group company is a contractual party to a financial instrument. Financial
assets are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs are recognized only in case of financial assets not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. In the case of financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs are recognized as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. If the trade date
differs from the settlement date, the settlement date is applied for purposes of initial recognition. In subsequent
periods, financial assets are divided into various categories; their classification depends on the purpose for which
they were acquired, occurs at the time of acquisition, and is reviewed at every reporting date. Depending on the
classification, financial assets are measured either at amortized cost or fair value. The recognition and write-off of
financial assets occurs on the trade date when financial assets are involved whose delivery occurs within the
period customary for the market in question.

11.12.1 Classification and measurement
The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortized cost of a debt instrument and to allocate interest
income to the respective periods. The effective interest rate is the rate of interest that is necessary to discount the
estimated future cash flows (including all fees that are part of the effective interest rate, as well as transaction
costs and other premiums and discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or a shorter period
where applicable, to equal the net carrying amount upon initial recognition. The income earned on debt instruments is recognized on the basis of the effective interest rate. An exception to this rule is made for financial
instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

12 2 I

AU RE L I U S A N N UA L R E P O RT

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

Financial assets are assigned to one of the following categories:
■■ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
■■ Financial assets held to maturity
■■ Available-for-sale financial assets
■■ Loans and receivables.

11.12.1.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises two sub-categories: Financial assets classified as held for trading from the beginning and
financial assets designated from the beginning as at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is assigned
to this category when it was acquired with the basic intention to resell it in the short-term future or when it was
designated as such by the management. Derivatives are also assigned to this category if they do not qualify as
hedges. The financial assets assigned to this category are presented as current when they are either held for sale
or when it is expected that they will be recovered within twelve months of the reporting date.
A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading (1) when it was acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in
the near term, or (2) when it is, upon initial recognition, part of a portfolio of clearly identified financial instruments that are managed together by the Group, and for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term
profit-taking, or (3) when it is a derivative that has not been designated as a hedging instrument, is not effective
as such and is also not a financial guarantee contract.
A financial asset can be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss when (1) such a
designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement and recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise occur, or when (2) the financial asset is part of a group of financial assets and/or financial liabilities that are
managed in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, when changes in value are
assessed on the basis of fair value, and when information about this portfolio is provided internally on this basis,
or when (3) the asset is part of a contract that covers one or more embedded derivatives, and can be designated
as at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IAS 39.
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are recognized at fair value. Any gain or loss arising
from the measurement is recognized in profit or loss. The recognized net gain or loss includes any dividends and
interest of the financial asset and is disclosed in the item Other income or Other expenses in the Group’s statement of comprehensive income.

11.12.1.2 Financial assets held to maturity
Financial assets held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed terms that the management of the Group intends and is able to hold to maturity. Loans are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are initially
measured at fair value and subsequently calculates at amortized cost in accordance with the effective interest
method, less any impairments. If loans are due in more than 12 months, they are presented as non-current assets.
They are presented as current financial assets if they are due in twelve months or less of the reporting date. With
the exception of current receivables, the interest effect of which would be immaterial, interest income is recognized on the basis of the effective interest method.
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11.12.1.3 Financial assets available for sale
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that have not been assigned to any of the
other categories. They are presented as non-current financial assets when the management does not intend to
sell them within twelve months of the reporting date and when the asset in question will not mature within that
period of time.
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the settlement date, that being the day when the
company undertook an obligation to purchase or sell the asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, available-forsale financial assets and financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value.
Loans and receivables and financial assets held to maturity are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
Unrealized gains or losses arising from the change in fair value of non-monetary securities classified as availablefor-sale financial assets are recognized as other comprehensive income. When securities classified as availablefor-sale financial assets are sold or impaired, the accumulated changes in fair value that had been recognized in
equity are recognized as profits or losses from financial assets in the period profit or loss.
The fair value of quoted shares is determined on the basis of current market prices. If there is no active market for
financial assets or the assets are not listed on an organized exchange, the fair value is determined by means of
appropriate methods, including reference to the prices of recently conducted transactions between independent
business partners, the application of current market prices of other assets that are basically similar to the asset
in question, discounted cash flow methods or option price models, which take into consideration the specific
circumstances of the issuer.
When a financial asset classified as available for sale is deemed to be impaired, the profits and losses that had
previously been recognized in the other comprehensive income section of equity must be reclassified as profits or
losses in the statement of comprehensive income. If in subsequent periods the impairment of a financial asset
that is not an available-for-sale equity instrument is reduced, and if the reduction can be objectively attributed to
an event that occurred after the recognition of the impairment loss, the previously recognized impairment is
reversed and recognized in the period profit or loss. However, such reversals may not lead to a carrying amount
that is higher than the amortized cost would have been if no impairment loss had been recognized.
In the case of equity instruments classified as available for sale, impairment losses recognized in prior periods
may not be reversed and recognized in profit or loss. Any increase in the fair value after a previous impairment is
recognized in other comprehensive income.

11.12.1.4 Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Receivables are constituted when the Group delivers money, goods or services
directly to a borrower without the intention of trading the corresponding receivables. Depending on the term
to maturity, they are classified as non-current or current assets. Loans and receivables are presented within the
items of trade receivables and other financial assets in the statement of financial position.
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Non-interest-bearing or low-interest-bearing loans and receivables are discounted to present value. Loans and
receivables denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the reporting currency at the exchange rate in
effect on the reporting date. Any writedowns charged on the basis of probable default risks are recognized in the
form of valuation allowances. Cash is composed of bank balances and cash on hand, whereas cash equivalents
refer to highly liquid, short-term securities with terms to maturity of no more than three months at the time
of being purchased. Items denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the reporting currency at the
exchange rate in effect on the respective reporting date.

11.12.2 Impairment of financial assets
With the exception of financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss, financial assets are examined for possible indicators of impairment at every reporting date. Financial assets are considered impaired
when, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset in question, there
is an objective indication that the expected future payment flows from the financial asset have undergone a
negative change.
For equity capital investments that were classified as available-for-sale, a significant or lasting decrease in the
fair value of the assets below their acquisition costs must be seen as an objective indication of an impairment.
For all other financial assets, objective indications for an impairment may exist as follows: (1) Considerable
financial difficulties of the issuer or the counterparty, (2) A breach of contract such as a default or completion of
interest and principal payments, (3) an increased probability that the borrower will commence insolvency or a
similar reorganization process, or (4) the disappearance of an active market for this financial asset caused by
financial difficulties.
For some categories of financial assets, for instance the trade receivables, for which no impairment is determined on a case-by-case basis, a review of impairment occurs at the portfolio level. Objective indications for
an impairment of a portfolio of receivables may include the Group’s experience with incoming payments in
the past, an increase in the frequency of defaults within the portfolio beyond the average credit term, and
observable changes in the national or local economic environment that shows a relationship with defaults
on receivables.
In case of financial assets measured at amortized costs, the impairment expense corresponds to the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the expected future payment flows calculated using the original effective interest rate of the financial asset.
In case of financial assets measured at acquisition costs, the impairment expense corresponds to the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the expected future payment flows calculated using the current market return of a comparable financial asset. Such impairments are not permitted to
be reversed in subsequent periods.
An impairment leads to a direct reduction in the carrying amount of all affected financial assets except for
trade receivables, whose carrying amount is reduced using an impairment account. If an impaired trade receivable is deemed uncollectable, it is charged against the impairment account. Subsequent inpayments on
amounts already recorded as impairments are likewise posted against the impairment account. Changes to the
carrying amount of the impairment account are recognized in profit or loss through the Group’s statement of
comprehensive income.
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When a financial asset classified as available for sale is deemed to be impaired, the profits and losses that had
previously been recognized in the other comprehensive income section of equity must be reclassified as profits or
losses in the statement of comprehensive income.
If in subsequent financial years the impairment of a financial asset measured at amortized costs is reduced, and if
the reduction can be objectively attributed to an event that occurred after the recognition of the impairment loss,
the previously recognized impairment is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income. However,
any write-up is not permitted to exceed the amount that would have resulted upon amortization of the acquisition costs without impairment.
In the case of equity instruments classified as for sale, impairment losses recognized in prior periods may not be
reversed and recognized in profit or loss. Any increase in the fair value after a previous impairment is recognized
in other comprehensive income.
In the case of debt instruments classified as for sale, impairments recognized in profit or loss in the past are
reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods insofar as an increase in the fair value can be attributed to an
event that occurred after recognition of the impairment.

11.12.3 Write-off of financial assets
The Group only writes off a financial asset when the contractual rights to the payment flows from the financial
asset expire or when it transfers the financial asset as well as essentially all of the opportunities and risks connected with the ownership of the asset to a third party.
Insofar as AURELIUS nether transfers nor retains essentially all of the opportunities and risks connected with
the ownership, but continues to have the power to dispose of the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its
remaining share of the assets and a corresponding liability in the amount that must possibly be paid. If all of
the opportunities and risks connected with the ownership of a financial asset to be transferred are retained,
the Group continues to recognize the financial asset as well as a secured loan for the consideration received.
In case of full write-off of a financial asset, the delta between the carrying amount and the sum of the remuneration received or to be received and all cumulative profits or losses that were recognized in other comprehensive
income and collected in equity are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. In case of incomplete
write-off, for instance when AURELIUS retains an option to repurchase a portion of the transferred asset, the
Group divides the former carrying amount of the financial asset between the portion that continues to be recognized by the Group according to the ongoing engagement and the portion that the Group no longer recognizes
based on the relative fair values of these portions on the transfer date. The difference between the carrying
amount that was allocated to the portion no longer recognized and the sum of the remuneration received for the
portion no longer recognized and all accumulated gains and losses allocated to it that were recognized in other
comprehensive income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Any accumulated gain or loss
that was recognized in other comprehensive income is divided between the portion that continues to be recognized and the component that is no longer recognized based on the relative fair values of these portions.
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11.13 Factoring
According to IAS 39, a distinction must be made between non-recourse factoring and recourse factoring. If the
default risk associated with the receivable is transferred to the buyer (non-recourse factoring), the receivable is
derecognized. If, on the other hand, the non-payment risk associated with the receivable remains with the seller
(recourse factoring), the receivable may not be derecognized. Payments received under recourse factoring
arrangements are deemed to be secured borrowings and are therefore recognized as liabilities.
If the default risk is divided between the seller and buyer of a receivable, it must be recognized as an asset in the
amount of the seller’s continuing involvement and concurrently as a liability. The amount of the liability is calculated such that the net balance of the asset and liability is equal to the actual amount of the claim or obligation,
respectively.
Any interest income earned from the sale of receivables is recognized in net financial income or expenses, while
any administrative fees incurred are recognized as other expenses.

11.14 Inventories
The line item of inventories comprises raw materials and supplies, down payments rendered, semi-finished
and finished goods and services and purchased goods. All such items are measured at the lower of acquisition
or production cost and the net realizable value at the reporting date. Consumption of inventories is recognized
within the items of purchased goods and services or change in inventories in the statement of comprehensive
income.
Production costs comprise direct material costs and direct manufacturing costs, as well as an appropriate proportion of manufacturing overhead costs. Borrowing costs are added to the acquisition cost only in the case of
certain assets known as qualifying assets. According to IAS 23.8 ff., borrowing costs should be capitalized in full
or proportionately when they can be directly or indirectly attributed to the funds borrowed for the purpose of
financing the acquisition or production of the asset. Examples of qualifying assets are assets that take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. If, however, the assets are manufactured on a
repetitive basis or over a short period of time, they may not be classified as qualifying assets. The same rule
applies to inventories that are ready to sell or use already when they are purchased.
Acquisition or production cost is calculated using the weighted average method. The net realizable value is the
estimated selling price, less production costs still to be incurred and the estimated costs of making the sale. If
the net realizable value so determined is less than the historical acquisition or production costs, the carrying
amount is written down to the lower value. As a general rule, the net realizable value of the final product is
applied. By reason of the orientation to the sales market, raw materials and supplies and semi-finished goods
are written down only when the net realizable value of the finished goods incorporating those items does not
allow for a positive profit margin. If the reasons for such a writedown cease to apply, the writedown is reversed.
In that case, the new carrying amount is equal to the acquisition or production costs or the corrected net
realizable value, whichever is lower.
Inventories resulting from intragroup deliveries are adjusted for intermediate profits and are measured at the
Group’s production cost.
When necessary, writedowns are charged to account for long inventory turnover rates, obsolescence and
reduced salability, subject to the condition that lower selling prices will lead to negative profit margins.
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11.15 Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

11.17.1 Fair-value hedge

Non-current assets (and groups of assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount or their fair value less costs to sell. Systematic depreciation must be discontinued from the time when
they are classified as held for sale. Non-current assets and groups of assets are classified as held for sale when
their carrying amounts will likely be recovered through sale, rather than through continued use. This condition is
only deemed to be fulfilled when a sale is highly probable and when the asset (or group of assets held for sale) can
be sold immediately in its current condition. It is necessary to assume that the selling transaction will be concluded within one year after such a classification. This applies regardless of whether the Group does or does not
retain a non-controlling interest in the former portfolio company after the sale.

Under a fair-value hedge, the hedging instrument is measured at fair value and any changes in fair value are
recognized as income or expenses. The purpose of such fair-value hedges is to hedge the assets and liabilities
presented in the statement of financial position, as well as any obligations that are not recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value. In the case of a perfect hedge, the effects emanating from the hedged
item and the hedging instrument offset each other exactly.

Components of the company that meet the requirements of IFRS 5 are classified as discontinued operations
and presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income and the cash flow statement. All changes
made in the current reporting period to amounts that are directly related to the sale of discontinued operations in one of the prior reporting periods are likewise presented within this separate category. If a component
of the company is no longer classified as held for sale, the profit or loss of this component, which had previously been presented within discontinued operations, is reclassified as continuing operations in all presented
reporting periods.

Changes in fair value of derivatives that are suitable as fair value hedges and have been designated as such
are recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive income, along with the changes in fair value of
the underlying instrument that are attributable to the hedged risk. The changes in fair value of the hedging
instrument and the underlying instrument that are attributed to the hedged risk are presented in the line
item to which the underlying instrument belongs in the statement of comprehensive income.
A hedging relationship is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedge designation, when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or when it is no longer suitable for hedging purposes.
At this time, the adjustments made to the carrying amount of the underlying instrument as a result of the
hedged risk begin to be reversed and recognized in profit or loss.

11.16 Derivative financial instruments

11.17.2 Cash flow hedge

AURELIUS concludes derivative financial instruments in order to manage interest rate risks and currency risks.

Cash-flow hedges are designed to hedge variations in the future cash flows expected to result from the assets
and liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position, or from transactions that are expected to occur in
the future with a high degree of probability, or from the currency risks of a firm contractual obligation. The effective portion of the hedge is recognized in the other comprehensive income of AURELIUS. Such amounts are transferred from other comprehensive income to the period profit or loss in the period when the hedged item is also
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. The ineffective portion of the derivative remaining after
determination of the effectiveness of the hedged item and hedging instrument, as well as any adjustments made
on the basis of interest rate effects, are recognized as other income in the period profit or loss.

These include, for instance, forward exchange deals, interest rate swaps, and currency swaps. Derivative
financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of IAS 39. The derivatives are initially recognized at the date of contract conclusion at their fair value and subsequently measured at fair
value on each reporting date. The profit or loss resulting from the measurement is recognized in profit or
loss unless the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument within the scope of a hedging relationship
(hedge accounting) and is effective.

11.17 Recognition of hedging relationships
When financial instruments are employed for the purpose of hedging the risks associated with future cash
flows or for hedging fair values, IAS 39 allows hedge accounting provided that certain conditions are met. The
purpose is to reduce the volatility of AURELIUS’ period profit or loss. Hedges are classified as fair-value hedges,
cash-flow hedges or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, depending on the type of hedged item.
At the beginning of hedge accounting, the hedging relationship between the underlying and the hedging transaction must be documented, including the risk management goals as well as the business strategy underlying
the conclusion of hedging relationships. Regular documentation is also necessary, both when entering into the
hedging relationship as well as in its further course. In this context, the Group must regularly document, both
when entering into the hedging relationship as well as in its further course, whether the hedging instrument
designated in the hedging relationship is highly effective with regard to compensating for the changes in the
fair value or the payment flows of the underlying transaction according to the hedged risk.

The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the statement of comprehensive income in the same period in which the underlying instrument is to be recognized in profit or loss. These amounts
are presented in the same line item of the statement of comprehensive income as the underlying instrument. If,
however, a hedged expected transaction leads to the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the profits and losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
transferred out of equity and included in the initial measurement of the acquisition costs of the asset or liability.
A hedging relationship is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedge designation, when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or when it is no longer suitable for hedging purposes. The
profit or loss recognized completely in other comprehensive income and accumulated within equity at this
time remains within equity and is recognized in profit or loss only when the expected transaction is also recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. If the expected transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the entire profit recognized in equity is reclassified immediately to the statement of comprehensive income.

11.17.3 Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are recognized in the same manner as cash-flow hedges. All
profits or losses from the hedging instrument that are attributable to the effective portion of the hedging relationship are recognized in other comprehensive income. Profits or losses attributable to the ineffective portion
of a hedging relationship are recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive income and p
 resented
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within the item of other income or expenses. Profits and losses from the hedging instrument that are attributable to the effective portion of the hedging relationship and are accumulated in the currency translation reserve are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income at the time of disposal of the net investment.

11.18 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, demand deposits and other current, highly fungible financial assets
with an original maturity of no more than three months. Such assets are measured at face value. Drawdowns
under overdraft facilities are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within current
financial liabilities as liabilities due to banks.
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Obligations under defined benefit plans are determined separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
benefits to be paid to employees in respect of their work in the current and prior periods. Such defined benefits
are then discounted to present value, from which is deducted the fair value of plan assets. The net interest
expenses or net interest income are calculated by multiplying the net liability or net asset at the start of the
reporting period by the interest rate employed to discount the gross defined benefit obligation at the start of
the reporting period. The factors taken into consideration as part of the projected unit-credit method include
the pension benefits and vested benefits known at the reporting date, as well as expected future increases in
salaries and pension benefits and the expected income from plan assets. The plan assets of AURELIUS are composed of pension liability insurance claims that have been pledged to eligible beneficiaries and other assets
that meet the definition of plan assets according to IAS 19.

11.19 Equity
The shares of the company are classified as equity. An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an enterprise after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are measured at
the amount of issue proceeds collected, minus directly allocable issuance costs, i. e., those costs that are d
 irectly
related to the issuance of new shares or stock options are accounted for in equity on a net basis, and thus that
they are deducted from the issue proceeds after taxes. Issuance costs include all costs that would not have
been incurred if the equity instrument had not been issued. For additional information on the equity of
AURELIUS, please refer to Note 37 ff. of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition to currency translation differences, unrealized gains or losses arising from the market valuation of
available-for-sale assets and financial derivatives that serve to hedge future cash flows (cash flow hedges) or to
hedge a net investment in a foreign operation are recognized not in profit or loss, but in other reserves, in accordance with IAS 39. The same treatment is applied to amounts arising from the revaluation of the net defined
benefit liability according to IAS 19.

11.20 Employee benefits
The projected unit-credit method prescribed in IAS 19 Employee Benefits is applied for the purpose of measuring the actuarial value of employee pension provisions. An actuarial measurement is conducted at every
reporting date by an independent, qualified actuarial expert.
There are various pension plans in effect in the AURELIUS Group, but they relate exclusively to the Group’s
subsidiaries. Under defined contribution plans, the company pays fixed amounts to an independent entity
such as a pension fund or insurance company, which will then pay post-termination benefits to employees;
in such cases, the company does not have a legal or constructive obligation to pay any further amounts in
the event that the entity in question would not have sufficient financial resources to satisfy all the pension
claims of all employees for current and prior years. All pension plans that promise to pay post-termination
benefits to employees, but do not fall under the definition of a defined contribution plan, are considered to
be defined benefit plans.
Under defined contribution plans, the company is only obligated to pay the contribution for a given period.
Therefore, it is not necessary to make actuarial assumptions and no actuarial gains or losses can arise. Such
obligations are not discounted to present value unless they will not be due and payable in the full amount
within twelve months of the end of the period in which the corresponding work was performed. Payments to
defined contribution plans are recognized as personnel expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

13 0 I

AU RE L I U S A N N UA L R E P O RT

Revaluation effects include both the actuarial gains and losses resulting from the measurement of the gross
defined benefit obligation and the difference between the actually realized return on plan assets and the
assumed return on plan assets at the start of the reporting period. If a pension plan is overfunded, the revaluation component will also include the change in the net asset value resulting from the application of the asset
ceiling, provided that it was not already included in the net interest component. The revaluation effects are
recognized directly in other comprehensive income after taxes. The other components of net pension expenses
(service period and net interest component) are recognized as period income or expenses. Past service cost in
respect of as yet unvested pension claims, as well as gains and losses from plan settlements, are recognized
directly as income or expense in the period when the pension plan was amended or curtailed. The defined
benefit obligations recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position represent the current insufficient or excess cover of the Group’s defined benefit plans. Any excess cover arising due to this calculation is
limited to the present value of future economic benefit, which is available in the form of refunds from the
plans or reduced future contribution payments to the plans.
For employee benefits currently due, for instance wages, sick pay, bonuses, the employee must recognize, in
the period the payment is made, the undiscounted amount of the payment that can be expected to be paid in
exchange for the service provided. The expected costs for employee benefits currently due in the form of
compensated absences must be recognized in the case of accruable claims when the work performance that
increases the employee’s claims to paid future absences is provided. If the claims cannot be accrued, recognition occurs at the time when the absence occurs.

11.21 Share-based compensation
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others who render comparable services are measured at
the fair value of the equity instrument on the grant date. The value of the stock option plan is measured by way
of financial mathematical methods based on the Monte Carlo option price model.
The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments at the grant date is charged as an expense on a straightline basis over the period until the vesting date with a corresponding increase in equity, based on the Group’s expectations regarding the equity instruments that will probably become vested. At every reporting date, the Group
reviews its estimates of the number of equity instruments that are expected to become vested. The effects of
any changes in the original estimates are recognized in profit or loss over the period remaining until the vesting
date by means of making the appropriate adjustments to reserves.
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In respect of cash-settled share-based payments, the Group recognizes a liability in the amount of the proportion of goods or services received, measured at fair value, at every reporting date. Share-based payment plans
defined as cash-settled plans are remeasured at every reporting date.
Insofar as the share-based compensation held by the employees of the acquired company (premiums of the
acquired company) are replaced by the share-based compensation of the Group, both the premiums of the
acquired company and the replacement premiums are measured at the acquisition date in accordance with
IFRS 2 . The share of replacement premiums that is included in the measurement of the transferring consideration in a business combination is the market-based value of the premiums of the acquired company multiplied by the relationship derived from the ratio of the already satisfied vesting period or the original vesting
period of the premium of the acquired company. The surplus of the market-based value of the replacement
premiums over the market-based value of the premiums of the acquired company at the measurement of
the transferred consideration is recognized as compensation expense for services after the business combination. If premiums of the acquired company lapse due to a business combination and the Group replaces
these premiums, even if AURELIUS is not obligated to do so, the replacement premiums are measured at their
market-based value in accordance with IFRS 2. All market values of the replacement premiums are recognized as compensation expense for services after the business combination.

Particularly in connection with company acquisitions, provisions are recognized to account for any onerous
contracts identified as part of the purchase price allocation process. The existence of an onerous contract is
assumed when the Group is party to a contract under which the unavoidable costs of fulfilling the contract are
expected to exceed the economic benefits of the contract.
Non-current provisions that have not resulted in an outflow of economic resources in the following year are
discounted to present value by application of the currently prevailing market interest rate, provided that the
effect is material. Any increases in provisions resulting from pure compounding are likewise recognized in
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. Both such effects are presented in net financial
income or expenses.

11.23 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognized when a Group company is a contractual party to a financial instrument. They
are categorized either as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss or as an other financial liability.

There are neither any stock option plans with employees of subsidiaries nor did any business combinations
occur in which the acquired company recognizes share-based compensation.

Financial liabilities must be measured at fair value upon acquisition. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable the issue of financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss reduce the
fair value of the financial liability at acquisition. If these directly attributable transaction costs are connected to
the issue of financial liabilities that are measured at fair value through profit or loss, they are d
 irectly recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

11.22 Other provisions

11.23.1 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive
 bligation to a third party, arising from a past event, and when it is more likely than not that the settlement
o
of the obligation will lead to an outflow of economic resources, and when the amount of the provision can
be measured reliably. Other provisions are recognized accordingly in respect of all discernible risks and
uncertain obligations. Uncertain obligations are measured at the best possible estimate. In this regard, consideration must be given to the risks and uncertainties inherent in the obligation. Recourse claims are not
deducted from the carrying amount of such liabilities. Thus, if it can be assumed that the necessary economic benefits required to settle the liability will be reimbursed in full or in part by an outside third party,
this claim is recognized as an asset if the reimbursement is more likely than not and the amount can be estimated reliably. In the case of a large population of similar obligations, the probability of a future outflow of
economic resources is determined on the basis of the overall population.

Financial liabilities are assigned to this category when they are either held for trading or were voluntarily designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Warranty provisions are recognized as of the date of sale of the corresponding goods or services in accordance with national purchase agreement law. The amount of the expenditures necessary to satisfy the
Group’s obligation is determined on the basis of past experience values and an estimate of future probabilities.
Restructuring provisions are recognized when a detailed restructuring plan exists that meets the requirements
of IAS 37, or in case of a new acquisition in conjunction with IFRS 3. However, this is only the case when the
Group has adopted a detailed, formal restructuring plan, which has created a justified impression in the minds
of the affected persons that the restructuring measures will be carried out, either because implementation of
the plan has commenced or significant elements of the plan have been announced. Only the direct expenses
for the restructuring are included in the measurement. These are only those amounts that were caused by the
restructuring and are not in connection with the continuing business operations of the Group.
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A financial liability is classified as held-for-trading (1) when it was acquired principally with the intent that it
would be bought back in the near term, or (2) when it is, upon initial recognition, part of a portfolio of clearly
identified financial instruments that are managed together by the Group, for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit-taking, or (3) when it is a derivative that has not been designated and is not
effective as a hedging instrument, and is also not a financial guarantee contract.
A financial liability held for other purposes than trading can be designated as at fair value through profit or loss
at the time of initial recognition when (1) such a designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement
and recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise occur, or when (2) the financial liability is part of a group
of financial assets and/or financial liabilities that are managed and measured in accordance with a documented
risk management or investment strategy based on fair values, and when information about this portfolio is
provided internally on this basis, or when (3) it is part of a contractual agreement that covers one or more embedded derivatives and the rules of IAS 39 permit designation of the entire contract (asset or liability) as measured at fair value.
Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities in general, and particularly also financial liabilities arising from purchase price adjustment clauses or earn-out clauses, are measured at fair value, which is usually equal to cost.
As preconditions for recognizing such liabilities in the statement of financial position, however, they must be

AU RE L I U S A N N UA L RE PO RT

I 1 33

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

probable at the acquisition date and their amount must be reliably measurable. Profits or losses resulting from
the measurement are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. The net profit or loss recognized
in the statement of comprehensive income includes the interest paid for the financial liability and is carried
within other income or other expenses.

ments is an equity instrument. At the issue date, the fair value of the debt component is measured using
the market interest rate applicable to comparable non-convertible instruments. This amount is recognized as a
financial liability based on amortized costs using the effective interest method until conversion or maturity of
the instrument.

11.23.2 Other financial liabilities

The conversion option recognized as equity is determined by subtracting the value of the debt component
from the fair value of the entire instrument. The resulting value, less the income tax effects, is recognized as
part of equity and is subsequently not subject to measurement. Moreover, the conversion option classified as
equity remains in equity until the conversion option is exercised. Upon exercise, the amount recognized in
equity is reclassified into capital reserves. If a conversion option is not exercised when due, the amount recognized in equity is reclassified into retained earnings. No profits or losses arise upon exercise or expiration of the
conversion option.

Other financial liabilities, for instance loans accepted, trade payables, and other liabilities, are measured at
amortized costs. Trade payables are amounts owed as consideration for goods or services provided to the company in the normal course of business. In the normal business cycle, all liabilities are due in one year or less and
are therefore classified as current; otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities. For current liabilities, that means they are measured at their repayment or settlement amount, while non-current liabilities and
long-term debts are measured at amortized cost in accordance with the effective interest method. The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortized cost of a financial liability and to allocate interest
expenses to the respective periods. The effective interest rate is the interest rate that is necessary to discount the estimated future cash outflows, including all fees and remuneration paid and received that are an
integral component of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts,
through the expected life of the financial instrument, or a shorter period to equal the net carrying amount
upon initial recognition.

Transaction costs in connection with the instrument are allocated to the debt and equity components in proportion to the distribution of the net revenues. The transaction costs attributable to the equity component are
recognized directly in equity. The transaction costs attributable to the debt component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability and are amortized over the term of the convertible bond by application of the
effective interest method.

11.26 Contingent liabilities resulting from a business combination

Non-interest-bearing or low-interest-bearing financial liabilities are measured at their settlement value or
nominal value. The difference from the disbursement amount is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in subsequent periods (Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost). Also in subsequent periods, such financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are compounded, using the effective interest
method.

Contingent liabilities resulting from a business combination are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition
upon initial recognition. Such contingent liabilities are recognized at subsequent reporting dates using the higher
amount of initial recognition less any cumulative reversals to be recognized under IAS 18 or the value resulting
from applying IAS 37.

11.23.3 Write-off of financial liabilities

11.27 Estimation uncertainties and discretionary judgments

The Group writes off a financial liability when the related obligation has been paid, cancelled, or has expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability written off and the consideration received
or to be received is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

For the consolidated recognition and measurement methods presented here, the management of AURELIUS
must assess circumstances, make estimates and use assumptions with regard to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that cannot be determined easily from other sources. The estimates and the underlying
assumptions result from past experience as well as other factors considered relevant. The actual values may
differ from these estimated values.

11.24 Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract in which the guarantor is obligated to make specific payments that
compensate the warrantee for a loss that arises because a specific debtor does not comply with its payment
obligations in a timely manner and not in accordance with the terms of the debt instrument. Obligations from
financial guarantee contracts are recognized at fair value upon acquisition and if they are not measured at fair
value through profit or loss, subsequently measured at the higher of the two amounts listed below: (1) The
value of the contractual obligation calculated pursuant to IAS 37 and (2) the originally recognized amount less,
where applicable, the cumulative usage determined according to the guidelines for income recognition presented above.

11.25 Composite financial instruments
The components of a composite financial instrument issued by the company are recognized separately in accordance with the economic content of the agreement and the definitions as a financial liability and as an equity instrument, for instance a convertible bond. A conversion option that is only satisfied by exchange of a
fixed amount of liquid assets or other financial assets against a fixed number of company-owned equity instru-
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The assumptions underlying the estimates are subjected to regular review. When changes in estimates only
affect a single period, they are only taken into account in this period. If the changes affect the current and
the following reporting periods, they are taken into account accordingly in this and the following periods.
The estimates or discretionary judgments applied correspond to the carrying amounts disclosed in these
consolidated financial statements for the assets and liabilities explained in the notes (see Note 24 ff.).

11.28 Segment information
According to the rules prescribed in IFRS 8 Operating Segments, certain financial information must be presented
separately by segments and regions. Operating segments are defined on the basis of the internal reporting data
which the chief decision maker uses to make reliable assessments of the entity’s risks and financial performance. The segment report is meant to transparently present the profitability and future prospects of the
Group’s various activities. In accordance with its internal management approach, AURELIUS defines its segment
format on the basis of business areas.
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AURELIUS structures its business units on the basis of their primary activities and according to the company’s
internal reporting structure. The primary activities are Services and Solutions (S&S), Industrial Production (IP)
and Retail and Consumer Products (RCP).

As a general rule, the same recognition and measurement methods applied in preparing the consolidated
financial statements were applied in preparing the segment report, which does not include any information
on discontinued operations.

11.29 Prior-year information
For the sake of improved comparability, certain prior-year information has been adjusted slightly to reflect the
current presentation structure, in addition to the adjustment described in detail in Note 12 below. These adjustments may pertain to individual figures in the composition of some items of the statement of comprehensive income for financial years 2015 and 2014, in order to ensure a consistent presentation in financial year 2015.
In such cases, however, the adjustments only consist of reclassifications within individual items; they have no
effects on the presentation of the Group’s financial position, liquidity, financial performance and cash flows.

11.30 Legal disputes, claims for damages, and liability risks
In connection with their normal business operations, companies of the AURELIUS Group are involved in various
lawsuits and governmental proceedings or such lawsuits and governmental proceedings may be initiated or
brought in the future. Although the outcome of individual proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty,
given the imponderabilities associated with legal disputes, the Group does not believe, based on the information currently available to it, that such proceedings will have material, lasting adverse effects on the Group’s
financial position, cash flows or financial performance, beyond the risks accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements in the form of liabilities and provisions. Contingent liabilities related to collateral furnished or liabilities assumed are disclosed separately in Note 69 of the present notes to the consolidated
financial statements. Identified purchased contingent liabilities assumed in connection with a business
combination according to IFRS 3 are measured at fair value at the acquisition date.
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in kEUR

01/01 - 12/31/2014

01/01 - 12/31/2014

Adjustment

Other operating income

215,616

6,766

222,382

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA)

154,605

6,766

161,371

adjusted

Continuing operations

12. Prior-year information
A significant adjustment to the comparison information from the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2014 is explained below. This adjustment necessitated adjustments to the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Cash Flow Statement, Statement of Changes in
Equity, and the earnings per share.

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

76,913

6,766

83,679

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

59,170

6,766

65,936

Profit/loss after taxes from continuing operations

47,877

6,766

54,643

100,825

6,766

107,591

58,080

6,766

64,846

97,273

6,766

104,039

56,034

6,766

62,800

Consolidated profit/loss

By date of April 30, 2015, items of the Statement of Financial Position were adjusted in accordance with
IFRS 3.45 ff. because the purchase price allocations for the portfolio companies Scholl Footwear and Publicitas,
which were acquired in 2014, were conducted on the basis of provisional values within the meaning of
IFRS 3.45 ff. Changes in the purchase prices resulted for both acquisitions from the final working-capital calculations. The acquisition of ECOPlastics at December 31, 2014, was also carried out on a provisional basis under
IFRS 3.45 ff. because the acquisition from within insolvency turned out to be very complex.
Purchase price allocations are based on time-intensive and complex requirements. Depending on the complexity of the acquisition, this process can take several months. However, the provisions of IFRS 3 state that the
effects of the acquisition must be recognized not after the final completion of the purchase price allocation,
but already as soon as valid provisional values are available. In accordance with the qualitative requirements
imposed by the IFRS Conceptual Framework IFRS on the information to be presented in financial statements,
the prompt provision of information to the users of financial statements takes precedence over exact, but
delayed information.
The adjustments made at ECOPlastics pertain the measurement of property, plant and equipment and inventories, as well as the deferred tax liabilities incurred in relation to them. Based on the asset deal concluded at
December 31, 2014, it was necessary to apply assumptions in certain cases. If the assets and liabilities had been
measured already at December 31, 2014 on the basis of the currently improved understanding of the situation
in effect at the date of the acquisition, the negative goodwill arising on consolidation would have been higher
by EUR 1,847 thousand. The rules of IFRS 3.45 ff. require that such adjustments be recognized in profit or loss
retrospectively, i.e. in the prior year.
The adjustment made to the prior-year Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is detailed in the
table below:

Comprehensive income/loss
Share of period profit/loss attributable to
- Shareholders of the parent company
Share of comprehensive income/loss attributable to
- Shareholders of the parent company

In addition, the following corrections were made to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at December 31, 2014:

in kEUR

12/31/2014

Adjustment

12/31/2014
adjusted

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

306,012

2,165

308,177

Total non-current assets

458,524

2,165

460,689

Current assets
Inventories

146,428

400

146,828

Cash and cash equivalents

328,425

4,919

333,344

Total current assets

996,404

5,319

1,001,723

1,454,928

7,484

1,462,412

12/31/2014

Adjustment

Retained earnings

301,622

6,766

308,388

Share of equity attributable to shareholders of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA

346,928

6,766

353,694

Total equity

380,545

6,766

387,311

71,843

718

72,561

427,209

718

427,927

1,454,928

7,484

1,462,412

Total assets

in kEUR

12/31/2014
adjusted

LIABILITIES
Equity

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total assets
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The resulting adjustments to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement pertain to a reclassification within the
gross cash flow for 2014 as well as adjustments to the cash flow from investing activities, free cash flow, and
net funds from continuing activities or cash holdings according to the Statement of Financial Position:

in kEUR

Adjustment

47,877

6,766

54,643

44,325

6,766

51,091

From continuing operations

1.43

0.18

1.61

From continuing and discontinued operations

3.14

0.14

3.28

From continuing operations

1.43

0.18

1.61

From continuing and discontinued operations

3.14

0.14

3.28

Profit/loss after taxes
in kEUR

01/01 - 12/31/2014

01/01 - 12/31/2014

Adjustment

59,170

6,766

65,936

Reversal of negative goodwill arising on
initial consolidation

-70,051

-6,766

-76,817

Gross cash flow

75,611

- /-

75,611

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

adjusted

Purchase prices paid for shares in companies

-38,289

4,919

-33,370

Cash flow from investing activities

40,807

4,919

45,726

150,756

4,919

155,675

Free cash flow

95,550

4,919

100,469

Cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations,
end of period

Change in cash and cash equivalents

307,348

4,919

312,267

Cash and cash equivalents as per Statement of
Financial Position

328,425

4,919

333,344

01/01- 12/31/2014

01/01- 12/31/2014

Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA

adjusted

Basic earnings per share in EUR

Diluted earnings per share in EUR

January 1, 2014

Consolidated equity

Share of
equity attributable to
shareholders of
AURELIUS

in kEUR

Retained earnings,
including distributable
profit

The necessary adjustments to the prior-year Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity are presented in the
summary below:

251,332

339,768

367,316

97,273

97,273

100,825

Comprehensive income/loss
Consolidated profit/loss
adjustment

6,766

6,766

6,766

Consolidated profit/loss adjusted

104,039

104,039

107,591

December 31, 2014

301,622

346,928

380,545

6,766

6,766

6,766

308,388

353,694

387,311

Adjustment
December 31 adjusted

The adjustments to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income also necessitated an adjustment to
the prior-year earnings per share, which now has the following structure:
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Income from the negative goodwill arising on capital consolidation, in the amount of EUR 176,834 thousand
(PY: EUR 76,817 thousand) is presented in accordance with IFRS 3.56, provided that the fair values of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceed the acquisition cost of the business combination. After repeated
review, any remaining excess is recognized immediately in income, in accordance with IFRS 3.34 ff.

13. Revenues
The Group’s consolidated revenues break down as follows, separated by continuing and discontinued operations:
in kEUR
Revenues from sales of goods
Revenues from sales of services

01/01 - 12/31/2015

01/01 - 12/31/2014

1,177,670

835,255

772,128

670,079

Revenues from construction contracts
Total continuing operations

63,460

26,443

2,013,258

1,531,777

-/-

64,071

2,013,258

1,595,848

Discontinued operations
Total revenues

The revenues from long-term construction contracts (percentage of completion) primarily include revenues
of Getronics. Total accrued costs and recognized profits, less recognized losses on projects in progress at the
reporting date of December 31, 2015 amounted to EUR 17,144 thousand (PY: EUR 3,279 thousand). Down payments received amounted to EUR 10,924 thousand (PY: EUR 9,946 thousand) and retentions amounted to EUR
522 thousand (PY: EUR 1,265 thousand). Retentions are amounts for partial settlements that are not paid until
performance of conditions stipulated in the order or upon completion of error correction. Partial settlements are amounts invoiced for a service performed in accordance with the order, regardless of whether it
was or was not paid by the customer. Down payments are amounts received by the contractor before the
related service is provided.
The breakdown of revenues by geographic regions and operating segments is presented in the notes to the
Segment Report in Note 22 of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.

14. Other income

15. Purchased goods and services
The Group’s purchased goods and services break down as follows in financial year 2015, separated by continuing and discontinued operations:
in kEUR

01/01 - 12/31/2015

01/01 - 12/31/2014

Raw materials and supplies

568,476

446,055

Purchased goods

103,634

70,147

Purchased services

201,910

190,366

89,638

64,041

963,658

770,609

-/-

32,187

963,658

802,796

Other purchased goods and services
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total purchased goods and services

The other purchased goods and services in the amount of EUR 89,638 thousand (PY: EUR 64,041 thousand)
consisted mostly of energy costs (EUR 46,477 thousand, PY: EUR 30,531 thousand), other consumable supplies
(EUR 28,239 thousand, PY: EUR 19,931 thousand), waste disposal costs (EUR 10.089 thousand, PY: EUR 7,420
thousand), and warehouse costs (EUR 522 thousand, PY: EUR 1,861 thousand). Purchased goods and services
also included research and development expenses of EUR 1,761 thousand (PY: EUR 1,673 thousand).

16. Personnel expenses
The Group’s personnel expenses break down as follows in financial year 2015, separated by continuing and discontinued operations:

The breakdown of other income for financial year 2015 is presented in the table below:
in kEUR
in kEUR

01/01 - 12/31/2014

576,520

463,544

01/01 - 12/31/2014

Income from negative goodwill

176,834

76,817

Social security, pension and other benefit expenses

110,799

86,560

Income from deconsolidations

22,739

65,470

Total continuing operations

687,319

550,104

Income from derecognition of liabilities

1,571

4,672

Discontinued operations

Income from the charging of costs to third parties

8,875

10,511

Total personnel expenses

Income from reversal of provisions

7,465

8,984

Income from exchange rate changes

10,848

11,504

Income from disposal of non-current assets

32,867

2,020

398

5,923

4,491

5,137

Income from claims for damages
Internal production capitalized
Other income
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total other income
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54,122
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Wages and salaries
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17. Other expenses

19. Consolidated and comprehensive profit/loss

The Group’s other expenses in financial year 2015 show the following structure:

The consolidated profit/loss of EUR 155,353 thousand (PY: EUR 104,039 thousand) attributable to shareholders of
the parent company already contains the share of non-controlling interests in the consolidated profit/loss, in the
amount of EUR -429 thousand (PY: EUR -3,552 thousand).

in kEUR

01/01 - 12/31/2015

01/01 - 12/31/2014

Buildings and machinery

74,467

52,751

Marketing expenses and commissions

57,808

43,130

Administration

66,158

50,156

Consulting

43,192

34,509

Freight and transport costs

43,439

22,254

Office supplies

29,166

23,300

Expenses from exchange rate changes

13,479

14,424

3,469

851

59,660

42,612

390,838

283,987

Value adjustments on receivables
Other expenses
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total other expenses

5

2,275

390,843

286,262

Important elements of administrative expenses include travel and entertainment expenses (EUR 20,924
thousand, PY: EUR 14,515 thousand), insurance and fees (EUR 12,075 thousand, PY: EUR 8,917 thousand) and
motor vehicle costs (EUR 14,890 thousand, PY: EUR 13,356 thousand).
Building and machinery expenses consisted mainly of rental expenses (EUR 37,238 thousand, PY: EUR 30,056
thousand), maintenance expenses (EUR 17,821 thousand, PY: EUR 7,489 thousand), and other building expenses (EUR 15,425 thousand, PY: EUR 11,981 thousand). The other building expenses consisted mainly of ancillary
rental costs.
Office expenses consisted mainly of IT expenses (EUR 17,148 thousand, PY: EUR 14,791 thousand) and other
communication expenses (EUR 5,587 thousand, PY: EUR 4,670 thousand).
The miscellaneous expenses consisted mainly of expenses for other taxes (EUR 3,803 thousand, PY: EUR 3,008
thousand), personnel leasing expenses (EUR 9,684 thousand, PY: EUR 6,990 thousand), and costs charged by
third parties (EUR 7,277 thousand, PY: EUR 9,894 thousand).

18. Net financial income/expenses
The other interest and similar income in the amount of EUR 4,833 thousand (PY: EUR 1,481 thousand) consisted
of interest income on both current accounts and term deposits.
The interest and similar expenses in the amount of EUR 19,473 thousand (PY: EUR 19,224 thousand) consisted
mainly of interest paid on liabilities due to banks and outside third parties.

The comprehensive income/loss of EUR 198,363 thousand (PY: EUR 62,800 thousand) attributable to shareholders
of the parent company already contains the share of non-controlling interests in the comprehensive income/loss,
in the amount of EUR -429 thousand (PY: EUR 2,046 thousand).

20. Discontinued operations
The provisions of IFRS 5 prescribe special measurement and presentation requirements for discontinued operations and non-current assets held for sale.
The purpose of these provisions is to draw a distinction between business operations that are expected to
continue in the future and discontinued business operations, so as to clarify the effects of discontinuation or
disposal plans for the users of the financial statements. For that reason, the financial reporting of AURELIUS is
primarily geared to continuing operations, for the sake of improved transparency and comparability. Therefore,
information on discontinued operations is presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the consolidated cash flow statement.
In accordance with the rules of IFRS 5 and the accepted definition of a “cash generating unit” at AURELIUS, the
equity investments in connectis and Reederei Peter Deilmann were presented separately as discontinued operations in the statement of comprehensive income for the prior year. There are no material transactions in the
reporting year within discontinued operations because no portfolio company within the meaning of IFRS 5 was
sold. However, some companies without operating activities are also presented in accordance with IFRS 5, but
they are immaterial, both individually and in total, and will therefore not be discussed in the following.
The items presented as Assets held for sale and Liabilities held for sale in the consolidated statement of
financial position at December 31, 2014 mainly consisted of the equity investment in Compagnie de Gestion et
de Prêts, which was sold in the first quarter of 2015.
In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, an impairment test is conducted before reclassifying this amount
from the item of property, plant and equipment to the item of assets held for sale, in order to determine if the
fair value less costs to sell may possibly be less than the carrying amount. Recognition occurs at the lower of
their fair value less foreseeable costs to sell or their carrying amount to date. The fair value less costs to sell is
determined on an aggregated level and compared with the sum of the corresponding carrying amounts.
The decrease in these items compared to the prior year resulted from the fact that the investment in Compagnie de Gestion et de Prêts was sold in financial year 2015.
The net payment flows for the discontinued operations according to IFRS 5 are not listed below because they
are immaterial due to a lack of transactions.

148 I

AU RE L I US A N N UA L R E P O RT

AU RE L I U S A N N UA L RE PO RT

I 149

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

21. Earnings per share

22. Segment information

In accordance with IAS 33 Earnings Per Share, the undiluted earnings per share have been calculated by dividing
the consolidated profit/loss after non-controlling interests by the average weighted shares outstanding. For
the purpose of calculating the diluted earnings per share, the average number of shares outstanding was
corrected by the number of potentially diluting shares, which consisted exclusively of the potential conversion
of outstanding debt instruments into shares (convertible bond). In addition, the consolidated profit/loss was
corrected for the interest expenses of the convertible bond.

AURELIUS is a holding company with a long-term investment horizon, which specializes in acquiring companies

in kEUR
Profit/loss after taxes
Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests

01/01 - 12/31/2015

01/01 - 12/31/2014

154,935

54,643

-429

3,552

155,364

51,091

Profit/loss from discontinued operations

-11

52,948

Expenses for convertible bond after taxes

295

-/-

31,400,971

31,651,269

260,239

-/-

31,661,210

31,651,269

Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA

Average weighted shares outstanding
Effect of potentially diluting common shares:
Weighted average of stock options outstanding
Average weighted shares outstanding for the diluted earnings per share

From discontinued operations
From continuing and discontinued operations

4.95

1.61

-/-

1.67

4.95

3.28

4.92

1.61

-/-

1.67

4.92

3.28

Diluted earnings per share in EUR
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
From continuing and discontinued operations

IFRS 8 requires that operating segments be defined on the basis of the internal reports of corporate divisions that

are regularly reviewed by the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of AURELIUS for the purpose of making decisions about the allocation of resources and assessing the financial performance of the given segment. Thus, the
internal organizational and management structure and the internal reports submitted to the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board form the basis for determining the segment reporting format of AURELIUS. Primary
emphasis is placed on the indicator EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and Taxes). The recognition and measurement
methods of the reportable segments correspond to the consolidated recognition and measurement methods
described in Note 11.
As in the prior years, the primary operating segments are Services & Solutions (S&S), Industrial Production (IP),
Retail & Consumer Products (RCP) and Other. They are described in the following.
1) The S&S segment comprises companies that operate specifically in the services sector, including the
GHOTEL Group, AKAD University, Publicitas, Getronics, LD Didactic, the Studienkreis Group, fidelis HR,

B&P Gerüstbau, brightONE, Transform, and Allied Healthcare.
2) The RCP segment comprises companies that sell their products directly to end customers, including

Scholl Footwear, the Berentzen Group, and MEZ.

Basic earnings per share in EUR
From continuing operations

with development potential. Thus, the portfolio comprises companies from a wide range of industries.

3) The IP segment comprises companies that operate primarily in the area of industrial production,

including the ISOCHEM Group, CalaChem, Briar Chemicals, ECOPlastics, SECOP, HanseYachts,
Regain Polymers, SOLIDUS, and TAVEX Europe.
4) The Other segment is mainly composed of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA and other intermediate holding

companies; thus, it comprises all activities related to corporate management and administration.
All transfer prices applied in dealings between the operating segments are the same as the prices charged to
outside third parties. In addition, administrative services are charged to Group companies in the form of cost
allocations. Of the non-current assets according to IFRS 8.33, EUR 285,499 thousand (PY: EUR 241,250 thousand) is attributable to Germany and EUR 276,437 thousand (PY: EUR 217,274 thousand) is attributable to other
countries.
For the purpose of monitoring profitability and the distribution of resources among the segments, all assets
except for shares in associated companies, shares in joint ventures, other financial assets, and the actual and
deferred taxes are assigned to the reportable segments. All liabilities except for loans and other financial
liabilities as well as the actual and deferred taxes are assigned to the reportable segments. The non-current
assets and liabilities held for sale are not assigned to the reportable segments.
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4,938

-/-

2,013,258

84

18,410

-19,461

-/-

831,304

910,320

267,747

23,348

-19,461

2,013,258

21,989

157,244

47,358

-61,801

-/-

164,790

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
from continuing operations

Net financial income/expenses

-14,640

Net financial income/expenses

-17,743

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
from ordinary activities

150,150

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
from ordinary activities

65,936

Income taxes

-11,293

Profit/loss after taxes
from continuing operations

54,643

Total revenues
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
from continuing operations

Other

Income taxes

4,785

Profit/loss after taxes
from continuing operations

154,935

Total revenues

4,036

-/-

1,595,848

-/-

-/-

-/-

64,071

692,487

615,978

219,276

4,036

-/-

1,531,777

1,301

1,249

2,028

17,831

-22,409

-/-

757,859

617,227

221,304

21,867

-22,409

1,595,848

34,075

3,581

11,208

34,815

-/-

83,679

Profit/loss from discontinued operations

-11

Profit/loss from discontinued operations

52,948

Non-controlling interests

429

Non-controlling interests

-3,552

Share of consolidated profit/loss attributable
to shareholders of the parent company

155,353

Segment assets

Share of consolidated profit/loss attributable
to shareholders of the parent company

104,039

Statement of Financial Position – Assets

Statement of Financial Position – Assets
611,061

707,575

296,446

243,325

1,858,407

Segment assets

642,752

443,124

214,988

123,066

1,423,930

Non-assigned assets

63,021

Non-assigned assets

38,482

Consolidated assets

1,921,428

Consolidated assets

1,462,412

Statement of Financial Position – Liabilities

Statement of Financial Position – Liabilities
880,636

Segment liabilities

Non-assigned liabilities

503,692

Non-assigned liabilities

270,030

Consolidated liabilities

1,384,328

Consolidated liabilities

1,075,101

Segment liabilities

461,642

289,507

102,143

27,344

Ongoing capital expenditures
Capital expenditures for acquisitions
Depreciation and amortization
Impairments (IAS 36)
Reversals of earlier impairments (IAS 36)

506,830

196,002

79,544

22,695

805,071

Other disclosures

Other disclosures

1 52 I

Intersegment revenues

219,276

-/-

AURELIUS Group

267,663

312

– thereof from continuing operations

615,978

64,071

Consolidation

910,008

655

Intersegment revenues

756,558

Other

830,649

– thereof from continuing operations

– thereof from discontinued operations

Products

-/-

Retail & Consumer

2,013,258

-/-

External revenues

Industrial Production

-/-

-/-

2014 in kEUR

Services & Solutions

4,938

-/-

AURELIUS Group

267,663

-/-

– thereof from discontinued operations

Consolidation

910,008

-/-

External revenues

Products

830,649

2015 in kEUR

Retail & Consumer

Industrial Production
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Ongoing capital expenditures

11,442

31,282

7,695

95

50,514

3,339

845

8

-/-

4,192

-23,875

-55,066

-9,889

-693

-89,523

Depreciation and amortization

-8,997

-2,576

-171

-/-

-11,744

Impairments (IAS 36)

Capital expenditures for acquisitions

9,942

37,072

12,388

670

60,072

15,484

5,111

12,775

-/-

33,370

-21,992

-39,472

-10,029

-240

-71,733

-893

-5,066

-/-

-/-

-5,959

10

7,864

640

-/-

8,514

Reversals of earlier impairments (IAS 36)

-/-

4,486

-/-

-/-

4,486

Interest income

1,970

2,468

156

239

4,833

Interest income

335

165

132

849

1,481

Interest expense

-5,738

-7,348

-4,775

-1,612

-19,473

-8,384

-3,936

-5,218

-1,686

-19,224
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The breakdown of revenues by geographical markets is presented in the table below:
in kEUR
Germany
Europe – European Union
Europe – Other
Other countries
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total revenues

15 4 I
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01/01 - 12/31/2015

01/01 - 12/31/2014

488,915

418,484

1,038,919

727,574

101,395

63,866

384,029

321,853

2,013,258

1,531,777

-/-

64,071

2,013,258

1,595,848

SECOP I FLENSBURG I GERMANY
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TAXES
TAXES
23.

STUDIENKREIS I BOCHUM I GERMANY

Income taxes
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TAXES

The breakdown of income taxes recognized directly in other comprehensive income in the statement of
comprehensive income for financial years 2014 and 2013, including the reclassification amounts, is presented
in the table below:

23. Income taxes

01/01 - 12/31/2015 (in kEUR)

The taxes recognized in the statement of comprehensive income have the following structure:
in kEUR

2015

2014

-20,218

-11,633

1,422

-2,839

24,899

3,179

121

-/-

Impairments or reversal of earlier impairments of deferred taxes

-1,439

-/-

Total income tax expense/income in the current financial year

4,785

-11,293

Current taxes in the current period
Adjustments for current taxes of prior years recognized in the current period
Deferred taxes in the current period
Effects of changes in tax rates and tax laws

The differences between the actual income tax expenses/income recognized in the statement of comprehensive income and the expected income tax expenses/income are presented in the following reconciliation statement. The expected income tax expenses/income were calculated by multiplying the profit/loss before income
taxes by the expected tax rate. The total expected income tax rate, which is composed of the statutory German
corporate income tax, the solidarity surtax and the German trade tax, was about 30 % (PY: 30 %).
The respective country-specific income tax rates applied for foreign companies range from 10 % to 40 %.

Profit/loss before taxes from continuing operations
Expected income tax rate
Expected income tax expense or income
Different tax expenses

01/01 - 12/31/2014

150,150

65,936

30 %

30 %

45,045

19,781

-53,050

-23,045

-2,839

-376

561

2,173

-41,817

-5,618

Tax-exempt income

38,303

-8,378

Permanent differences from items of the statement of financial position

-5,629

9,266

Tax effects of unused tax loss carry-forwards not recognized as deferred tax
assets

16,247

12,711

-120

51

Changes in impairments, current year

1,439

715

Non-period income taxes other

1,127

4,427

-546

1,110

Non-deductible operating expenses
Tax-exempt profit/loss on sale of equity investments

Tax effects of tax rate change

Other effects

15 8 I

01/01 - 12/31/2015

-1,524

Trade tax additions and reductions

Stated income tax expenses or income

-4,785

11,293

Effective tax rate

-3.19 %

17.13 %
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– Unrealized change
Cash flow hedges

Income taxes

Amount
after
income taxes

9,396

-/-

9,396

-/-

-/-

-/-

9,396

-/-

9,396

-/-

-/-

-/-

– Reclassification recognized in profit or loss

-/-

-/-

-/-

– Unrealized change

-/-

-/-

-/-

Securities, available-for-sale

-/-

-/-

-/-

– Reclassification recognized in profit or loss

-/-

-/-

-/-

– Unrealized change

-/-

-/-

-/-

35,095

-1,281

33,814

Amount
before
income taxes

Income taxes

Amount
after
income taxes

-1,210

-/-

-1,210

-1,128

-/-

-1,128

-82

-/-

-82

2,024

-538

1,486

2,024

-538

1,486

-/-

-/-

-/-

-571

-/-

-571

-571

-/-

-571

-/-

-/-

-/-

-49,873

6,295

-43,578

Revaluations, IAS 19

Currency translation differences

-3,506

Tax-exempt income from bargain purchases

– Reclassification recognized in profit or loss

01/01 - 12/31/2014 (in kEUR)

The expected income tax result can be reconciled to the recognized income taxes as follows:
in kEUR

Currency translation differences

Amount
before
income taxes

– Reclassification recognized in profit or loss
– Unrealized change
Cash flow hedges
– Reclassification recognized in profit or loss
– Unrealized change
Securities, available-for-sale
– Reclassification recognized in profit or loss
– Unrealized change
Revaluations, IAS 19

The tax income on the profit/loss from discontinued operations amounted to EUR zero thousand (PY: tax expense of EUR 778 thousand).
Deferred taxes result from differences in the values presented in the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and the corresponding tax bases, and from consolidation measures.
AURELIUS recognizes deferred tax assets in respect of corporate income tax and trade tax loss carry-for-

wards of Group companies. The total amount of corporate income tax loss carry-forwards applied for this
purpose in financial year 2015 was EUR 24,145 thousand (PY: EUR 35,195 thousand) and the total amount of
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trade tax loss carry-forwards was EUR 9,551 thousand (PY: EUR 7,095 thousand). No deferred tax assets were
recognized in respect of other corporate income tax loss carry-forwards (EUR 204,351 thousand; PY: EUR
216,271 thousand), other trade tax loss carry-forwards (EUR 159,362 thousand; PY: 147,812 thousand) and interest carry-forwards (EUR 11,529 thousand; PY: EUR 10,748), due to statutory or economic restrictions on the
application of such tax loss carry-forwards. In Germany, tax loss carry-forwards can be fully set off against
positive taxable profits in every tax assessment period up to an amount of EUR 1,000 thousand; beyond that
amount, corporate income tax and trade tax loss carry-forwards can be set off against positive taxable profit
only at the rate of 60 percent (minimum taxation). As a general rule, such tax loss carry-forwards are not
subject to any temporal limitations; since the introduction of the SEStEG on December 13, 2006, however,
they can no longer be transferred to other companies in connection with mergers or similar transactions. In
Germany, the provisions of Section 8c KStG introduced in connection with the business tax reform of 2008
must be observed. Deferred tax assets are not recognized in respect of tax loss carry-forwards that existed
in acquired companies at the acquisition date. At every reporting date, tax loss carry-forwards are reviewed
individually to determine whether they can be applied in the future. By reason of the particular aspects of
the business model of AURELIUS, the decision on recognizing tax loss carry-forwards is made with reference
to an individual planning period of one to three years.
The amounts and dates of expiration of unused tax loss carry-forwards are presented in the table below:
12/31/2015

in kEUR

Corporate income tax
Carry-forwardable for

in kEUR

Corporate income tax
Vortragsfähigkeit

No time restriction

140,749

Vortragsfähigkeit

1 year

1,688

Vortragsfähigkeit

2 years

5,937

Vortragsfähigkeit

3 years

1,415

Vortragsfähigkeit

4 years

1,172

Vortragsfähigkeit

5 years

7,110

Vortragsfähigkeit

6 years

5,928

Vortragsfähigkeit

7 years

1,709

Vortragsfähigkeit

more than 7 years

50,563

No time restriction

80,555

Trade tax
Vortragsfähigkeit
Vortragsfähigkeit

1 year

5,192

Vortragsfähigkeit

2 years

16,363

Vortragsfähigkeit

3 years

5,498

Vortragsfähigkeit

4 years

8,617

Vortragsfähigkeit

5 years

8,041

Vortragsfähigkeit

6 years

12,446

Vortragsfähigkeit

7 years

10,246

Vortragsfähigkeit

more than 7 years

854

No time restriction

10.748

No time restriction

182,710

Carry-forwardable for

1 year

5,636

Interest carry-forward from upper-bound interest deduction

Carry-forwardable for

2 years

1,248

Carry-forwardable for

Carry-forwardable for

3 years

1,460

Carry-forwardable for

4 years

15

Carry-forwardable for

5 years

6,374

Carry-forwardable for

6 years

-/-

No deferred tax liabilities were recognized in the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA in
respect of outside basis differences as per IAS 12.39 in the amount of EUR 3,660 thousand (PY: EUR 1,648 thousand).

Carry-forwardable for

7 years

-/-

Carry-forwardable for

more than 7 years

6,908

Carry-forwardable for

No time restriction

121,281

Carry-forwardable for

1 year

2,355

Intangible assets

Carry-forwardable for

2 years

1,908

Property, plant and equipment

Carry-forwardable for

3 years

11,111

Carry-forwardable for

4 years

Carry-forwardable for

Trade tax

The deferred tax assets and liabilities break down as follows:
in kEUR

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

1,078

-/-

Deferred tax assets
11,415

2,803

Non-current financial assets

1,471

-/-

3,206

Inventories

2,837

146

5 years

3,015

Current assets

1,988

109

Carry-forwardable for

6 years

5,190

Asset-side accruals/deferrals

Carry-forwardable for

7 years

11,296

Carry-forwardable for

more than 7 years

-/-

Interest carry-forward from upper-bound interest deduction
Carry-forwardable for

160 I

12/31/2014
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No time restriction

11,529

Pension provisions

133

178

20,135

14,933
5,342

Other provisions

4,735

Liabilities

9,415

19

Tax loss carry-forwards

8,004

3,766

Allowances

-5,444

-6,734

Total deferred tax assets

55,767

20,562
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in kEUR

A N H A N G Z U M KO N Z E R N A B S C H L U S S

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Intangible assets

19,142

18,376

Property, plant and equipment

27,546

10,578

Non-current financial assets

30,554

34,229

Receivables and other current assets

11,095

4,910

8,691

4,468

Deferred tax liabilities

Liabilities
Tax adjustment item from company acquisitions
Total deferred tax liabilities

-/-

-/-

97,028

72,561

The changes in deferred taxes are presented in the table below:
in kEUR

2015

2014

-51,999

-63,996

Acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries

-8,653

3,242

Income in the statement of comprehensive income

23,460

3,179

Deferred taxes recognized in other comprehensive income

-1,330

6,294

Foreign currency effects

-2,739

-/-

Effective date: January 1

Prior-year adjustment
Effective date: December 31

162 I
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-/-

-718

-41,261

-51,999
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ASSETS
ASSETS
24.

Goodwill

25.

Other intangible assets

26.

Property, plant and equipment

27.

Investment companies
27.1 Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries
27.2 Investments in associated companies
27.3 Other investments

SCHOLL I MAILAND I ITALY

28.

Inventories

29.

Trade receivables

30.

Income tax assets

31.

Derivative financial instruments

32.

Other financial assets

33.

Other assets

34.

Asset-side accruals/deferrals

35.

Cash and cash equivalents

36.

Noncurrent assets held for sale
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ASSETS

The basis for the impairment tests conducted for the material CGUs has the following structure:

24. Goodwill
For the purpose of conducting impairment tests, goodwill is assigned to cash-generating units. The recoverable
amount of a cash-generating unit is determined as the fair value less the costs to sell (2 % of fair value), applying the third valuation level. Because directly observable market prices generally do not exist for the intangible
assets in question, the fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows to present value. In financial
year 2015, this resulted in a need for impairment of goodwill of EUR 8,234 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand). Impairment losses are presented within Depreciation, amortization and impairments in the statement of comprehensive income.
At 12/31/2015, the total amount of goodwill was EUR 24,598 thousand (PY: EUR 23,059 thousand). The acquisition
costs of the goodwill can be reconciled as follows:
Acquisition costs

in kEUR

2015

2014

23,348

17,901

9,863

5,447

Disposal by sale of subsidiaries

-/-

-/-

Effects of exchange rate differences

-/-

-/-

Other

-/-

-/-

33,211

23,348

Balance at 01/01
Amounts from business combinations as per IFRS 3 additionally
recognized in the reporting year

Balance at 12/31

The recognized and cumulative impairments have the following structure:
Impairments
Balance at 01/01
Impairment losses in the current year
Disposal by sale of subsidiaries
Effects of exchange rate differences
Balance at 12/31

in kEUR

2015

2014

-289

-289

-8,324

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-8,613

-289

Goodwill items are subjected to an annual impairment test in accordance with IAS 36. With respect to goodwill,
the cash-generating unit is the portfolio company in its entirety, as a general rule. There are no exceptions to this
rule. At the reporting date, material portions of goodwill pertained to the following groups of cash-generating
units: Studienkreis in the amount of EUR 10,110 thousand (PY: EUR 10,110 thousand), fidelis HR in the amount of EUR
4,779 thousand (PY: EUR 4,779 thousand), and the Berentzen Group in the amount of EUR 6,056 thousand (PY: EUR
6,056 thousand). Thus the increase in this item over the prior-year figure resulted mainly from the acquisition of
Regain Polymers (EUR 1,462 thousand). In addition, additional immaterial goodwill items totaling EUR 2,191 thousand (PY: EUR 2,114 thousand) are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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CGU

Carrying
amounts of
goodwill
12/31/2015
(in kEUR)

Carrying
amounts of
intangible assets
with indefinite
useful lives
12/31/2015
(in kEUR)

Growth rate
perpetuity

Discount factor
(WACC)
after taxes

Revenues

EBIT
Solid
Growth

Studienkreis
Group

10,110

3,919

0.5 %

9.25 %

Solid
Growth

HanseYachts

-/-

9,966

0.5 %

7.44 %

Solid
Growth

Solid
Growth

Berentzen
Group

6,056

-/-

0.5 %

5.36 %

Modest
Growth

Solid
Growth

fidelis HR

4,779

-/-

0.5 %

6.61 %

Solid
Growth

Solid
Growth

Carrying
amounts of
goodwill
12/31/2014
(in kEUR)

Carrying
amounts of
intangible assets
with indefinite
useful lives
12/31/2014
(in kEUR)

Growth rate
perpetuity

Discount factor
(WACC)
after taxes

Revenues

EBIT
Solid
Growth

CGU
Studienkreis
Group

10,110

3,919

0.5 %

11.86 %

Solid
Growth

HanseYachts

-/-

9,966

0.5 %

8.19 %

Solid
Growth

Moderate
Growth

Berentzen
Group

6,056

-/-

0.5 %

5.68 %

Modest
Growth

Solid
Growth

fidelis HR

4,779

-/-

0.5 %

7.28 %

Solid
Growth

Solid
Growth

The scale comprises three levels, from “Modest Growth” to “Moderate Growth” to “Solid Growth.” The average
annual growth rates range from 2.7 % to 7.5 % (PY: 3.3 % to 9.3 %) for revenues, and from 16.2 % to greater than
100 % (PY: >100 %) for EBIT. The above-average growth rates in some cases resulted naturally from ongoing
restructuring processed in the indicated planning period.
For conducting the impairment test, the total carrying amounts of the group of cash-generating units are
checked against the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is calculated as the fair value less costs to sell,
based on discounted future cash flows. Expected cash flows are based on a qualified planning process, with due
consideration given to internal experience values and external macroeconomic data. The detailed planning
period covers three years, as a general rule. In most cases, a growth rate of 0.5 % is applied for the time after the
three-year period. As a general rule, the discount factor is calculated as the weighted average cost of capital
(WACC) by application of the capital asset pricing model. For this purpose, an individual group of comparison
companies (“peer group”) is applied for all groups of cash-generating units operating in the same business segment.
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Furthermore, the discount factors are determined on the basis of the following exemplary assumptions: a base
interest rate of 1.06 % (PY: 1.82 %) and a market risk premium of 6.25 % (PY: 6.25 %) at December 31, 2015 for a term
of 15 years in Germany. Country-typical risk premiums are applied to both the equity capital cost rate and the
debt capital cost rate, based on the credit rating of the respective country.
For purposes of estimating the development of revenues, EBIT and the EBIT margin, specific growth rates were
assumed in conducting the impairment test of the respective CGUs. The calculation of sustainably attainable
earnings is based on assumptions regarding various cost reduction measures. Furthermore, customary market
EBT margins were assumed for calculating the sustainably attainable earnings. The medium-term increase in
EBIT results from the current transformation process. In addition to the impairment test, three sensitivity analyses were conducted. Zero growth was assumed for the first sensitivity analysis. For the second sensitivity analysis, the discount factor was increased by 10 % for each group of cash-generating units. For the third sensitivity
analysis, a flat-rate deduction of 10 % was applied to the assumed EBIT in perpetuity. These changes in the underlying assumptions would also not result in a need to recognize impairments.
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Franchises,
industrial
property rights,
and similar rights
and licenses

Other
intangible assets

Down
payments

Total

Balance at January 1, 2014

36,062

140,602

435

177,099

Discontinued operations

-4,910

-8,115

-/-

-13,025

Continuing operations

31,152

132,487

435

164,074

Changes in the consolidation group

-3,675

3,504

1,071

900

Additions

16,162

16,211

261

32,634

Disposals

-1,311

-4,368

-265

-5,944

Reclassifications

44

1,175

-1,089

130

Currency effects

10

636

-/-

646

42,382

149,644

413

192,440

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

42,382

149,644

404

192,430

in kEUR
Acquisition or production cost

Balance as at 31 Dec. 2014
Discontinued operations

25. Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets in the amount of EUR 107,014 thousand (PY: EUR 105,414 thousand) are mainly composed
of software, industrial property rights, trademarks, orders on hand, and customer relationships. The significant
amounts result from brands with definite or indefinite useful lives of EUR 32,702 thousand (PY: EUR 33,045 thousand), capitalized development costs of EUR 9,258 thousand (PY: EUR 937 thousand), customer relationships
or customer bases at EUR 7,696 thousand (PY: EUR 11,315 thousand), and orders on hand of EUR 5,743 thousand
(PY: EUR 7,869 thousand). The increase in this item resulted mainly from newly acquired portfolio companies.

Continuing operations
Changes in the consolidation group

698

9,447

-/-

10,145

Additions

2,838

7,847

4,179

14,864

Disposals

-2,234

-3,304

-116

-5,654

398

-621

642

419

Reclassifications
Currency effects
Balance at December 31, 2015

1,260

1,153

-/-

2,413

45,342

164,166

5,109

214,617

-24,167

-59,963

-/-

-84,130

4,962

7,519

-/-

12,481

-19,205

-52,444

-/-

-71,649

-5,106

-17,084

-/-

-22,190

Depreciation and amortization

The carrying amounts of the other intangible assets can be found in the following table:

Balance at January 1, 2014
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Additions
Impairments (IAS 36)

-176

-738

-/-

-914

Disposals

1,221

2,344

-/-

3,565

Write-ups

-/-

4,486

-/-

4,486

Reclassifications

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Currency effects
Balance as at 31 Dec. 2014
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Additions
Impairments (IAS 36)

-/-

-324

-/-

-87,026

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-23,266

-63,760

-/-

-87,026

-7,890

-17,249

-/-

-25,139

-/-

-24

-/-

-24

1,938

488

-/-

2,426

Write-ups

12

1,725

-/-

1,737

-/-

862

-/-

862

Currency effects

-16

-424

-/-

-440

-29,221

-78,382

-/-

-107,603

Carrying amount December 31, 2014

19,116

85,885

413

105,414

Carrying amount December 31, 2015

16,121

85,784

5,109

107,014

Balance at December 31, 2015
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-63,760

Disposals
Reclassifications
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For the purpose of conducting impairment tests, brands with indefinite useful lives are assigned to cash-generating units. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined as the fair value less the costs to
sell (2% of fair value), applying the third valuation level. Because directly observable market prices generally do
not exist for the intangible assets in question, the fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows to
present value. In financial year 2015, no impairments were recognized in any intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives (PY: EUR 0 thousand). Impairment losses are presented within Depreciation, amortization and impairments in the statement of comprehensive income. In financial year 2015, it was appropriate to reverse prior-year
impairments primarily in the case of SECOP with respect to technologies (PY: 0 thousand). The corresponding
write-up, which is presented within Other operating income in the statement of comprehensive income,
amounted to EUR 1,725 thousand, and resulted from the considerably positive business performance. SECOP,
which is assigned to the Segment Industrial Production, was determined to be the cash-generating unit. The fair
value less costs to sell was calculated on the basis of a DCF model.
The trademarks with indefinite useful lives are subjected to an annual impairment test in accordance with

For purposes of estimating the development of revenues, EBIT and the EBIT margin, specific growth rates were
assumed in conducting the impairment test of the respective CGUs. The calculation of sustainably attainable
earnings is based on assumptions regarding various cost reduction measures. Furthermore, customary market
EBT margins were assumed for calculating the sustainably attainable earnings. The medium-term increase in EBIT
results from the current transformation process. In addition to the impairment test, three sensitivity analyses
were conducted. Zero growth was assumed for the first sensitivity analysis. For the second sensitivity analysis,
the discount factor was increased by 10 % for each group of cash-generating units. For the third sensitivity analysis, a flat-rate deduction of 10 % was applied to the assumed EBIT in perpetuity. These changes in the underlying
assumptions would also not result in a need to recognize impairments.
The capitalized development costs recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position within other
intangible assets amount to EUR 9,258 thousand at December 31, 2015 (PY: 937 thousand). The increase is attributable particularly to the acquisition of TAVEX Europe. In the reporting year, research and development expenses
amounted to EUR 24,380 thousand (PY: EUR 20,012 thousand).

IAS 36 (see Note 24 for details). They are not subject to straight-line amortization because they are so-called

umbrella brands. The cash-generating unit is the portfolio company in its entirety, as a general rule. There are
no exceptions to this rule.

Intangible assets in the amount of EUR 1,656 thousand (PY: EUR 1,648 thousand) have been pledged as security for
the Group’s financial liabilities.

The following intangible assets with indefinite useful lives existed at the end of the reporting year:

CGU

Growth rate
perpetuity

Discount factor
(WACC)
after taxes

Revenues

EBIT
Solid
Growth

Studienkreis Group

3,919

0.5%

9.25%

Solid
Growth

HanseYachts

9,966

0.5%

7.44%

Solid
Growth

Moderate
Growth

Carrying
amounts of
intangible assets
with indefinite
useful lives
12/31/2014
(in kEUR)

Growth rate
perpetuity

Discount factor
(WACC)
after taxes

Revenues

EBIT

Studienkreis Group

3,919

0.5%

11.86%

Solid
Growth

Solid
Growth

HanseYachts

9,966

0.5%

8.19%

Moderate
Growth

Solid
Growth

CGU

170 I

Carrying
amounts of
intangible assets
with indefinite
useful lives
12/31/2015
(in kEUR)
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As a result of the impairment tests conducted in accordance with IAS 36, it was necessary to recognize impairments particularly in the property, plant and equipment of the ISOCHEM Group. These writedowns to the recoverable amounts, which were less than the respective carrying amounts, amounted to EUR 2,697 thousand in
financial year 2014 (PY: EUR 5,066 thousand). The recoverable amount is based on the value in use. Impairment
losses are presented within Depreciation, amortization and impairments in the statement of comprehensive
income. The budget targets for 2015 were not fully attained. The French company ISOCHEM SAS was identified
as the cash-generating unit according to IAS 36. The value-in-use was determined on the basis of a DCF model.
The modeling was performed on the basis of a 3-year cash flow plan. The relevant cash flows for the time beyond the three-year period were calculated on the basis of appropriate growth rates. The assumed growth rate
after the detailed planning period was 0.5 %. The discount factor after taxes applied for this purpose was 8.67 %.
ISOCHEM SAS is assigned to the Industrial Production segment.
The carrying amounts of the property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2015, can be found in the following table:

Balance at January 1, 2014
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations
Acquisitions
Disposals

94,135

13,796

Total

49,597

410,252

-/-

-/-

-38

-5,491

-/-

-5,529

31,558

94,135

221,128

44,106

13,796

404,723

1,786

1,184

18,908

12,222

-584

33,516

-/-

1,608

22,620

11,365

14,112

49,706

-472

-1,391

-11,376

-9,202

-1,808

-24,249

-/-

951

6,626

2,955

-10,661

-130

Currency effects

300

687

5,316

603

540

7,446

33,172

97,174

263,223

62,049

15,395

471,012

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Continuing operations

33,172

97,174

263,223

62,049

15,395

471,012

Changes in the consolidation group

20,744

33,817

77,204

8,641

2,575

142,981

Balance at December 31, 2014
Discontinued operations

Acquisitions

304

4,013

14,796

13,853

17,549

50,515

-9,921

-10,712

-16,451

-19,148

-1,199

-57,431

Reclassifications

-/-

1,346

13,131

432

-16,283

-1,374

Currency effects

77

848

6,786

333

-76

7,968

44,376

126,486

358,689

66,160

17,961

613,672

-1,881

-17,379

-91,561

-23,458

-410

-134,689

-/-

-/-

19

3,807

-/-

3,826

-1,881

-17,379

-91,542

-19,651

-410

-130,863

-1

-5,668

-31,471

-12,195

-/-

-49,335

Impairments (IAS 36)

-11

-1,404

-3,651

-/-

-/-

-5,066

Disposals

-/-

2,493

11,987

9,994

-/-

24,474

Disposals

Balance at December 31, 2015
Depreciation and amortization
Balance at January 1, 2014
Continuing operations
Acquisitions

Reclassifications

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Currency effects

-158

-165

-1,671

-53

1

-2,046

-2,051

-22,123

-116,348

-21,905

-409

-162,836

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Balance at December 31, 2014
Discontinued operations
Continuing operations

-2,051

-22,123

-116,348

-21,905

-409

-162,836

Acquisitions

-/-

-6,298

-45,248

-13,536

-/-

-65,082

Impairments (IAS 36)

-91

-761

-1,842

-3

-/-

-2,697

Disposals

-/-

7,430

11,599

17,390

-/-

36,419

Write-ups

9

1,536

6,957

13

-/-

8,514

Transfers

-/-

-/-

-1

104

-/-

103

-3

-144

-1,176

-11

-108

-1,441

Balance at December 31, 2015

-2,136

-20,360

-142,386

-17,949

-517

-183,348

Carrying amount at December 31, 2014

31,121

75,051

146,875

40,144

14,986

308,177

Carrying amount at December 31, 2015

42,240

106,126

216,303

48,211

17,444

430,324

Currency effects
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31,558

Reclassifications

Discontinued operations

172 I

221,166

Acquisition or production costs

Changes in the consolidation group

Of the total property, plant and equipment, an amount of EUR 18,220 thousand (PY: EUR 46,778 thousand) has
been pledged as security for financial liabilities.

Advance payments
and assets under
construction

in kEUR

Other equipment,
operating and
office equipment

Property, plant and equipment in the total amount of EUR 430,324 thousand (PY: EUR 308,177 thousand) included
leased real estate and buildings in the amount of EUR 5,903 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), operational and office
equipment in the amount of EUR 1,793 thousand (PY: EUR 331 thousand) and leased technical equipment, plant
and machinery in the amount of EUR 13,237 thousand (PY: EUR 10,532 thousand). The corresponding assets are
classified as finance leases by reason of the contract formulation and therefore AURELIUS is considered to be the
economic owner of those assets. The contracts related to real estate and buildings at TAVEX Europe, operational
and office equipment at Getronics, brightONE, and B+P Gerüstbau, as well as technical equipment and machinery
at B+P Gerüstbau and ECOPlastics.

Land,
leasehold rights

26. Property, plant and equipment

Technical equipment, plant and
machinery

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

Buildings,
including buildings
on non-owned
land
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27. Investments

The change in cumulative impairments on inventories is as follows:

27.1 Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries
Both individually and in total, those companies are immaterial for the AURELIUS Group. Such shares are unchanged in including shares in the Berentzen Group, in the amount of EUR 360 thousand (PY: EUR 360 thousand).
All investments are recognized in the statement of financial position under non-current financial assets.
27.2 Investments in associated companies
The total amount at December 31, 2015 was EUR zero thousand (PY: EUR 101 thousand). The amount disclosed in
the prior year as per IAS 39 in the context of the acquisition of Publicitas has declined to zero because the remaining shares of the company were acquired in financial year 2015 so that it was fully consolidated at December 31,
2015 and is no longer disclosed in the investments in associated companies.
27.3 Other investments
The total amount of EUR 73 thousand (PY: EUR 107 thousand) primarily involves investments by the Berentzen
Group in the amount of EUR 10 thousand (PY: EUR 10 thousand) and an investment by B+P Gerüstbau in the
amount of EUR 5 thousand (PY: EUR 5 thousand). This item also includes the atypical equity investments held by
the Studienkreis Group in connection with the franchise system, in the amount of EUR 30 thousand (PY: EUR 92
thousand).

28. Inventories

Impairments on inventories

in kEUR

Balance at 01/01
Impairments

2015

2014

13,727

10,580

8,141

5,323

Write-ups

-6,420

-2,176

Balance at 12/31

15,448

13,727

Of the total inventories, an amount of EUR 20,060 thousand (PY: EUR 19,275 thousand) has been pledged as security for financial liabilities. The write-ups relate to impairments taken in the prior year for which circumstances
exist for a write-up to the lower of acquisition or production costs or net realizable value.

29. Trade receivables
Total trade receivables of EUR 368,057 thousand (PY: EUR 309,442 thousand) were held mainly by Getronics in the
amount of EUR 96,514 thousand (PY: EUR 100,705 thousand), Publicitas in the amount of EUR 62,739 thousand (PY:
EUR 79,710 thousand), SECOP in the amount of EUR 39,220 thousand (PY: EUR 37,547 thousand), SOLIDUS in the
amount of EUR 27,474 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), and MEZ in the amount of EUR 18,458 thousand (PY: EUR 0
thousand).
All receivables are due in one year or less.

The inventories break down as follows:
in kEUR

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

104,937

58,723

Raw materials and supplies

62,402

52,440

Semi-finished goods and services in progress

42,607

35,528

68

137

210,014

146,828

-/-

-/-

210,014

146,828

Finished goods and trading stock

Advance payments
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total inventories

Inventories of finished goods and trading stock were held primarily by SOLIDUS in the amount of EUR 20,075
thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), MEZ in the amount of EUR 15,701 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), SECOP in the
amount of EUR 15,165 thousand (PY: EUR 12,669 thousand), the ISOCHEM Group in the amount of EUR 11,964
thousand (PY: 12,796 thousand), and the Berentzen Group in the amount of EUR 11,795 thousand (PY: EUR 12,600
thousand).

Of the receivables, an amount of EUR 20,857 thousand (PY: EUR 27,378 thousand) has been pledged as security for
financial liabilities.
The change in cumulative impairments on trade receivables is as follows:
mpairments
Balance at 01/01
Valuation allowances on receivables

in kEUR

2015

2014

10,342

11,114

6,254

851

-3,402

-1,243

Amounts received during the financial year from written-off receivables

-539

-215

Write-ups

-270

-163

Amounts written-off during the financial year because uncollectible

Currency conversion
Balance at 12/31

-1

-2

12,384

10,342

For information on default risk, maturity analysis and risk concentration of receivables, please refer to Note 57 ff.
of the present notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Inventories of raw materials and supplies were held mainly by SECOP in the amount of EUR 17,759 thousand (PY:
EUR 18,664 thousand), HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 7,074 thousand (PY: EUR 7,874 thousand), the Berentzen Group in the amount of EUR 6,722 thousand (PY: EUR 6,867 thousand) and the ISOCHEM Group in the
amount of EUR 5,488 thousand (PY: EUR 5,128 thousand).
Inventories of semi-finished goods and services were held primarily by the Berentzen Group in the amount of
EUR 13,765 thousand (PY: EUR 12,569 thousand) and by HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 9,191 thousand (PY:
EUR 9,058 thousand).
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30. Income tax assets
The current income tax assets in the amount of EUR 7,150 thousand (PY: EUR 5,862 thousand) were mainly held by
TAVEX Europe in the amount of EUR 2,945 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), and Getronics in the amount of EUR
1,072 thousand (PY: EUR 702 thousand).

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

Of the total cash and cash equivalents, an amount of EUR 19,859 thousand (PY: EUR 21,077 thousand) has been
pledged as security (“restricted cash”). Thus the cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as presented in the consolidated cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
in kEUR

31. Derivative financial instruments
The stated derivative financial instruments in the amount of EUR 4 thousand (PY: EUR 38 thousand) were held by
the Berentzen Group. They served the purpose of hedging foreign currency risks associated with future purchases
of goods.

32. Other financial assets
The other financial assets in the amount of EUR 50,694 thousand (PY: EUR 65,462 thousand) consisted mainly of
factoring receivables in the amount of EUR 34,245 thousand (PY: EUR 34,467 thousand) and security deposits in the
amount of EUR 5,153 thousand (PY: EUR 4,146 thousand). This item also includes receivables under construction
contracts in the amount of EUR 3,164 thousand (PY: EUR 127 thousand).

33. Other assets
The stated other assets in the amount of EUR 55,880 thousand (PY: EUR 49,715 thousand) consisted mainly of
sales tax assets in the amount of EUR 14,958 thousand (PY: EUR 12,675 thousand), receivables due from the
public sector in the amount of EUR 4,010 thousand (PY: EUR 5,076 thousand), and receivables from down payments in the amount of EUR 3,641 thousand (PY: EUR 555 thousand).

Cash and cash equivalents

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

548,943

333,344

Restricted cash

-19,859

-21,077

Net funds in the cash flow statement

529,084

312,267

36. Noncurrent assets held for sale
The items presented as Assets held for sale and Liabilities held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial
position at December 31, 2014 mainly consisted of the equity investment in Compagnie de Gestion et de Prêts,
which was sold in the first quarter of 2015.
In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, an impairment test was conducted before reclassifying this amount
from the item of property, plant and equipment to the item of assets held for sale, in order to determine if the fair
value less costs to sell may possibly be less than the carrying amount. Recognition occurs at the lower of their fair
value less foreseeable costs to sell or their carrying amount to date. The fair value less costs to sell is determined
on an aggregated level and compared with the sum of the corresponding carrying amounts.
The pronounced decrease in these items compared to prior year resulted from the fact that there are no material
assets and liabilities at the December 31, 2015, reporting date that are recognized under assets held for sale and
liabilities held for sale.

34. Asset-side accruals/deferrals
The item of accrual and deferral in the amount of EUR 52,825 thousand (PY: EUR 79,012 thousand) is allocated
primarily to Getronics in the amount of EUR 28,828 thousand (PY: EUR 52,317 thousand) and Publicitas in the
amount of EUR 14,780 thousand (PY: EUR 19,062 thousand).

35. Cash and cash equivalents
The total cash and cash equivalents of EUR 548,943 thousand (PY: EUR 333,344 thousand) were mainly held by
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA in the amount of EUR 218,711 thousand (PY: EUR 103,250 thousand), the Berentzen Group

in the amount of EUR 64,680 thousand (PY: EUR 42,012 thousand), Getronics in the amount of EUR 44,741 thousand (PY: EUR 57,187 thousand), Publicitas in the amount of EUR 43,421 thousand (PY: EUR 33,989 thousand) and
SECOP in the amount of EUR 19,219 thousand (PY: EUR 21,508 thousand).
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40. Other reserves

37. Subscribed capital

The other reserves include the reserve from foreign currency translation of foreign business operations, cash
flow hedges, and the revaluation reserve for defined benefit obligations from pension obligations. The
development in the reporting year can be found in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The share capital of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA in the amount of EUR 31,680 thousand (PY: EUR 31,680 thousand) is
fully paid in. It is divided into 31,680,000 no-par shares, each representing a proportional share of capital equal to
EUR 1.00. There were 31,335,502 shares outstanding at December 31, 2015 (PY: 31,520,021 shares). In financial year
2015, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA acquired a total of 184,519 treasury shares; together with the 159,979 shares acquired
in financial year 2015, the number of treasury shares at December 31, 2015, amounts to 344,498 shares.

38. Additional paid-in capital
The additional paid-in capital reserve of AURELIUS amounts to EUR 61,350 thousand (PY: EUR 52,093 thousand).
The significant increase results primarily from the convertible bond issued on November 25, 2015. Due to conversion terms applicable to the convertible bond of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA , a conversion of the bond is considered extremely unlikely until December 22, 2018. Therefore, a provision was funding in the amount of EUR 16,101
thousand for the difference between the market interest rate of comparable investment opportunities and the
interest rate of the convertible bond for this period.

39. Retained earnings
In financial year 2015, a dividend of EUR 62,800 thousand was paid to shareholders from the distributable profit
of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA for financial year 2014, which amounted to EUR 133,046 thousand, by virtue of the
corresponding resolution of the annual general meeting of June 15, 2015. That corresponds to a dividend of
EUR 2.00 per common share. An amount of EUR 70,246 thousand was carried forward to new account. On the
day of the annual general meeting, the company held 279,998 treasury shares that do not qualify for dividends
pursuant to Section 71b AktG. The amount allocated to these shares is already included in the retained amount
of EUR 70,246 thousand.
Under the German Stock Corporations Act, the amount of dividend that can be paid to shareholders is
determined on the basis of the distributable profit presented in the separate financial statements of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA , which are drawn up in accordance with the accounting regulations of the German
Commercial Code. The profit utilization proposal of the general partner states that the company will pay a
dividend of EUR 1.45 per share from the distributable profit presented in the separate, commercial-law financial statements for 2015, which amounted to EUR 125,881 thousand. That corresponds to a total dividend payout of EUR 45,936 thousand. Under the profit utilization proposal, an amount of EUR 79,945 thousand will be
carried forward to new account. If the company holds treasury shares, which do not qualify for dividends
pursuant to Section 71b AktG, on the day of the annual general meeting, the dividend attributable to such
treasury shares will be carried forward to new account.
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41. Non-controlling interests
The adjustment item for non-controlling interests in the amount of EUR 32,538 thousand (PY: EUR 33,617 thousand) pertained in particular to the Berentzen Group and HanseYachts. The non-controlling interests in Getronics,
which were still presented in the prior-year statement of financial position, are no longer presented because the
existing call option for the still-outstanding shares in Getronics was exercised by AURELIUS in 2015. In total, the
share held by non-controlling interests in the activity and cash flows of the Group is of subordinate importance.

42. Authorized Capital
The Authorized Capital of July 6, 2009 (Authorized Capital 2009/I) was not utilized. At the reporting date of
 ecember 31, 2009, therefore, the amount was unchanged at EUR 4,661 thousand. By resolution of the annual
D
general meeting of July 27, 2010, the existing Authorized Capital (Authorized Capital 2009/I) was annulled. By
virtue of the same resolution, a new Authorized Capital (Authorized Capital 2010/I) was created. This resolution
was annulled by resolution of the annual general meeting of May 16, 2013 and a new Conditional Capital 2013/I,
which was adjusted to reflect the new increased capital, was created. This Authorized Capital was partially used
in the context of the capital increase of July 22, 2013, and amounted to EUR 11,520 thousand at December 31, 2014.
The Authorized Capital 2031/I was annulled by resolution of the annual general meeting of June 15, 2015. In the
same resolution, a new Authorized Capital (Authorized Capital 2015/I) was created that was again adjusted to the
current capital. Accordingly, the Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by a total of up to EUR 15,840 thousand on one or more occasions in the time until June 14,
2020, by issuing up to 15,840,000 new bearer shares, each representing a proportional share of capital equal to
EUR 1.00, in exchange for cash or in-kind capital contributions (Authorized Capital 2015/I). In certain cases, the Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription right of shareholders. The Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to define the share rights
and the terms and conditions of issue and to establish further particulars related to the conduct of the capital
increase. The Authorized Capital at the reporting date of December 31, 2015, amounts to EUR 15,840 thousand.

43. Conditional Capital
The Conditional Capital 2013/I was annulled by resolution of the annual general meeting of June 15, 2015. By
virtue of the same resolution, the share capital was raised conditionally by up to EUR 4,700 thousand through
the issuance of up to 4,700,000 new no-par bearer shares (Conditional Capital 2015/I). The conditional capital
increase serves the purpose of granting shares to the holders of convertible or warrant bonds, which may be
issued by virtue of the authorization granted by the annual general meeting in 2015. The conditional capital
increase will be conducted only to the extent that the holders of convertible and/or warrant bonds issued by
the company in the time until June 14, 2020, on the basis of the authorization granted by the annual general
meeting of June 15, 2015, exercise their conversion or warrant right, or when conversion obligations under such
debentures are fulfilled, and to the extent that other forms of servicing these obligations are not employed.
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44. Purchase of treasury shares

45. Provisions

By resolution of the annual general meeting of July 27, 2010, the Executive Board is authorized, in accordance
with Section 71 (1) (8) AktG, to purchase treasury shares of an amount equal to up to 10% of the share capital in
effect at the time of the resolution, that being EUR 31,680 thousand. This resolution was annulled by the annual
general meeting of May 21, 2014. By the same resolution, the Executive Board was authorized, in accordance
with Section 71 (1) (8) AktG, to purchase treasury shares of an amount equal to up to 10% of the share capital in
effect at the time of the resolution, that being EUR 31,680 thousand, or up to 10 % of the share capital at the
time of exercising this resolution, if the latter amount is smaller, in the time until May 20, 2019. The Executive
Board partially exercised this authorization in financial year 2015 as well as already in financial year 2014. At
December 31, 2015, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA held a total of 344,498 treasury shares, each representing a proportional share of capital equal to EUR 1.00. In total, this represents 1.09 % of the original share capital of EUR
31,680,000.00. A total of 184,519 treasury shares (PY: 159,979) were acquired in financial year 2015 at an average
price of EUR 38.09 (PY: EUR 28.49). The purchase price of the treasury shares totaled EUR 7,028 thousand (PY: EUR
4,558 thousand).

The structure of provisions at the reporting date of December 31, 2015 is presented in the table below:

According to IAS 32.33, treasury shares are not to be capitalized, but rather recognized as a deduction from equity.
According to the par-value method, the nominal amount of the acquired treasury shares is deducted from subscribed capital, and acquisition costs in excess thereof from the capital reserves.

The decline in provisions for onerous contracts from EUR 6,152 thousand to EUR 3,778 thousand is primarily
attributable to AKAD University since the provisions created in the prior year were not necessary to the extent
projected. The provisions for warranty obligations are largely unchanged and particularly relevant to SECOP
and HanseYachts.

The purpose of the authorization and purchases is to enable the Executive Board to offer shares of the company
for sale to institutional investors in Germany and abroad, and to adjust the company’s equity in a flexible manner
to reflect the business needs of the company, and to respond quickly to stock market situations, while upholding
the interests of shareholders. Furthermore, the authorization enables the company to offer treasury shares as
consideration for the acquisition of companies or investments in companies.

in kEUR
Onerous contracts
Warranties
Restructuring

1/1/2015

Change in
consolidation
group

Utilization

Appropriation

Reversal

Currency
translation

12/31/2015

6,152

1,095

-1,206

880

-3,232

89

3,778

4,818

-/-

-2,525

2,452

-18

33

4,760

14,768

4,590

-13,291

4,843

-1,588

-3

9,319

Commissions

1,398

-/-

-709

561

-335

74

990

Personnel

2,789

6,133

-1,539

1,242

-25

-1

8,599

Other

29,967

6,037

-16,862

17,522

-832

463

36,294

Total Provisions

59,892

17,855

-36,132

27,500

-6,030

655

63,740

The restructuring provisions in the total amount of EUR 9,319 thousand (PY: EUR 14,768 thousand) consisted mainly
of provisions for personnel measures, risk provisions and moving costs. The decline results primarily from utilization of provisions created in the prior year.
The personnel provisions in the total amount of EUR 8,599 thousand (PY: EUR 2,789 thousand) consisted exclusively of provisions for employee anniversary bonuses in the amount of EUR 2,612 thousand (PY: EUR 1,644 thousand), and provisions for partial early retirement arrangements (known in Germany as Altersteilzeit), in the
amount of EUR 5,987 thousand (PY: EUR 1,145 thousand). The increase in the reporting year is attributable primarily
to the acquisition of SOLIDUS.
The other provisions in the amount of EUR 36,294 thousand (PY: EUR 29,967 thousand) consisted mainly of
non-current environmental provisions in the amount of EUR 8,309 thousand (PY: EUR 8,878 thousand), as well as
provisions for site restoration obligations and various individual obligations vis-à-vis third parties, and other
provisions.
The maturity structure of provisions is presented in the table below:
in kEUR

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Non-current provisions

38,027

33,574

Current provisions

25,713

26,318

Total provisions

63,740

59,892

The total effect from the discounting and compounding as well as changes in the discount rate in the past
financial year amounts to EUR 252 thousand.
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46. Financial liabilities

Number (ISIN) DE000A1RE1V0. They are collateralized by pledge of the rights pledgeable under German law to
the brands Hanse, Moody, Fjord, Dehler, and Varianta, as well as of an account into which the amount for the
first interest payment is to be paid in favor of the bond creditors.

The breakdown of noncurrent financial liabilities is presented in the table below:
in kEUR
Liabilities to banks

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

27,717

53,531

Other financial liabilities

225,348

70,864

Total continuing operations

253,065

124,395

-/-

-/-

Discontinued operations
Total non-current financial liabilities

253,065

124,395

Liabilities due to banks existed mainly at SECOP in the amount of EUR 10,370 thousand (PY: EUR 12,481 thousand), B+P Gerüstbau in the amount of EUR 6,571 thousand (PY: EUR 7,954 thousand), and ECOPlastics in the
amount of EUR 4,017 thousand (PY: EUR 5,666 thousand). The average effective interest rate of the non-current
liabilities to banks is 3.02% per annum in the reporting year. The terms amount to no more than six years. The
proportion of fixed-interest loans is 14 percent.
The other financial liabilities consisted particularly of liabilities due to third parties of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA
in the amount of EUR 148,259 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), the Berentzen Group in the amount of EUR
49,579 thousand (PY: EUR 49,365 thousand), and HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 12,085 thousand (PY: EUR
12,001 thousand). The increase in this item resulted particularly from the issuance of a convertible bond by
AURELIUS SE in financial year 2015.
The subordinated and unsecured convertible bond issued by AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA with a total nominal
amount of EUR 166,300 thousand has a maturity term until the end of 2020, convertible into new and/or
existing no par value bearer shares of the company. The bond was exclusively offered for sale to and placed
with institutional investors outside of the USA , Canada, Australia, South Africa, New Zealand, and Japan, or
any other jurisdiction in which sales are prohibited under applicable law, in the course of an accelerated
bookbuilding procedure. The bond’s term ends on December 1, 2020. The convertible bond was placed at
100 percent of the nominal value, with a denomination of EUR 100,000 thousand per bond. The coupon payable annually is equal to 1.0 percent. The bond will be convertible into 3,166,000 thousand shares, which
corresponds to 9.994 percent of the current share capital of the company by exercising the right to issue
convertible bonds excluding the subscription rights of the shareholders. The initial conversion price of
EUR 52 .5229 was set with a conversion premium of 30.0 percent above the reference share price, which is
defined as the volume-weighted average price of the AURELIUS share in XETRA trading. According to the
terms, the bonds can be terminated by the company at any time (1) on or after December 22, 2018 (including
accrued interest not paid up to that time), if the share price (over a specified period) exceeds 130 percent of
the then-applicable conversion price or (2) if 20 percent or fewer of the total nominal value of the bond is still
outstanding.
The bond from the Berentzen Group dates from October 18, 2012, and had an issue volume of EUR 50,000
thousand. The interest coupon is equal to 6.50 percent and the term is five years with annual interest payments. This corporate bond has German securities identification number (WKN) A1RE1V and International
Securities Identification Number (ISIN) DE000A1RE1V3.
The bond from HanseYachts dates from June 3, 2014, and had an issue volume of EUR 13,000 thousand. The interest coupon is equal to 8.00 percent and the term is five years with annual interest payments. This corporate
bond has German securities identification number (WKN) A11QHZ and International Securities Identification
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The breakdown of current financial liabilities at the reporting date of December 31, 2015 is presented in the
table below:
in kEUR

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Liabilities to banks

78,991

33,265

Other financial liabilities

13,360

6,727

Total continuing operations

92,351

39,992

-/-

-/-

92,351

39,992

Discontinued operations
Total current financial liabilities

The financial liabilities due to banks pertained mainly to SECOP in the amount of EUR 22,708 thousand (PY: EUR
19,000 thousand) and SOLIDUS in the amount of EUR 22,113 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand). The current interest
rate of the current financial liabilities due to banks is 2.46 percent. The terms are a maximum of 12 months. The
proportion of fixed-interest loans amounts to 6 percent at the end of the reporting year.
The other financial liabilities pertained particularly to liabilities due to third parties at SOLIDUS in the amount of
EUR 6,827 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand) and Getronics in the amount of EUR 5,949 thousand (PY: EUR 6,609 thousand).

47. Trade payables
Trade payables in the total amount of EUR 328,182 thousand (PY: EUR 277,448 thousand) were owed to third
parties. They are measured at the settlement or repayment amount. They are due in full within one year or less.
Of the total amount, Publicitas accounted for EUR 82,622 thousand (PY: EUR 93,649 thousand), SECOP accounted
for EUR 62,317 thousand (PY: EUR 58,605 thousand), Getronics accounted for EUR 52,182 thousand (PY: EUR 54,402
thousand), SOLIDUS accounted for EUR 27,293 thousand (PY: EUR 0 thousand), and HanseYachts accounted for EUR
13,234 thousand (PY: EUR 15,296 thousand).

48. Income tax liabilities
The current income tax liabilities in the amount of EUR 13,264 thousand (PY: EUR 6,766 thousand) were mainly
held by the GHOTEL Group in the amount of EUR 3,173 thousand (PY: EUR 220 thousand), Getronics in the amount
of EUR 3,120 thousand (PY: EUR 373 thousand), and Allied Healthcare in the amount of EUR 2,848 thousand (PY:
EUR 0 thousand).

49. Derivative financial instruments
The liabilities-side derivative financial instruments in the amount of EUR 3,719 thousand (PY: EUR 3,542 thousand)
relate primarily to secured risks in connection with the purchase of copper from SECOP in the amount of EUR 415
thousand (PY: EUR 121 thousand) and interest rate swaps at the GHOTEL Group in the amount of EUR 3,241 thousand (PY: EUR 3,241 thousand), as well as at HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 58 thousand (PY: EUR 180 thousand).
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50. Liabilities under finance leases

This item consisted mainly of other interest-bearing liabilities, in the amount of EUR 25,359 thousand Euro (PY: EUR
26,857 thousand).

The Group’s property, plant and equipment include assets that are attributable to the AURELIUS Group as the
economic owner by reason of the formulation of the underlying leases (finance leases). The resulting minimum
lease payments amount to EUR 17,216 thousand. The lease obligations of the AURELIUS Group in the reporting
period and the prior year are presented in the table below.

53. Other liabilities

At 12/31/2015
in kEUR
– Due in up to one year
– Due in one to five years
– Due in more than five years
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total obligations under finance leases

The other current financial liabilities in the amount of EUR 25,752 thousand (PY: EUR 18,442 thousand) primarily
include other interest-bearing liabilities of EUR 1,475 thousand in the reporting year (PY: EUR 4,131 thousand).

Nominal amount

Discount amount

Present value

3,746

315

3,431

17,486

403

17,083

-/-

-/-

-/-

21,232

718

20,514

-/-

-/-

-/-

21,232

718

20,514

The other current liabilities in the total amount of EUR 224,353 thousand (PY: EUR 171,894 thousand) consisted
mainly of liabilities to employees in the amount of EUR 66,574 thousand (PY: EUR 43,328 thousand), debtors with
credit balances in the amount of EUR 42,889 thousand (PY: EUR 24,841 thousand), other taxes in the amount of
EUR 30,344 thousand (PY: EUR 24,737 thousand), and liabilities due to social insurance carriers, in the amount of
EUR 16,265 thousand (PY: EUR 14,655 thousand).

54. Liabilities-side accruals/deferrals
At 12/31/2014
in kEUR
– Due in up to one year
– Due in one to five years
– Due in more than five years
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total obligations under finance leases

Nominal amount

Discount amount

Present value

2,135

34

2,101

14,808

311

14,497

-/-

-/-

-/-

16,943

345

16,598

-/-

-/-

-/-

16,943

345

16,598

The item of liabilities-side accruals and deferrals in the amount of EUR 55,082 thousand (PY: EUR 79,823 thousand)
is allocated primarily to Publicitas in the amount of EUR 28,526 thousand (PY: EUR 28,803 thousand) and Getronics
in the amount of EUR 20,213 thousand (PY: EUR 44,911 thousand).

51. Liquor tax liabilities
As in the prior years, this item pertained to the reported liquor taxes of the Berentzen Group, which are due and
payable on the 5th day of the months of January and February, in accordance with the German Liquor Monopoly
Act.

52. Other financial liabilities
The other noncurrent financial liabilities in the amount of EUR 56,152 thousand (PY: EUR 55,690 thousand) consisted mainly of obligations under purchase price adjustment clauses (earn-outs), the occurrence of which is
deemed to be probable, which resulted from the acquisition of shares in companies.
At the reporting date of December 31, 2015, the fair value of earn-out liabilities classified as financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost amounted to EUR 700 thousand (PY: EUR 700 thousand). The fair values were calculated using the acquisition method in connection with the purchase price allocation process conducted in respect
of acquired companies. When such fair values are determined with reference to expected profits and losses, they
are updated on the basis of the budgets of the affected companies.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
55. Share-based payment agreements
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others who render comparable services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instrument on the grant date. The value of the stock option plan is measured by
way of financial mathematical methods based on the Monte Carlo option price model.
The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments at the grant date is charged as an expense on a straightline basis over the period until the vesting date with a corresponding increase in equity, based on the Group’s
expectations regarding the equity instruments that will probably become vested. At every reporting date, the
Group reviews its estimates of the number of equity instruments that are expected to become vested. The
effects of any changes in the original estimates are recognized in profit or loss over the period remaining until
the vesting date by means of making the appropriate adjustments to reserves.
In respect of cash-settled share-based payments, the Group recognizes a liability in the amount of the proportion of goods or services received, measured at fair value, at every reporting date. Share-based payment plans
defined as cash-settled plans are remeasured at every reporting date. Changes in the fair value are to be recognized in profit or loss.

■■ Salary risk
The present value of the defined benefit obligation arising from the plans is calculated based on the future
salaries of the entitled employees. Salary increases for the entitled employees thus lead to an increase in the
plan obligation.

Defined benefit obligations are owed by virtue of direct commitments and vis-à-vis external pension entities
(pension funds or insurance companies in foreign countries).
The characteristics of the defined benefit plans vary, depending on the legal, tax-related and economic conditions
in each country. Material features of the defined benefit plans are discussed in the following.

Belgium
Various pension plans, most of which include both old-age and widow’s pensions, are in effect in Belgium.
The amount of pension benefits is determined on the basis of the pension-eligible compensation, as well as,
in some cases, the average salary upon reaching an age limit. The regular retirement age for the Belgian pension plans is 65. As a general rule, the benefits are funded by means of insurance policies, which are subject
to Belgian regulatory oversight. The insurance companies comply with the legally mandated minimum funding requirements. If the pension obligations are underfunded, the employer is required to make additional
contributions.

Germany

56. Pension obligations

The pension commitments in Germany are governed by different pension plans. They mainly include old-age,
disability, and widow’s pensions. In most cases, the amount of pension benefits is determined on the basis of
the pension-eligible compensation, years of service with the company, and the employee’s age. The regular retirement age is normally 60 to 65. The pension obligations are funded mainly by means of employer’s pension
liability insurance, investment funds, and from the operating cash flow of the companies.

Pension provisions are recognized in accordance with IAS 19 (Employee Benefits).

France

No stock option plans are in effect with employees of the Group’s subsidiaries.

The pension provisions mainly consist of benefits payable under company pension plans. Due to these plans, the
Group is normally subjected to various actuarial risks:
■■ Investment risk
The present value of defined benefit obligations arising from the plans is calculated using a discount rate that
is determined based on the returns of first-seniority fixed-interest corporate bonds. If the income from the
plan assets falls below this interest rate, this leads to underfunding of the plan.
■■ Interest rate risk

A decline in the bond interest rate leads to an increase in the plan obligation, but this is partially offset by
increased income from investment of the plan assets in fixed-interest debt instruments.
■■ Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit obligation arising from the plans is calculated based on the best possible
estimate of the expected mortalities of the entitled employees both during the employment relationship as well
as after its termination. An increase in the life expectancy of the entitled employees leads to an increase in the
plan obligation.
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Under French law, companies are required to provide old-age pensions on a generalized basis. The amount of
pension benefits, which depends on the employee’s years of service, has been specified as part of a collective
bargaining agreement for the chemical industry, and in accordance with internal company regulations. The regular retirement age in France is 60, subject to the condition that the employee has at least 40 years of service. The
early retirement age in France for employees who are exposed to hazardous substances (e. g., asbestos) is 50. The
resulting obligations are funded from the operating cash flow of the companies.

United Kingdom
A defined benefit pension plan is in effect in the United Kingdom. The amount of pension benefits is determined
on the basis of the pension-eligible compensation. This amount depends on the vested pension claims at the reporting date (retirement account). This plan is closed to new hires and no further claims can be earned. By virtue
of the applicable laws and regulations, the vested benefits must be adjusted to account for inflation effects,
which are capped at a maximum limit. The obligations are funded by assets administered by a trustee. The funding terms are determined in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The necessary funding amounts
are resolved jointly by the employer and the trustee. The investment strategy is defined by the trustee, together
with the employer. The Board of Trustees is composed of both employer and employee representatives.
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Switzerland
Although the Swiss pension plan is a defined contribution plan as per the Company Pensions Act, it is treated
as a defined benefit plan in accordance with IAS 19 by reason of the obligatory rate of return on plan assets and
the currently assumed payment of life-long pension benefits. Until the end of financial year 2014, the pension
plan was administered by various employers with the pension fund of PubliGroupe. Benefits are paid in the
event of retirement, death, or disability of employees. The pension plan is based on the accumulated retirement credits plus interest and the conversion rate, which converts the saved retirement credits into a pension
at the retirement date. Every employee can choose one of two difference scales for the retirement credits: a
standard plan and a plan known as SUP, which features higher credits. The contributions deducted from the
employee’s salary are pension-eligible and vary from 0% to 20% of the insured compensation. For all employees, the insured compensation is equal to the annual compensation minus a coordination fee equal to 40/65 of
the annual old-age and survivor’s insurance. The saved retirement assets bear interest at an interest rate
specified by the Board of Trustees of the foundation. The plan must pay interest on the statutory retirement
assets at the minimum interest rate required by the BVG (1.75% for the year 2015). In addition to pension benefits, the pension plan guarantees benefits upon the disability or death of an active employee. If an active
employee becomes disabled, a pension equal to the projected pension, but no more than 65% of the insured
compensation, must be paid for as long as the disability lasts, until retirement age is reached. Upon the
death of an active employee, pension benefits are paid to the surviving spouse and to minor-age orphans,
and a death benefit is paid additionally. The pension obligations are funded by assets. In accordance with the
BVG, the Board of Trustees of the pension fund is responsible for the Swiss pension plan. The duties of the
Board of Trustees are specified in the BVG and in the bylaws of the pension fund. Effective January 1, 2015, the
employees of the Swiss Publicitas companies have been insured under a new plan with a collective foundation. The new plan is similar to the old plan.
The plan modification is allocated primarily to a Swiss company. Due to an increase in the conversion rates of
a collective foundation, the pension obligation increased by EUR 1,081 thousand.
Other pension obligations are immaterial when considered separately and are recognized as a total under
Other.
Important actuarial assumptions applied as of the reporting date in the Group’s different geographical locations are described in the following.
Germany

France
12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Discount factor

2.28%

2.12%

Pension trend

1.48%

1.37%

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Discount factor

1.86%

2.01%

Salary trend

2.09%

2.50%

Belgium

12/31/2014

Discount factor

1.98%

1.50%

Salary trend

2.25%

2.50%

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Discount factor

3.93%

3.60%

Inflation

3.10%

2.10%

United Kingdom

Switzerland
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12/31/2015

Other
12/31/2015

12/31/2014

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Discount factor

0.81%

1.00%

Discount factor

1.80%

-/-

Salary trend

1.70%

1.50%

Salary trend

1.40%

-/-
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In the case of the German companies, the assumptions concerning future mortality rates are based on the
Mortality Tables 2005 G of Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck. In the other countries, actuarial computations are conducted
on the basis of country-specific mortality tables.
Assuming other assumptions remain constant, this would have produced the following effects on the projected unit credit value, in the event of possible changes in material valuation parameters.
Germany
in kEUR

France
12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Discount factor +1 %

-10,008

-10,907

Discount factor +1 %

in kEUR

Discount factor -1 %

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

-507

-693

12,718

14,671

Discount factor -1 %

593

525

Life expectancy +1 year

1,414

3,769

Salary trend +0.5 %

283

514

Life expectancy -1 year

Salary trend -0.5 %

-1,414

-1,100

-264

-696

Pension trend +0.5 %

6,881

4,419

Pension trend +0.5 %

-/-

-/-

Pension trend -0.5 %

-5,793

-4,277

Pension trend -0.5 %

-/-

-/-

Belgium
in kEUR

United Kingdom
12/31/2015

12/31/2014

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Discount factor +1 %

-1,431

-379

Discount factor +1 %

in kEUR

-41,802

-28,169

Discount factor -1 %

847

30

Discount factor -1 %

50,679

37,095

Salary trend +0.5 %

118

1,850

Pension trend +0.5 %

12

12,294

Salary trend -0.5 %

-86

-2,182

Pension trend -0.5 %

-11

-11,021

Life expectancy +1 year

17

34

Life expectancy +1 year

2,420

4,147

Life expectancy -1 year

-18

-100

Life expectancy -1 year

-2,420

-4,167

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Discount factor +1 %

-49,808

-16,357

Discount factor +1 %

-415

-/-

Discount factor -1 %

61,773

93,589

Discount factor -1 %

481

-/-

Salary trend +0.5 %

1,249

34,386

Salary trend +0.5 %

21

-/-

Salary trend -0.5 %

-1,088

31,571

Salary trend -0.5 %

-18

-/-

Life expectancy +1 year

23,880

44,675

Life expectancy +1 year

- 402

-/-

Life expectancy -1 year

-24,038

19,499

Life expectancy -1 year

-373

-/-

Switzerland
in kEUR

Other
in kEUR

The foregoing sensitivity analysis is unlikely to be representative for the actual change in the defined benefit
obligation because it can be considered improbable that deviations from the assumptions made will occur in
isolation from each other, since the assumptions are partially related to each other.
For financial year 2015, AURELIUS anticipates employer contributions to external pension funds in the amount of
approximately EUR 31,009 thousand (PY: EUR 4,254 thousand) and employee contributions to plan assets in the
amount of approximately EUR 920 thousand (PY: EUR 143 thousand). Most of these contributions pertain to
Belgium and Switzerland.
AURELIUS does not employ a uniform asset-liability matching strategy on the Group level. Such strategies are

implemented individually on the level of the operating segments.
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The reconciliation of the change in the fair value of plan assets is presented in the table below:

The development of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) is presented in the table below:
in kEUR

2015

2014

Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 01/01

747,984

236,961

Changes in consolidation group

144,889

423,646

Additions/disposals

-7,283

1,710

Interest expenses

14,254

13,501

Service cost (including employee contributions)

7,824

5,038

160

6

Actuarial gain (-) or loss (+) from financial assumptions

1,967

78,413

Actuarial gain (-) or loss (+) from experience-based adjustments

2,729

12,310

Actuarial gain (-) or loss (+) from demographic assumptions

Employer payments on account of pension obligations
Employee contributions
Benefit payments (including tax payments)
Plan changes / transfers
Insurance premiums
Exchange rate changes
Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 12/31

-203

-978

2,265

1,650

-97,878

-32,686

727

-4,588

-252

-252

63,690

13,253

880,873

747,984

60,695

123,469

820,178

624,515

thereof:
Not funded
Fully or partially funded

At the reporting date, the weighted average duration of defined benefit obligations is 18 years (PY: 12 years) in
Belgium, 14 years (PY: 16 years) in Germany, 10 years (PY: 9 years) in France, 20 years (PY: 20 years) in the United
Kingdom, and 13 years (PY: 21 years) in Switzerland.

2015

2014

Fair value of plan assets at 01/01

in kEUR

672,466

230,105

Changes in consolidation group

131,880

398,133

Addition

-2,688

6,127

Interest income

11,802

11,089

Gain (+) or loss (-) on plan assets, excluding the amount stated
in interest income

42,633

37,671

-96,873

-32,579

Benefit payments
Employer contributions

1,899

3,887

Plan participant contributions

2,384

1,650

Exchange rate changes
Fair value of plan assets at 12/31

67,869

16,383

831,372

672,466

The reconciliation of the funding status with the amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position is presented in the table below:
in kEUR

2015

2014

Projected unit credit value of pension commitments at 12/31

880,873

747,984

Less fair value of plan assets at 12/31

831,372

672,466

51,728

49,046

5,633

-/-

106,862

124,566

Non-capitalized assets from plan assets
Plan assets recognized as net assets
Net accounting obligation at 12/31

The breakdown of the total projected unit credit obligation by corporate groups is presented in the table below:
In the table below, the defined benefit obligation and plan assets are broken down by geographical locations:
12/31/2015
Active employees

France

Belgium

United
Kingdom

Switzerland

Other

18%

94%

50%

- /-

35%

22%

Vested benefits of
departed employees

46%

- /-

48%

45%

- /-

- /-

Pension recipients

36%

6%

2%

55%

65%

78%

Germany

France

Belgium

United
Kingdom

Switzerland

Other

Active employees

45%

100%

55%

20%

58%

- /-

Vested benefits of
departed employees

37%

- /-

43%

47%

- /-

- /-

Pension recipients

18%

- /-

2%

33%

42%

- /-

12/31/2014
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in kEUR

Defined benefit obligation

12/31/2015
Germany

France

Belgium

United
Kingdom

Switzerland

Other

93,427

5,568

27,530

252,265

496,153

5,930

Fair value of plan assets

-16,946

-/-

-25,638

-309,195

-477,622

-1,971

Total

76,481

5,568

1,892

-56,930

18,531

3,959

Germany

France

Belgium

United
Kingdom

Switzerland

Other

in kEUR

Defined benefit obligation

12/31/2014

93,641

5,959

26,344

167,124

454,917

-/-

Fair value of plan assets

-17,777

-/-

-23,757

-215,766

-415,164

-/-

Total

75,864

5,959

2,587

-48,642

39,753

-/-
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The plan assets of AURELIUS comprise the following:
in kEUR

12/31/2015
United

Cash and cash equivalents
Funds, equity interests

Germany

Belgium

Kingdom

Switzerland

Other

-/-

-/-

4,806

-/-

355

14,244

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Derivatives

-/-

-/-

33,179

-/-

-/-

Bonds

-/-

-/-

176,333

-/-

1,163

Real estate

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Other
Total plan assets

in kEUR

2,702

25,639

94,877

477,622

454

16,946

25,639

309,195

477,622

1,972

Germany

Belgium

Kingdom

Switzerland

Other

12/31/2014
United

Cash and cash equivalents

-/-

-/-

-/-

17,852

-/-

15,068

-/-

12,373

127,871

-/-

Derivatives

-/-

-/-

65,540

-/-

-/-

Bonds

-/-

-/-

136,336

130,777

-/-

Real estate

-/-

-/-

-/-

110,849

-/-

Funds, equity interests

Other
Total plan assets

2,709

23,757

2,517

27,816

-/-

17,777

23,757

215,766

415,165

-/-

The funds are traded in active markets, therefore, market prices are available. Risk is minimized by means of
geographical diversification as well as strategic diversification. The bonds mainly include corporate bonds and
government bonds that are also traded in active markets, and have a high credit rating.
In contrast, the derivatives are not traded in an active market.
The majority of the other plan assets include receivables from insurance companies in Germany, Switzerland,
and Belgium. These insurers are leading global insurance companies.
In addition to the expense from defined benefit plans, expenses in the amount of EUR 13,880 thousand (prior
year: EUR 13,692 thousand) were taken into account in the fiscal year for payments to external pension funds for
defined contribution plans.
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57.

Capital risk management

58.

Categories of financial instruments

59.

Goals of financial risk management

60.

Market risk

61.

Value-at-risk analysis

62.

Currency risk management

63.

Interest rate risk management

64.

Other price risk

65.

Default risk management

66.

Liquidity risk management

67.

Measurement at fair value
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

58. Categories of financial instruments
The following table shows the breakdown into various categories of financial instruments:

57. Capital risk management

Measurement
category per

amount

Fair value

Note

IAS 39

12/31/2015

12/31/2015

27

LaR

9,626

9,626

27

Afs

432

432

Trade receivables

29

LaR

368,057

368,057

Derivative financial instruments

31

FA-FV

4

4

Other financial assets

32

LaR

50,694

50,694

Cash and cash equivalents

35

LaR

548,943

548,943

Financial liabilities

46

FLAC

253,065

253,065

Liabilities under finance leases

50

FLAC

17,083

17,083

Derivative financial instruments

49

FL-FV

3,356

3,356

Other financial liabilities

52

FLAC

56,152

56,152

Financial liabilities

46

FLAC

92,351

92,351

Trade payables

47

FLAC

328,182

328,182

Liabilities under finance leases

50

FLAC

3,431

3,431

Derivative financial instruments

49

FL-FV

363

363

Other financial liabilities

52

FLAC

25,752

25,752

977,320

977,320

432

432

The overriding objective of AURELIUS’ capital management program is to ensure that the Group can effectively
achieve its goals and strategies, in the interest of its shareholders, employees, and other stakeholders. AURELIUS
focuses on the acquisition and restructuring of companies in transitional or exceptional situations. Consequently,
the primary objective is to ensure the continued operation of all Group companies as going concerns and to
ensure an optimal balance between equity and debt, for the benefit of all stakeholders. The greater share of the
Group’s capitalization needs is handled by its operating entities. Capital is monitored at the Group level by means
of a regular reporting system, so that the Group can intervene with support and optimization measures when
necessary. Furthermore, decisions concerning dividend payments and capital measures are made on a case-bycase basis, with reference to the internal reporting system and in consultation with the subsidiaries.

in kEUR

The capital managed by way of the Group’s capital management program encompasses current and non-current
liability items, as well as equity components. The development of the Group’s capital structure over time and the
associated change in dependency on external lenders are measured by means of the so-called “gearing ratio”. The
gearing ratio is calculated with reference to the reporting date. By reason of the particular market environment in
which AURELIUS operates, which entails unusual capital requirements, as well as the changes that typically occur
in the Group’s basis of consolidation, its gearing ratio is not as informative as it is for companies operating in other
sectors.
The gearing ratio was lower in the reporting period than it was in 2014:
in kEUR

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

Non-current liabilities

570,849

427,927

Current liabilities

813,479

647,174

1,384,328

1,075,101

537,100

387,311

2.58

2.78

Total liabilities
Equity
Gearing ratio

The net debt-to-equity ratio of the AURELIUS Group decreased sharply in the reporting period, with the result that
the Group’s net debt was backed by equity at the rate of 66.3 % (prior year: 51.0 %) at the reporting date of December 31, 2015:

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets

Current assets

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Thereof aggregated by measurement categories
per IAS 39
Loans and receivables (LaR)
Financial assets available for sale (Afs)

in kEUR
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities

12/31/2014

570,849

427,927

813,479

647,174

1,384,328

1,075,101

Cash and cash equivalents

548,943

333,344

Net liabilities

825,385

741,757

Equity

537,100

387,311

1.54

1.92

Net debt
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Carrying

Financial assets measured at fair value (FA - FV)
Financial liabilities measured at fair value (FL - FV)

4

4

3,719

3,719

776,016

776,016

Financial liabilities
Bmeasured at amortized cost (FLAC)

AU RE L I U S A N N UA L RE PO RT

I 2 01

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

Measurement

Carrying

category per

amount

Fair value

Note

IAS 39

12/31/2014

12/31/2014

27

LaR

2,859

2,859

27

Afs

618

618

Trade receivables

29

LaR

309,442

309,442

Derivative financial instruments

31

FA-FV

38

38

Other financial assets

32

LaR

65,462

65,462

Cash and cash equivalents

35

LaR

333,344

333,344

in kEUR
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets

Current assets

Financial liabilities

46

FLAC

124,395

124,395

Liabilities under finance leases

50

FLAC

14,497

14,497

Derivative financial instruments

49

FL-FV

3,362

3,362

Other financial liabilities

52

FLAC

55,690

55,690

Financial liabilities

46

FLAC

39,992

39,992

Trade payables

47

FLAC

277,448

277,448

Liabilities under finance leases

50

FLAC

2,101

2,101

Derivative financial instruments

49

FL-FV

180

180

Other financial liabilities

52

FLAC

18,442

18,442

711,107

711,107

618

618

Current liabilities

Thereof aggregated by measurement categories
per IAS 39

Financial assets measured at fair value (FA - FV)
Financial liabilities measured at fair value (FL - FV)

The purpose of the following comments is to provide information concerning the amount, timing, and probability of cash flows that are expected to result from financial instruments. The risks associated with financial
instruments and the use of financial instruments include:
■■ Credit and default risk;
■■ Market risk (comprising foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and other price risks).

Non-current liabilities

Financial assets, available for sale (Afs)

A financial instrument is defined as a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one party to the contract
and a financial liability or equity instrument of the other party. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and loan receivables, as well as so-called certificated receivables such as checks and
debentures, for example. Financial liabilities include trade payables and liabilities due to banks and/or third
parties. As an internationally active group, AURELIUS is exposed to various financial risks related to the use of
such financial instruments.

■■ Liquidity risk, and

LIABILITIES

Loans and receivables (LaR)

59. Goals of financial risk management

38

38

3,542

3,542

532,565

532,565

The Group’s overarching capital management program is focused on the unpredictability of developments in
the financial markets and is designed to minimize any potential adverse effects on the Group’s cash flows.
Thus, AURELIUS manages its capital with the goal of ensuring that all Group companies can operate under the
premise of a going concern, while also maximizing the income of the Group’s subsidiaries by means of an optimal ratio of equity to debt capital. The Group’s overall strategy is unchanged from the previous year. The
Group’s capital structure consists of the Group’s net liabilities and equity. The equity, in turn, is composed of
shares outstanding, the share premium and other reserves, retained earnings, and non-controlling interests.
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
Risk management is conducted at the level of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA and the Group’s individual operating entities,
which apply the guidelines and principles adopted by the management. The Corporate Finance Department
provides services to the portfolio companies and coordinates access to national and international financial
markets. Corporate Finance also monitors and controls the financial risks associated with the portfolio companies by means of the internal reporting system, by which risks are analyzed with regard to their degree and
extent. Financial risks are identified, assessed, and hedged. For this purpose, appropriate guidelines based on
the applicable legal requirements and the Minimum Requirements for Risk Management (MaRisk) of banks are
applied as part of the Group-wide risk strategy.

Financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost (FLAC)
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60. Market risk
Market risk is understood as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate
due to changes in market prices. Therefore, market risk is subsumed under currency risk, interest rate risk, and
other price risks.
Market risk positions can be measured by means of a value-at-risk analysis and/or sensitivity analyses.
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Carrying
in kEUR

Carrying

amount

amount

12/31/2015

in %

12/31/2014

in %

368,057

87.89%

309,442

82.54%

50,694

12.11%

65,462

17.46%

418,751

100.00%

374,904

100.00%

GBP (British pound)

77,446

42.07%

46,638

27.82%

RMB (Chinese renminbi)

13,234

7.19%

12,583

7.51%

HKD (Hong Kong dollar)

2,772

1.51%

2,089

1.25%

INR (Indian rupee)

5,447

2.96%

12,744

7.60%

CHF (Swiss franc)

48,185

26.17%

67,890

40.49%

HUF (Hungarian forint)

16,685

9.06%

6,710

4.00%

MYR (Malaysian ringit)

5,798

3.15%

5,249

3.13%

MAD (Maroccan Dirham)

3,492

1.90%

-/-

-/-

SGD (Singapore dollar)

4,950

2.68%

6,641

3.96%

THB (Thai baht)

2,867

1.56%

4,312

2.57%

USD (U.S. dollar)

3,223

1.75%

2,797

1.67%

184,099

100.00%

167,653

100.00%

Trade payables

328,182

43.45%

277,448

53.78%

Financial liabilities

345,416

45.72%

164,387

31.86%

Financial assets
Trade receivables
Other financial assets
– thereof in foreign currencies

61. Value-at-risk analysis
As a measure of risk, ‘value-at-risk’ (VaR) estimates the potential losses in pre-tax profits over a specific holding
period for a confidence interval set in advance. The VaR method is a statistically defined probability-based
approach that takes market volatility and risk diversification into account by incorporating offsetting items and
correlations between products and markets. Risks can be measured constantly over all markets and products.
This risk measure can be aggregated in order to achieve a single measure of risk. Due to the low degree of risk,
a value-at-risk analysis in accordance with IFRS 7.41 that reflects interdependencies between the risk para
meters, e.g. interest rate and currency risks, is not used to manage financial risk at AURELIUS.

62. Currency risk management
Exchange risks can arise in connection with capital expenditures and financing measures as well as operating
activities as a result of changes in the exchange rates of various foreign currencies. When necessary, an enterprise can employ financial instruments such as forward exchange deals, currency options, or currency swaps to
limit such risks.
Of the financial instruments presented in the consolidated financial statements, EUR 184,099 thousand can
be attributed to financial assets denominated in major foreign currencies (prior year: EUR 167,653 thousand)
and EUR 233,723 thousand to financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies (prior year: EUR 167,843
thousand). The risk concentrations in major foreign currencies are presented in the table below:

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities

81,904

10.83%

74,132

14.36%

755,502

100.00%

515,967

100.00%

GBP (British pound)

80,161

34.30%

29,560

17.61%

RMB (Chinese renminbi)

36,736

15.72%

31,462

18.74%

HKD (Hong Kong dollar)

4,205

1.80%

2,693

1.60%

– thereof in foreign currencies

INR (Indian rupee)

5,901

2.52%

7,375

4.39%

CHF (Swiss franc)

73,747

31.55%

76,193

45.40%

HUF (Hungarian forint)

11,348

4.86%

3,775

2.25%

MYR (Malaysian ringit)

3,460

1.48%

4,743

2.83%

MAD (Maroccan Dirham)

8,833

3.78%

-/-

-/-

SGD (Singapore dollar)

3,664

1.57%

4,852

2.89%

THB (Thai baht)

4,314

1.85%

5,522

3.29%

USD (U.S. dollar)

1,354

0.57%

1,668

1.00%

233,723

100.00%

167,843

100.00%

For the purpose of presenting market risks, AURELIUS conducts a sensitivity analysis according to IFRS 7.40, in
order to identify the effects on the Group’s equity and financial performance that would result from assumed,
hypothetical changes in relevant risk variables. The hypothetical changes in risk variables are applied to the
holdings of financial instruments at the reporting date, so as to identify the effects relative to the reporting
period. This analysis is conducted under the assumption that the portfolio of financial instruments at December 31, 2015 is representative for the entire year.
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If the value of the functional currency had been 10% higher (lower) at the reporting date than the other above-mentioned currencies used in the Group, the presented equity would have been EUR 4,971 thousand lower (higher)
(prior year: EUR 20 thousand). The British pound and the Swiss franc would have had a major impact on this
change.
In general, the sensitivity analysis does not represent the actual exchange risk, since the risk at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the risk during the fiscal year just ended. In addition, possible new hedging transactions would be entered into in the case of a 10% change in the euro against all other currencies. Although
AURELIUS further expanded its international activities again in fiscal year 2015, the Group was exposed to only a
minor degree of foreign exchange risk in the fiscal year just ended, due to the fact that most transactions are effected in the euro zone (functional currency).
As of December 31, 2015, AURELIUS had the following outstanding forward exchange deals:

As of December 31, 2015, AURELIUS had the following open interest rate swaps:
Outstanding interest rate swaps
Received fixed/pay floating swaps

Note
Hedge commodity purchase

Currency

Notional
amount

Outstanding
amount

Fixed
interest
rate

Fair value

EUR

8,000,000

6,000,000

1.00 %

-114,219

In addition, there are no forward rate agreements at the end of the reporting period. These forward transactions
are understood to be agreements between two parties with different interest rate interests and/or interest rate
expectations that wish to secure themselves against future interest rate fluctuations. They specify an interest
rate at a fixed point in time for a certain period and calculate the difference between the fixed and current interest rates at a later date. The calculated difference triggers a compensation payment.

Outstanding forward exchange deals

Note

Foreign
currency

Foreign
currency
Term
Term
Term
amoun <3 months 3-6 months >6 months

Purchase

USD

800,000

800,000

-/-

-/-

Sale

USD

400,000

400,000

-/-

-/-

Average
rate

1.11

Forward
rate

Fair
value

1.08

3,643.93

1.08

-4,058.70

63. Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk, because the Group entities raise financial funds at fixed and variable
interest rates. Risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate relationship between funds raised at
fixed and variable interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from changes in market rates of interest, particularly with
respect to variable-interest, medium-term, and long-term assets and liabilities. Accordingly, all fixed-interest
financial instruments measured at amortized cost are not subject to interest rate risk within the meaning of IFRS 7.
The sensitivity analysis conducted for interest rate risks identifies the effects on the Group’s equity and financial
performance that would result from a change in the risk-free market interest rate. If the level of market interest
rates had been higher (lower) by 100 basis points than the corresponding level at December 31, 2015, and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s profit would have been lower (higher) by EUR 726 thousand (prior year:
EUR 252 thousand).
The hedges, for example interest rate swaps or forward rate agreements, are regularly assessed in order to coordinate them with expected interest and the defined willingness to take on risk. This ensures that the hedging
strategies that are most effective from a cost perspective are always applied. Under an interest rate swap, the
Group exchanges fixed and variable interest payments that were calculated on the basis of agreed notional
amounts. Such agreements enable AURELIUS to reduce the risk of changing interest rates to the fair value of
issued, fixed interest debt instruments and cash flow risks of issued variable interest debt instruments. The fair
value of interest rate swaps on the reporting date is determined by discounting future cash flows based on the
yield curves as of the reporting date and the credit risk associated with the contracts. The average interest rate is
based on the open positions at the end of the year.
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64. Other price risk
With regard to other price risks, IFRS 7 requires in particular that the reporting entity present the effects on
the price of financial instruments that would result from hypothetical changes in risk variables. As the risk
variables analyzed for that purpose, AURELIUS examines the risks related to the procurement of commodities,
as well as stock exchange prices and indices.
In order to rule out significant risks related to the procurement of commodities, the affected operating entities enter into master agreements with suppliers, most of which with terms of one year, so as to exclude
greater risks. If the relevant commodity prices at December 31, 2015, had been 10 % higher (lower), the Group’s
profit would have been lower (higher) by EUR 1,004 thousand (prior year: EUR 6,941 thousand). The following
overview shows the existing long-term contracts:

Note

Currency

Long-term supplier contracts

EUR

Amount Term < 12 months Term > 12 months
10,040,361

6,418,528

3,621,833

Commodity forward transactions serve to further hedge commodities risk in the Group. The following overview
shows the scope of this derivative as of December 31, 2015:
Outstanding commodity forward transactions (in LC)
Note
Copper purchase

Currency

Volume

EUR

2,299,435

Term
Term
< 3 months 3-6 months
1,184,395

836,280

Term
> 6 months

Fair value

278,760

-300,967

At December 31, 2015, the AURELIUS Group did not hold shares in other exchange-listed companies that were not
consolidated. Consequently, AURELIUS is also not exposed to any share price risk resulting from equity instruments. Therefore, a share price risk sensitivity analysis is not carried out.
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65. Default risk management

With respect to receivables and other financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired, the Group bases its
planning on the assumption of a very high rate of value retention.

in kEUR

Past due, but
not impaired

Impaired

Carrying
amount as of
12/31/2015

Measured at amortized cost
– Non-current financial assets
– Trade receivables
– Other financial assets

10,058

-/-

-/-

10,058

282,393

85,664

6,241

368,057

50,657

40

-/-

50,694

Past due
between
91 - 120 days

9,207

5,651

11,337

85,664

-/-

-/-

-/-

17

40

- Trade receivables

40,697

13,389

5,774

2,563

6,639

69,062

506

5

244

-/-

4

759

- Other financial assets

The regional breakdown of trade receivables and other financial assets yields the following risk structure for the
AURELIUS Group:

in kEUR

– Derivative financial instruments

-/-

4

Neither past
due, nor
impaired

Past due, but
not impaired

Impaired

Carrying
amount as of
12/31/2014

3,477

-/-

-/-

3,477

240,380

69,062

9,323

309,442

64,703

759

-/-

65,462

38

-/-

-/-

38

Measured at amortized cost
– Non-current financial assets
– Trade receivables
– Other financial assets
Measured at fair value
– Derivative financial instruments
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Total

in kEUR

Trade receivables
-/-

Past due more
than 120 days

2014

Total

Past due
between
61 - 90 days

21,506

23

– thereof: Germany

4

Past due more
than 120 days

Past due
between
31 - 60 days

37,963

Measured at fair value

in kEUR

208 I

- Trade receivables
- Other financial assets

Past due
between
91 - 120 days

Neither past
due, nor
impaired

in kEUR

Past due
between
61 - 90 days

The valuation allowances on trade receivables and the defaults on other financial assets in the AURELIUS Group
are presented in the table below:

2015

Past due
between
31 - 60 days

By reason of the business activities and the resulting diversification of AURELIUS, the Group was also not exposed
to any significant risk concentrations in fiscal year 2015. Furthermore, the default risk inherent in cash and cash
equivalents and derivative financial instruments is very low, because the counterparties are banks with outstanding credit ratings issued by international credit rating agencies.

Thus, the associated maturity analysis of trade receivables and other financial assets that are overdue but not
impaired has the following structure:

Past due up to
30 days

Valuation allowances on receivables account for the risks associated with primary financial instruments. Trade
receivables are due from a large number of customers in different industries and geographical regions. Credit assessments are conducted continuously to ascertain the financial status of the receivables. Furthermore, the
Group only conducts business with creditworthy partners. Creditworthiness is evaluated by means of credit references and/or historical data derived from previous business dealings. Some of the Group’s operating entities
conduct detailed, ongoing credit checks based on an internal rating system (credit scoring method) and set credit
limits for each one of their customers. In addition, the Group’s subsidiaries work with trade credit insurers, who
insure a portion of the possible loss of receivables. If it is not possible to insure a given contractual partner, the
Group’s subsidiaries can exercise the option of demanding cash in advance for any deliveries.

In the following, the risks associated with non-current financial assets are not addressed because such risks are
considered immaterial for AURELIUS. In addition, the risk of derivative financial instruments is not specified because the amount of EUR 4 thousand (prior year: EUR 38 thousand) is immaterial.

Past due up to
30 days

The companies of the AURELIUS Group operate in different industries and sell a wide variety of products to customers throughout the world. Accordingly, the credit risk and default risk associated with financial assets consist
in the risk that a contractual partner would default on its obligations; therefore, the maximum loss under such
risks is the fair value of the amounts owed by the respective contractual partner.

Carrying amount
as of 12/31/2015

Carrying amount
as of 12/31/2014

368,057

309,442

73,153

70,056

– thereof: Europa - EU

139,056

106,771

– thereof: Europe - Other

108,228

88,528

– thereof: Rest of World

47,620

44,087

Other financial assets

50,694

65,462

– thereof: Germany

20,999

33,145

– thereof: Europa - EU

10,360

4,737

– thereof: Europe - Other

17,403

25,999

– thereof: Rest of World

1,932

1,581
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Due in less
than one year

in kEUR
Trade payables
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities

215

81,904
755,502

Due in less
than one year

Due in
1 - 5 year

Due in more
than 5 years

Carrying
amount as of
12/31/2014

35,110

309,442

11.35%

26

2,273

65,462

3.47%

Secured portion

66. Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk is defined as the possibility that a company would encounter difficulties in fulfilling the obligations
arising from its financial liabilities. By reason of the dynamic nature of the business environment in which
AURELIUS operates, the goal of Corporate Finance is to preserve the necessary financing flexibility. The Group’s
solvency and liquidity supply is constantly monitored by means of a rolling liquidity plan and the Group
maintains a liquidity reserve in the form of cash, available credit lines with banks and other facilities, and by
means of constant monitoring of projected and actual cash flows and reconciliation of the maturity profiles
of financial assets and liabilities. Thus, the liquidity risk management concept is implemented by means of
optimized management of short-term, medium-term, and long-term financing and liquidity requirements.

The non-current financial liabilities will entail interest payments of EUR 23,280 thousand in the years to follow
(prior year: EUR 19,391 thousand).
Of the total financial liabilities in the amount of EUR 755,502 thousand (prior year: EUR 515,967 thousand) at the
reporting date December 31, 2015, an amount of EUR 69,099 thousand (prior year: EUR 96,661 thousand) or 9.1 %
(prior year: 18.7 %) is secured. The collateral exhibits the following structure:

in kEUR
Trade payables
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities

in kEUR
Trade payables
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities

21 0 I
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74,132
515,967

in %

21,880

-/-

10,601
24,905

-/-

-/-

2,458

5,739

-/-

8,197

328,182

2.50%

1,656

18,220

20,060

20,859

107

60,902

345,416

17.63%

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

81,904

0.00%

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,648

46,778

19,275

-/-

-/-

-/-

in %

Secured portion in %

2,902

2,247

45,089
155,180

Carrying amount
as of 12/31/2015

Carrying amount
as of 12/31/2014

10,328

18,442
335,882

Carrying amount
as of 12/31/2014

Letters of credit

- Trade receivables
- Other financial assets

Other credit security

in kEUR

164,387

Secured portion

1.42%

277,448

14,304

Secured portion

50,694

-/-

110,091

Other

719

-/-

39,992

Other

592

Other financial liabilities
Total

277,448

Trade receivables

-/-

345,416

Trade receivables

127

328,182

149,811
150,026

Property, plant
and equipment,
land and buildings

30.68%

-/-

103,254
55,937

Property, plant
and equipment,
land and buildings

368,057

-/-

92,351

159,191

Trade payables

Intangible assets

Secured portion in %

112,927

Carrying
amount as of
12/31/2015

25,752

Financial liabilities

Intangible assets

Carrying amount
as of 12/31/2015

25,292

Other credit security

5,954

Letters of credit

81,681

Trade credit
insurance

- Other financial assets

Secured portion

- Trade receivables

Trade credit insurance

in kEUR

Due in more
than 5 years

446,285

Total

in kEUR

Due in
1 - 5 year

328,182

Inventories

The various forms of security backing trade receivables and other financial assets are presented in the table
below:

The contractually agreed cash flows that are expected to result from financial instruments and are based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to make payment are presented in the table below:

Inventories

The default risk of trade receivables and other financial assets presented in the statement of financial
position in the amount of EUR 418,751 thousand (prior year: EUR 374,904 thousand) is limited by trade credit
insurance, letters of credit, and other credit protections to a maximum default risk of EUR 305,105 thousand (prior year: EUR 337,521 thousand). Thus, the Group’s default risk decreased over the prior-year figure,
despite strong growth as a result of the acquisitions made in fiscal year 2015.

-/-

-/-

277,448

0.00%

27,378

542

95,621

164,387

57.84%

-/-

1,040

1,040

74,132

1.40%
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67. Measurement at fair value

The breakdown of financial liabilities by regions yields the following risk structure:

in kEUR
Trade payables
– thereof: Germany

Carrying amount
as of 12/31/2015

Carrying amount
as of 12/31/2014

328,182

277,448

59,688

55,633

– thereof: Europa - EU

112,705

78,117

– thereof: Europe - Other

108,774

95,707

– thereof: Rest of World

47,015

47,991

Financial liabilities

345,416

164,387

– thereof: Germany

235,904

118,750

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are calculated by using discounted present value and option
price models. Whenever possible, the relevant market prices and interest rates at the reporting date taken from
recognized external sources are applied as the inputs for such valuation models. Commitments under finance
leases do not fall within the scope of IAS 39 and are presented separately in accordance with IAS 17. The fair values
of financial assets and liabilities with terms to maturity of more than one year are equal to the discounted present
values of the cash flows expected to result from the corresponding assets and liabilities, based on currently valid
interest rate parameters. Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade payables, current financial assets
and liabilities have short terms to maturity, so that their carrying amounts are usually equal to their fair values.
The financial instruments analyzed in accordance with the measurement hierarchy of IFRS 13 and measured at fair
value are presented in the table below:

– thereof: Europa - EU

57,650

24,570

– thereof: Europe - Other

33,009

12,597

– thereof: Rest of World

18,853

8,470

Other financial liabilities

81,904

74,132

– thereof: Germany

49,243

49,335

– thereof: Europa - EU

12,007

5,962

– thereof: Europe - Other

12,046

9,788

Cash and cash equivalents

– thereof: Rest of World

8,608

9,047

Assets
in kEUR

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total
12/31/2015

Derivative financial instruments, without hedging

-/-

4

-/-

4

Derivative financial instruments, with hedging

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Receivables in foreign currencies

-/-

184,099

-/-

184,099

548,943

-/-

-/-

548,943

Derivative financial instruments
(not for hedging purposes)

-/-

3,719

-/-

3,719

Derivative financial instruments (for hedging purposes)

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Liabilities in foreign currencies

-/-

233,723

-/-

233,723

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total
12/31/2014

Current assets

Liabilities

Assets
in kEUR
Current assets
Derivative financial instruments, without hedging

-/-

38

-/-

38

Derivative financial instruments, with hedging

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Receivables in foreign currencies

-/-

167,653

-/-

167,653

333,344

-/-

-/-

333,344

Derivative financial instruments (not for hedging
purposes)

-/-

3,542

-/-

3,542

Derivative financial instruments (for hedging purposes)

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

Liabilities in foreign currencies

-/-

167,843

-/-

167,843

Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities
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There were no transfers between the levels of the measurement hierarchy in the reporting period.
The different levels are described below:
■■ Level 1:
The (unadjusted) quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities at the reporting date are assigned to this level. The market is deemed to be active when, for example, prices are quoted on a stock exchange or
when prices can be easily and regularly obtained from a trade association or regulatory authority, and when the
prices in question are applied in regularly occurring market transactions conducted on an arm’s length basis.
■■ Level 2:
Inputs other than the market prices indicated in Level 1 that are observable for an asset or liability, either directly,
for example as prices, or indirectly and therefore derived from prices are assigned to this level. The fair value of
financial instruments assigned to this level is determined on the basis of valuation techniques. The estimate conducted on the basis of a valuation technique should be grounded in market data to the greatest possible extent,
and should rely as little as possible on company-specific data. When all the inputs required to determine the fair
value are observable, the financial instrument is assigned to Level 2.

If one or more inputs for the given asset or liability are not based on observable market data, the financial instrument is assigned to Level 3.
The net gains or losses on financial instruments for fiscal years 2015 and 2014 are presented in the table below:

Net profits
2015

On disposal

Impairment

Currency
translation

At fair value

From interest

From subsequent measurement

LaR

-782

-/-

2,028

-255

-164

827

Afs

-117

-301

-/-

-/-

-/-

-418

FA-FV

The development of cash flow hedges recognized within the AURELIUS Group’s Other reserves under equity is
presented in the table below:
in kEUR
Starting balance at 1/1
Increase/decrease
Reversals in the statement of comprehensive income

■■ Level 3:

Category IAS 39

Upon initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at the fair value attributable to them
on the transaction date. In subsequent periods, they are likewise measured at the fair value attributable to
them on the respective reporting date. The method to be applied for recognizing gains and losses depends on
whether the derivative financial instrument has been designated as a hedging instrument; if so, the method to
be applied depends further on the nature of the hedged item. In 2013, AURELIUS designated as hedging instruments only hedges against certain risks of variable cash flows known as cash flow hedges, which are linked to
an asset or liability recognized in the statement of financial position or to a transaction that is expected to
occur in the future with a high degree of probability. The hedging relationships were ended at the beginning of
fiscal year 2014, and the cumulative change in fair value was transferred to the statement of comprehensive
income.

-/-

-34

-/-

-29

-/-

-63

FLAC

-3,527

-/-

-1,171

-305

232

-4,771

FL-FV

-/-

126

-220

-/-

-44

-139

Thereof revenues
Thereof purchased goods and services
Thereof financial expenses
Ending balance at 12/31

2015

2014

-/-

-1,486

-/-

-/-

-200

-/-

-/-

-/-

-200

-/-

-/-

1,486

-200

-/-

Thus, a loss of EUR 200 thousand was incurred in connection with a fair value hedge in the reporting period
(prior year: EUR 0 thousand) from hedging instruments and the hedged underlying transactions to the e
 xtent
that they were to be allocated to the hedged risk.

-165

9,559

474

Afs

-164

-/-

-/-

38

FLAC

-3,479

FL-FV

-97
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Net profits
2014

On disposal

Impairment

Currency
translation

LaR
FA-FV
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At fair value

Category IAS 39

From interest

From subsequent measurement

709

28,754

39,331

-/-

84

-/-

-80

-/-

-53

-/-

-15

12,255

-178

-/-

-/-

8,598

-6

-/-

-/-

-142

-245
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ADDITIONAL NOTES DISCLOSURES

69. Contingent liabilities and legal disputes
As of the reporting date December 31, 2015, there are contingent liabilities in the amount of EUR 64,318 thousand
(prior year: EUR 101,933 thousand).

68. Operating lease agreements
As of the reporting date, there were other financial commitments, in particular from rental and operating
leases for buildings, properties, machines, tools, office furniture and other installations. The total of future
payments can be broken down based on maturity as follows:
in kEUR

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

44,208

44,532

Rental and leasing commitments, payable
– within one year
– between one and five years

80,190

94,494

– after five years

85,710

83,880

210,108

222,906

-/-

-/-

210,108

222,906

12/31/2015

12/31/2014

– within one year

7,828

34,660

– between one and five years

5,614

10,861

-/-

7

13,442

45,528

-/-

-/-

13,442

45,528

Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total rental and leasing obligations
in kEUR
Other commitments, payable

– after five years
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Total other commitments

In order to secure any guarantee and/or tax indemnification claims on the part of Indorama Ventures PCL in connection with its acquisition of the Wellman Group at the end of 2011, Residuum Beteiligungs GmbH, a former
subsidiary of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA, provided a bank guarantee issued by BayernLB in the amount of EUR 4,200
thousand under joint liability on the part of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA. This was reduced to EUR 800 thousand at
the end of fiscal year 2013. Due to the retroactive merger of Residuum Beteiligungs GmbH with AURELIUS AG in
fiscal year 2012, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA is now the sole obligor. In addition, AURELIUS AG provided a guarantee in
connection with the disposal of the Wellman Group limited to five years in the amount of EUR 21,200 thousand
with respect to any specific indemnification obligations on the part of Residuum Beteiligungs GmbH (in fiscal
year 2012 retroactively merged with AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA) related to the liquidation of the pension scheme
formerly in place at Wellman. Here as well AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA is the sole obligor as a result of the retroactive
merger. The assertion of a claim under these contingent liabilities is regarded as extremely unlikely by the
Company based on the information obtained since the disposal.
Effective July 31, 2014, AURELIUS sold its investment in Framochem Kft. in Hungary to VanDeMark Chemical Inc.
through Isochem SAS. The buyer demanded joint and several liability on the part of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA for
guarantees and indemnification rights with respect to the existence of the seller and of the target as well as the
ownership of the disposed shares and the target’s premises in Hungary. The guarantees and/or indemnification
only cover claims that are asserted within five years after the closing. The guarantee is limited to an amount of
EUR 9,375 thousand. For all other guarantees and claims, the joint liability only applies if they are asserted within
18 months and only up to a maximum amount of EUR 3,750 thousand. The assertion of a claim under these contingent liabilities is regarded as very unlikely by the Company based on the information available to us.
Effective September 30, 2014, AURELIUS completed the acquisition of IDS Getronics (formerly: Individual Desktop
Solutions GmbH) over AURELIUS Initial Enhancement GmbH. Upon execution of the transaction, the seller granted
an optimization subsidy to IDS Getronics. The optimization subsidy may only be used for certain purposes and is
subject to a blocking period of 24 months. In addition to the acquiring entity, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA is liable here
for up to EUR 9,100 thousand. However, a payment on the part of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA on the basis of this joint
liability can only be requested by the seller and only for the benefit of the Company, i.e. the assumption of the
guarantee does not establish direct joint liability on the part of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA vis-à-vis the Company. In
addition, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA’s liability based on this joint liability is limited to the amount of the remaining
optimization subsidy (after partial consumption through the use of the funds according to a broad optimization
catalog). Any such claim is expected to be very minor, since the use of the funds is clearly defined and can be selfguided.
In addition, there are contingent liabilities based on suretyships and/or collateral provided to the Berentzen Group
in the amount of EUR 2,193 thousand (prior year: EUR 2,223 thousand), SECOP in the amount of EUR 3,949 thousand
(prior year: EUR 3,906 thousand), brightONE in the amount of EUR 657 thousand (prior year: EUR 811 thousand),
B+P Gerüstbau in the amount of EUR 6,571 thousand (prior year: EUR 8,254 thousand), LD Didactic in the amount
of EUR 5 thousand (prior year: EUR 5 thousand), and the Isochem Group in the amount of EUR 2,660 thousand
(prior year: EUR 1,356 thousand).
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There are contingent liabilities from guarantees for SECOP in the amount of EUR 3,531 thousand (prior year:
EUR 7,195 thousand), the Isochem Group in the amount of EUR 17 thousand (prior year: EUR 9,737 thousand), for
brightONE in the amount of EUR 500 thousand (prior year: EUR 500 thousand), HanseYachts in the amount of
EUR 825 thousand (prior year: EUR 0 thousand), and Getronics in the amount of EUR 13,071 thousand (prior year:
EUR 3,482 thousand). In addition, there are contingent liabilities under potential repurchase and/or purchase
obligations with respect to HanseYachts in the amount of EUR 159 thousand (prior year: 602 thousand),
Getronics in the amount of EUR 6,878 thousand (prior year: EUR 0 thousand), brightONE in the amount of EUR
23 thousand (prior year: EUR 0 thousand) and the MEZ Group in the amount of EUR 22 thousand (prior year:
EUR 0 thousand) as well as other contingent liabilities with respect to SECOP in the amount of EUR 350 thousand (prior year: EUR 350 thousand), Scholl Footwear in the amount of EUR 19 thousand (prior year: EUR 200
thousand), the Isochem Group in the amount of EUR 1,040 thousand (prior year: EUR 0 thousand), Publicitas in
the amount of EUR 1,110 thousand (prior year: EUR 0 thousand), GIP Development in the amount of EUR 457
thousand (prior year: EUR 0 thousand), and in the amount of EUR 1,006 thousand (prior year: EUR 4,293 thousand) from the Berentzen Group.
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Dr. Dirk Markus is the Chairman of the Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the personally liable
shareholder of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA, which effective August 1, 2013, entered into a management services
agreement with Lotus AG, which is directly and indirectly controlled by Dr. Dirk Markus. The agreement governs
all types of management services. The fee from the management services agreement for the 2015 fiscal year
amounts to a total of EUR 554 thousand (prior year: EUR 3,197 thousand). The balance is zero as of December 31,
2015.
Donatus Albrecht is an Executive Board member of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the personally liable
shareholder of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA, and is the Managing Director of Paganini Invest GmbH. Donatus Albrecht
holds directly and indirectly as a Co-Investor over Paganini Invest shares of various subsidiaries of AURELIUS
acquired in previous years amounting to lower single digit percentages. The shares were issued in exchange for
payment of the purchase price equal in all respects to the principal shareholder. There were no transactions in the
reporting period.
In the fiscal year just ended, there were no other transactions between the Group and related parties.

There is the risk of secondary liability from pension liabilities with respect to both companies Old BCA Ltd. and
Book Club Trading Ltd., which resulted from errors in the implementation of the pension fund in the 1990s.
The amount varies and could possibly reach into the mid-single digit millions. Rectification proceedings are
currently being carried out before a British court through which the past errors should be rectified. AURELIUS
estimates the prospects for success to be positive overall.
Claims for damages resulting from antitrust violations were asserted against SECOP from the time before the
company was affiliated with AURELIUS. These legal disputes were settled out of court.
Otherwise, AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA is involved in legal disputes as of the reporting date in connection with
its general business operations; however, none of these disputes is to be regarded as material with respect to
the risk or amount involved. Therefore, as in the previous year, no provisions were set aside for other legal
disputes in 2015.

70.1 Governing bodies of the Company
The Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS SE & Co.
KGaA, comprises the following individuals:
■■ Dr. Dirk Markus (CEO), London,
■■ Donatus Albrecht, Munich,
■■ Gert Purkert, Munich.
The Executive Board members’ other activities on governing bodies mainly include functions as members of
supervisory boards and executive boards or as managing directors at associated companies and/or subsidiaries of
AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA. The members of the Executive Board separately carry out the following other functions
in supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 5 AktG:
Dr. Dirk Markus, Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

70. Related parties
In accordance with IAS 24, persons or entities that can be significantly influenced by the reporting Company or
which have a significant influence over the Company are defined as related parties. This includes on the one
hand controlled or controlling as well as associated companies and fellow subsidiaries. On the other hand, this
also includes natural persons with significant influence in the form of voting rights and members of the
management in key positions (Executive Board and Supervisory Board members) as well as their close family
members. IAS 24.10 requires an overall appraisal of the economic substance of a relationship. Only the Executive Board of AURELIUS Management SE, which is the personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA,
is to be regarded as key management personnel at AURELIUS.
In addition to the entities cited under Note 75, related parties from the perspective of AURELIUS include the
members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA as well as their close family
members and those entities over which these persons have a significant influence. Balances and transactions
between the Company and its subsidiaries that are related parties were eliminated during consolidation and
are not explained in this note disclosure. Details regarding transactions between the Group and other related
parties are provided below.
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Supervisory Board mandates and mandates in supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 5
AktG:
■■ Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselünne,
■■ Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts, Saran/France (until February 26, 2015),
■■ Obotritia Capital KGaA, Potsdam (since August 7, 2015),
■■ Publicitas AG, Zurich/Switzerland (Chairman of the Board of Directors) (until August 7, 2015),
■■ SKW Stahl-Metallurgie Holding AG, Unterneukirchen (until February 28, 2015).
Donatus Albrecht, Chief Investment Officer (CIO)

Supervisory Board mandates and mandates in supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 5
AktG:
■■ AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich (Vice Chairman),
■■ AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG, Munich (Vice Chairman),
■■ AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, Munich (Chairman),
■■ Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselünne.
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Gert Purkert, Chief Operating Officer (COO)
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates in supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence 5
AktG:
■■ AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich (Chairman),
■■ AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG, Munich (Chairman),
■■ AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG, Munich,
■■ Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselünne (Chairman),
■■ Fidelis HR GmbH, Würzburg (Chairman),
■■ HanseYachts AG, Greifswald (Chairman),
■■ Lotus AG, Grünwald,
■■ Publicitas AG, Zurich/Switzerland.
Members of the Supervisory Board included the following individuals in the 2015 fiscal year:
Dirk Roesing (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
Managing Director of Scopus Capital GmbH, Munich.
Prof. Dr. Bernd Mühlfriedel (Vice Chairman)
Professor for General Business Administration, University of Applied Sciences Landshut.
Supervisory board mandates and mandates in other supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence
5 AktG:
■■ Deutsche Kautionskasse AG, Starnberg.
Holger Schulze
Executive Board member of Vital AG, Seligenstadt.
Members of the Shareholders’ Committee included the following individuals in the 2015 fiscal year:
Dirk Roesing (Chairman of the Shareholders’ Committee)
Managing Director of Scopus Capital GmbH, Munich.
Holger Schulze (Vice Chairman)
Executive Board of Vital AG, Seligenstadt.
Dr. Thomas Hoch
Member of the Executive Board of EVP Capital Management AG, Frankfurt am Main.
Supervisory Board mandates and mandates in other supervisory bodies as defined under Section 125 (1) sentence
5 AktG:
■■ Amicra Microtechnologies GmbH, Regensburg (Vice Chairman of the Advisory Board),
■■ ICE AGE ICE AG, Maintal (Chairman),
■■ iTAC Software AG, Montabaur,
■■ toplink GmbH, Darmstadt (Chairman of the Advisory Board),
■■ WTA-X Travel AG, Wald/Switzerland (Chairman of the Board of Directors).

70.2 Remuneration report
The fixed non-performance-related salaries of the Executive Board, i.e. of the members of the Executive Board,
of AURELIUS Management SE in fiscal year 2015 amount to a total of EUR 982 thousand (prior year: EUR 1,124
thousand). In addition to the fixed remuneration, performance-related variable remuneration was also paid in

2 22 I

AU RE L I US A N N UA L R E P O RT

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

the amount of EUR 13,675 thousand (prior year: EUR 17,968 thousand) in the fiscal year just ended. This variable
compensation component entirely represents short-term employee benefits as defined under IAS 24.17(a). The
variable compensation essentially results from virtual co-investment sub-holdings granted to the members of
the Executive Board in connection with corporate transactions. Thus, the entire Executive Board remuneration
for fiscal year 2015 amounts to EUR 14,657 thousand (prior year: EUR 19,092 thousand).
AURELIUS AG entered into an agency contract at the end of July 2013 with Lotus AG, which is directly and indi-

rectly controlled by Dr. Dirk Markus. This agreement was transferred to AURELIUS Management SE effective
October 1, 2015, in connection with the transformation of AURELIUS AG. The agreement governs all types of
management services. The total fee from the management services agreement amounts to a total of EUR 554
thousand for the 2015 fiscal year. The fixed portion of the fee amounts to EUR 480 thousand and the variable
portion of the fee amounts to EUR 74 thousand. The variable portion results from vitual co-investment sub-
interest that was granted to Dr. Dirk Markus in connection with corporate transactions.
Analogous to the previous year, the members of the Supervisory Board received fixed compensation totaling
EUR 150 thousand in the 2015 fiscal year, EUR 75 thousand of which was paid to the Chairman of the Supervisory
Board, while the remaining EUR 75 thousand was paid in equal portions to the other members of the Super
visory Board. The members of the Shareholders’ Committee were not remunerated in fiscal year 2015. No loans
or advances were granted to any members of the Executive Board or Supervisory Board of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA
or its subsidiaries, and no sureties or guarantees were assumed for their benefit.

71. Further information required under Section 160 (1) no. 8 AktG
The following notification was published by AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA on May 27, 2015: “In accordance with Section
20 (6) AktG, the Company announces that it was notified by LOTUS Aktiengesellschaft, Grünwald, in accordance
with Section 20 (1) AktG as a precautionary measure for the event that the shares of the other three pool members should be attributed to it in accordance with Section 20 (1) sentence 2 in conjunction with Section 16 (4) AktG
as a party to the pooling agreement over shares and voting rights of AURELIUS AG entered into by it with Trisotech
GmbH, Grünwald, Dr. Dirk Markus, London, United Kingdom, and Gert Purkert, Munich, that in this case it (LOTUS)
would own directly and indirectly more than one-fourth of the shares in AURELIUS AG. The Company announces
in accordance with Section 20 (6) AktG that it was notified by Ventus GmbH, Innsbruck, Austria, in accordance
with Section 20 (1) AktG as a precautionary measure for the event that the shares of the other three pool members should be attributable to LOTUS Aktiengesellschaft in accordance with Section 20 (1) sentence 2 in conjunction with Section 16 (4) AktG as a party to the pooling agreement over shares and voting rights of AURELIUS AG
entered into by it with Trisotech GmbH, Grünwald, Dr. Dirk Markus, London, United Kingdom, and Gert Purkert,
Munich, that in this case it (Ventus) would own more than one-fourth of the shares of AURELIUS AG, since in this
case the shares held by the dependent company LOTUS Aktiengesellschaft would in turn be attributable to it in
accordance with Section 20 (1) sentence 2 in conjunction with Section 16 (4) AktG. The Company announces in
accordance with Section 20 (6) AktG that it was notified by Dr. Dirk Markus, London, United Kingdom, in accordance with Section 20 (1) AktG as a precautionary measure for the event that the shares of the other three pool
members should be attributable to LOTUS Aktiengesellschaft in accordance with Section 20 (1) sentence 2 in conjunction with Section 16 (4) AktG as a party to the pooling agreement over shares and voting rights of AURELIUS AG
entered into by it with Trisotech GmbH, Grünwald, Dr. Dirk Markus, London, United Kingdom, and Gert Purkert,
Munich, that in this case he (Mr. Markus) would directly and indirectly own more than one-fourth of the shares of
AURELIUS AG, since in this case the shares held by LOTUS Aktiengesellschaft would in turn be attributable to him
over the dependent company Ventus GmbH, Innsbruck, Austria, in accordance with Section 20 (1) sentence 2 in
conjunction with Section 16 (4) AktG.
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72. Notes disclosures required under IFRS 3.59 ff. and IFRS 8.23 but not provided

75. List of shareholdings in accordance with Section 314 (2) HGB

The disclosures required under IFRS 3.59 ff. with respect to the nature and financial impact of business combinations are not presented in these Notes to the annual financial statements or not shown separately. The same
applies for the material non-cash items of income to be disclosed for each reportable segment under IFRS 8.23.
This relates in particular to the income from bargain purchases from the capital consolidation in connection
with business acquisitions. AURELIUS abstains from these disclosures, because it believes that they can lead to
economic disadvantages for future company acquisitions or company sales.

The subsidiaries and associated companies listed below are included in these consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS as of December 31, 2015:

73. Employees
In fiscal year 2015, AURELIUS employed an average of 15,278 people (prior year: 10,519 employees). This number
included 5,357 wage earners (prior year: 2,968 wage earners) and 9,921 salaried employees (prior year: 7,551
salaried employees). The number of employees at the reporting date December 31, 2015, was 22,898 (prior
year: 12,442 employees).

74. Group auditor fees
The total fee billed by Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AP WPG for auditing services related to the 2015 fiscal
year amounted to EUR 765 thousand (prior year: EUR 658 thousand). In addition to auditing services, tax advisory services were rendered in the fiscal year in the amount of EUR 20 thousand (prior year: EUR 49 thousand)
as well as other advisory services in the amount of EUR 18 thousand (prior year: EUR 0 thousand).

2 24 I

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

AU RE L I US A N N UA L R E P O RT

Company

1. Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH
Munich Baaderstraße
7ITEC GmbH
Abbey Homecare Ltd.
AdBackoffice sro.
Adnative FZ-LLC
Adnative Ltd.
Adnative SA
Adnative SARL
AKAD Bildungsgesellschaft mbH
(verschmolzen mit AKAD Kolleg für
Erwachsenenbildung GmbH)
Allied HC Group Ltd.
Allied HCG Holdings Ltd.
Allied Healthcare Group Holdings Ltd.
Allied Healthcare Group Ltd.
Allied Healthcare Holdings Ltd.
Allied Healthcare Managed Solutions
Allied Healthcare Staffing Solutions Ltd.
Allied Homecare Ltd.
Allied Medicare Ltd.
Allied Pharmcare Ltd.
Allied Staffing Professionals Ltd.
Alpha Community Homecare Ltd.
AURELIUS Active Management GmbH
AURELIUS Active Management Holding GmbH
AURELIUS Advancement International GmbH
AURELIUS Alpha International GmbH
AURELIUS Alpha Invest GmbH
AURELIUS Beta International GmbH
AURELIUS Beta Invest GmbH
AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG
AURELIUS Delta International GmbH
AURELIUS Delta Invest GmbH
AURELIUS Enhancement International GmbH
AURELIUS Epsilon International GmbH
AURELIUS Epsilon Invest GmbH
AURELIUS Eta International GmbH
AURELIUS Eta Invest GmbH
AURELIUS Eta UK Investments Ltd.
AURELIUS Gamma International GmbH
AURELIUS Gamma Invest GmbH
AURELIUS Gamma Invest VTA GmbH
AURELIUS Geissblatt DSAB
AURELIUS Geissblatt Holding AB

Head Office

Currency

Share in %
incl, Coinvestors

excl, Coinvestors

Equity²

Profit/loss²

Grünwald

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

17,478,742

16,708,167

Hamburg
Stafford/United Kingdom
Bratislava/Slovakia
Dubai/United
Arab Emirates
London/United Kingdom
Vernier/Switzerland
Paris/France

EUR
GBP
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

11,416
369,396
-158,262

-/-/-168,262

AED

100.00%

100.00%

-6,217,928

-1,971,998

GBP
CHF
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

-86,093
543,661
36,674

-2,425.31
-120,611
-47,132

Stuttgart

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

5,927,153

2,874,654

London/United Kingdom
London/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
London/United Kingdom
Grünwald
Grünwald
Vienna/Austria
Stockholm/Sweden
Stockholm/Sweden

GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

-/-/-/6,145,855
-17,781,729
287,067
2
2
2
2
183,355
8,046
71,743
50,026
2,112,617
897,251
15,224
301,277
1,270,438
270,269
19,253
27,637
17,681
238,906
-2,297
8,495
8,305
1,197,719
-43,656
83,188
17,500
38,375
38,375

-/-/-/-54,830,231
-36,079,155
-/-/-/-/-/-/-/168,386
-5,434
2,024,641
899,203
-4,808
52,552
1,243,454
24,843
-17,764
-34,683
4,490
156,322
-14,623
-16,505
-16,695
733,924
-10,207
-99,466
-/-11,625
-11,625
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Company

AURELIUS Initiative Development GmbH
AURELIUS Innovative Enhancement GmbH
AURELIUS Investments Ltd.
AURELIUS Iota International GmbH
AURELIUS Iota Invest GmbH
AURELIUS Management SE
AURELIUS Media International BV
AURELIUS Media Sales Group GmbH
AURELIUS Mittelstandskapital GmbH
AURELIUS MK One GmbH
AURELIUS MK Two GmbH
AURELIUS MK Two Poland
AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG
AURELIUS Property Holding GmbH
AURELIUS Rho Invest DS GmbH
AURELIUS Rho Invest Holding GmbH
AURELIUS Services Holding GmbH
AURELIUS Strategic Enhancement GmbH
AURELIUS Theta International GmbH
AURELIUS Theta Invest DS Four GmbH
AURELIUS Theta Invest DS One GmbH
AURELIUS Theta Invest DS Two GmbH
AURELIUS Theta Invest Holding GmbH
AURELIUS Transaktionsberatungs AG
AURELIUS Ypsilon Invest B.V.
AURELIUS Zeta Invest DS GmbH
AURELIUS Zeta Invest Holding GmbH
AURELIUS Zeta Invest One GmbH
AURELIUS Zeta Invest Two GmbH
B+P Baulogistik GmbH
B+P Gerüstbau GmbH
Balfor Medical Ltd.
BCA Beteiligungs GmbH
BCA Pension Trust Ltd.
Berentzen Alkollü Îckiler Ticaret Ltd. Sirketi ¹
Berentzen Distillers Asia GmbH
Berentzen Distillers CR spol. s.r.o.
Berentzen Distillers International GmbH
Berentzen Distillers Turkey GmbH
Berentzen North America GmbH
Berentzen Spirit Sales (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
Berentzen Spirits India Private Ltd.
Berentzen USA Inc.
Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft
BGAG Beteiligungs GmbH
Biju Care Ltd.
Biju Lancaster Ltd.
Biju Ltd.
BMC Brand Management Consulting GmbH
Book Club Trading Ltd.
Brent Care at Home Ltd.
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Head Office

Grünwald
Grünwald
London/United Kingdom
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Amsterdam/Netherlands
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Warschau/Poland
Munich
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Munich
Amsterdam/Netherlands
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Grünwald
Wandlitz
Wandlitz
Stafford/United Kingdom
Grünwald
Swindon/United Kingdom
Istanbul/Turkey
Haselünne
Prag/Czech Republic
Haselünne
Haselünne
Haselünne
Shanghai/
People’s Republic of China
Gurgaon/India
Dover/United States of
America
Haselünne
Grünwald
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Schönefeld
Swindon/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
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Currency

Share in %

Equity²

Profit/loss²

EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
PLN
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
GBP
TRY
EUR
CZK
EUR
EUR
EUR

incl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
70.00%
100.00%
100.00%
51.00%
75.00%
98.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

excl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
70.00%
100.00%
100.00%
51.00%
75.00%
98.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
97.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

7,413
27,721
101,823
8,256
8,255
104,544
359,890
9,681,119
-839,306
11,245,783
-865,573
10,000
140,646
13,833,731
9,583
47,643
337,235
1,945
8,346
20,381
15,831
16,696
151,685
187,350
100
1,080,514
1,795,757
491,660
96,263
204,720
1,537,218
1,777,597
813,799
100
897,788
23,895
155,431
1,970,576
2,567,156
244,908

-3,357
-3,726
23,546
-16,744
-16,745
-15,546
-119,630
9,608,369
-752,546
6,815,932
-890,573
-/78,372
13,082,585
-15,417
-2,357
103,893
-2,422
-16,654
-4,619
-9,169
-8,304
1,685
57,163
-/-80,974
-3,557
-3,340
-3,737
-/-/-/62,725
-/-692,432
-1,117
14,222
-1,372,455
-1,351,289
-831

CNY

100.00%

100.00%

-1,344,169

-191,647

INR

100.00%

100.00%

37,722

206

USD

100.00%

100.00%

386,247

13,792

EUR
EUR
GBP
GBP
GBP
EUR
GBP
GBP

51.59%
96.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

51.59%
96.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

45,192,409
9,289,285
2
-/507,137
-259,349
370,921
1

2,550,954
3,758,671
-/-/-/-786,903
-13,932
-/-

Company

Briar Chemicals Ltd.
Briar Holding GmbH
Briarcare Ltd.
brightONE Consulting GmbH
brightONE GmbH Germany
brightONE Holding BV
brightONE Holding GmbH
brightONE IT Services BV NL
brightONE Sp. z.o.o.
British Nursing Association
Healthcare Services Ltd.
British Nursing Association
Home Care Services Ltd.
CalaChem Holding Ltd.
CalaChem Pension Trustees Ltd.
CalaChem UK Ltd.
Care Academy Ltd.
Care Concern (Darlington) Ltd.
Care Concern (Durham) Ltd.
Care Concern (Newcastle) Ltd.
Care Concern (South Tyneside) Ltd.
Care Initiative Ltd.
Carelink (Scotland) Ltd.
Cavendish Homecare Services Ltd.
Celtic Care (North Wales) Ltd.
Chasley Ltd.
China (HK) Advertising Ltd.
Clanbrook Ltd. (Scotland)
connectis Beteiligungs GmbH
Connectis CMC Belgium EBVA
Connectis CMC France SAS
Connectis CMC Italia Srl
connectis Financial and Shared Services S.L.U.
Connectis Global Services Chile S.A.
(zuvor: Telvent Chile S.A.)
connectis ICT Services S.A.
connectis ICT Services S.A.U. (verschmolzen mit:
connectis Unified Communications S.L.)
connectis ICT Services Spanish Holding S.L.U.
Connectis Managed Cloud Espana SL
connectis Spain Holding GmbH (verschmolzen
mit: connectis ICT Services Holding GmbH)
Connectis Tecnologia da informação
e comunicação do Brasil Ltda
(zuvor: Telvent Global Services Brasil LTDA)
connectis Unified Communications Unipessoal
LDA Communications Unipessoal Lda.
Cooksbridge Care Services Ltd.
Cornelle UK Medical Services Ltd.
County Homecare Ltd.

Head Office

Currency

Share in %

Equity²

Profit/loss²

excl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

4,013,202
131,555
-649,528
-1,611,629
925,160
1,077,377
656,458
487,459
1,959,930

9,899,583
8,205,926
-/-2,354,012
-3,399,488
300,215
-401,950
305,955
1,853,147

Norwich/United Kingdom
Grünwald
Stafford/United Kingdom
Munich
Eschborn
Amersfoort/Netherlands
Grünwald
Amersfoort/Netherlands
Szczecin/Poland
Stafford/
United Kingdom
Stafford/
United Kingdom
Manchester/
United Kingdom
Manchester/
United Kingdom
Grangemouth/
United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Edinburgh/Scotland
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Hong Kong/
People’s Republic of China
Edinburgh/Scotland
Grünwald
Diegem/Belgium
Paris/France
Milano/Italy
Madrid/Spain

GBP
EUR
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
PLN

incl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

2

-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

2

-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

13,670

-3,278

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

1

-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

25,530,000

588,000

GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

3
153,619
114,235
123,104
118,721
47,107
556,405
64,903
16,548
65,865

-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-

HKD

100.00%

100.00%

23,216

-42,929

GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00%
92.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
92.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

12,131
94,120
18,550
1,000
10,015
182,385

-/-46,847
-/-/-/186,296

Las Condes/Chile

CLP

100.00%

100.00%

1,052,342,084

64,501,840

Buenos Aires/Argentina

ARS

100.00%

100.00%

831,537

169,163

Madrid/Spain

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

6,246,345

559,539

Madrid/Spain
Barcelona/Spain

EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

-20,911
3,015

-21,519
-/-

Darmstadt

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

557,000

-10,000

Rio de Janiero/Brasilien

BRL

100.00%

100.00%

494,044

-2,127,648

Lissabon/Portugal

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

170,864

50,681

Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom

GBP
GBP
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

233,000
44,739
690,396

-/-/-/-
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Company

Crystal Nursing and Homecare Services Ltd.
Crystalglen Ltd.
Dehler Yachts GmbH
Der Berentzen Hof GmbH
Die Stonsdorferei W. Koerner GmbH & Co. KG ¹
DLS Spirituosen GmbH
Domiciliary Care Ltd.
Doornkaat AG
Double Q Whiskey Company Ltd.
ECOPlastics Recycling Ltd.
ECQ Development Ltd.
EDS Sales Group SAS
Emea Tavolsagi Szolgalgato Zrt.
Emergency Doctors Ltd.
Empathy Private Home Care Ltd.
European Direct Sales Holding GmbH
Evergreen Home Care Services Ltd.
Everycare (SE Anglia) Ltd.
Evolve Polymers Ltd. (zuvor:
ECOPlastics Sales Ltd.; Continuum Recycling Ltd.)
FB Education Equipment Manufacturing 01
GmbH
Feedback Education Inc.
Feedback Instruments Ltd.
fidelis HR Austria GmbH
fidelis HR Switzerland AG
fidelis Holding GmbH
fidelis HR GmbH
First Force Medical Recruitments Ltd.
FMS Supplies Ltd.
Forensic Medical Services Ltd.
G B Training Ltd.
Getronics Belgium SA
Getronics CMC Desk Iberia SL
Getronics Germany GmbH (zuvor: GTN IT Services GmbH)
Getronics Global Services BV
Getronics ICT Management GmbH
Getronics IDS GmbH (zuvor: ICT Solutions &
Services GmbH; verschmolzen mit IDS Getronics
GmbH und GTN IDS Holding GmbH)
Getronics Ireland Ltd.
Getronics Korea Co. Ltd.
Getronics Magyarorszag Kft.
Getronics Premium IT Services GmbH
Getronics PSF Luxembourg SA
Getronics Services UK Ltd.
Getronics Solution India Pte. Ltd.
Getronics Solutions Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.
Getronics Solutions S Pte. Ltd.
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Head Office

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

Currency

Share in %

Equity²

Profit/loss²

Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Greifswald
Haselünne
Haselünne
Flensburg
Stafford/United Kingdom
Norden
London/United Kingdom
Hemswell/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Saran/France
Budapest/Hungary
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Grünwald
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Hemswell/
United Kingdom

GBP
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
GBP
GBP
GBP
EUR
HUF
GBP
GBP
EUR
GBP
GBP

incl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

5,001,000

-/-

Hürth

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

65,410

22,354

USD

100.00%

100.00%

-663,559

-252,961

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

-102,438

702,438

EUR
CHF
EUR
EUR
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

1,265,856
-1,855,949
-187,885
2,692,508
50
1,983
9,820
-/4,999,000
3,015

158,944
247,457
-212,194
530,115
-/-/-/-/-2,164,000
-/-

Darmstadt

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

52,942

27,942

Amsterdam/Netherlands
Darmstadt

EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

7,469,180
4,707,180

3,804,040
4,561,056

Leinfelden-Echterding

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

3,333,624

-/-

Dublin/Ireland
Seoul/South Korea
Budapest/Hungary
Darmstadt
Luxembourg/Luxembourg
Reading/United Kingdom
Bangalore/India
Kuala Lumpur/Malaysia
Singapore/Singapur

EUR
KRW
HUF
EUR
EUR
GBP
INR
MYR
SGD

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

2,134,365
288,980,275
1,861,979
117,992
544,000
921,393
209,240,362
7,170,352
6,527,080

-2,453
-192,362,548
206,416
2,546,601
-183,000
927,083
7,025,947
1,211,011
608

Hillsborough/United States
of America
Crowborough/
United Kingdom
Pasching/Austria
Regensdorf/Switzerland
Grünwald
Würzburg
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Diegem/Belgium
Barcelona/Spain

excl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
94.00%
100.00%
100.00%

90,617
32,042
-1,229,941
25,565
511
2,482,331
344,183
56,242
-/1,000
98,584
498,900
-342,435,601
857
69,395
3,369,986
181,562
57,115

-/-/-3,210
-/-/-/-/-/-/-8,869,393
-/-178,748
-352,617,695
-/-/9,982,402
-/-/-

Company

Getronics Technology Sdn. Bhd.
Getronics Thailand Ltd.
Getronics Unified Communications UK, Ltd.
GHOTEL Beteiligungs GmbH
GHOTEL Deutschland GmbH
GHOTEL Germany GmbH
GHOTEL GmbH
GHOTEL Hotel und
Boardinghaus Deutschland GmbH
GIP Development SARL
Goldsborough Homecare and
Nursing Services Ltd.
Greenbanks Homecare (Southern) Ltd.
Greenbanks Homecare (Wales) Ltd.
Greenbanks Homecare (Western) Ltd.
Greenbanks Homecare Ltd.
Greenbanks Live-In Ltd.
Grüneberger Spirituosen und Getränkegesellschaft mbH ¹
GTN CMC Holding B.V.
GTN CMC Services GmbH
GTN CMC Services Switzerland GmbH
GTN Field Services GmbH
GTN Global BV
GTN IT Services BV
GTN Japan B.V.
GTN Services BV
GTN Services US Inc.
H&F Shoes (Thailand) Co Ltd.
H&S Shoes (M) Sdn. Bhd
Hanse (Deutschland) Vertriebs GmbH & Co. KG
HanseYachts AG
HanseYachts Technologie und
Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH
HanseYachts TVH GmbH
HanseYachts US LLC.
HCM Gilde GmbH
HCMS Ltd.
Health and Fashion Shoes Australia Pty Ltd.
Health and Fashion Shoes France SAS
Health and Fashion Shoes Hong Kong Ltd.
Health and Fashion Shoes Italia SpA
(zuvor: SSL Healthcare Italia)
Health and Fashion Shoes Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Health and Lifecare Options (Services) Ltd.
Health and Lifecare Options Ltd.
Healthcall (Manchester) Ltd.
Healthcall Ltd.
Healthcall Medical (Holdings) Ltd.

Head Office

Currency

Share in %

Equity²

Profit/loss²

excl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
95.00%

-25,203
6,250,922
270,308
2,377,952
21,607
21,997
2,793,409

-776,793
-3,961,806
-1,608,156
1,881,991
-256
-256
676,313

Kuala Lumpur/Malaysia
Bangkok/Thailand
Reading/United Kingdom
Grünwald
Bonn
Bonn
Bonn

MYR
THB
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

incl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

Bonn

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

21,985

-256

Luxembourg/Luxembourg
Stafford/
United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

12,500

3,338,570

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

3,135,603

-/-

GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

-16,000
87,000
68,000
372,000
-4,000

-/-/-/-/-/-

Grüneberg

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

25,485

-82

Amsterdam/Netherlands
Neuisenburg
Zurich/Switzerland
Grünwald
Amsterdam/Netherlands
Amsterdam/Netherlands
Amsterdam/Netherlands
Amsterdam/Netherlands
Delaware/United States of
America
Bangkok/Thailand
Kuala Lumpur/Malaysia
Greifswald
Greifswald

EUR
EUR
CHF
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100,089
25,000
20,000
-227,000
11,230,287
18,000
25,290
10,129,226

-/-/-/-252,489
-/-/24,750
-3,594,653

USD

100.00%

100.00%

-/-

-/-

THB
MYR
EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
74.60%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
74.60%

128,104,651
-474,424
1,526,504
6,092,559

21,062,665
136,472
104,439
-3,303,143

Greifswald

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

32,833

-469,839

Greifswald
Savannah/United States of
America
Radbruch
Stafford/United Kingdom
Melbourne/Australia
Paris/France
Hong Kong/
People’s Republic of China

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

22,788

959

USD

100.00%

100.00%

-456,659

-511,927

EUR
GBP
AUD
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

49,861
50,425,984
2,865,762
316,935

19,951
-13,709,703
-48,640
795,896

HKD

100.00%

100.00%

1,127,156

-2,187,466

Milano/Italy

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

9,416,198

-774,846

Singapur/Singapur
Edinburgh/Scotland
Edinburgh/Scotland
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom

SGD
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

-1,219,391
-933,656
539,246
200,000
-13,709,703
-13,449,051

-828,588
-/-/-/-13,586,887
-13,279,305
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Company

Helenus Ltd.
Help You Desk GmbH
Helping Hands Agency Ltd.
Helping Hands Care Ltd.
Highfield Homecare Services Ltd.
Home Care (Wales) Ltd.
Homecare & Health Services (Ireland) Ltd
Homecare (Northern Ireland) t/a
Homecare Independent Living Ltd.
Homecare Support Services Ltd.
HY Beteiligungs GmbH
Iberian IT Holding GmbH
International Brand Value Management AG
International Didactic Consulting Ltd.
Inver Healthcare Services Ltd.
ISOCHEM Beteiligungs GmbH
ISOCHEM Holding GmbH
Isochem SAS
Kornbrennerei Berentzen GmbH ¹
L&B (No 182) Ltd.
LANDWIRTH'S GmbH ¹
LD Beteiligungs GmbH
LD Didactic GmbH
Lindum Care Services Ltd.
LPNS Ltd.
Marwood Care Ltd.
MCC GmbH
MCC Holding GmbH
Mediascope Publicitas (India) Private Ltd.
Medic Brokers Ltd.
Medical Employment Direct Ltd.
Medical Support Personnel Ltd.
Medico Nursing and Homecare Ltd.
Medic-One Group Ltd.
Mediterranean Yacht Service Center SARL
Medley’s Whiskey International GmbH ¹
Merchant House Care Services Ltd.
MEZ Crafts Belgium NV
MEZ Crafts Bulgaria EOOD
MEZ Crafts Czech Republik s.r.o.
MEZ Crafts Estonia OÜ
MEZ Crafts Finland Oy
MEZ Crafts Hungary Kft.
MEZ Crafts Latvia SIA
MEZ Crafts Lithuania UAB
MEZ Crafts Netherlands BV
MEZ Crafts Portugal Lda.
MEZ Crafts Ro Srl.
MEZ Crafts Slovakia s.r.o.
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Head Office

Stafford/United Kingdom
Berlin
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Dundalk/Ireland
Milford/
Northern Ireland
Milford/NordIreland
Grünwald
Grünwald
Zug/Switzerland
Crowborough/
United Kingdom
Edinburgh/Scotland
Grünwald
Grünwald
Vert-le-Petit/France
Haselünne
Milford/Northern Ireland
Minden
Hürth
Hürth
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Flensburg
Flensburg
Mumbai/India
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Canet en Roussillon/
France
Haselünne
Stafford/United Kingdom
Brüssel/Belgium
Sofia/Bulgaria
Prag/
Czech Republic
Tallinn/Estonia
Kerava/Finland
Nagyatag/Hungary
Riga/Latvia
Vilnius/Lithuania
Amsterdam/Netherlands
Vila Nova de Gaia/Portugal
Bukarest/Rumania
Bratislava/Slovakia

N OT E S TO T H E CO N S O L I DAT E D F I N A N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

Currency

Share in %

Equity²

Profit/loss²

GBP
EUR
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
EUR

incl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

excl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

9,187,517
-606,590
390,927
50,003
231,935
74,742
922,365

80,000,000
-325,118
-/-/-/-/977,749

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

-506,804

-1,132,360

GBP
EUR
EUR
CHF

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

-25,209
-3,027,869
-338,332
3,992,361

2,649
-1,618,922
-358,350
-115,099

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

1

-/-

GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
GBP
GBP
EUR
EUR
INR
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
51.10%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
65.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
95.00%
100.00%
100.00%
51.10%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
65.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

2
8,099,892
9,099,077
21,040,627
52,333
10,102
25,565
1,202,785
3,933,346
22,493
1,000,000
495,926
19,369
441,635
5,000,000
1
2
50,000
2
759,952

-/-/-5,441
3,249,734
118
-/-/182,141
-185,871
-/-/-/-1,819
135,467
104,440,880
-/-/-/-/-/-

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

-2,342,099

-476,479

EUR
GBP
EUR
BGN

100.00%
100.00%
99.48%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
99.48%
100.00%

36,904
289,118
540,601
7,436

10
-/565,601
-29,745

CZK

100.00%

100.00%

1,369,559

1,380,438

EUR
EUR
HUF
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
RON
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
99.97%
99.90%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
99.97%
99.90%
100.00%
100.00%

91,410
710,708
4,322,647,666
48,527
74,521
5,622,431
-165,667
2,169,026
59,697

-51,707
-1,794,193
-427,818,863
45,727
-196,162
-116,650
-52,499
-5,669
9,995

Company

MEZ Crafts Switzerland GmbH
MEZ Crafts Tekstil Anonim Sirket
MEZ Crafts UK Ltd.
MEZ Cucirini Italy S.r.l.
MEZ Fabra Spain S.A.
MEZ GmbH
MEZ Grundstücksgesellschaft GmbH
MEZ Harlander GmbH
Miller Care Services Ltd.
Moody Yachts GmbH
MRG Holding Ltd.
Nestor Disability Analysis Ltd.
Nestor Equipment Leasing Ltd.
Nestor Healtcare Ltd.
Nestor Health at Work Ltd.
Nestor Healthcare Group Ltd.
Nestor Healthcare Personnel Services Ltd.
Nestor Healthcare Training Services Ltd.
Nestor Healthwatch Ltd.
Nestor Home Care Services Ltd.
Nestor Independent Living (Hove) Ltd.
Nestor Medical Duty Services Ltd.
Nestor Medical Personnel Ltd.
Nestor Primecare Ltd.
Nestor Primecare Services Ltd.
New Horizons Ltd.
Nightingale Nursing Bureau Ltd.
Nightingales Professional Nursing and
Homecare Ltd.
Nightwatch Telephone Services Ltd.
Notepike Ltd.
Nurses Direct Ltd.
Old Book Club Associates Ltd.
Omnicare Ltd.
On-Call Ltd.
Pabst & Richarz Vertriebs GmbH
Pathos Ltd.
PDM Media (India) Private Ltd.
people online GmbH
Powerboat 2013 Ltd.
Premier Care Armagh Ltd.
Priam Ltd.
Primary Care Agency Ltd.
Primary Care Training Ltd.
Prime Care Services Ltd.
Primecare Oral Health Services Ltd.
Primrose Care Ltd.
Publicitas Int. Sdn Bhd

Head Office

Currency

Share in %

Equity²

Profit/loss²

incl, Coinvestors

excl, Coinvestors

CHF

100.00%

100.00%

328,958

308,958

TRL
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

-11,186,390
1
5,380,655
832,658
540,601
227,478
103,827
405,146
23,574

1,527,422
-/-996,836
62,342
565,601
116,918
-634,985
-/-354

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

2,220,633

216,000

GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

3,550
35,418
1,407,998
-499,997
11,674,626
-1,367,914
100
1
290,591
511,000
200
365,918
1
32,044,448
407,001
396,622

-/-/-6,002
-/-23,638,515
-/-/-/-/-/-/-/-/32,218,147
-/-/-

Stafford/United Kingdom

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

11,332

-/-

Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Swindon/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Minden
Stafford/United Kingdom
Mumbai/India
Bochum
London/United Kingdom
Milford/NordIreland
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Petaling Jaya/Malaysia

GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
EUR
GBP
INR
EUR
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
GBP
MYR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
65.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
65.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

10,390
-871,011
1
944,439
18,743,936
284,314
32,683
3,834
1,815,940
107,407
-27,772
2
-7,041,017
338,020
-53,102
951,115
-312,229
879,000
5,041,829

-/-/-/1,855,438
-30,684,365
-/-/-/77,967,897
53,103
-5,590
-/-7,699,015
-/-/-/-225,385
-/665,070

Untersiggenthal/
Switzerland
Bursa/Turkey
Holmfirth/United Kingdom
Milano/Italy
Barcelona/Spain
Kenzingen
Kenzingen
Vienna/Austria
Stafford/United Kingdom
Greifswald
Bury St Edmunds/
United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
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Company

Publicitas (Beijing) Advertising Co. Ltd.
Publicitas (Thailand) Ltd.
Publicitas Asia Holdings Ltd.
Publicitas B.V.
Publicitas China (HK) Advertising Ltd.
Publicitas Europe Ltd.
Publicitas GmbH (Frankfurt)
Publicitas GmbH (Vienna)
Publicitas Holding AG
(zuvor: Publicitas Holding S.A.;
verschmolzen mit: Publicitas AG;
Publicitas S.A.; Publimedia AG;
Publicitas Publimag AG; Instanz AG für
Kommunikation; Publicitas Eastern Europe AG)

Head Office

Beijing/
People’s Republic of China
Bangkok/Thailand
Hong Kong/
People’s Republic of China
Laren/Netherlands
Hong Kong/
People’s Republic of China
London/United Kingdom
Frankfurt am Main
Vienna/Austria

Lausanne/
Switzerland

Hong Kong/
People’s Republic of China
Dover/United States of
Publicitas Inc. (Dover)
America
Publicitas Inc. (Toronto)
Toronto/Canada
Publicitas International AG
Basel/Switzerland
Publicitas International S.A.
Madrid/Spain
Publicitas International SpA
Milano/Italy
Publicitas Japan Kabushiki Kaisha
Tokyo/Japan
Publicitas Ltd.
London/United Kingdom
Publicitas N.V.
Zaventem/Belgium
Publicitas OOH Media Private Ltd.
Mumbai/India
Publicitas Publishing Pte. Ltd.
Singapore/Singapur
Shanghai/
Publicitas Rui Shi (Shanghai) Advertising Co. Ltd.
People’s Republic of China
Publicitas SAS
Paris/France
Publicitas Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Singapore/Singapur
Publicitas Taiwan Ltd.
Taipei/Taiwan
Publicitas USA Holding Inc. (zuvor: PubliGroupe Dover/United States of
USA Holding Inc.)
America
Puschkin International GmbH ¹
Haselünne
Castleford/
Regain Environmental Holdings (UK) Ltd.
United Kingdom
Castleford/
Regain Plastics Ltd.
United Kingdom
Castleford/
Regain Polymers Holding Ltd.
United Kingdom
Castleford/
Regain Polymers Ltd.
United Kingdom
Castleford/
Regain Recycling and Plastics Holdings Ltd.
United Kingdom
Castleford/
Regain Recycling and Plastics Ltd.
United Kingdom
Castleford/
Regain Trading Ltd.
United Kingdom
Regency Care (North West) Ltd.
Stafford/United Kingdom
Remedy Medical Ltd.
Stafford/United Kingdom

Publicitas Hong Kong Ltd.
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Currency

Share in %

Equity²

Profit/loss²

incl, Coinvestors

excl, Coinvestors

CNY

100.00%

100.00%

3,167,734

-364,968

THB

100.00%

100.00%

25,255,287

-6,363,282

HKD

100.00%

100.00%

65,018,724

-3,530,707

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

-183,347.10

-136,160

HKD

100.00%

100.00%

3,263,664

183,889

GBP
EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

1,544,479
1,337,014
-945,365

-68,791
-479,078
-594,727

CHF

100.00%

100.00%

6,667,349

-2,638,060

HKD

100.00%

100.00%

-1,036,937

-1,047,859

USD

100.00%

100.00%

2,644,512

-408,806.6

CAD
CHF
EUR
EUR
JPY
GBP
EUR
INR
SGD

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
70.00%
100.00%
100.00%
85.72%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
70.00%
100.00%
100.00%
85.72%
100.00%

1,190,863
3,158,980
410,686
313,357.44
-30,029,000
180,197
210,198
226,513,310
-427,276

205,424
-648,068
39,522
121,430
-41,929,215
-1,415,121
-125,955
-381,483,249
-559,167

CNY

100.00%

100.00%

1,119,090

-1,943,548

EUR
SGD
TWD

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

2,378,951
41,986
832,450

962,194
-1,272,337
-167,550

USD

100.00%

100.00%

23,846,064

-113,030.59

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

30,678

-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

15,315,456

-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

1

-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

4,050,004

-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

4,050,001

-2,596,423

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

1

-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

15,315,555

4,039

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

1,389,331

-/-

GBP
GBP

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

37,011
187

-/-/-

Company

RH Retail Holding GmbH
Sandbach Care Ltd.
Scot Home Care Ltd.
Sealine GmbH
Sechsämtertropfen G. Vetter Spolka z.o.o. ¹
Secop Austria GmbH
Secop Beteiligungs GmbH
Secop Compressors Co. Ltd.
Secop d.o.o.
Secop GmbH
Secop Holding GmbH
Secop Inc.
Secop Italia Srl
Secop Spol. sro.
Secop Verwaltungs GmbH
Settavex S.A.
SK Systemkomponenten Verwaltungs GmbH
(in Liquidation)

Head Office

SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Oude Pekela BV
SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Solid Board BV
SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Specialties Divisions BV
SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Triton BV
SOLIDUS UK Solutions Ltd.
South West Nursing Agency Ltd.
SSL Healthcare Brands S.A.U.
Staffing Enterprise (PSV) Ltd.
Strothmann Spirituosen Verwaltung GmbH ¹
Studienkreis GmbH
Studienkreis Holding GmbH
Studienkreis Partnersysteme GmbH
Tavex Europe S.L.
Tavex France S.A.R.L.
Tavex International GmbH
(zuvor: AURELIUS Zeta International GmbH)
Technic Marketing Products GmbH
Technologie Tworzyw Sztucnych Spol. Zoo.
Telvent Global Services Spain Kiwi Portion
TFHC Holdings Ltd.

excl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

54,299
52,061
2
-660,254
-/3,532,033
7,573,997

135,574
-/-/-45,244
-/-7,383,033
570,411

RMB

100.00%

100.00%

291,975,612

2,113,756

EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

4,776,419
39,334,406
-/-

-245,483
1,584,520
-1,647,924

USD

100.00%

100.00%

-/-

45,913

EUR
EUR
EUR
MAD

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

10,000
22,217,145
722,424
458,621,534

2,318
1,977,377
3,016,683
16,090,955

Urbach

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

18,378

-/ -

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

1

-/ -

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

8,003,604

-1,976,196

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

5,955,279

-1,570,998

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

25,083,644

2,657,310

EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

1,499,525
5,061,324

-134,607
-/-

NOK

100.00%

100.00%

1,313,028

-95,937

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

1,553,463

-2,244,223

EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

5,061,324
10,096,949

-/-/-

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

1

-/-

GBP
GBP
EUR
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

4,409,223
157,164
5,159,960
332,085
56,751
423,755
4,036,977
1,897,520
61,349,740
26,676

1,360,524
-/1,812,375
-/313
850,336
3,377,114
865,019
-532,480
1,821

Grünwald

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

34,668

-77,851

Linz/Austria
Goleniow/Poland
Madrid/Spain
London/United Kingdom

EUR
PLN
EUR
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

5,039,687
24,766,789
11,801,313
2

2,423,670
1,097,962
-4,106,925
-/-

Bodo/Norway

SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Board BV

Profit/loss²

EUR
GBP
GBP
EUR
EUR
EUR
EUR

SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Norway AS

SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Bergen op Zoom BV

Equity²

Grünwald
Stafford/United Kingdom
Edinburgh/Scotland
Greifswald
Jelenia Gora/Poland
Fürstenfeld/Austria
Grünwald
Tianjin/
People’s Republic of China
Crnomelj/Slowenien
Flensburg
Flensburg
Roswell, Delaware/
United States of America
Milano/Italy
Zlate Morave/Slovakia
Grünwald
Settat/Morocco

SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS France SAS
SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Holding BV

SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Belgium BVBA

Share in %
incl, Coinvestors
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

Bad Nieuweschans/
Netherlands
Hoogstraten/Belgium
Bergen op Zoom/
Netherlands
Bad Nieuweschans/
Netherlands
Vincennes/France
Amsterdam/Netherlands

SOLIDUS SOLUTIONS Attica BV

Currency

Oude Pekela/
Netherlands
Amsterdam/Netherlands
Oosterhout/Netherlands
Bad Nieuweschans/
Netherlands
London/United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Madrid/Spain
Stafford/United Kingdom
Haselünne
Bochum
Grünwald
Bochum
Calle Gabiria/Spain
Bayonne/France
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Currency

Share in %

Equity²

Profit/loss²

incl, Coinvestors

excl, Coinvestors

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

1,000

-1,590,305

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

1

-/-

GBP
GBP

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

2
8,073

-/-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

1

2,015,983

GBP
EUR
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

1
19,544
1

-/-337
-/-

Greifswald

EUR

100.00%

100.00%

42,135

2,425

EUR
EUR
GBP
EUR
GBP

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

4,289,564
220,712
8,749
25,565
344,966

-980,561
5,822
-/-/-/-

GBP

100.00%

100.00%

2,093,904

198,976

xentive S.A.
Yachtzentrum Greifswald Beteiligungs GmbH

Haselünne
Haselünne
Edinburgh/Scotland
Haselünne
Stafford/United Kingdom
Bury St Edmunds/
United Kingdom
Lausanne/Switzerland
Greifswald

CHF
EUR

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

-6,170,737
-6,140,606

-7,252,208
-65,046

Associated Companies
Permedia Athens S.A.
Publicitas Hellas S.A.

Athen/Greece
Athen/Greece

EUR
EUR

30.00%
30.00%

30.00%
30.00%

166,000
349,000

3,000
5,000

TFHC Ltd.
TFHC Property Ltd.
The HCMS Employee ESOT Ltd.
Thistle Trained Nurses Ltd. (Scotland)
Transform Property (Pines) Ltd.
Transworld Healthcare (UK) Ltd.
Turoa Rum International GmbH ¹
UK Underwriting Services Ltd.
Verwaltung Hanse (Deutschland)
Vertriebs GmbH
Vivaris Getränke GmbH & Co. KG
Vivaris Getränke Verwaltung GmbH ¹
Winsom Nursing & Homecare Agency Ltd.
Winterapfel Getränke GmbH ¹
Worldwide Healthcare Exchange Ltd.
Wychem Ltd.

Manchester/
United Kingdom
Manchester/
United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Edinburgh/Scotland
Manchester/
United Kingdom
Stafford/United Kingdom
Haselünne
Stafford/United Kingdom

1 These companies were not consolidated for materiality reasons.
2 Figures are stated in the local currency in every case. The following spot exchange rates were applied with respect to figures stated in foreign currencies: One
euro equals the following amounts in the respective foreign currencies: Dubai 4.0048 AED; United Kingdom 0.7260 GBP; India 72.3851 INR; Malaysia 4.6615 MYR;
Poland 4.2900 PLN; Switzerland 1.0827 CHF; South Korea 1,277.56 KRW; Singapore 1.5321 SGD; Thailand 39.162 THB; Turkey 3.1800 TRY; Hungary 314.4000 HUF;
United States of America 1.0877 USD; People’s Republic of China 7.0193 CNY; Canada 1.4904 CAD; Japan 132.3600 JPY; Hong Kong 8.4307 HKD; Brazil 4.2145 BRL;
Chile 769.2308 CLP; Australia 1.5009 AUD; Argentina 14.1243 ARS; Czech Republic 27.0270 CZK; Bulgaria 1,9558 BGN; Denmark 7,4612 DKK; Norway 9,4642 NOK;
Rumania 4,5033 RON; Sweden 9,2451 SEK; Morocco 10,8932 MAD. The equity and profit/loss figures are the same as those presented in the local financial state
ments.

76. Events after the reporting date
Effective January 1, 2016, AURELIUS successfully concluded the takeover of Valora Trade announced in November
2015. Valora Trade is an exclusive distributor for Fast Moving Consumer Goods in the large-scale retail business
and counts around 300 well-known Food and Non-Food manufacturers of branded goods among its customers.
The seller is Valora Holding AG, an independent trading company based in Swiss Muttenz near Basel and operating Europe-wide. As a long-term partner, Valora Trade provides its customers and business partners with access
to a regional market for Fast Moving Consumer Products and also offers comprehensive customized services
along the entire value chain – from market research and key customer management to trade marketing and business line management to purchasing, logistics, inventory management, and point-of-sale services. With a total of
around 660 employees, Valora Trade generated gross revenues of approximately EUR 400 million in 2015.
The business activities of the Reuss-Seifert & Hammerl Group were also acquired effective January 1, 2016.
 euss-Seifert & Hammerl is a leading European manufacturer of spacers made of plastic, steel and concrete, as
R
well as construction films and other consumables for the concrete construction industry. Reuss-Seifert has its
head office in Sprockhövel, North-Rhine Westphalia, and Hammerl in Gemmrigheim near Stuttgart. The Group
has a total of six production facilities (five in Germany and one in Poland) as well as two other locations in
Germany and the Czech Republic. Most of the revenues are generated with customers in Germany, the Benelux
states, Scandinavia, France, Austria, and Switzerland. With its workforce of more than 300 skilled employees,
Reuss-Seifert & Hammerl generated revenues of around EUR 60 million in 2015.
On March 2, 2016, AURELIUS successfully placed a portion of its shares of the Berentzen Group with institutional
investors as part of a private placement and still holds approximately 29.17 percent of the interest after the transaction. The Berentzen Group will continue to be consolidated in 2016, as the requirements for control based on
the provisions set forth under IRFS continue to be met. The Berentzen Group has been a portfolio company of
AURELIUS since 2008, during which time it has developed from a company in need of capital reconstruction into a
profitable and broad-based beverage producer. This success is the result of consistent implementation of the
classic AURELIUS strategy.
On March 14, 2016, AURELIUS sold its interest in fidelis HR to SD Worx, a leading provider of human resource services in Europe headquartered in Antwerp, Belgium. The parties have agreed not to disclose the purchase price.
With a comprehensive range of services in the area of Business Process Outsourcing (BPO) as well as its own software solutions for human resource departments, fidelis HR is one of the leading providers on the lucrative German speaking payroll accounting market. Through the acquisition of fidelis HR, the Belgium based SD Worx Group
can extend its business activities n the GSA region and continue its European growth strategy. AURELIUS acquired
fidelis HR in 2013 from TDS Informationstechnologie AG, a subsidiary of the Fujitsu Group based in Neckarsulm.
Since acquiring the company, AURELIUS consistently realigned its operations. For example, the product and customer portfolio was adjusted and the site structure of the BPO centers was optimized along with the associated
costs. In addition, many new customers were acquired who expected to stay with the company for the long term.
Furthermore, the international focus was also expanded beyond the GSA region; consequently, fidelis HR’s revenues, profits, and number of employees were increased significantly in the past few years. With 630 employees at
13 sites in Germany, Austria, and Switzerland, the company realized revenues of EUR 55.3 million and a double-digit
EBITDA margin in 2015.
It is not possible to reliably estimate all the financial effects from the aforementioned events after the reporting
date when the financial statements are being prepared.
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77. Approval of the financial statements

Auditors’ Report:

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Executive Board for publication on March 17, 2016.

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA, Grünwald, comprising the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement, and the notes to the consolidated
financial statements as well as the combined management report, for the fiscal year from January 1, 2015, to
December 31, 2015. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and combined management
report in accordance with IFRS as they apply in the EU as well as the additional requirements of German commercial law in accordance with § 315a (1) HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: “German Commercial Code”], is the
responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements and on the combined management report based on our audit.

Munich, March 17, 2016

AURELIUS Management SE,

personally liable shareholder of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA

The Executive Board

Dr. Dirk Markus
Chairman of the Executive Board

Gert Purkert
Executive Board member

Donatus Albrecht
Executive board member

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and German
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially
affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and in the combined management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic
and legal environment of the company and evaluations of possible misstatements are taken into account in
the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and
the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes
assessing the annual financial statements of the companies included in the consolidation, the determination
of the companies to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements and the combined management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
With the exception of the following qualifications, our audit has not led to any reservations: In the notes to
the consolidated financial statements, the disclosures required under IFRS 3.59 ff. and IFRS 8.23 with respect
to the nature and financial effects of business combinations are not presented or not shown separately and
the material non-cash items of income are not disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for each reportable segment.
In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS SE & Co. KGaA,
Grünwald, for the business year from January 1, 2015, to December 31, 2015, correspond to IFRS as they apply in
the EU with the aforementioned qualifications and the supplementary provisions set forth under § 315a (1) HGB
and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in
accordance with these standards. The combined management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and on the whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents
the opportunities and risks of future development.
Munich, March 17, 2016
Warth & Klein Grant Thornton AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Mauermeier
Wirtschaftsprüfer (German Public Auditor)
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